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As KAs Kemiremiraa’’s CEs CEO as oO as of April 2012,f April 2012,
hohow ww would yould you deou describe thescribe the

ccompanompanyy’’s ys yeear?ar?

2012 was a year of change for Kemira. Since I assumed the responsibility as the CEO of

Kemira, my most evident key priorities for Kemira going forward have been: improving

profitability, accelerating growth in Asia and South America without sacrificing business

opportunities in the mature markets and sharpening the strategy. In 2012, we initiated

projects in all three focus areas.

The second quarter results underlined the fact that we needed to take actions in order to

ensure sustainable profitability and competitive strength for Kemira. On July 26, 2012 we

launched our restructuring program Fit for Growth to increase the efficiency of the

company and, at the same time, to simplify the structure of the company. With Fit for

Growth, we are aiming to reduce our annual operating expenses by EUR 60 million,

which we aim to reach in 2014. The restructuring required the rebalancing of our asset

footprint and, unfortunately, also a workforce balancing. From the CEO’s point of view,

reducing workforce is always a tough decision to take. However, Fit for Growth is

fundamental for Kemira’s growth, and growth is the key enabler for a successful future.

Kemira’s new organization has been put in place and is operational since October 1, 2012.

It is based on regional business units, enabling us to be in closer interaction with our

customers. The business responsibility is now delegated into different regions, and within

the regions we have clarified the employees’ roles and responsibilities in order for each

employee to clearly understand their respective roles in fostering the company’s success.

The rationale behind the organizational change was to make the organization more

proactive and more agile, but at the same time to decentralize the organization in a way

that business decisions can be taken closer to the customers.

In 2012, we also started to sharpen our strategy, putting even stronger emphasis on

water quality and quantity management. We see our role as one of helping companies

and municipalities to either reduce the water consumption or improve the energy and

raw material efficiency in water intensive processes.

CEO’s Review

Review of 2012 | CEO's review
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HoHow do yw do you perou percceiveive Ke Kemiremiraa’’ss
markmarkeet det devvelopmenelopment and positiont and position

in the cin the course oourse of the yf the yeear?ar?

The overall market condition was challenging in 2012, primarily due to the European

crisis. Our markets were more or less stagnating globally; even the demand in Asia

slowed down for some period during the summer.

As a result, the demand for water treatment chemicals was reduced in Southern and

Eastern Europe as well as in parts of the US at the end of 2011 and beginning of 2012.

The demand has recovered, except in Southern Europe, where it has stabilized at a lower

level.

In terms of the competitive environment, a number of major acquisitions took place in

2012. During the year, a few companies started to move more seriously into the water

quality and quantity management business. Water intensive industries are seen as an

interesting market also for the long term by many players. Especially the oil and mining

market is considered very important, as long-term growth in demand is expected and

there is a need to make resources available with the lowest environmental impact and at

the lowest possible energy costs.

Kemira managed to improve its market position in Asia, particularly in the paper industry.

Paper, Kemira’s largest segment, saw a clear shift in its industry during 2012. The growth

in pulp market is moving to South America and the growth in packaging & board, tissue

and paper markets is moving increasingly to Asia. The ongoing investment in Nanjing,

China will benefit from the growing importance of the paper industry in Asia.

In regard to market development, we are not expecting any substantial changes in 2013

as the uncertainties prevail, although we are expecting the global economy to grow by 3

percent, which should provide Kemira with sufficient growth opportunities.

HoHow ww would yould you deou describe the yscribe the yeearar
frfrom an R&D perspectivom an R&D perspective?e?

R&D is the critical enabler for organic growth and further differentiation. The focus of

R&D at Kemira is to develop products and solutions for customer applications that allow

our customers to be both more successful and sustainable at the same time. In 2012 we

made good inroads e.g. in Oil & Mining – an industry with growing importance in the

United States – by developing antiscalants for making shale gas more economically

available. Other advancements have been made in the paper industry, where new

products have been introduced to the market to make paper production more

economical.

WhaWhat rt role doeole does suss sustainability platainability playy
ffor Kor Kemiremira?a?

Sustainability is increasingly important to global companies: failing to meet

environmental requirements and a lack of clear sustainability targets is not acceptable

anymore under prevailing standards of corporate governance. At Kemira, our targets

include striving for both zero accidents and reduced environmental impacts. Moreover,

we are committed to constantly improve our resource and energy efficiency. Going

beyond Kemira’s own sustainability targets, we are also helping our customers to be

more sustainable through our focus on water quality and quantity management.

Improving the energy efficiency of industrial processes, reducing the consumption of

water or increasing the reuse of water in industrial processes, and cleaning the water

post-usage are all means to preserve this precious resource.

Review of 2012 | CEO's review
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WhaWhat can be et can be expectxpected fred from Kom Kemiremiraa
in 2013 and bein 2013 and beyyond?ond?

2013 will be the year of implementation. We continue with the implementation of our

“Fit for Growth” restructuring program, but also start to focus on growth by presenting

and implementing our sharpened strategy. Kemira will continue to focus on improving its

profitability and reinforcing a strong cash flow. The company will also secure future

growth by additional investments.

The basis for growth is the expanding market for chemicals related to water quality and

quantity management and Kemira’s strong know-how in this field. Increasing water

shortage, tightening legislation and customers’ needs to increase operational efficiency

create opportunities for Kemira to develop new water applications for both current and

new customers. Investment in research and development is a central part of Kemira’s

strategy. The focus of Kemira’s research and development activities is on the

development and commercialization of new innovative technologies for Kemira’s

customers in all relevant markets.

We want to further strengthen our position in the paper industry, including packaging &

board and tissue. The plan is to continue our solid performance in mature markets,

embark on growth in China and to further develop our business in pulp in South America.

In Oil & Mining we will continue to win new business in mature markets and strengthen

our position in the mining industry in Africa. We want to make 2013 the year of growth.

To conclude, I would like to first of all thank our employees for their diligent work in

enabling the change we embarked on in 2012. This contribution is needed also in 2013

to make the implementation a success. I also want to thank our other stakeholders for

their trust and commitment in Kemira.

Review of 2012 | CEO's review
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Kemira in brief
Kemira is a global, over two billion euro water chemistry company serving customers in water-intensive
industries. Headquartered in Helsinki, Finland, Kemira offers water quality and quantity management
improving customers’ energy, water, and raw material efficiency.

Kemira has organized its business into four segments:

• Paper

• Municipal & Industrial

• Oil & Mining

• Chemsolutions

Review of 2012 | Kemira in brief
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KEY FIGURES 2012

EUR million 2012 2011

Revenue 2,240.9 2,207.2

Operative EBIT 154.1 157.3

EBIT 31.7 158.3

Operative EBIT, % 6.9 7.1

EBIT, % 1.4 7.2

Profit before tax 27.2 168.4

Net profit from continuing operations of which attributable to owners of the parent 16.8 135.6

EPS, EUR 0.11 0.89

ROCE, %* 2.6 11.1

Cash flow after investments 71.8 115.3

Equity ratio, % at period-end 53 51

Gearing, % at period-end 40 38

Personnel at period-end 4,857 5,006

* 12-month rolling average (ROCE, % based on the reported EBIT)

OPERATING PROFIT BY SEGMENT, EXCLUDING NON-RECURRING ITEMS

EUR million

Paper 86.2

Municipal & Industrial 42.3

Oil & Mining 37.3

CASH FLOW BY SEGMENT

%

Paper 40

Municipal & Industrial 31

Oil & Mining 29

Review of 2012 | Kemira in brief | Key figures
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Revenue by segment, %

Paper 45%

Municipal & Industrial 31%

Oil & Mining 14%

Others, incl. Chemsolutions 10%

Review of 2012 | Kemira in brief | Key figures
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Financial targets
Kemira is focusing on improving profitability and generating

positive cash flow. The company will also continue to invest in

order to secure the future growth in the water quality and

quantity management business.

The basis for growth is the expanding water chemicals market

and Kemira’s strong know-how in water quality and quantity

management. Increasing water shortage, tightening legislation

and customers’ needs to increase operational efficiency create

opportunities for Kemira to develop new water applications for

both current and new customers.

Investment in research and development is a central part of

Kemira’s strategy. The focus of Kemira’s R&D activities is on the

development and commercialization of new innovative

technologies for customers in all relevant markets.

Kemira's medium term financial targets

Target Achievement in 2012 Five-year average

Revenue growth in mature markets > 3% per year, and in emerging

markets > 7% per year

Growth in mature

markets 1%

Growth in emerging

markets 9%

Growth in mature markets

1.8%

Growth in emerging

markets 13.7%

EBIT, % of revenue > 10% 6.9% 6.2%

Positive cash flow after investments and dividends -9.2 52

Gearing level < 60% 40% 55.2%

Review of 2012 | Targets | Financial targets
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Sustainability targets
Based on the materiality analysis conducted in 2011, Kemira

defined its sustainability priorities and targets as part of its

sustainability management process. The sustainability targets

were approved by the Management Board in the third quarter of

2012. The targets, KPIs and status at year-end 2012 are

presented in the table below.

Sustainability

commitment

Sustainability targets Status at year-end 2012 KPI for performance

measurement

Suppliers

Effective use of Code of

Conduct for Suppliers,

Distributors and Agents (CoC-

SDA) in all relevant supplier

relationships by the end of

2013

CoC-SDA approved by the Management Board in

Q4 2012, and implementation started immediately

Supplier contracts

with signed CoC-SDA

for Business Partners

as attachment, %

“We work

together with

responsible

suppliers,

distributors

and agents”

Active Supplier Performance

management program in place

by the end of 2013

Suppliers performance criteria and expectations

defined

Quarterly follow-up of supplier performance

Average

performance of core

suppliers (75% of

spend), performance

rate %

Review of 2012 | Targets | Sustainability targets
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Sustainability

commitment

Sustainability targets Status at year-end 2012 KPI for performance

measurement

started in Q3 2012

The average performance rate of the core suppliers

was 95.5%

The share of suppliers at performance rate below

80% was 14.3%. Review, track and corrective

actions are planned with those suppliers which

count for 50% of the total low performing

suppliers’ spend/volume.

Share of reviewed

suppliers under

certain performance

level with agreed

corrective actions, %

Number of supplier

audits per year

Employees

“We require

ethical

behavior from

our

employees”

All Kemira employees covered

by Kemira Code of Conduct

(CoC) training by the end of

2013

Updated Kemira Code of Conduct was approved by

the Board of Directors in Q4 2012

Kemira Code of Conduct is part of the employee

induction process and documentation

Kemira employees

completed Kemira

CoC training, %

“We enhance

performance

management”

All Kemira employees covered

by the global Performance

Management process by the

end of 2014

55% of the employees covered the global

Performance Management process

Kemira employees

covered by the

global Performance

Management

process, %

“We promote

leadership

development”

Every people manager

participates in leadership

development programs at least

once every 3 years, first target

period 2013–2015

Leadership development focus has been on change

management

20 % of people managers participated in

leadership training

People

managers covered

by global leadership

programs, %

Operations

“We improve

occupational

health &

safety”

Achieve zero accidents TRI = 8.5 Total Recordable

Incidents (TRI)

employees and

contractors

“We improve

water

efficiency in

manufacturing”

Baseline analyzed and water

efficiency program defined by

the end of 2014

Project to assess water efficiency opportunities and

development of water management program to

be started in 2013.

To be defined by the

end of 2014

“We improve

energy

efficiency in

manufacturing”

Baseline set and the energy

efficiency index defined by the

end of 2013

In 2012, 7 site audits and about 50 follow-up

audits were conducted. This resulted 159 identified

new improvement cases. During 2012, 136

improvement cases were implemented.

Total savings achieved 2,100 k€

Cumulative since 2010: 26 sites audited

representing 92% of total energy consumption,

and 825 potential improvement cases indentified

of which 317 cases were implemented. Total

savings achieved 5,800 k€

To be defined by the

end of 2013

Review of 2012 | Targets | Sustainability targets
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Sustainability

commitment

Sustainability targets Status at year-end 2012 KPI for performance

measurement

Customers

"We develop

and propose

sustainable

solutions for

our customers”

Sustainability and safety

aspects considered in all New

Product Development (NPD)

projects by the end of 2014

Sustainability and safety criteria defined, and

sustainability check template included in project’s

gate material

All new projects

apply the

sustainability check

in Gate 1, %

Existing projects

apply the

sustainability check

in Gates 2–4,

Local Communities

“We are

involved in

communities

where we

operate”

Each Kemira site with over 50

employees has participated in

local community involvement

initiatives at least once by the

end of 2015

38% of targeted sites with community

involvement activities

37 sites participated in community involvement

activities, of which 11 sites with over 50

employees

Kemira sites with

local community

initiatives, %

Review of 2012 | Targets | Sustainability targets
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Strategy
In 2012, Kemira’s clear strategic priority was to define the path to profitable growth, and hence the
company launched the restructuring program Fit for Growth. In parallel, Kemira started to work on
sharpening its strategy. This work is now underway and Kemira will communicate the sharpened
strategy at the end of April.

Out of the overall water market of EUR 500 billion, Kemira

participates in the water quality and quantity management

(WQQM) market, which was worth EUR 166 billion in 2011. The

accessible market with the current Kemira portfolio was EUR 26

billion. This market includes chemicals and services for paper, oil

and gas as well as mining customers for improvement of their

water, energy and raw material efficiency, and for other

industrial and municipal customers for water treatment. Kemira

has an 8.5% share of the accessible market in 2011. The annual

growth of the target market is expected to be at 3.3% (CAGR

2011–2020).

Around 40% of Kemira’s portfolio is WQQM process chemicals,

used to improve the process stability and yield in the customers’

production processes. Roughly another 40% of Kemira’s portfolio

is chemicals for treatment of raw and wastewater, as well as

sludge. The remaining 20% of Kemira’s portfolio is not related to

WQQM.

The key strengths of Kemira within the accessible market are the

following:

1. Leading global supplier to the paper industry with long-term

commitment.

2. Capability to tailor products and applications to customers’

needs based on innovation and profound manufacturing

capabilities.

3. Strong innovation platform.

4. High quality products and reliability in supply.

Kemira has divided its business into four segments: Paper, Oil &

Mining, Municipal & Industrial and Chemsolutions. The segments

have a clearly defined role in Kemira’s portfolio, on which the

segment specific strategies are being developed.

Review of 2012 | Strategy
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• Paper: Strong position and product portfolio; potential to drive

growth in South America via Pulp and in Asia Pacific via Paper

chemicals, and to improve profitability by participating in the

market consolidation in EMEA and NAFTA.

• Municipal & Industrial: Strong position in standard water

treatment chemicals in Europe and in NAFTA. Growth and

long-term sustainable position in emerging markets require

investments in significant portfolio renewal.

• Oil & Mining: Strong profitable growth in mature markets and

fast penetration into additional geographical areas (South

America, Middle East and Africa and Asia Pacific), and into

complementary chemical products.

• ChemSolutions: Profitability improvement through product mix

optimization. Option to further drive efficiency and value

creation through highly streamlined formic acid driven

business model.

The following statements summarize Kemira’s positioning for the

main growth opportunities in the coming years:

• Paper and pulp markets are consolidated and will likely

consolidate further. Kemira has a strong market position and is

committed to this business.

• Kemira has the capability to further increase its market share

in the growing oil and gas market.

• Kemira is determined to grow above market average by

focusing on fast growing regional sub-segments, especially in

the emerging markets.

SStrtraattegic prioritieegic priorities in 2012s in 2012
In 2012, Kemira’s number one priority was to define the path for

profitable growth. To achieve this, three strategic priorities were

established:

• Improve efficiency through a streamlined organization.

• Substantially grow and strengthen position in the emerging

markets

• Further sharpen the strategy, with increased focus on water

quality and quantity management.

Based on these, Kemira aims to simplify its operations, reach

above 10% operative EBIT by 2014, and achieve a growth rate

above the market average.

The first two of the above priorities are being addressed through

the Fit for Growth program, which Kemira launched in Q3, 2012.

The last priority is being addressed through the strategy

development process, which aims at strategy approval in Q1,

2013. The sharpened strategy will be communicated in April

2013.

Fit fFit for Gror Groowthwth
In 2012, Kemira Oyj started to implement its global restructuring

program Fit for Growth, including decisions on additional site

closures and headcount reductions in Europe and the US.

Headcount reductions will impact up to 600 employees equaling

approximately 12% of the total workforce of Kemira. Personnel

redundancies will account for 50% of the expected savings, and

the remaining 50% will be achieved through manufacturing

network consolidation and leaner operations. Kemira has made

the decision to close 7 manufacturing sites equaling over 20% of

it’s global manufacturing operations. Additionally 7 other sites

are under review (for closure) as part of the ongoing

manufacturing consolidation.

As an added measure of Fit for Growth, Kemira’s aim is, through

leaner operation, to improve net working capital ratio to 11% in

2014. Launched at the end of July, 2012, program’s overall

purpose is to improve the company's profitability, its internal

efficiency and to accelerate the growth in emerging markets

without sacrificing business opportunities in the mature markets.

The ultimate goal of the program is to reach at least a 10% EBIT

margin in 2014. The cost savings target with the planned

program is EUR 60 million on an annualized basis until the end of

2014. In 2012, the cost savings impact of Fit for Growth was EUR

10 million.

Review of 2012 | Strategy
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Market and customer segments
Kemira has organized its business into four customer based

segments: Paper, Municipal & Industrial, Oil & Mining and

ChemSolutions. ChemSolutions has previously been reported

under Segment Other, but will be reported as a separate

segment as of January 1, 2013.

Paper Municipal & Industrial Oil & Mining ChemSolutions

Customers

Pulp and paper industry Municipal drinking and waste

water treatment plants,

industrial waste and process

water plants

Oil, gas and mining

industry

Feed, farming, leather, detergent,

airports and chemical industries.

Number of employees at Dec 31, 2012

1,510 1,090 517 276

Revenue in 20121

EUR 1,002.0 million EUR 686.6 million EUR 321.1 million EUR 186.0 million

Product range

Comprehensive product

range for pulp and paper

wet-end.

Main products coagulants and

flocculants (polymers).

Antiscalants/corrosion,

biocides, coagulants,

defoamers,

dispersants, flocculants,

emulsifiers.

Formic acid, sodium percarbonate,

leather tanning agent and

products based on organic acids.

Markets

Accessible market size

approx. EUR 26 billion of

which EUR 7.6 billion is

relevant for Paper.

Accessible market size approx.

EUR 26 billion of which EUR 7.5

billion is relevant for M&I.

Accessible market size

approx. EUR 26 billion

of which 9.4 billion* is

relevant for O&M.

Accessible relevant market size

approximately EUR 2 billion.

Market position

One of three key players

globally*

#1 in coagulants and #3 in

flocculants worldwide

Ranges from 1 to 4

depending on market

and product line*

#2 in formic acid

Leading position in Feed Acids

globally and in Airport runway De-

icing/Europe.

Market dynamics and business drivers

Shift towards emerging

markets, with few globally

present competitors.

Stricter environmental

regulation, focus on energy

efficiency and recycling.

Increasingly important

role of water

management and

related new

technologies.

Need for chromium free tanning

agent, new chemical applications

for formic acid, expanding feed

acids market APAC and Americas.

Review of 2012 | Strategy | Market and customer segments
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Paper Municipal & Industrial Oil & Mining ChemSolutions

Water link

Efficient utilization of water at

the core of pulp and paper

manufacturing.

Energy consumption, product

quality, process runability and

customers’ profitability

depending on water

efficiency

Reliable water treatment for

municipalities and industries.

Coping with water related

challenges such as water

scarcity, cost, quality as well as

stricter regulations for

discharges.

Increased total process

efficiency requirements

for water-intensive oil

and mining processes.

Applications reducing

costs, minimizing water

consumption and

increasing yield.

Focus on

environmental

regulations – waste

water and reuse

More efficient leather tanning

process reduces water

consumption and simplifies water

treatment.

Preservation of feed and raw

materials reduces the amount of

water needed for feed production

*Management estimate ¹ According to the old organizational structure. Restated figures

will be published in March 2013.
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Sharpening the strategy
From the mid of 2012, Kemira has been working on sharpening

its strategy to strengthen the focus on water quality and

quantity management. Multiple steps have been taken to

understand the competitive positioning and market

opportunities of Kemira in the different segments, to define the

direction of the future strategy, as well as the related

implementation measures and risks. Kemira will start to

implement the prioritized actions immediately after the approval

of the sharpened strategy.
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Investments and M&A strategy
Kemira’s sharpened strategy will outline the prioritized roadmap

for future investments and Mergers & Acquisitions (M&A)

activities. However, in 2013 the focus of Kemira will be on the

implementation of the Fit for Growth program. The aim of

possible mergers and acquisitions is to strengthen Kemira’s

portfolio in strategically important areas, where there currently

are gaps.

Smaller acquisitions could be made to gain a stronger position in

the defined sub-segments. Larger acquisitions will only be

assessed once the sharpened strategy is finalized and Fit for

Growth has been fully implemented. For possible smaller M&A

deals, Kemira has set a criteria that the M&A transactions will

have to strengthen Kemira’s market position and/or

competencies, and be EBIT accretive in the second full year after

closing.
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Sustainability as a strategic opportunity
Kemira sees sustainability as a twofold matter: being responsible in its own operations and creating
value for customers through its offering on water quality and quantity management, enabling
customers to optimize the use of water, energy and other resources.

Kemira sees megatrends, such as the growing concern about the

environment, water scarcity coupled with increasing demand for

energy, metals and minerals, as drivers for its business – a view

that is well aligned with the company’s strategy and focus on

water quality and quantity management.

These megatrends define the landscape in which Kemira

operates, and will require innovative ways to manage the quality

and quantity of water. Kemira’s competitive edge stems from its

extensive application expertise in water-intensive industrial

processes and broad range of products that enhance customers’

processes – either by purifying water or improving their water,

raw material and energy efficiency.

FFococus on susus on sustainability prtainability progrogram deam devvelopmenelopmentt
The development of Kemira’s Sustainability Program started off

in 2011 with a materiality analysis as a basis for the preparation

of the sustainability targets, which were approved by the

Management Board in the third quarter of 2012.

The targets, KPIs and status at year-end 2012 are presented in

more detail on the page Sustainability targets.
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Materiality matrix
Kemira conducted its first materiality assessment in 2011 to

identify sustainability-related issues of importance to its key

stakeholders from a sustainability perspective. The themes in the

materiality matrix from 2011 remain relevant in 2012 and

beyond, and were used as a basis when setting sustainability

targets in 2012. In 2012, Kemira focused on further developing

the stakeholder dialogue process.

Read more about the materiality assessment process in Kemira's

Sustainability Report for the year 2011.
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Creating sustainable long-term value
Kemira creates value for its stakeholders by maintaining its position as an economically sound and
responsible company. Starting in 2012, Kemira focused on improving its shareholder value through the
Fit for Growth program. Kemira also set targets for its sustainability work, supporting long-term value
creation.

The foundation of economic responsibility is a financially sound

company with a strong balance sheet and positive cash flow. A

strong balance sheet and a positive cash flow enables Kemira to

implement its strategy and offer different kinds of avenues for

growth – thus creating value for a broad group of stakeholders:

• shareholders receive return on their investment by increased

share price and dividends,

• suppliers receive more orders,

• customers’ process efficiency is improved, and

• employees receive fair compensation.

Kemira aims to achieve sustainable value creation throughout

the value chain, from developing employee and supplier

relations to focusing on sustainable R&D as a critical enabler of

organic growth and further differentiation. For Kemira, it is also

important to be a good corporate citizen and always conduct its

business in a responsible and sustainable way. In 2012, Kemira

set sustainability targets related to these topics in order to

support and develop its long-term value creation for its

stakeholders.
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KEMIRA'S ECONOMIC IMPACT

EUR million 2012 2011

Customers 2,312.1 2,192.0

Income from customers on the basis of products and services sold, and financial
income

Suppliers -1,736.5 -1,654.0

Payments to suppliers of raw materials, goods and services

Employees -340.4 -299.3

Wages, salaries and social expenses

Investors -113.8 -101.4

Interest paid and financial expenses, dividends

Taxes -30.2 -37.4

Capital expenditure on maintenance and improvement -75.6 -184.3

Deficit/Surplus 15.6 -84.4

Income from divesting assets 29.5 138.7

Capital expenditure on expansion and acquisitions -58.5 -16.9

Repayment of capital -37.4 66.9

Repayment of loans (-) and new loans (+)

Purchase of non-controlling interests 0.0 -13.2

Net change in cash -50.8 91.1

IncrIncreeasing sharasing shareholder veholder valuealue
Kemira’s global Fit for Growth restructuring program was

announced in July 2012, aiming to improve profitability, internal

efficiency and accelerate growth in the emerging markets. The

financial targets for revenue growth and EBIT margin set by the

Board of Directors in 2008 and revised in September 2010 are

the guidelines for Kemira’s financial performance.
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Committed to creating shareholder value

Substantially

improving

earnings

potential

The ultimate goal for the Fit for Growth restructuring program is to achieve 10% EBIT margin in 2014. The new

organization is fostering growth in relevant businesses. Kemira aims to continuously improve its cash flow

management, which is vital also in order to free resources. These can then be reinvested in the business or

distributed as dividend, as the considerations will be on a case-to-case basis.

Growing

organically

stronger

than before

Kemira wants to leverage the mature markets with its existing strengths. There will also clearly be much stronger

focus on the emerging markets: an issue that has already developed well in the Paper business. Kemira also wants

to further improve its well established position in the U.S. oil and gas market, and is driving packaging and board

related offering in Asia.

Having a

strong

balance

sheet

Kemira is currently in a good position when it comes to funding. Kemira has relevant financial assets, which can be

used if seen appropriate, a reason for why mergers and acquisitions would be possible, even in the short-term,

without deteriorating the balance sheet.

Continuing

to pay

dividend

With strong focus on shareholder returns, Kemira aims to pay out 40% to 60% of the net operating profit on an

annual basis.

InInffluencing wluencing waatter quality and quaner quality and quantitytity
managemenmanagementt
Kemira’s operations also have an indirect economic impact, as

Kemira can offer products and concepts that improve the way its

customers treat and recycle water. A deep understanding of

industrial processes combined with water chemistry products

and solutions enable customers to improve their water, energy,

and raw material efficiency, and hence decrease their production

costs. This water knowledge is reflected in Kemira’s product and

application offering that improves the efficient use of different

resources needed in the industrial production.

KKemiremiraa’’s tas tax sx strtraattegyegy
Kemira Group’s long-term strategic tax approach aims at being a

responsible corporate citizen in all of the countries it operates in.

Kemira’s tax management culture is based on the Group’s

corporate values, Code of Conduct and tax related policies.

Kemira’s tax objective is to contribute to the strategic

development and growth of the Group by taking into account

the uncertainty and effects of tax legislation and its

interpretations. The tax approach is applied to all of Kemira Oyj

as well as its subsidiaries in which Kemira has over 50% direct or

indirect interest.

The strategic tax approach of Kemira is to have a fair balance

between tax optimization and tax risk management, and

establish itself as a sustainable and responsible tax payer.

Kemira’s principle is to strictly follow local tax practices and

legislation in all regions where it has a tax status. A key target

for tax management is to communicate the general principles

concerning tax issues within Kemira Group in order to stabilize

practices and working methods for tax planning, transfer pricing,

tax compliance and tax reporting as well as documentation

requirements in order to reach the most optimal tax position in

the Group.

Kemira does not operate in tax haven countries as defined by

the OECD for taxation reasons. Kemira only has some limited

operations in tax havens because of business reasons, e.g. raw

material sourcing channels and locations of key customers.

Kemira’s principle is to apply the arm’s length transfer pricing

principles according to OECD recommendations in all intra-group

product, service, IPR and financing transactions. These transfer

prices are defined based on arm’s length transfer pricing

methods taking into account functions, risks and assets in group

companies.
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TAXES BY REGION

%

North America 51

Europe, Middle East and Africa 46

South America 2

Asia-Pacific 1
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Responsible business conduct and compliance
Kemira's Code of Conduct forms the basis for how Kemira conducts business: ethically and in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations throughout the organization.

The Kemira Code of Conduct was updated in December 2012,

triggered by the 2011 revision of the OECD Guidelines for

Multinational Enterprises, and adding focus on key issues for

Kemira, which were identified after the previous Code of

Conduct was launched in 2005.

The key changes to the Code of Conduct include:

• Reference to Kemira’s values

• Increased focus on compliance with laws, sustainability,

product safety, and international business

• Code of Conduct for Suppliers, Agents and Distributors

In addition to ensuring responsible business conduct in its own

operations, Kemira expects its suppliers and other business

partners to maintain the same high standards of operation.

Kemira has therefore introduced a new Code of Conduct for

Suppliers, Agents and Distributors, which is presented in the

Supply Chain Management section.

CCommunicaommunicating the Cting the Code oode of Cf Conduct tonduct to theo the
emploemployyeeeess
Every Kemira employee is responsible for complying with the

Code of Conduct, and it is the responsibility of every business

unit and the management on all levels to communicate the

principles to the people they supervise and to monitor

compliance with the code. New employees become familiarized

with the Code of Conduct as an essential part of the Kemira

induction process.

To reach the sustainability target of providing Code of Conduct

training to all of its employees, and to ensure that the new Code

of Conduct has been understood by all employees, Kemira will

arrange follow-up training through an e-learning program during

2013. The training coverage will be monitored globally.

ExtExternal partner incrernal partner increeasing open discasing open discusussion andsion and
trtransparansparencyency
As of April 1, 2013, non-conformity with the Code of Conduct

can be reported to an independent external partner. This

decision was made to lower the threshold of reporting in the

organization and to make the process more functional in terms

of cultural conventions in different Kemira locations. The external

service provider reports to Kemira Legal.

Furthermore, employees should always feel free to discuss

questions regarding the Code of Conduct with their line

management. They can also contact the external service

provider or Kemira Legal for further consultation should there

occur concerns about the compliance with local regulations or

potential conflicts between Kemira’s principles and existing or

pending legislation.
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Compliance with competition laws and anti-corruption
principles
The Code of Conduct requires compliance with laws at all levels

of the Group and follows a zero tolerance policy with regard to

breaches of competition law. The Code of Conduct also includes

guidelines regarding corruption. Kemira does not tolerate any

corruption and is not involved with bribery. Kemira and its

employees must never offer, solicit or accept a bribe in any form.

As of January 1, 2013, Kemira has a new group-wide policy, the

Kemira Group Gifts, Entertainment and Anti-bribery Policy, in

place. The policy defines what kind of business gifts or

hospitality Kemira employees can offer or receive, and helps to

ensure that Kemira and its employees comply with the Code of

Conduct and the relevant local anti-bribery and anti-corruption

laws.

Furthermore, the Code of Conduct, as well as the Kemira Group

Gifts, Entertainment and Anti-bribery Policy, prohibit financial

support to politicians, political parties or political organizations.

The main channels for Kemira to contribute to public policy

development are contributing to the work of the relevant trade

and industry associations.

At Kemira, there were no pending or completed legal actions

initiated under national or international laws designed for

regulating anti-competitive behavior, anti-trust, or monopoly

practices in 2012. However, Kemira is a defendant in certain legal

proceedings in which damages are sought for violations of

competition law. Such proceedings are described in Kemira’s

Financial Statements under the heading Litigation.

CCompeompetition Latition Law Cw Compliancompliance Pe Policy trolicy trainingaining
Kemira's global Competition Law Compliance Policy is approved

by the Kemira Board of Directors and communicated to the

senior management and key persons working in sales,

marketing, sourcing, procurement and other similar functions

through a comprehensive, ongoing, and regularly repeated

training process. In 2012, 751 persons were trained (2011: 895).

The annual variation in the number of training participants is due

to the training cycle, which is slightly longer than one calendar

year.

AAudit and Inudit and Intternal Cernal Conontrtrolol
At Kemira, an internal audit plan is generated annually. The plan

is based on relevant criteria and approved by the Board of

Directors’ Audit Committee. Internal audits are conducted in the

Kemira Group according to the approved audit plan.

The adequacy of internal control systems and commitment to

the Code of Conduct in the Kemira Group companies and units is

assessed annually by the Global Internal Control Survey. The

survey is sent to managing directors, the chief financial officer,

and as of 2012, to other managers in the Kemira Group

companies. In 2012, the Internal Control Survey was sent to 193

employees (2011: 108).

The findings of the audits in the Kemira Group and the Internal

Control Survey conducted by the Group Internal Audit during

2012 indicate no incidents of corruption within the Group in

2012.

Security practices
Corporate security refers to Kemira's total management of

security matters, and is the responsibility of Ethics and

Compliance, a new role established in 2012.

Practical corporate security work consists of preventive actions

which protect Kemira's personnel, property, information,

environment and reputation from accidents, damage or criminal

activity.
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Paper
We offer chemical products and integrated systems that help customers in the water-intensive pulp and paper industry to improve their

profitability as well as their water, raw material and energy efficiency. Our solutions support sustainable development.

CCususttomersomers:: Pulp and paper industry

MMarkarkeet art areea:a: Global

PrProducts and servicoducts and serviceess:: Chemical solutions for the entire process from pulp manufacture to paper production and to water treatment

KEY FIGURES

EUR million 2012 2011

Revenue 1,002.0 973.3

Operative EBIT 86.2 75.4

EBIT 55.2 79.5

Operative EBIT, % 8.6 7.7

EBIT, % 5.5 8.2

Capital expenditure 66.4 43.5

Cash flow after investments, excluding interest and taxes 30.6 90.9
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Paper review
Paper continued to improve its profitability, with the operative EBIT margin at 8.6% (7.7% in 2011) for
the year. Paper segment revenue reached EUR 1 billion and grew 5%, excluding the impact of the
divestment of Kemira's North American hydrogen peroxide business in the end of 2011. The segment's
Packaging & Board and Tissue product segments, in particular, both show double-digit growth in 2012.

Although tough decisions have had to be made, it has been a

good year generally for the Paper segment. Unpredictable shifts

in raw material costs have not resulted in any major

consequences. Oil price, which in many ways drives raw material

costs, have remained on a high but relatively stable level.

An eAn eyye on ee on effficiencyficiency
The Fit for Growth restructuring program will be a major factor in

the segment’s profitability improvements going forward. The

program’s impact on Paper is rather sizeable, as the overall

saving target is 60 million of which Paper’s share represents

roughly a third. The organization has been renewed and in that

context, reductions in personnel have been an unfortunate

necessity to ensure operational efficiency.

The main organizational development is the change from

customer segments – pulp, printing & writing, packaging & board

and tissue – to regional business units (RBU): Asia Pacific, South

America, North America and Europe, Middle-East and Africa

(EMEA). While customer segmentation still plays an important

role, the new model enables Paper to have a clearer profit and

loss responsibility below the overall segment level.

SStriving ftriving for pror proofitable grfitable groowthwth
Profitable growth and organizational development remain at the

core of Paper’s strategic focus in line with Kemira group. It is

important to emphasize that the segment’s focus markets are

not just the emerging markets, important as they are. Paper will

also continue to focus on the mature markets, where a large

part of its business is. Simply stated, the segment’s focus

markets are those areas of the globe where the pulp and paper

industry is substantial. This encompasses Europe, North America

and Asia, China in particular. In terms of pulp, South America is

also significant, hence the expansion of hydrogen peroxide

capacity in Uruguay.

EnlarEnlarging the oging the offfferingering
In 2012, Kemira announced that its hydrogen peroxide capacity

would be expanded in Fray Bentos, Uruguay by mid-2013. The

company is also proceeding with its Nanjing paper chemicals

production plant in China. The project is now in its pre-sales

phase, in anticipation of trial production starting at the end of Q1

2013.

Paper has also been enlarging its application offering in South

America. This initiative of selective application additions has

been active throughout the year and the expansion will continue

in the future. In China, the segment has been further

consolidating its market position in anticipation of the Nanjing

plant. Furthermore, Paper segment sales volumes increased to

tissue customers, especially in North America. In 2013, sales to

tissue customers are expected to accelerate also in China,

Indonesia, South America and in Europe.

For Paper, sustainability means higher efficiency in terms of

water, energy and raw material usage in its customers'

processes. As an example Kemira´s Fennobond enables yield

advantage resulting in 5 %–10% lighter end customer products.

Chemicals helps customers also to optimize their raw material

use for example fiber consumption. As fiber is such a sustainable

means of generating industrial product versus alternatives such

as plastic, the paper industry is well positioned to provide

sustainable solutions to its customers and end-users.

As packaging producers increasingly look to lightweighting in an

effort to minimize resource usage and carbon footprints further

down the line, Paper is in a position to support them with

strength chemicals for lighter materials. This trend has been

visibly gathering pace throughout 2012.

FFococus in 2013us in 2013
Further profitability improvements facilitated by the Fit for

Growth program, that are means of supporting segments focus

on profitable growth, will be implemented in 2013. The opening

of Kemira’s production plant in Nanjing will also play a major role

for Paper in the years to come. Further to this, development of

the offering will continue, as will commercialization of research,

and spreading of the portfolio throughout the different regions.
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Case Kemira KemFlite – Novel methods
meet solid expertise

RReducing paper machine preducing paper machine problemsoblems Kemira KemFlite is a novel approach for addressing problems related to the papermaking

process. Deposition on the paper machine and (sheet) defects in the final product can be

difficult to diagnose. Research, both in the laboratory and in field, has revealed that

hydrophobic particles, and especially the agglomeration of the particles, is the key

mechanism for the formation of deposition and sheet defects. Uncontrolled

agglomeration is often the root of poor machine performance. KemFlite is a means for

measuring and controlling the size of the particles before they agglomerate, helping to

maximize the efficiency of the paper machine process.

CCombinaombination otion of prf prococeesss es expertisexpertise
and applicaand application ttion technologyechnology

The KemFlite concept leverages Kemira’s expert knowledge of their customers’

processes, its broad product portfolio, as well as novel measurement tools, such as

Kemira Flyto. This combination of process knowledge, measurement and product

technology enables Kemira to offer its customers custom-made solutions.

Kemira Flyto, a modified flow Cytometry, is a unique laboratory analysis tool that

measures and characterizes hydrophobic particles; it can detect agglomeration

phenomena in the papermaking process. Kemira Flyto can be both a process

measurement tool and a product screening tool. Its dual function allows for identification

of the key issues in the process and then development of a custom solution, utilizing

Kemira’s novel technology. Optimal performance from Kemira’s applications can be

ensured with the use of Kemira AutoFlite, the new on-line particle measurement/

monitoring tool. Real time data/feedback guarantees quick response to process upsets,

often mitigating issues before they arise.

DivDiverse cerse cususttomer beneomer benefitsfits The customer benefits of KemFlite are numerous. KemFlite improves cost efficiency of

the process by improving paper machine efficiency. This can manifest in increased up-

time and/or reductions in of-quality product, and more stable processes can lead to

decreases in customer complaints, often improving the sales image of Kemira’s customer

base. Through KemFlite the customer also gains savings in raw material and chemical

consumption. Overall, the customer’s water usage, production and raw material

efficiency are improved, leading to significant cost savings.
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Case FennoClean PFA – New treatment
program for tissue machines

Need fNeed for susor sustainabletainable
micrmicrobiological cobiological conontrtrolol

The tissue making industry is becoming more and more driven by environmental and

sustainability goals. However, in order to keep the machines clean and running, oxidizing

biocides are widely used, some of which are harmful both for the environment and the

machine.

In 2011, Kemira introduced FennoClean PFA, which is a new treatment program for

microbiological control on tissue machines. FennoClean PFA is a peroxide derivative of

formic acid that is capable of destroying microbiological cells; the optimal combination of

formic acid and hydrogen peroxide creates a highly efficient disinfectant.

The efficiency of FennoClean PFA is based on active oxygen, which means the product is

free of chlorine and bromine. Formic acid and hydrogen peroxide are significantly less

hazardous than traditional biocides. Moreover, FennoClean PFA is fully biodegradable and

halogen-free, and does not release any harmful AOX compounds into the environment.

BeBetttter end-prer end-product hoduct hyygienegiene FennoClean PFA is currently being used in several virgin-fiber based tissue mills across

Europe, producing positive results. The PFA biocide improves corrosion safety and

sustainability while maintaining good cleanliness and end-product hygiene. Non-toxicity

in the final tissue product is an important benefit of FennoClean PFA, as some tissue

buyers require certification that no biocide residuals remain in the hygiene product. In the

future, this matter will bear a growing importance for those dealing with sustainability

and green consumer products.
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Case Reduced carbon footprint with Kemira
FennoBond

PrProduction ooduction of lighf lightwtweigheightt
packaging boarpackaging board prd promoomotted bed byy

enenvirvironmenonmental istal issuesuess

Fiber based products account for the largest share of packaging materials globally,

followed by plastics, metal and glass. The demand for packaging material is driven by the

needs of the growing population, industrial growth, demographic and lifestyle trends as

well as health and safety aspects. Growing awareness of environmental issues has also

started to play a role in packaging business, which is seen in the regulatory requirements

on reducing and recycling packaging material.

Paperboard producers are responding to these challenges by developing lighter and

lighter products. Lighter packaging board provides lower environmental impact through

reduced amount of packaging material needed, decreased transport costs, less waste

and less raw material usage.

LighLightter prer product with improduct with improovveded
sstiftiffnefnessss

The challenge in manufacturing lightweight packaging products is to maintain key

properties like stiffness, strength and folding properties at lower basis weights. To

address these challenges, Kemira has developed strength and stiffness enhancement

chemistries that enable diverse benefits for the customer.

The strength additive Kemira FennoBond was used in a customer case to reach higher

bending stiffness in folding boxboard. Kemira FennoBond was added to the top plies,

which resulted in 10% improved bending stiffness and made it possible to produce

lighter board. Altogether the strength additive brought the customer yield advantage and

improved quality of the end product, as well as significant raw material savings and a

reduced carbon footprint.
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Municipal & Industrial
We offer water treatment chemicals for municipalities and industrial customers. Our strengths are high-level application know-how, a

comprehensive range of water treatment chemicals, and reliable customer deliveries.

CCususttomersomers:: Municipalities and industries

MMarkarkeet art areea:a: Global

PrProducts and servicoducts and serviceess:: Potable water, wastewater and sludge treatment solutions

KEY FIGURES

EUR million 2012 2011

Revenue 686.6 664.7

Operative EBIT 42.3 46.9

EBIT -8.5 43.7

Operative EBIT, % 6.2 7.1

EBIT, % -1.2 6.6

Capital expenditure 35.2 28.8

Cash flow after investments, excluding interest and taxes 23.3 41.9
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Municipal & Industrial review
In 2012 Municipal & Industrial´s operative EBIT margin was at 6.2% and the main focus was to improve
the profitability through optimization of the manufacturing network, streamlining of the organization as
well as improving the efficiency through customer segmentation. The segment continues to build on its
good and solid supply position in flocculants and inorganic coagulants through selected investments,
such as site construction in Spain and Germany.

In 2012, the segment focused on profitability improvements.

Operations streamlining, cost cutting and growth-focused R&D

activities were all geared towards a profitability turnaround.

ApplicaApplications ftions for nicheor niches os offffer globaler globally significanly significantt
markmarkeetsts
The segment committed further effort to the commercialization

of the key R&D programs. During 2012, applications for

membrane technologies, biogas, fermentation, and bioethanol

processes have been developed and shown good progress in

terms of commercialization. As an example M&I has launched

KemGuard antiscalant product portfolio for membrane

applications and Biogas Digestion Product (BDP) concept for

industrial biogas plants. All R&D programs share one crucial

property: they are niche-like applications which, when viewed

globally, represent a substantial potential business volume.

The segment also initiated product development to further

increase product line differentiation especially in the polymer

product line. New polymer products will be launched during

2013.

The raw and wastewater applications continue to be the core for

both municipal and industrial customers; water treatment is a

stable business with a sustainable long-term outlook. The

general demand continues to grow as a result of basic need for

water combined with stricter regulations within the water sector.

Phosphorus removal requirements for municipal waste water

discharges are the major driver for chemical demand increase.

SStrtreeamlining and famlining and fococus on kus on keey sity siteess
The Fit for Growth restructuring program was started out in the

segment and includes reorganizations on the one hand, and

rationalization of the manufacturing footprint on the other.

Reorganization comprises simplifying and streamlining the

structure and empowerment of the regional business

organizations.

Rationalization of the manufacturing footprint comprises

consolidation of the manufacturing network and selected

investments to increase competitiveness. Kemira has over 40

coagulant plants, of which over 20% has been decided to be

closed or under review (for closure), while focusing the

development activities to long-term key sites. The aim is to

minimize manufacturing and logistic costs through footprint

optimization. Furthermore, these selected investments will

reinforce its strong coagulant position.

DeDevvelopmenelopment in kt in keey marky markeetsts
In Asia Pacific, Municipal & Industrial increased resources,

especially in China, and is localizing the product sourcing to be

able to capture the growth in the emerging markets. The

segment has chosen Asia Pacific as the region to go deeper

especially into the fast growing area of new water treatment

technologies, such as membranes. Kemira’s forthcoming

production plant in Nanjing, China can be used to help leverage

this upon its opening in 2013. The segment is planning to grow

by renewing its product line, increasing the exposure and

product offering relevant for the new water treatment

technologies especially in the mature markets.

SusSustainability in prtainability in practicacticee
Municipal & Industrial’s chemistry is focused on enhancing

energy efficiency of its customers’ technologies and processes.

In Europe, where energy prices are constantly increasing, it

makes sense for municipal customers to extract the energy from

sludge. Biogas R&D project is exactly targeting to serve in this

customer need. Offering for membrane applications also heads

to energy efficiency improvement. In bioethanol and

fermentation projects the main driver is yield enhancement of

the final product.
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Byproduct utilization (typically another industry’s waste stream)

in Kemira’s basic inorganic coagulant production amply

demonstrates Municipal & Industrial’s dedication to sustainable

treatment of raw materials, as do R&D initiatives to develop new

products from natural biodegradable raw material sources. In the

coagulant production, 60% of the raw material used stems from

byproducts. Kemira Performic Acid (PFA) is yet another good

illustration: a biodegradable disinfection solution for wastewater,

water or sludge, resulting in byproducts of only carbon dioxide

and water.

NeNext sxt stteps feps for the segmenor the segmentt
In 2013, Municipal & Industrial will continue to simplify and

streamline its structure, as well as develop its sales channels and

distribution partnerships in order to better reach customers with

smaller consumption needs. Also, the segment will focus on

profitability improvements and accelerate the application based

renewal of product offerings.
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Case Successful collaboration continues in
Lapinlahti

WWasastteewwaatter servicer service plan re plan reneenewweded Kemira Operon Oy and Lapinlahden Vesi Oy have agreed upon continuing the service plan

of the Suoniemi wastewater treatment plant and pumping stations for the next 6.5

years. Kemira Operon produces water treatment services for both municipalities and

industry.

The benefits of outsourcing the operation of wastewater treatment plants are efficient

production of services and, above all, safety for people and the environment. “Since the

beginning of the cooperation in 2007, the environmental risks of the treatment plant and

the pumping stations have come down substantially, which reduces point source

pollution in the lake Onkivesi,” says Tapio Korttilalli, Managing Director of Kemira Operon.

Moreover, Korttilalli points out how the mutual effort is beneficial to all participants.

“High-quality certified operation is rewarding both from the customer’s and the service

provider’s perspective.”

RRebuilt planebuilt plant prt producoducees ts top rop reesultssults The new service plan is extended to include the wastewater treatment plant and

pumping stations in Varpaisjärvi, as well as service and maintenance of the intercepting

sewer pumping stations of Lahdenperä water cooperative. The value of the contract for

operating two wastewater treatment plants and 70 pumping stations amounts to one

million euros per year. “We are pleased to have brought about a contract with an

excellent cooperation partner,” says Marko Korhonen, Mayor of Lapinlahti.

During the cooperation the plant has been rebuilt and the reliability of the pumping

stations has been improved. The purification results of the plant are top class: its nitrogen

removal capacity is over 95%, which is one of the highest in Finland. Due to the vast

wastewater load coming from Valio’s factory, the Suoniemi treatment plant is much

larger than an ordinary municipality plant. “The waterworks of a small municipality gets

to benefit from Kemira’s expertise in solving challenges related to managing a large plant

with a demanding wastewater load,” Korttilalli explains. “The management of

Lapinlahden Vesi Oy can now concentrate on customer service and building up networks

– and have a good night’s sleep, knowing that the wastewater business is in the hands of

professionals.”
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Case NSR – Increasing biogas production
sustainably

Biogas ansBiogas answwering rering reneenewwableable
enerenergy demandsgy demands

NSR, a progressive waste recycling company operating in Southern Sweden, is one of the

leading biogas producers in the country. The company has made its mark on sustainable

waste management based on high levels of reuse and recycling. NSR’s biogas plant uses

a full circle process, in which biogas energy is extracted from the substrate, and the

remaining digestate is used as a biofertilizer on local agricultural farms. The procedure

helps to minimize the amount of waste going to landfill.

NSR’s biogas plant in Helsingborg processes 70,000 tons of organic substrate each year,

and expects to make four million Nm3 of upgraded gas in 2012. NSR’s long-haul plans

are set even higher: the company aims at increasing the production of upgraded gas

from four to eight million Nm3, which means doubling the biogas plant capacity.

Biogas digeBiogas digesstion prtion product (BDP)oduct (BDP)
ttechnology increchnology increeaseases ors organicganic

loading rloading raattee

For Irene Bohn, who works as a research scientist in NSR, the criteria for finding the right

solution are clear. “Our aim is to get the best utilization of all the resources we have for

the most beneficial environmental effects.” NSR has already enhanced its biogas

production in Helsingborg by using a biogas digestion treatment, which is based on

Kemira BDP technology. The Kemira BDP technology makes use of the combination of

iron, acid and trace elements which boost the biogas production. Through the use of this

treatment, NSR has lifted the organic loading rate of the plant by 33% and improved its

biogas production significantly.

PrPrococeesss fs flelexibility and sxibility and stability frtability fromom
BDP trBDP treeaatmentmentt

The BDP treatment stabilizes the biogas production process and eliminates some of the

earlier problems. ”Before adding the BDP 825, increased levels of volatile fatty acids

(VFA) made the process unstable”, says Irene Bohn. “After the BDP treatment the VFA

decreased and we could increase the organic loading rate, which resulted in much more

biogas being produced.” Furthermore, NSR’s process engineer Marcus Möller points out

that the treatment also allows greater flexibility. “The process is far less sensitive to

changes and possible upsets. The whole line is now more robust and tolerates variations

and swings much better.”
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Oil & Mining
We offer a large selection of innovative chemical extraction and process solutions for oil and mining industries, where water plays a

central role. Utilizing our expertise, we enable our customers to improve efficiency and productivity.

CCususttomersomers:: Oil and mining industries

MMarkarkeet art areea:a: Global

PrProducts and servicoducts and serviceess:: Oil and mining industry products and customized production

KEY FIGURES

EUR million 2012 2011

Revenue 321.1 335.7

Operative EBIT 37.3 36.2

EBIT 30.2 34.9

Operative EBIT, % 11.6 10.8

EBIT, % 9.4 10.4

Capital expenditure 15.9 9.6

Cash flow after investments, excluding interest and taxes 21.6 28.7
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Oil & Mining review
For Oil & Mining, 2012 proved to be a challenging year due to the slowing in global demand.
However, the segment improved its profitability to 11.6% compared to 2011 (10.8% operative EBIT in
2011) and appears well positioned to capture the next wave of growth. The segment continued to
refine and sharpen its strategy in line with the Kemira Group strategy, with a dual focus on two distinct
growth opportunities: its customer industries themselves, and water usage within those industries.

A leA lean, ean, effficienficient ort organizaganizationtion
As Oil & Mining’s profitability has maintained a stable level, the

benefit brought to the segment by Kemira’s Fit for Growth

program is primarily a lean and agile global platform. Oil &

Mining’s refined organization can be seen as simplified,

entrepreneurial and empowered, allowing the segment the

speed and flexibility to focus on its strategy of profitable growth.

The segment’s strategic focus continues to revolve around

applications for unconventional oil resources and declining ore

grades, connecting customers with the latest innovations to

meet their challenges. The opening of Kemira’s R&D projects

laboratory in Alberta, Canada in May demonstrates Kemira's

commitment to help it´s customers address challenges in reusing

and managing water in applications such as oil sands. In addition,

the new site supports the company’s regional growth in the

unconventional oil and gas marketplace.

Oil & Mining’s distinct strengths in global competition are, of

course, its water expertise, combined with its emphasis on

tailoring solutions and products to customers’ unique processes.

Particular markets of note for the segment in 2012 were the

Middle East, Africa and South America.

TTechnical advechnical advancancemenementsts
Another of the Oil & Mining segment’s distinct achievements in

2012 was its increasing recognition as a more technically adept

player by the segment’s customer industries. The technical

leadership in the segment has made significant contributions in

terms of patents, research and technical papers; including 10

patent filings, over 40 technical papers and more than 20 case

studies showcasing commercial success.

For example in shale gas production, KemFlow A-4251 Friction

Reducer and AMA-324 biocide provide improved friction

reduction performance, reduced pumping cost, lower production

dose and cost savings. Reduced dosage on KemFlow friction

reducer coupled with the improved environmental profile offers

customers also a smaller environmental footprint.

Another contributing factor is the number of case studies

conducted in partnership with customers, strengthening Kemira's

reputation for successful applications that tackle customers’

needs head on. Together, these clearly demonstrate the

segment’s dedication to its customers and speak to the quality

of the solutions Oil & Mining brings to the marketplace.

MMooving fving forworwarardd
In the short-term future, Oil & Mining is looking to restore

growth as China and other global economies begin to recover. In

the longer term, the segment also seeks to continue to capture

growth in emerging markets, particularly in the Middle East,

Africa and South America.

In terms of Oil & Mining, Kemira aims to become a recognized

leader in water chemistry. Two important milestones in the

execution of this long-term strategy have already been

achieved. Kemira signed a licensing agreement with

geographical exclusivity with Mitsui Chemicals, Inc. for

acrylamide manufacturing technology. Also a two-year capacity

expansion for three sites in North America was completed,

which has increased the manufacturing capacity by 60%. These

actions strengthen Kemira’s polymer product line globally.

Polymers are core to Kemira’s water technology platform and

also play a significant role in growing oil and mining applications

like water reuse, wastewater treatment, rheology control and

shale fracturing.
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Case Efficient wastewater treatment in
nickel refinery

NickNickel prel production roduction raatte thre threeaattenedened
bby inadequay inadequatte we waatter trer treeaatmentmentt

Kemira’s expertise in water chemistry and water treatment was recently used by a nickel

refinery struggling with its wastewater treatment. As a key supplier to the refinery,

Kemira was asked to investigate and develop alternative treatment methods to ensure

compliance with regulatory demands.

The conventional treatment method used by the refinery proved to be inefficient. In the

process, all of the wastewaters were collected in one central thickener where cationic

flocculant is added to assist in the separation process. As the production rates increased,

the amount of wastewater grew as well, exceeding the refinery’s treatment capacity. If

the levels of solids in the overflow surpass certain values, the nickel production would

have to be decreased or even stopped, leading to significant financial losses for the

refinery.

KKeeping solids leeeping solids levvels in cels in compliancompliancee
while incrwhile increeasing prasing production roduction raatteess

Kemira assessed the whole water treatment process and compared alternative anionic

and nonionic polymers that could substitute the use of cationic flocculant. Application

testing indicated that Kemira’s Superfloc anionic and nonionic polymers could achieve

significantly improved separation results than the cationic product. Upon implementation

of the new polymers on the full scale operation the total capacity of the waste treatment

plant was increased. The nickel production increased without any negative impact to the

water treatment process and the solids levels were within regulatory limits.
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Case Biocide success in Oil & Mining
BiocideBiocides prs proottect wect welells frls from bactom bacteriaeria Bacteria may be introduced into an oil or gas producing reservoir through a number of oil

field processes such as drilling, hydrofracturing (fracing), water injection, and packer drill

out. The common connection to all of these processes is water. Thus, the introduction of

water into the reservoir can lead to microbiological contamination of the producing

formation. Uncontrolled bacterial growth and activity from such contamination can lead

to bacterial biofilm development and sulfide production potentially causing

microbiological influenced corrosion (MIC), oil and gas souring, and loss of production.

The culmination of all of these issues results in a loss of billions of euros annually within

the petroleum industry. To mitigate these microbiological associated issues requires the

application of a biocide where water is introduced into the oil and gas producing

formations.

With vast proven petroleum reserves within shale formations, there is substantial growth

in global unconventional shale oil and gas production. To achieve the necessary gas and

oil production within these shale plays, hydrofracturing of the shale in the production

zone is required. Hydrofracturing is achieved by introducing large volumes of water under

very high pressure into the producing zone, fracturing the rock. With the introduction of

water into the rock, the application of a biocide is required to mitigate the risk for

microbiological growth and activity from possible contamination in the water.
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Aiming aAiming at a sust a sustainable and ctainable and cosostt--
eeffficienficient solutiont solution

Numerous public and governmental stakeholders are placing considerable pressure on

the oil and gas production companies to reuse and recycle water in hydrofracturing

operations. Furthermore, some unconventional gas plays are in areas that have little-to-

no available surface water for performing hydrofracturing operations. Thus, working with

and providing solutions to operators to increase their ability to recycle water and use

brine flowback water would support efforts to reduce the need for natural water sources,

resulting in a smaller ecological footprint for the oil and gas production companies.

Kemira was challenged with the task of increasing production for an operating company

in the Marcellus shale region. To meet this challenge, Kemira tailored a friction reducer in

order to obtain superior hydrofracturing performance. The challenge that Kemira faced

was to develop a friction reducer that would consistently meet performance demands in

high brine flowback waters, as well as be synergistic with a biocide that provides long-

term well preservation against bacterial growth and activity. To achieve optimal

hydrofracturing efficiency while reducing the customer’s total cost of operations,

eliminating compatibility issues between the friction reducer and the biocide was critical.

CCombinaombination otion of chemisf chemistrietriess The combination of KemFlow A-4251 friction reducer and AMA®-324 biocide provided

improved friction reduction performance as compared to the friction reducer alone. The

friction reduction was maximized in produced and flowback waters and typical brine

waters, reducing the need for surface fresh water. AMA-324 biocide provided excellent

long-term bacterial control within the water used for hydrofracturing. Together, these

products provide superior performance without the incompatibility issues seen in other

friction reducer and biocide combinations, assuring continued quality production from the

reservoir while maximizing the operating company’s assets.
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Case KemFlow friction reducer improves
hydraulic fracturing

CChalhallenge: Tlenge: To pro proovide frictionvide friction
rreduction thaeduction that meet meets morts moree

sstringentringent perft performancormancee
rrequirequiremenementsts

Effective fracturing in tight gas formations is critical to the final production rate of a

typical well. Friction reducers (FR) help to improve hydraulic fracturing performance, but

the chemistry must function in a variety of process situations using waters of different

qualities. The ability to use brine flowback waters would reduce the need for other water

sources, including fresh water supplies, if friction reduction performance could be

improved in higher brines. In addition, the fluids used in the frac job must not

contaminate the well with bacteria that could eventually lead to biofilm development,

potentially causing microbiological influenced corrosion (MIC), loss of production and the

“souring” of a well from biogenic hydrogen sulfide (H2S) gas.

While most biocides used in frac applications are quick-kill and short-duration products,

the use of a long-term preservative biocide injected with the frac fluids helps assure

continued quality production, reducing the potential development of biofilm, MIC and

H2S.

Thus, the need for a product that provides friction reduction and meets performance

demands consistently in high-brine flowback waters was clear. Furthermore, the solution

needed to work well with a biocide that provided long-term preservation in the reservoir.

ImprImproovved perfed performancormance withe with
KKemFemFlolow® Aw® A-4251 friction r-4251 friction reduceducerer

and AMA®-and AMA®-324 biocide324 biocide

Kemira’s KemFlow A-4251 friction reducer improved performance compared to

competitive products in high brines. Customer benefits included lower surface pressure,

reduced horsepower requirements, and a lower performance dose, reducing the overall

costs of the program.

The use of AMA-324 biocide with KemFlow A-4251 friction reducer provided synergistic

performance improvements with respect to maximum friction reduction, time to

maximum inversion, and preservation of gas production. In addition, the lower dosage of

KemFlow A-4251 reduced fresh water demand, improving the environmental profile of

this friction reducer package.
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ChemSolutions
We offer chemical products to the farming, feed, leather, detergent and chemical industries. Utilizing our application expertise, our

customers can benefit through improved profitability and enhanced product quality.

CCususttomersomers:: Feed, farming, leather, detergent, airports and chemical industries

MMarkarkeet art areea:a: Global

PrProducts and servicoducts and serviceess:: Formic acid, sodium percarbonate, leather tanning agent and products based on organic acids.
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ChemSolutions review
For ChemSolutions, 2012 was a year of positive development, resulting in strategic clarification and
further signposts to profitable growth. The segment saw some strong market development, especially
in emerging markets, and most specifically in APAC. ChemSolutions’ strategic role remains value
maximization, and the segment maintains a clear focus on profitability and cash generation.

ChemSolutions’ Chemical & Pharma division experienced high

demand, particularly for formic acids. Another trend that made

its mark, particularly in Q2, was that of rapidly escalating raw

material prices.

One of the challenges in the Food division, in regards to its

bakery preservation agents, was that North American

competitors achieved a stronger position due to shifts in raw

material and utility pricing. This has been a growing trend in

recent years, but was particularly visible during 2012.

In line with Kemira’s strategy focusing on water quality and

quantity management, Kemira announced the sale of the Food

and Pharma business together with the acetate based chemical

business to Niacet (Niagara Falls, USA) in December, 2012. The

transaction also included the production facility in Tiel, the

Netherlands.

CChangehanges fs for the beor the betttterer
Kemira’s Fit for Growth restructuring program had significant

impact on the segment, with strong ramifications for its biggest

production facility in Oulu. This facility’s efficiency was

thoroughly examined in terms of efficiency, working methods

and future orientation. The findings were implemented in Q4

and implementation will continue into 2013. Though these

involve redundancies in some cases, significant improvements

have been made from the portfolio point of view, including

decisions which should improve ChemSolutions’

competitiveness.

As a result of this process of evaluation and improvement as

well as the divestment of the Tiel facility and related businesses,

ChemSolutions now has a much clearer role for the future in

terms of strategic direction. The formic-acid-based business has

a distinctive competitive advantage, which will be

developed along with other customer successes highlighted for

future focus, such as the segment’s expertise and market access

in downstream applications.

ImprImprooving boving both prth products and ooducts and own prwn prococeesssesess
ChemSolutions launched the Tanfor T leather-tanning agent this

year, which garnered very positive customer feedback. This

nonhazardous agent, designed to achieve sustainable high

performance tanning, answered specific market demands in

terms of composition, process, quality of results and the

environmental profile.

Sustainable development is also underway in terms of the

segment’s own activities. The efficiency campaign in

ChemSolutions’ biggest production unit in Oulu has the energy

consumption of formic acid production as a major target. Future

investments will target efficiency as well as energy intake.

The wThe waay ahey aheadad
Thus far, economic development and its effects have been in

ChemSolutions’ favor, and the segment has not seen impacts

from the global slowdown. However, the leather and textile

industries are not immune to global trends, and were they to be

affected, the segment’s business may also suffer. Rapid upwards

movement of key raw materials is another potential factor of

concern.

For ChemSolutions, 2013 will see continued implementation of

Fit for Growth, which will help to realize an optimized

organization and the benefits thereof. As the efficiency

improvements in Oulu will be implemented over the next two

years, ChemSolutions’ true potential will continue to unfold over

that time.
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Case Tanfor T – Sustainable leather tanning
TTanning helps cranning helps creeaatte long-lase long-lastingting

leleaather prther productsoducts
Leather is in many ways an unbeatable material, for many products like garment, shoes,

upholstery and automotive seats. An important part of production of leather is the

tanning process, which makes leather more durable; it stabilizes the internal structure of

the leather and prevents natural proteins from decomposing over time.

EnEnvirvironmenonmentaltally as wly as welell as tannerl as tanner
friendfriendly Tly Tananffor Tor T

Leather tanning is a very water intensive industry. The solid wastes, the wastewaters and

the sludge from the treated wastewater are challenges for this industry which has to

operate in a world where environmental emission requirements are getting stricter all

the time. Wastewater treatment and solid waste disposal costs of tanneries can be very

high.

In a joint effort, Kemira ChemSolutions in Tiel, the Netherlands, and the R&D center in

Espoo, Finland, have developed a new product that challenges the traditional methods in

mineral tanning. Kemira’s Tanfor T can be called revolutionary in the field: its

environmental benefits and cost efficiency are unrivalled. Tanfor T can be used for all

applications like automotive, upholstery, garment and shoes.

The product is based on compounds of aluminum and silicon – both of which are naturally

occurring elements – and organic acids that are perfectly safe for both people and the

environment. Its components are partially biodegradable or environmentally benign and

are used e.g. in wastewater treatment or household detergents. More importantly, no

chromium, aldehydes or organic solvents have been used, that create expensive side

effects for tanners. Water is easier to treat and the costs of solid and liquid waste

streams are decreased. Tanners can adopt Tanfor T without having to make any major

adjustments to their process.
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EEccological prological production coduction combinedombined
with quality dewith quality designsign

Tanfor T also has many other advantages. The hides tanned with Tanfor T are

exceptionally white compared to the chrome tanned wet blue hides and therefore easy

to dye, even in extremely bright colors. The high uptake of dyes and other process

chemicals is also a cost benefit. These characteristics were also noted at the Bologna

Leather Fair in October, where the product was launched, receiving lots of positive

feedback from customers.

Bright colors and sustainability are also valued by top shoe designer Minna Parikka, who

agreed to produce Tanfor T pilot shoes and bags for Kemira. “Sustainability and

environmental values are growingly important in the shoe industry, and the production of

leather shoes can be environmentally challenging,” Parikka says. For her as a designer it

is important to get new, more ecologically produced leathers to market that are able to

keep the blazing colors. “Consumers, and I as a designer, are aware of ecological values

and feel that they need to be nurtured.”
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Case KemiSile 2000 – Finding the right
preservative

BrBroad knooad knowledge owledge of ff feedeed
prpreeservservaationtion

Kemira’s expertise in feed and silage preservation and role as a leading organic acid

producer is well-known among feed companies and farmers across Europe. Kemira’s

AIV® and KemiSile products offer an effective way to minimize nutritional losses and

spoilage in feeds at dairy and beef farms. The products are based on formic acid.

When the UK based AB Agri, one of the leading feed companies in the country, needed a

suitable co-product preservative, Kemira was contacted for a solution. AB Agri’s

subsidiary KW Trident sells co-product feeds to dairy farmers in the UK and in 2012 it

started to market wet animal feeds coming from the bioethanol production of Vivergo

biorefinery. Kemira cooperated with KW Trident to find the right preservative for the wet

feed.

CCususttomizomized solutions ensured solutions ensure bee besstt
rreesultssults

Kemira carried out lab trials in 2011, and tested various preservatives. After the lab

testing, a further practical trial was executed in the UK early 2012. After extensive testing

KemiSile 2000 Plus was chosen as the right product for Vivergo, and the first delivery to

Vivergo was scheduled for the summer 2012.

"To find the best preservation solution each case requires its own evaluation as feed

components and processes are different," says Harry Slagter, Kemira's Applications

Specialist (Feed). Kemira’s large product portfolio in ensiling and feed preservation ensure

safe and high-quality feeds for livestock as well as cost-effective production resulting in

good economical outcome for the farms.
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Research & Development review
The main focus of Kemira’s R&D in 2012 was to continue product portfolio renewal and new product
launches within the fields of oil and gas and other solutions for industrial water quality and quantity
management.

Kemira’s research and development is a critical enabler for

organic growth and further differentiation. In 2012, Kemira was

able to create EUR 106 million of revenues from new products

and applications. New product launches during the year included

antiscalants, friction reducers and biocides, which all allow more

efficient usage of water and energy. These newly launched

products contribute both to the efficiency and sustainability of

Kemira’s customers’ processes as well as to the improved

profitability.

The Fit for Growth program has seen restructuring in the

organization to allow better collaboration between segments

and R&D. The project portfolio has been reviewed, and further

resources allocated to those innovations with the most potential.

This restructuring has also emphasized each research center’s

role both in terms of local responsibility to support the regional

business and also global responsibility in terms of the wider

network, with key focus areas identified for each center.

One of Kemira’s R&D highlights in 2012 included the opening of a

laboratory in Alberta, Canada, specializing in oil and gas

applications. This facility is located close to the University of

Alberta for collaboration purposes, but is also near Kemira’s

customers, which helps to facilitate testing of new products in

customer applications.

SSWEEWEET sucT succceesssesess
SWEET, Kemira’s four-year R&D program begun in 2010, is

progressing well, with most of its projects in the development

phase and moving towards scale-up. Many of these will achieve

completion by the end of 2013 or mid-2014. Ongoing SWEET

projects, including new chemistries for oil & gas, shale gas,

bioethanol and biomass, are now running at all of Kemira’s R&D

centers located in Espoo, Atlanta, Shanghai and Sao Paulo,

Kemira’s most recent addition to the network.

A good example of the SWEET program’s results is the strength

chemistry Kemira has launched for tissue and board applications.

The purpose is to help customers to make savings in terms of

raw materials but also achieve better strengths with a lower

material weight; the final product enables cost and energy

savings right down the supply chain.

During 2012, piloting projects attached to the SWEET program

included a membrane pilot in India and a desalination pilot in

China. In addition, Kemira has been investing in new movable

desalination pilots, which can be transported to a site adjacent to

a customer’s plant and tested under real working conditions with

the customer’s processes and applications. Eight of these

facilities are currently active, spread across all regions.
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InnoInnovvaativtive and suse and sustainabletainable
Kemira’s commitment to sustainability in terms of R&D is visible

in two ways: the company’s approach to raw materials and

efficiency in respect to the chemicals it produces, and the way it

enables customers to improve water and energy efficiency in

their respective processes. Cases of the latter include biomass

solutions for sludge dewatering, allowing sludge to be used for

energy production. With population increasing rapidly in Asia,

such applications will become more and more important, and

will be developed further to permit greater process efficiency

and expanded scope – incorporating nutrient recovery, for

example.

A sustainability target has been defined for Kemira’s New

Product Development in 2012, and in the future sustainability

measurement will be considered a necessary component of all

new products. Kemira's New Product Development process

involves not just R&D but also sales, product management,

manufacturing, sourcing and marketing. This has been a

component of the SWEET program since its launch, but is

continuously improving to include and involve more perspectives

and contributions. This also encompasses external partners, and

Kemira’s collaboration with customers, research institutes, and

small and medium-sized enterprises.

The rThe road aheoad aheadad
Kemira’s main goal in terms of R&D is to ensure that its product

portfolio allows significant differentiation from the

competition. This will be achieved by close collaboration across

the board, generating new ideas from the markets, from

emerging technologies, and from research partners.

In the short-term future, Kemira aims to strengthen its R&D

centers’ competencies, developing them further to form their

responsibility areas into unique company strengths. Kemira has a

strong IP portfolio with 330 patent families and 1,350 patents.

The IP portfolio has been systematically renewed (currently at

around 40% completion) and this work will continue in 2013.
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New Product Development process
The New Product Development (NPD) process aims at improving

project success rate and ensuring that the projects are

strategically relevant. It is also a tool that helps controlling

projects’ technical and market risks and directing systematic

decision making. NPD is primarily a business process that

demands commitment from the whole organization.

The NPD process workflow initiates from customer needs or

market insight, and follows five main stages, with

commercialization of the project as its final stage. A new product

needs to fulfill all of the criteria in each stage before passing to

the following stage, guaranteeing the high quality and the

business relevance of the product.

SusSustainability in the NPD prtainability in the NPD prococeessss
In 2012, Kemira introduced a new sustainability target for its

NPD process. The aim of the target is to further develop the

sustainability of the company's products and applications and

help customers to increase their water, energy and/or raw

material efficiency. The objective is to have sustainability and

safety aspects systematically evaluated in all new product

development (NPD) projects by the end of 2014.

Already at present, safety aspects are considered at an early

stage of the NPD process. The product safety check includes a

regulatory review and approvals, compliance mapping as well as

risk evaluation. In the sustainability check, the new offering is

compared to benchmarked offerings or existing solutions from

both Kemira’s and a customer point of view. The R&D project

sustainability check also covers the economic value, energy and

raw material efficiency and EHSQ risks of the new offerings.

Review of 2012 | R&D | NPD process

This PDF has been generated from Kemira’s online Annual Report. The file may not contain the entire Annual Report, which is available at www.kemira.com/annualreport2012
52



Case Kemira Flyto ensures paper machine
runnability

Quality paper and cQuality paper and cosost ct conontrtrolol Kemira has developed a range of solutions for controlling chemical and microbiological

deposits in order to help the paper manufacturers to maximize their productivity and cost

control.

One technique for analyzing customers’ papermaking process samples is Kemira Flyto,

which is a method for detecting harmful agglomeration. Uncontrolled agglomeration of

slime, scale, pitch, and stickies disturbs the papermaking process causing production

down-time and paper defects.

FFasast and int and infformaormativtive pre problem-oblem-
solving tsolving techniqueechnique

In some cases the Kemira Flyto method has proved to detect paper machine problems

that cannot be seen with traditional measurements. Kemira’s long experience of using

this method has led to a quick and thorough interpretation of the results, which also

speeds up the finding of a solution. Kemira Flyto is an integral component in the Kemira

Kemflite concept, which combines know-how of the customers’ processes, a broad

product portfolio, and novel process follow-up tools to develop custom-made solutions

for the papermaking industry. At the moment, Kemira has eight Flyto units located all

around the world, one of which is portable.

FFlytlyto eo expertise sprxpertise spreeading globalading globallyly Lenita Lindberg from Kemira’s Research Center in Espoo, Finland, compliments the

reception of Kemira Flyto. “The demand and utilization of Kemira Flyto has grown more

and more over the years, and the completion of the Flytomatic software this year has

made the product even more beneficial,” Lindberg reflects. Flytomatic is a program that

facilitates the interpretation and assimilates the reporting of Flyto data.

The development of the product in 2012 has focused on the information transfer to

different locations, such as the research center in Shanghai, the application lab in

Kuusankoski and the laboratory in Helsingborg. At the same time, the portable Flyto was

taken into use, which extends the possibilities to make use of this analysis method

globally.
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Case Solutions for clean and efficient biogas
production

Biogas a multidimensional sourBiogas a multidimensional sourccee
ffor ror reneenewwable enerable energygy

The interest towards biogas is constantly growing, and its production within the EU is also

increasing. The benefits of biogas are conclusive: it is a renewable energy source, it

merges with waste management and creates employment through the establishing of

new biogas plants. More and more new kinds of organic waste, such as slaughterhouse

waste, manure, and compostable household waste, can also nowadays be used in biogas

production.

Kemira has been cooperating with various universities and research partners both locally

and overseas, creating a vast amount of knowledge on how to improve the biogas

process. The objectives for Kemira’s biogas program are to increase the production of

renewable energy and to decrease the environmental side-effects of the process.

InInttensifying prensifying production susoduction sustainablytainably Kemira BDP (Biogas Digestion Product) answers the needs for enhancing the production

of biogas. By improving the efficiency of the microbes, the substrate load can be

increased. This results in more – and cleaner – biogas being produced.

In addition to renewable gas, the biogas process also produces a nutrient rich sludge

called digestate. Having made a public commitment to the Baltic Sea Action Group,

Kemira is committed to returning nutrients in wastewater sludge to the natural cycle, as

well as to introducing solutions for safe recycling of nutrients into crop farming without

causing eutrophication.
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Solutions fSolutions for digeor digesstatatte dee dewwaatteringering
and rand reeject wject waatter trer treeaatmentmentt

Digestate treatment is part of the a biogas process that can cause headache in municipal

water treatment plants. As the digestate contains nutrients useful for plants as well as

other organic matter, it can be used as valuable biofertilizer. The solid-liquid separation,

which is one of Kemira’s key competencies, enables nutrient recovery and recycling into

the biofertilizer.

The reject water, which is a by-product of the process, is usually of poor quality,

increasing the nutrient and organic matter loads at the municipal wastewater treatment

plants. Kemira has developed different kinds of techniques to decrease the amount of

suspended solids in the reject water, thus enabling sewerage of the water without

causing nutrient releases into the waterways.
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Supply Chain Management
In 2012, Kemira’s key achievements related to the Supply Chain sustainability were the new Code of
Conduct for Suppliers, Agents and Distributors and the development of a more active Supplier
Performance Management Program. Both of these are to be in place and in active use by the end of
2013.

Kemira supplier relationship management includes performance

measurement and development, risk management, as well as

setting minimum requirements for all business partners.

NeNew Cw Code oode of Cf Conduct fonduct foror SuppliersSuppliers, A, Agengents andts and
DisDistributtributorsors
Kemira is committed to ethical and sustainable business conduct

and compliance which are expressed in the Kemira Code of

Conduct. Kemira expects its business partners to adhere to the

same standards. In order to ensure this, Kemira developed a

Code of Conduct for Suppliers, Agents and Distributors during

2012.

Kemira will only deal with reliable business partners who show

consideration for the environment and people. Kemira expects

its business partners to:

• conduct their business with integrity,

• respect human rights and provide appropriate working

conditions and

• protect the environment.

The above expectations are included in all new contracts and

agreements that Kemira signs with its business partners as of

October 2012.

CCommunicaommunicating the Cting the Code oode of Cf Conduct tonduct to theo the
businebusinesss partnerss partners
Supply Chain Management is responsible for the implementation

of the new Code of Conduct for Suppliers, Agents and

Distributors. The negotiating Sourcing Managers, who are in

contact with the suppliers, have attended training on the new

Code of Conduct, and it is their responsibility to systematically

discuss it with the business partners.

Kemira's new contract database tracks suppliers' approval of the

Code of Conduct, ensuring the monitoring of whether the

business partners have accepted the Code of Conduct. In possible

cases of misconduct or below par performance, Kemira is

prepared to work together with its business partners and help

them with the relevant points of improvement, depending on

the area and gravity of low performance.

RReespect fspect for human righor human rightsts
All of the significant suppliers covering more than 40% of

Kemira's annual spend have signed a contract to undergo a

human rights screening. The contract commits the suppliers to

fair and equal treatment of their workforce, and specific

attention is paid to not using child labor in any of their

operations.
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New suppliers have to undergo a minimum requirement

screening that checks compliance with applicable laws, the

Kemira Code of Conduct, and the Kemira Code of Conduct for

Suppliers, Agents and Distributors, and a risk assessment.

In 2012, no contracts with significant suppliers or business

partners were declined or subject to other actions as a result of

human rights performance.

Supplier perfSupplier performancormance managemene managementt
As part of the development of a more systematic supplier

relationship management, Kemira's objective is to have an

active Supplier Performance Management Program in place by

the end of 2013. This, as well as the implementation of the new

Code of Conduct for Suppliers, Agents and Distributors, is one of

the Group level sustainability targets set in 2012.

To reach its supplier performance management target, Kemira

has started to carry out regular discussions between the sourcing

managers and suppliers. The discussions deal with factors such

as supplier performance based on data and monitored

information, supplier comparison, and possible needed points of

improvement. The discussed issues as well as concerted and

implemented actions will be available in a database, ensuring

the systematic development of the relationship between Kemira

and its suppliers.
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Environmental impact of the supply chain
Increasingly significant environmental impact arises from

Kemira’s suppliers and logistics service partners’ transport and

production of raw materials. Thus, optimizing logistics is a way

for Kemira to mitigate the environmental impact of the supply

chain. Currently, Kemira encourages its logistics service partners

to use only Euro 4 compliant transport equipment or better,

Kemira’s target is to move on to the Euro 5 requirements starting

from January 1, 2015. Improvement towards this target was

observed already during 2012, as Kemira’s service partners

transfer to Euro 5 compliant transport equipment.

To further improve the optimization of its product transportation,

Kemira has focused its attention on load optimization, e.g. by

sending full truck loads on the roads. Furthermore, tendering has

led the logistics service providers to look for back haul

arrangements. Also the new logistics IT system, which is already

in use in Kemira’s North American operations, supports Kemira’s

target of load optimization. The IT system will be implemented

in Europe during 2013.

In 2012, Kemira’s calculated the specific CO2 emissions from its

product transportation to be 26 kg CO2/tonne product

transported. This calculation is based on transported tonnes as

reported in Kemira's ERP system, an estimate of average

transport distance per transport mode and CEFIC guidelines for

measuring and managing CO2 emissions from freight transport

operations. There was no major change in the specific emissions

compared to the 2011 level, mainly because the amount of

transported products remained on the same level, and there

were no major differences in the use of transportation modes.

RReuse and reuse and recyecycling ocling of wf wasastte as re as raaw maw matterialerial
Kemira is using a number of materials classified as waste or

recycled material as raw materials in its production. In 2012, the

quantity of materials purchased was 3.6 million tonnes, out of

which 938 thousand tonnes (26% of total materials purchased)

were classified as recycled materials from external partners.

There was slight increase in the share of recycled raw materials

compared to 2011 (22%).

RReuse and reuse and recyecycling ocling of packaging maf packaging matterialserials
Kemira aims to reclaim as much of its packaging material as

possible. A significant part of the liquid packaging used by

Kemira is reused packages that have been reconditioned for

Kemira. In 2012, 22% of the IBC containers purchased by Kemira

globally were reconditioned. Of the total liquid packages

purchased globally in 2012 approximately 4% were

reconditioned.

When plastic or other material is used as basis for packaging,

Kemira strives to reclaim the material and thus minimize the use

of virgin materials. Kemira is also using a third party service

provider for returning packaging from the customers’ sites for

reuse. Packaging that is returned to Kemira or to a third party

from the customers is either re-used or processed for recycling.
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Sustainability reporting scope
This is the second year as Kemira's annual sustainability

reporting is prepared according to the Global Reporting

Initiative’s (GRI) reporting guidelines G3.1. Financial reporting has

been prepared in accordance with the International Financial

Reporting Standards (IFRS). The sustainability parts of the Annual

and Sustainability Report are meant to be read in context with

the Kemira Group Financial Statements 2012.

The Annual and Sustainability Report provides basic information

about Kemira's economic, social and environmental performance

from January 1 to December 31, 2012, unless otherwise stated.

The content of this report was reviewed and approved by

Kemira Board of Directors in February 2013. The sustainability

part of the Annual and Sustainability Report has been

independently assessed by KPMG against the GRI principles for

defining content and quality. KPMG has checked Kemira’s

reporting according to the GRI G3.1 guidelines and confirmed it

to represent application level B+.

Read the assurance statement.

CCononttenent ot of the rf the reporteport
Main principles applied in determining the scope and content of

the report:

1. R1. Releelevvancance: emphasizing te: emphasizing topics oopics of importancf importance fe foror
sussustainability tartainability targeget set setttingting

Based on the materiality analysis conducted in 2011, Kemira

defined its sustainability priorities and targets in 2012. The

sustainability target setting serves as the basis for the focus

areas in Kemira’s sustainability reporting. The aim has been to

give a transparent and holistic view on the current state

performance related to the sustainability targets as well as on

how Kemira measures its performance.

Read more about Kemira’s sustainability targets..

2. C2. Comparomparabilityability: ensuring da: ensuring data trta trends in enends in envirvironmenonmentaltal
rreportingeporting

The purpose has been to preserve Kemira’s good performance in

reporting on environmental and safety issues and secure the

consistency (data trends) of reporting on environmental

performance. For this reason, the reporting on the environmental

performance has been changed as little as possible to ensure

comparability with the reporting from previous years. A few

modifications have been made to comply with

the GRI guidelines, including more specific reporting of climate

change and water-related matters.

3. S3. Strtraattegic cegic conontteextxt: f: fococusing on wusing on waatter quality ander quality and
quanquantity managementity managementt

Kemira’s strategy of focusing on improving water-related

processes through chemistry applications has shaped the

content of the sustainability report. The focus is on water quality

and quantity management both regarding customer processes

and our own operations.

CCoovvererage oage of the rf the report and daeport and data cta colollectionlection
The same principles that are followed in Kemira's financial

reporting (Annual and Sustainability Report: Financial

Statements) apply to this report. Any deviations or limitations

are reported in connection with the figures in question. Indicator

reporting does not cover contractors or suppliers of goods and

services, unless otherwise stated. The reporting boundary is the

same as for the financial reporting.

During 2012, some smaller sites were closed, which decreased

local emissions and risks, but did not cause any significant

change on corporate level and did not affect the reporting on

Kemira’s sustainability performance.

Review of 2012 | GRI reporting | Sustainability reporting scope

This PDF has been generated from Kemira’s online Annual Report. The file may not contain the entire Annual Report, which is available at www.kemira.com/annualreport2012
59



Description of the reporting scope and methods of data collection

Type of data Reporting scope Method fo data collection

Economic All Kemira operations (according to

Kemira consolidation rules)

Data is extracted from the Kemira ERP system and

collected from Kemira consolidated companies.

Consolidation on the Group level.

Environment: Materials;

Products and Services, Transport

All Kemira operations covered by

the Kemira ERP* (according to

Kemira consolidation rules)

Data is extracted from the Kemira ERP system and

R&D New Product Development (NPD) process

documentation.

Environment: Energy; Water;

Biodiversity; Emissions,

Effluents and Waste; Compliance

All Kemira production sites (included

according to Kemira consolidation

rules)

Data is collected from each production site and

consolidated on the Group level.

Social: Labor Practices and Decent

Work

All Kemira operations (according to

Kemira consolidation rules)

Data is collected from each region and site and

consolidated on the Group level.

Social: Human Rights All Kemira operations (according to

Kemira consolidation rules)

Data is collected from the Kemira contract and Kemira

legal archive files.

Social: Society All Kemira operations (according to

Kemira consolidation rules)

Data is collected from each region and from the

Kemira legal archive files.

Social: Product responsibility All Kemira operations covered by

the Kemira ERP* (according to

Kemira consolidation rules)

Data is extracted from the Kemira ERP system, R&D

NPD process documentation and Kemira legal archive

files.

* At the end of 2012, Kemira Enterprise Resource Planning

covers 89% of all Kemira sales (in EUR).

Earlier rEarlier reportseports
Kemira has been reporting on its environmental performance

since the early 1990s. The guidelines used for the reporting until

2010 have been the Responsible Care Reporting Guidelines of

the European Chemical Industry Council (CEFIC). The first

Sustainability Report prepared according to the Global Reporting

Initiative’s (GRI) reporting guidelines G3.1. was published in

February 2012 and covered Kemira's sustainability performance

in 2011.

The ten most recent reports, of which the reports for the years

2002–2010 focus on environmental responsibility, are available

on Kemira’s website.
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GRI index

Fully reported

Partially reported

* Core indicator

The GRI index includes the indicators fully or partially reported.

GRI content Links Comments

Profile

1 Strategy and Analysis

1.1 CEO's statement CEO's review

1.2 Key impacts, risks, and opportunities Strategy

CEO's review

Risk management

2 Organizational profile

2.1 Name of the organization Kemira in brief

2.2 Primary brands, products and services Market and customer segments

Kemira in brief

2.3 Operational structure Financial statements

www.kemira.com

2.4 Location of organization's headquarters This is Kemira

2.5 Countries where the organization operates Geographic areas

Market and customer segments

Sustainability reporting scope

www.kemira.com

2.6 Nature of ownership and legal form Corporate governance

Shares and shareholders

2.7 Markets served Kemira in brief

Market and customer segments

2.8 Scale of reporting organization Key figures

2.9 Significant changes during the reporting period Board of Directors' review No significant changes in
2012.

2.10 Awards received in the reporting period No significant awards in
2012.
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3 Report Parameters

3.1 Reporting period Sustainability reporting scope

3.2 Date of most recent report Sustainability reporting scope

3.3 Reporting cycle Sustainability reporting scope

3.4 Contact point for questions regarding the report Contacts

3.5 Process for defining report content Sustainability reporting scope

3.6 Boundary of the report Sustainability reporting scope

3.7 Limitations on the scope or boundary of the report Sustainability reporting scope

3.8 Basis for reporting on joint ventures, subsidiaries, leased
facilities, and outsourced operations

Sustainability reporting scope

3.9 Data measurement techniques and the bases of calculations Sustainability reporting scope

3.10 Explanation of the effect of any re-statements of information
provided in earlier reports

Sustainability reporting scope

3.11 Significant changes from previous reporting periods Sustainability reporting scope

3.12 GRI content index GRI index

3.13 Policy and current practice with regard to seeking external
assurance for the report.

Assurance statement

4 Governance, commitments and engagement

4.1 Governance structure of the organization Corporate Governance

4.2 Position of the Chairman of the Board Board of Directors

4.3 Independence of the Board members Board of Directors

4.4 Mechanism for shareholders and employees to provide
recommendations or direction to the Board

Shareholders' meeting

4.5 Executive compensation and linkage to organization’s
performance

Management compensation Management Board
compensation is linked to
performance related to
the economic factors.

4.6 Processes in place to avoid conflicts of interest Corporate Governance

4.7 Processes for determining the composition, qualifications,
and expertise of the Board members

Nomination Board

4.8 Mission, values, code of conduct and principles, and the
status of their implementation

Responsible business conduct
and compliance

Managing people processes

Strategy

4.9 Procedures of the Board for overseeing the organization's
risk identification and management.

Board committees

4.10 Processes for evaluating the Board’s performance Board of Directors
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4.11 Explanation of how the precautionary principle is addressed Risk management

4.12 Externally developed charters, initiatives, and principles to
which the organization endorses

External initiatives

4.13 Memberships in associations External initiatives

4.14 Stakeholder groups engaged by the organization Stakeholder engagement

4.15 Basis for identification and selection of stakeholders Stakeholder engagement

4.16 Approaches to stakeholder engagement Stakeholder engagement

4.17 Key topics and concerns raised through stakeholder
engagement

Materiality matrix

Developing a new organization

Stakeholder engagement

5 Management approach and performance indicators

Economic performance

Management approach to economic responsibility Creating long-term value

EC1* Direct economic value generated and distributed Creating long-term value

EC3* Coverage of defined benefit plan obligations Financial statements

EC4* Significant subsidies received from government Financial statements

EC5 Range of ratios of standard entry level wage by gender
compared to local minimum wage at significant locations of
operation

Employee facts and figures Kemira always pays at
least minimum wage in
all locations,
independent of gender or
any other factors.

EC9 Significant indirect impacts Creating long-term value

Environmental performance

Management approach to environmental responsibility Environmental management

Sustainability management

EN1* Materials used by weight or volume Environmental impact of the
supply chain

EN2* Materials used that are recycled input materials Environmental impact of the
supply chain

EN3* Direct energy consumption Environmental data

Energy and climate

EN4* Indirect energy consumption Environmental data
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EN5 Energy saved due to conservation and efficiency
improvements

Energy efficiency

EN6 Initiatives to provide energy-efficient or renewable energy
based products and services and reductions achieved

New Product Development
process

EN7 Initiatives to reduce indirect energy consumption and
reductions achieved

Energy efficiency

EN8* Total water withdrawal Water efficiency

Environmental data

EN9 Water sources significantly affected by withdrawal of water Water efficiency

EN10 Percentage and total volume of water recycled and reused. Water efficiency

EN11* Land owned, leased, and managed in areas of high
biodiversity value or protected areas

Environmental management

EN13 Habitats protected or restored Environmental management

EN14 Strategies, actions, and future plans for managing impacts
on biodiversity

Environmental management

EN16* Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions Environmental data

EN18 Initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emission and
reductions achieved

Energy and climate

EN20* NOx, SOx, and other significant air emissions Environmental data

EN21* Total water discharge Water efficiency

Environmental data

EN22* Total weight of waste Environmental data

EN26* Initiatives to mitigate environmental impacts of products and
services

New Product Development
process

Carbon footprint and carbon
disclosure

Environmental management

EN28* Significant fines and sanctions for non-compliance with
environmental laws and regulations

Environmental data

EN29 Significant environmental impacts of transportation Environmental impact of the
supply chain

EN30 Total environmental protection expenditures and
investments

Environmental data

Social performance

Management approach to labor aspects Managing people processes

LA1* Breakdown of workforce Employee facts and figures

LA2 New hires and employee turnover Employee facts and figures
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LA5 Minimum notice period(s) regarding significant operational
changes, including whether it is specified in collective
agreements

Developing a new organization

LA7* Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days,
absenteeism, and number of work-related fatalities

Occupational health and safety

Environmental data

LA10 Average hours of training per year per employee by gender,
and by employee category

Process safety

Performance management and
leadership development

LA11* Programmes for skills management and lifelong learning Performance management and
leadership development

LA12 Employees receiving regular performance and career
development reviews

Performance management and
leadership development

LA13* Composition of governance bodies and breakdown of
employees

Employee facts and figures

LA15
Return to work and retention rates after parental leave, by
gender

Employee facts and figures

Human rights performance

Management approach to human rights Managing people processes

Responsible business conduct
and compliance

Supply chain management

HR1 Percentage and total number of significant investment
agreements and contracts that include clauses incorporating
human rights concerns, or that have undergone human
rights screening

No significant investment
agreements or contracts
in 2012.

HR2* Suppliers and contractors that have undergone human
rights screening

Supply chain management

HR3 Total hours of employee training on policies and procedures
concerning aspects of human rights that are relevant to
operations, including the percentage of employees trained

Responsible business conduct
and compliance

Supply chain management

HR4 Total number of incidents of discrimination and corrective
actions taken.

Compliance No cases of
discrimination have come
to Kemira's attention
during 2012.

HR11 Number of grievances related to human rights filed,
addressed and resolved through formal grievance
mechanisms.

Compliance No cases of grievances
have come to Kemira's
attention during 2012.

Review of 2012 | GRI reporting | GRI index

This PDF has been generated from Kemira’s online Annual Report. The file may not contain the entire Annual Report, which is available at www.kemira.com/annualreport2012
65



Society performance

Management approach to societal aspects Responsible business conduct
and compliance

SO1*
Operations with implemented local community engagement,
impact assessments, and development programs.

Community involvement

SO2
Percentage and total number of business units analyzed for
risks related to corruption.

Compliance

SO3
Percentage of employees trained in organization's anti-
corruption policies and procedures.

Responsible business conduct
and compliance

Compliance

SO4 Actions taken in response to incidents of corruption. Compliance No incidents of
corruption have come to
Kemira's attention during
2012.

SO5* Public policy positions and participation in public policy
development and lobbying

Compliance

Kemira engaging in water
forums throughout the year

SO6 Contributions to political parties, politicians, and related
institutions

Compliance

SO7 Legal actions for anti-competitive behaviour, anti-trust, and
monopoly practices

Compliance

SO8 Monetary value of significant fines and total number of non-
monetary sanctions for noncompliance with laws and
regulations.

Compliance No significant fines or
non-monetary sanctions
have come to Kemira's
attention during 2012.

SO9 Significant potential or actual negative impacts on local
communities

Process safety

SO10 Prevention and mitigation measures for operations with
significant potential or actual negative impact on local
communities

Process safety

Development at sites

Product responsibility performance

Management approach to product responsibility Product safety

Customer feedback and
interaction

PR1* Assessment of health and safety impacts of products and
services at various life cycle stages

Product safety

New Product Development
process
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PR3* Product information required by procedures Product safety

PR4 Non-compliance with regulations and voluntary codes
concerning product information and labelling

Product safety

PR5 Practices related to customer satisfaction Customer feedback and
interaction

PR6* Adherence to marketing communications laws, standards
and voluntary codes

Customer feedback and
interaction

PR7 Incidents of non-compliance with regulations and voluntary
codes concerning marketing communications.

Customer feedback and
interaction

PR9 Monetary value of significant fines for noncompliance with
laws and regulations concerning the provision and use of
products and services.

Product safety No significant fines have
come to Kemira's
attention during 2012.
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Independent limited assurance report
TTo the Boaro the Board od of Dirf Directectors oors of Kf Kemiremira Oyja Oyj
We have been engaged by Kemira Oyj (hereafter: Kemira) to

provide limited assurance on Kemira's Sustainability Information

from the reporting period 1.1.-31.12.2012. The sustainability

information subject to the limited assurance engagement

includes the following data and assertions presented in

Kemira's Sustainability and Annual Report 2012: sections

"Environment & safety" and "People & society", and the

following texts in the section "Review of 2012":

Sustainability targets, Sustainability as a strategic

opportunity, Materiality matrix, Creating sustainable long-term

value, Responsible business conduct and compliance, Compliance

with competition laws and anti-corruption principles, Security

practices, New product development process, Supply chain

management, Environmental impact of the supply

chain, Sustainability reporting scope and GRI index, as well as the

following text in the section

"Governance": Sustainability Management (hereafter:

the Sustainability Information).

The Management of Kemira is responsible for preparing and

presenting the Sustainability Information in accordance with the

Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Sustainability Reporting
Guidelines 3.1. as well as for the presented data, assertions and

gathering of information. The Management of Kemira has

approved the presented Sustainability Information.

Our responsibility is to carry out a limited assurance engagement

and to express a conclusion on the Sustainability Information

subject to the assurance based on the work performed. We have

conducted the engagement in accordance with the International
Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE 3000): Assurance
engagements other than audits or review of historical financial
information, issued by the International Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board. Amongst others, this standard requires that the

assuring party possesses the specific knowledge, skills and

professional competence needed to understand and review the

information to be assured, and that the assuring party complies

with the requirements of the IFAC Code of Ethics for Professional

Accountants to ensure their independence. Our assurance report

is made in accordance with the terms of our engagement with

Kemira. We do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone

other than Kemira for our work, for this assurance report, or for

the conclusions we have reached.

The evaluation criteria used for our assurance are the Global
Reporting Initiative (GRI) Sustainability Reporting Guidelines 3.1.

LimitaLimitations otions of the engagemenf the engagementt

Sustainability related data and information are subject to

inherent limitations applying to data accuracy and completeness,

which are to be taken into account when reading our assurance

report. The Sustainability Information is to be considered in

connection with the explanatory information on data collection,

consolidation and assessments provided by Kemira. Our

assurance report is not intended for use in evaluating Kemira’s

performance in executing the sustainability principles Kemira has

defined. To assess the financial state and performance of Kemira,

the Kemira audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31

December 2012 is to be consulted.

The wThe work perfork performed in the engagemenormed in the engagementt

Our assurance procedures are designed to obtain limited

assurance on whether the information subject to the assurance

engagement is presented in accordance with the Sustainability
Reporting Guidelines of the Global Reporting Initiative 3.1 in all

material respects. A limited assurance engagement consists of

making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for the

preparation of the sustainability information presented, and

applying analytical and other evidence gathering procedures, as

appropriate. The evidence gathering procedures mentioned

above are more limited than for a reasonable assurance

engagement, and therefore less assurance is obtained than in a

reasonable assurance engagement.

In our engagement we have performed the following

procedures:

• Interviews with four members of senior management to

reassert our understanding of the connection between

Kemira’s sustainability procedures and Kemira’s business

strategy and operations as well as sustainability objectives;

• An assessment of data management processes, information

systems and working methods used to gather and consolidate

the presented Sustainability Information, and a review of

Kemira’s related internal documents;

• Comparison of the Sustainability Information to underlying

rules of procedure, management and reporting systems as

well as documentation;

• An assessment of the presented Sustainability Information

against the GRI reporting principles;

• A review of the presented Sustainability Information, including

the performance data and assertions, subject to the

engagement, and an assessment of information quality and

reporting boundary definitions;

• Assessment of data accuracy and completeness through a

review of the original numerical information received from

Kemira’s subsidiaries as well as through samples from the

Group’s information systems;

• Assessment of the local reporting processes of Kemira’s

subsidiaries on a sample basis through two site visits,

conducted to Kemira’s sites selected on the basis of a risk

analysis taking into account both qualitative and quantitative

information
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CConclusionsonclusions

Based on the assurance procedures performed, nothing has

come to our attention that causes us to believe that the

information subject to the assurance engagement is not

presented in accordance with the Sustainability Reporting

Guidelines of the Global Reporting Initiative 3.1 in all material

respects.

Helsinki, 8 February 2013
KPMG OY AB

Christian Liljeström Timo Suomela

Partner Corporate Responsibility Advisor

Review of 2012 | GRI reporting | Assurance statement

This PDF has been generated from Kemira’s online Annual Report. The file may not contain the entire Annual Report, which is available at www.kemira.com/annualreport2012
69



Environmental management
Kemira is committed to preventing and minimizing the negative impacts of its activities on the
environment, people and property, as well as to use natural resources efficiently.

Over the past 15 years, Kemira has managed to reduce its global

environmental impact by reducing the emissions from its

production by over 60%. This is partially due to changes in the

business portfolio.

In addition to the sustainability targets set on Group level,

Kemira sets environmental targets at the plant level.

Investments for improving environmental conditions at Kemira’s

plants are based on internal audits and standards as well as

careful prioritization. Compliance with detailed environmental

permit conditions is a minimum requirement.

There were no significant environmental compliance issues

resulting in authority action or substantial costs in 2012.

MManagemenanagement st sysysttemsems
To ensure proper management of its own production and supply

chains, Kemira has internal EHSQ management guidelines in

place at most of the European plants. In recent years, Kemira has

focused on expanding the use of these systems globally. The

percentage of Kemira production plants certified in accordance

with the ISO 9001 and ISO 14001 or the OHSAS 18001 standards

is constantly increasing. At the end of 2012, the coverage of

sites with all three standards is 59%.

Certified operations play an important role in securing the future

and competitiveness of Kemira’s business. Kemira also works

with a global partner, LRQA, to manage the certificates as well

as external audits and assessments.

Impact on biodivImpact on biodiversityersity
Kemira does not operate in areas that are particularly sensitive

or protected in terms of biodiversity. Kemira’s plants are usually

located in industrial parks or places where industrial operations

have been carried out for a long time. Three of Kemira’s plants

are located close to protected areas, in Brazil, Finland, and the

UK. However, Kemira’s production does not have a significant

impact on these protected areas.

Kemira pursues programs for remediating contaminated land on

production sites. All ongoing remedial projects deal with cases in

which the contamination has happened earlier. In 2012, Kemira’s

remedial projects on 11 locations in Finland, Sweden, Holland,

Spain, Brazil and the USA progressed according to plans. The

provisions for these projects amounted to EUR 19.7 million in

total. The biggest project, the closing of former waste piling

areas, takes place in Pori, Finland.
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Development at sites
Driven by continuous improvement focus, many sites have made

efforts that significantly affect the environmental risk or impact

of their operations positively. Some examples of improvements

of emission control and spill/emission reduction during 2012

include:

• Rio Claro, Brazil: New containment basins and new scrubbers

• Camacari, Brazil: Minimization of effluents through reuse of all

waste water generated in the process

• Arapoti, Brazil: New containment basins

• Lages, Brazil: New containment basins and new scrubbers

• Fray Bentos, Uruguay: New Transit Chemical Storage Area

• Goole, UK: Administration building and canteen energy

optimizing / optimization of motors and usage sequence to

reduce electricity consumption

• Ellesmere Port, UK: Site drains isolated, all on site water now

recycled

• Rheinberg, Germany: New truck loading station

• Oulu, Finland: Oil removal systems, Variable Speed Drives

(VSD)

• Europoort, Netherlands: To reduce risk for leakages, centrifugal

pumps were equipped with double mechanical seal and

sealing liquid.

• Estarreja, Portugal: New PLC and control system have been

installed to monitor and control all processes.

• Prerov, Czech Republic: A new heating system has reduced

operation costs by 75%. Reducing energy consumption will

also reduce the environmental impact since there is also

significant reduction of carbon emission.

• Pierre-Benite, France: Creation of settling area for waste water

• Joutseno, Finland: Starting to supply district heat to the

residential area of Joutseno. Heat generated from byproduct

hydrogen and process heat.

• Marietta, USA: Boiler burner upgrade to high efficiency low-

NOx burner

• Bushy Park, USA: Emission control point data collection time

intervals reduced from 6 minutes to 7 seconds as part of the

modern software system
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Environmental data

ENVIRONMENTAL DATA FOR THE KEMIRA GROUP

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Releases into water, tonnes

Wastewater volume, million m3, approx. 6.0 1.4 1.2 2.61 2.4

External treatment, million m3 1.9 1.8

Own treatment, million m3 0.6 0.6

Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD)2 53 45 58 28 21

Nitrogen (N) 48 4 4 3 2

Phosphorus (P) 0.4 0.5 0.5 0.7 0.7

Suspended solids, 1,000 tonnes 0.5 0.05 0.02 0.03 0.01

Releases into air, tonnes

Direct carbon dioxide (CO2), 1,000 tonnes3 205 186 182 180* 14714

Indirect carbon dioxide (CO2), 1,000 tonnes4 1 054* 950

Particulates 63 58 19 23 21

Sulphur dioxide (SO2)5 1,801 1,015 168 153* 11614

Nitrogen oxides (NO2)6 323 263 273 242* 19014

Volatile organic compounds (VOC)7 177 174 96 66515 742

Volatile inorganic compounds (VIC)8 142 34 64 100* 94

Waste9, tonnes

Hazardous wastes, total10 9,554 7,109 14,658 14,676 5,761

Off-site landfill 3,269 2,621 9,079 10 075* 1,064

Off-site incineration 3,709 3,271 2,357 2 343* 1,725

On-site landfill 0 0 59 0 0

Other treatment 2,576 1,217 3,164 3 031* 2,972

Non-hazardous wastes, 1,000 tonnes 299 44 26 19 17

Natural resources

Fuel consumption, ktoe 89 54 54 56 49

Fuel consumption as raw material, ktoe 83 105 116 121 114
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Purchased electricity, TJ 10,857 9,718 10,346 10,657 9,620

Purchased heat, TJ 6,497 4,327 4,726 4,814 4,307

Purchased energy by primary sources, TJ11 32 122* 29,284

Total water withdrawal, million m3, approx. 169* 145

Cooling water volume, million m3, approx. 199 159 163 161* 13816

Process water volume, million m3, approx. 7.8 6.7

Safety

Number of Lost time accidents per million working hours12 4.4 3.5 3.1 2.7 2.3

Total Recordable Injuries, TRI13 8.5

Reference data, EUR million

Group net sales 2,832 2,500 2,160 2,207 2,241

Environmental capital expenditure 7.2 2.3 2.9 3.6 3.4

Environmental operating costs 30.0 14.9 12.8 12.7 14.2

Total environmental costs, % of net sales 1.3 0.7 0.7 0.8 0.8

* 2011 Data corrected due to more comprehensive data available in 2012.

1 In 2011, the wastewater volumes include all water volumes led to external treatment for the first time.

2 The reduction from 2010 to 2011 is partly caused by over-reported figures in previous years.

3 Carbon dioxide emissions from sources that are owned or controlled by Kemira (scope 1 of the WRI/WBCSD GHG Protocol)

4 Carbon dioxide emissions from the generation of purchased electricity, steam and heat that is consumed by Kemira (scope 2 of the
WRI/WBCSD GHG Protocol)

5 All sulphur compounds calculated as SO2.

6 Nitric oxide and nitrogen dioxide calculated as NO2.

7 VOC is a sum of volatile organic compounds as defined in EU Directive 1999/13/EC.

8 Sum of ammonia, hydrogen chloride and six other simple inorganic compounds.

9 Reported figures do not include on-site incineration, waste which is further processed into products at the sites, or sold as a co-
product to external recycling. Figures are on wet basis.

10 The increases in 2010 and 2011 are mainly due to contaminated land remediation projects at sites.

11 The amount of energy Kemira uses through the purchase of electricity, steam and heat. Energy delivered off-site included.

12 Accidents causing an employee absence at least one day (LTA1), Kemira personnel.

13 As of 2013, Kemira will only report TRI. TRI per million work hours = Lost time accidents, LTA1 + Restricted work cases + Medical
treatment cases. Numbers include Kemira personnel and Contractors.

14 2012 small decrease at several sites and outsourced energy production at one site.

15 Increase in 2011 due to sites for which Kemira was owner since 2011. VOC has been evaluated and now corrected for 2011.

16 Decrease in 2012 due to sites sold and decreaces on several sites.
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Hazardous waste treatment, %

Off-site landfilling 12.65%

Off-site incineration 20.50%

Other treatment 35.33%

Recycling 31.52%

On-site incineration 0.01%

On-site landfilling 0.00%

tonnes

Increase in 2011 due to sites for which 
Kemira was owner since 2011. 
VOC has been evaluated and now 
corrected for 2011.
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Energy efficiency
Kemira’s primary tool for improving its energy efficiency is the E3 (Energy Efficiency Enhancement)
program. By the end of 2012, sites representing 92% of Kemira’s energy consumption have been
audited and 317 improvements implemented. In 2013, Kemira aims to further develop indicators for
energy efficiency reporting.

Kemira’s overall target is to improve manufacturing energy

efficiency. Furthermore, energy efficiency is one of the aspects in

Kemira’s New Product Development process as part of its aim to

provide customers with an even more sustainable offering.

DirDirect enerect energy cgy consumponsumption: E3 Enertion: E3 Energy Efgy Efficiencyficiency
prprogrogramam
In 2010, Kemira adopted the E3 energy efficiency program

(Energy Efficiency Enhancement) to improve energy efficiency in

its production plants. Through the program, Kemira’s approach to

saving energy is now even more systematic and goal-oriented

than before.

The results of the E3 program developed in a positive direction

during 2012. There were over 135 improvements implemented,

and a total of 1.1 million euros was spent on investments

improving energy efficiency during 2012. The savings achieved

through the E3 program sum up to 47,000 MWh, calculated as

savings of over 2.1 million euros in total at an annual level.

The cumulative savings after the E3 program was taken into use

in 2010 are over 5.8 million euros in total calculated at an annual

level.

The E3 energy efficiency program helps Kemira meet the

requirements of the EU energy efficiency directive, which sets

out to establish a common framework to meet the EU’s 20%

energy efficiency reduction by 2020.

AAudits an importanudits an important part ot part of the E3 prf the E3 progrogramam

Audits provide the opportunity to benchmark new opportunities

to save energy, which can potentially be implemented at other

sites. During 2012, seven new sites were audited and over 50

follow-up audits were conducted at 26 sites. Since 2010, a total

of 26 sites, representing 92% of Kemira’s total energy

consumption, have been audited. As part of the process, over

150 potential improvement cases were identified during 2012.

The total number of identified potential improvement cases

since April 2010 is over 820.

CCosostt-e-effficienficient actions giving significant actions giving significant imprt improovvemenementsts

Changes that require little or no investments are often the

fastest to implement. Considerable improvements to energy

efficiency and costs can be made easily by adjusting operating

methods and improving process efficiency. Improvements in

energy efficiency can also result in improved material efficiency

and a reduction of waste.

Environment & safety | Environment | Energy and climate | Energy efficiency

This PDF has been generated from Kemira’s online Annual Report. The file may not contain the entire Annual Report, which is available at www.kemira.com/annualreport2012
78



Another important way to improve energy efficiency is to

update process manuals in order to guide employee behavior – a

theme that has been in focus in the energy efficiency work

during 2012.

FFococus on enerus on energy egy effficiency in 2013ficiency in 2013
In 2012, Kemira took yet another step in its work to improve

manufacturing energy efficiency, as this was defined as one of

the company’s sustainability targets. In 2013, Kemira aims to

introduce an Energy Efficiency Index, which will measure the

Group’s performance regarding manufacturing energy efficiency,

more accurately reflecting the actual improvements Kemira has

achieved through systematic focus on energy efficiency.

IndirIndirect enerect energy cgy consumponsumptiontion
Kemira’s purchase of energy is driven by the EU Emission Trading

System, which aims at reducing CO2 emission in the EU area.

Kemira for example owns shares in a hydroelectric power plant.

Furthermore, byproducts from production, such as hydrogen, as

well as process heat and steam condensate are used for energy.

For Kemira, nuclear power is the most important CO2 free energy

source.

During 2012, the share of primary energy use in Kemira was

84% electricity and 16% steam and heat. The carbon free share

of electricity use was 68% and respectively 43% for steam and

heat. Of the total energy use 64% was carbon free. As an

example, 18% from all steam and heat was produced by

hydrogen. In sites where hydrogen is available as byproduct it is

major fuel for steam & heat generation. Hydrogen and waste

heat recovery will continue.

Kemira has taken measures to reduce its indirect energy

consumption. Kemira favors virtual communication tools and has

a travel policy in place to minimize traveling as well as a

purchasing policy in place for energy-efficient Maintenance,

Repair and Operations (MRO).
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Carbon footprint and carbon disclosure
Kemira established a global process for quantification of the

product carbon footprint, and had the first pilot calculations

made in 2011. The product carbon footprint value was defined

for eight products in 2011 and for 36 products in 2012. The

results have been reviewed with respective businesses and

manufacturing sites to understand the sources of carbon

emissions of the calculated products. In most cases, the raw

material mix plays a significant role, while in some cases the

energy consumed in Kemira’s own production is the most

significant contributor of carbon emissions.

In 2013 Kemira will continue with product carbon footprint

quantifications upon business request, and take into account the

carbon footprint considerations in the New Product Development

Process.

Kemira closely follows the environmental management

standardization work by participating in the Environmental

Management Technical Committee of The Finnish Standards

Association (SFS), which is contributing for example to the

development of an International Standard ISO 14067, Carbon

Footprint of Products. Kemira is also investigating the

applicability of different water footprint methodologies in more

detail.

In 2012, Kemira put an emphasis on disclosing energy efficiency

and climate change related data on a much more detailed level.

As a result, both Kemira’s disclosure and performance score in

the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) saw a substantial

improvement.

Furthermore, Kemira has taken several measures for limiting the

indirect climate change impact, especially related to business

related travel, and leased and purchased assets: Kemira favors

virtual communication tools and has a travel policy in place to

minimize traveling as well as a purchasing policy in place for

energy-efficient Maintenance, Repair and Operations (MRO).

Environment & safety | Environment | Energy and climate | Carbon footprint and carbon disclosure

This PDF has been generated from Kemira’s online Annual Report. The file may not contain the entire Annual Report, which is available at www.kemira.com/annualreport2012
80



Case CO2 free heating in Joutseno
DecrDecreeasing emisasing emissions with 4,000sions with 4,000

ttonsons
FC Power Oy, a joint enterprise by Kemira Chemicals Oy and Leppäkosken Sähkö Oy, has

initiated CO2 free heating in Joutseno’s district heating network. From October 2012

onwards, the production of Joutseno’s district heating is based on the utilization of heat

from Kemira’s manufacturing processes and the combustion of hydrogen, which is

formed as a by-product in the process. According to estimates, the CO2 free heat

produced by FC Power will cover as much as 90% of Joutseno’s district heating demands,

all of which was formerly produced with fossil fuel natural gas. This enables the CO2

emissions of residential area of Joutseno to be reduced by 4,000 tons a year.

HyHydrdrogen the fuel oogen the fuel of the futurf the futuree The equipment needed for heat production have been installed in the Joutseno hydrogen

power plant in the summer 2012. Such large-scale combined heat and power plant

exploitation of hydrogen in district heating is extremely rare throughout Europe.

Hydrogen is regarded as the fuel of the future because of its purity and recyclability. It

is more sustainable, as the end product of its combustion is pure water vapor. At present,

Joutseno has the only combined heat and electricity hydrogen power plant in

Scandinavia, standing as a good example of decentralized energy production that has

both been done locally and environmentally sound way.

Environment & safety | Environment | Energy and climate | Case: CO2 free heating in Joutseno

This PDF has been generated from Kemira’s online Annual Report. The file may not contain the entire Annual Report, which is available at www.kemira.com/annualreport2012
81



Water efficiency
Kemira’s own operations are not very water intensive compared

to many of the company's customer industries due to the nature

of manufacturing processes. The main purpose of using water at

Kemira’s production plants is for cooling or processing, and in

many cases, both raw materials and end products contain water.

Reuse of process as well as rain water is very effective in many

of Kemira’s plants, and on-site wastewater treatment is rarely

needed.

ImprImprooving manufving manufacturing wacturing waatter eer effficiencyficiency
In 2012, Kemira defined improving manufacturing water

efficiency as one of its commitments to sustainability. A project

to assess water efficiency opportunities and the development of

a water management program will be started and Key

Performance indicators defined in 2013. The target is to have the

baseline analyzed and a water efficiency program defined by the

end of 2014.
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Case Collaboration ensuring eminent results
for German packaging company

KKemiremira ca conontributtributees with chemicals with chemical
eexpertisexpertise

In 2010, Germany’s Eisenhüttenstadt experienced an economical boost as Propapier

GmbH with its Next Generation Products opened a containerboard mill in the locality.

Kemira worked in close cooperation with the client as well as the Finnish company

Metso, the supplier of the PM2 paper machine for the new mill. Kemira’s role was to

deliver a full service chemical package to the cardboard mill, including water treatment,

retention technology and color adjustment.

The PM2 attained impressive results from the beginning: the cooperation between

Kemira, Metso and the mill resulted in a fine-tuned machine that breaks world speed

records and enables machine efficiencies close to 95%. It is one of the most

technologically advanced paper machines in the industry.

NeNew tw technology rechnology reduceducees os ovverer--
packagingpackaging

Retention and dewatering polymers have been the key for machine efficiency

optimization and stability of the wet end process. In 2012, after comprehensive trial runs,

the retention system of PM2 was extended with micro particle technology, which further

improved the runnability of the machine, and produced lower break frequency as well as

a cleaner short circuit.

Another new development taken into operation in the mill is an advanced Next

Generation paper production technology delivering lighter paper with similar strength to

the market. The environmental advantages are significant: a smaller amount of raw

material is needed, water and energy demand is lowered and less grammage indicates

less over-packaging. The new PM2 is a forerunner in the continuous effort to decrease

the area weight of packaging materials at maintained strength.
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EfEfficienficient wt waatter trer treeaatmentment rt reduceduceess
enenvirvironmenonmental stal strtrainain

Another crucial standpoint regarding the environment is the mill’s water treatment. Paper

production swallows enormous quantities of water, and efficient recycling of the process

water places challenges for the chemical system. Kemira contributed water chemistry

knowledge to the project achieving good results. Through the fixation of interfering

substances with cationic polymers the process water became much cleaner, reducing

deposit formation and overall chemical consumption. Moreover, sludge treatment and

chemical treatment of the micro flotation process improved total fiber yield, improving

the product quality, and reduced the amount of waste and energy consumption.
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Case Sludge dewatering on dredging process
at an environmental protection area

ExtExtension oension of Pf Port oort of Sf Sananttosos The growth of the Brazilian participation in the international trade market has generated

a demand for modern port terminals with larger capacity. Although the Port of Santos is

considered the largest port in Latin America and one of the 50 largest ports in the world,

the Brazilian port terminal company Embraport had experienced a consistent increase in

cargo handling during the past years and was operating very close to its maximum

capacity. Thus, Embraport decided to improve the port infrastructure and build the largest

private multimodal terminal in Brazil.

Located along the southeast coast of Brazil, the Port of Santos was a challenge due to its

proximity to an important environmental protection area. The dredging of 680.000 m3 of

sludge from the channel needed to be done according to all the environmental rules and

the sludge needed to have the highest level of dewatering as possible in order to reduce

the environmental impact and storage area.

EnEnvirvironmenonmentaltally friendly friendly solutionly solution
ccombining combining cosost benet benefit and rfit and reliableeliable

servicservicee

Due to the area availability, CAPEX requirements and environmental restrictions,

Embraport chose Allonda, a Brazilian engineering and service company working with

geotubes, as the best option for the project. Allonda worked together with Kemira to find

the best performing product for sludge dewatering into the geotubes, as well as the best

way to apply it in order to improve the dewatering results.

Kemira’s Superfloc 8566, an anionic polyacrylamide, was selected as its high performance

and complete automated system had been built to apply the product according to sludge

characteristics. Combined with high level sales and technical expertise, this resulted in a

fast, easy and reliable product process as well as performance, saving the customer

money as well as lowering the environmental impact.
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Product safety
It is key for Kemira that all of its products are safe to use by customers and provided to them with the
appropriate registrations, documentation, and labeling.

Kemira focuses on meeting the requirements and regulations set

by the Registration, Evaluation, Authorization and Restriction of

Chemicals (REACH), the Classification, Labeling and Packaging of

substances and mixtures (CLP) regulations in Europe, and the

Globally Harmonized System of Classification and Labeling of

Chemicals (GHS).

The year 2012 has been a period of preparation for the

upcoming regulatory developments:

• REACH: Kemira continued preparations for its second phase-in

registration deadline in June 2013. The third deadline of REACH

in the EU is coming up in 2018.

• GHS: Kemira has worked on approximately 25% of its products

on a global scope to determine the classifications accordingly.

• CLP: Preparations for reclassification and relabeling in the EU

by June 2015 continue; Kemira's target is to have more than

50% of its products ready by the end of 2013.

In addition to the above, Kemira closely follows regulatory

developments on its markets and takes action when there is any

development requiring attention.

CCommunicaommunicating the hating the hazarzards and cds and corrorrect handect handlingling
Kemira communicates the hazards and correct handling of

chemicals mainly by product labeling and Safety Data Sheets

(SDS). Kemira also voluntarily discloses safety data sheets for its

non-hazardous products. Read more about product labeling in

the 2011 Annual and Sustainability Report.

In 2012, Kemira registered 118 complaints related to labeling,

examples of which include missing or incorrect labels.

Additionally, there were 123 complaints relating to

documentation, including Certificate of Analysis (COA) missing

from the delivery and an incorrect product name in the safety

data sheet. The complaints registered in 2012 were

approximately on the same level as in 2011 (118 complaints

related to labeling, 137 complaints related to documentation).

In 2012, a US subsidiary of Kemira reached a settlement with the

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency regarding alleged

violations of the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide

Act and for other minor reporting discrepancies. While Kemira

contends that the allegations of non-compliance are not valid,

Kemira cooperated fully with the EPA to resolve and address

their concerns. Two of the allegations related to product labeling

and involved a distributor of Kemira who sold products under

brand names without prior approval from Kemira. The EPA

determined that none of the alleged violations ever presented

any risk of harm to human health or the environment. Under the

terms of the settlement, Kemira has corrected the alleged

violations and has paid a civil penalty.
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CCompliancompliance ae at the et the earliearliesst st stage otage of prf productoduct
dedevvelopmenelopmentt
To ensure that regulatory requirements are identified at the

earliest stage, compliance reviews are required before

proceeding with any New Product Development (NPD) process.

The process also aims to identify less hazardous and more

sustainable alternatives.

During 2012, Kemira initiated a project for a new workflow-type

of system to manage its initial product safety review process in

the new product commercialization phase more effectively. The

implementation was postponed due to the restructuring of the

company, and will be finetuned according to the new

organizational structure and competencies during 2013.

MManagemenanagement ot of Prf Product Soduct Saaffeetyty
As of October 1, 2012, Kemira's product safety function was

restructured and renamed as Product Stewardship and

Regulatory Affairs. The function is managed globally but

increasingly focuses on regional operations. Kemira aspires to

develop more intelligent ways of globally managing regulatory

information, the requirements for and implementation of which

vary from country to country. During 2013, there will be more

emphasis on fully implementing the new organizational

structure and ways of working regarding product safety

throughout Kemira.

In 2012, Kemira strengthened its regulatory team in Asia to

better respond to the business needs in the APAC region. In

South America, SAP implementation project is ongoing to

integrate the safety information for the local products into

Kemira's global ERP system by mid-2013.
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Process safety
Kemira works to continuously manage and reduce the risks of accidents that may affect its employees,
the environment, or the surrounding communities.

For Kemira as a chemical company, ensuring process safety is

crucial. Kemira assesses the hazards and risks of both its existing

sites and sites to be built. The asset integrity and operational

performance is continuously improved with a systematic

management approach. All Kemira sites are expected to

implement and maintain the certified EHSQ management

systems in accordance with ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and OHSAS

18001 standards. Today the coverage of sites with all three

standards is 59%. An overview of the development of the site

certification is available in the Environmental management part.

Furthermore, Kemira has internal policies and standards for its

EHSQ work. All of the EHSQ performance information is saved in

a software system, enabling Kemira to report and share findings

and corrective improvements taken as well as best practices.

As part of the 2012–2014 contract for global quality,

environmental and safety management system certification

services, Kemira sites have been given a three-level risk

classification at the end of 2011. The risk classification is based

on the site volume and complexity of operations. Approx. 30%

of the production sites were classified as belonging to the two

higher risk classes. Higher risk classification means more external

audits and more detailed internal process and safety audits for

the sites.

Impact on local cImpact on local communitieommunitiess
Some of Kemira’s sites are located in the vicinity of residential

areas. Thus, incidents involving leakage of chemicals could have

a negative impact on both the safety and environment of local

communities. Kemira conducts environmental impact

assessments and emission monitoring on all of its production

plants according to local standards in order to monitor

environmental performance and impact on the surrounding

communities.

Additionally, each Kemira site has appropriate contingency plans

in place to ensure the safety of surrounding communities. This is

done in close cooperation with local environmental authorities.

To enhance safe use of chemicals, Kemira works in close

cooperation with many local chemical agencies.

PrProactivoactive appre approach in the soach in the saaffeety wty workork
During 2012, as part of its proactive work, Kemira has arranged

several global training sessions regarding process safety and

best practices for its personnel at 65% of its sites. The proactive

work will continue and be further developed in 2013 and

beyond.

NeNew orw organizaganizationtion
Along with its new organization, Kemira has a new Technology &

Engineering function in place for all its four segments since

October, 2012. The Technology & Engineering function in each
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This PDF has been generated from Kemira’s online Annual Report. The file may not contain the entire Annual Report, which is available at www.kemira.com/annualreport2012
89



segment together with Manufacturing Management are

responsible for process safety, providing Kemira with the

opportunity to further improve its safety performance with the

help of novel technology. The responsibility for auditing process

safety will, however, continue to be within the EHSQ

organization.

In addition to forming Technology & Engineering functions, a

Manufacturing community consisting of various members from

segments and functions has been established. This will increase

the speed of best practice transfer.

AAcccidencidents in 2012ts in 2012
There was one significant process accident in 2012; a

transformer/rectifier fire in Eastover, USA. The fire resulted in

production losses and equipment damages, but did not lead to

impacts on the health of people or the environment. Measures

have been taken to prevent similar accidents from occurring in

the future.
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Case 22 years without Lost Time Injuries
MMarieariettta emplota employyeeees cs celebrelebraatte thee the

milemilessttoneone
Kemira values the safety of its employees, which is also acknowledged in the

sustainability targets set during 2012. The company is committed to improve

occupational health and safety, aiming to achieve zero accidents. On June 2012, the

Kemira Chemicals plant in Marietta, Georgia, achieved an impressive achievement: 22

years without a Lost Time Injury. To recognize this milestone, Marietta day and night shift

employees were treated to breakfast celebrations, and the evening shift got to enjoy

dinner.

Mike Villers, VP of O&M Manufacturing sent a congratulatory message in which he

praises the employees for placing safety as the number one priority in their work, and

delivering good results in implementing it. “I know your families appreciate the safe

work performance and the community takes it for granted, but I want to thank you for

showing such a good example with this truly amazing record,” Villers compliments the

employees.

EmploEmployyee aee awwarareneenesss the ks the keey ty too
imprimprooving sving saaffeetyty

Many have asked how the plant managed to achieve such a record. There isn’t just one

comprehensive answer. The management of the Marietta Plant recognizes that the

employees are the ones that made the achievement possible. “Systems, procedures, and

programs only go so far to protect us. It’s our employees’ knowledge of our processes,

ability to recognize at risk conditions and working together to resolve safety issues that

has allowed us to continuously improve to reach this milestone,” says Villers. The

achievement is realized every day, one day at a time, when all the employees leave the

plant unharmed and arrive home safely.
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Occupational health and safety
In line with its value "We care for people and the environment", Kemira puts safety first in all its
actions. In the end of 2012, Kemira decided to set up a vision for its occupational health and safety:
Achieve zero accidents.

Excellent health and safety performance is a prerequisite for

Kemira's business operations. Kemira is committed to improving

its safety performance continuously, creating a culture of visible

leadership commitment and engaging all employees. Kemira

sees a systematic approach of managing health and safety as

crucial, and aims at having all of its sites certified in accordance

with the ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001 standards.

In 2012, nine new sites were certified in accordance with OHSAS

18001, increasing the certified sites to 59% of all Kemira sites

globally (2011: 46%).

TTootal rtal rececorordable indable injuriejuries decrs decreeasease
To improve its occupational health and safety performance,

Kemira focuses on improving the organization's competencies,

work processes and culture. To measure performance, Kemira

follows critical key performance indicators and performs regular

safety audits.

One very good example from 2012 is the expanding use of

safety observations to reduce the amount of accidents in South

America. The operations in South America have decreased their

TRI (Total Recordable Injuries) frequency significantly this year,

going from a TRI number of 16.8 to 5.3 per million work hours.

Numbers include Kemira personnel and contractors.

Working actively with leading safety indicators, such as safety

observations, makes it possible to proactively reduce the hazards

for the employees and contractors working at our manufacturing

sites.

To give a more correct picture of its performance and to ease

benchmarking, Kemira has chosen to report TRI (Lost Time

Accidents + Restricted Work Cases + Medical Treatment Cases)

as a lagging indicator instead of only LTA. As of 2013, Kemira will

only report TRI.
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Managing people processes
The role of the HR function is to ensure that Kemira has the necessary know-how, strong leaders and
engaged people to successfully execute its strategy.

Competent people are the core of Kemira, implementing the

company’s strategy. Kemira’s Human Resources (HR) function

provides the tools for managers to successfully lead individuals

and teams by using common people processes, competency

development solutions, and reward schemes. Its work is guided

by the Kemira Code of Conduct and company values:

• We are dedicated to customer success

• We care for people and the environment

• We drive performance and innovation

• We succeed together

Kemira respects and complies with internationally acknowledged

human rights declarations, providing equal opportunities and

treating all employees fairly, and does not employ forced or child

labor. Kemira also respects its personnel's right to join trade

unions and other associations, freedom of association, and

collective bargaining. Collective agreements and regulations

regarding operational procedures differ between the countries

Kemira operates in, depending on national legislation and

collective bargaining agreements.

EmploEmployyee ree reprepreesensentatationtion
Kemira has employee representation committees at region and

country level based on regional and national legislation and

directives. Different issues relevant to Kemira's business and its

employees are discussed both in the annual Kemira European

Works Council meeting and in the national employee

representation meetings.
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Developing a new organization
During a year of change for Kemira, the HR function focused on ensuring that the restructuring is carried
out in a responsible way, respecting and supporting employees.

In 2012, Kemira focused on building the new organization, valid

as of October 1. As part of the change, the organization design

was improved, also including developments in the Kemira job

architecture. The new mode of operation will help people to

better understand the roles and responsibilities in each job.

Unfortunately, the restructuring also led to reductions of the

workforce. As a result of co-determination negotiations head

count reduction will be 510, out of which 96 persons will leave

the company through pension schemes. The organizational

restructuring and site closures affected Kemira's operations

mostly in EMEA and NAFTA, and the negotiations in the sites

were completed in each country according to the local

legislation. Thus also the minimum notice periods have been

taken into account according to local legislation.

Supporting emploSupporting employyeeees in cs in coping withoping with
uncuncertainertaintietiess
During the period of restructuring, employees were given the

opportunity to participate in workshops and trainings that

supported coping with the uncertainties. Kemira also trained

managers to communicate the changes, and reductions to the

employees. People leaving the company were offered support

on how to find a new career path. In total, there were over 500

participants in the change workshops in the affected countries.

Kemira also arranged change workshops to key leaders

addressing the new mode of operation. As a result, the key

leaders are now up to date on the new mode of operation and

are able to communicate change messages and ways of working

further in the organization. The aim is to ensure that everyone in

the organization knows why there has been a change and what

its opportunities and challenges are.

SurvSurveeys monitys monitoring emplooring employyee engagemenee engagement andt and
dedevvelopmenelopment needst needs
The annual employee engagement survey, Voices@Kemira, was

not run in 2012 because of the ongoing restructuring, but is

planned to take place during the first half of 2013. In order to

monitor how the change was perceived by the employees,

Kemira conducted two Change Pulse surveys to receive feedback

on the change. Based on the input from the Pulse surveys,

actions supporting the change process have been implemented.

The results will also be followed up on in the upcoming

Voices@Kemira survey.

Based on the 2011 survey results, Kemira has focused on

developing cross-functional cooperation and communication as

part of the organizational change, through mentoring and cross-

functional workshops. As part of the new mode of operation,

RACI matrices (Responsible, Accountable, Consulted, Informed)

have been defined to clarify roles and ease communication.

RACI matrices operationalize the different roles and how they
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interact; who is Accountable for a certain task, who is

Responsible for doing it, who needs to be Consulted, and who

Informed. RACIs clarify relational aspects of how the new

organization works and decisions are taken.

Kemira aims to further develop the cross-functional and cross-

regional collaboration during 2013. Another development point

identified in the 2011 survey regarded the employees’

perception of customer orientation. As a response to this, Kemira

developed and implemented specific value-based sales training

programs to strengthen customer orientation.
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Case Kickoff for the new mode of operation
WWorkorkshops oshops offffer an engaginger an engaging

apprapproachoach
The Fit for Growth restructuring program has brought about changes in the ways of

working throughout Kemira. The kickoff for the company’s new mode of operation was

organized in the form of global and regional workshops, which were attended by a total

of 250 participants. The workshops were realized in a cross-functional effort. Face-to-face

engagement allowed a good opportunity for attendees to ask questions and give

feedback as well as network with people from all areas of the organization.

The focus of the workshops was to discuss the changes arising through the

organizational restructuring. “The workshops were done on the right time giving clear

guidelines about the organizational changes: what they are and which results we

expect,” Kemira Uruguay’s Managing Director Pedro Cirillo explains. “Through the

workshop, we were able to communicate key themes such as being closer to the

customer’s organization and enabling faster decision making, ready for market growth,”

Cirillo describes.

RARACI rCI redeedefining rfining roleoles ands and
rreesponsibilitiesponsibilitiess

The new roles of the employees were also a key issue on the agenda, addressed through

RACI training. RACI is a tool for identifying roles and responsibilities during organizational

change. “RACI attracted a lot of attention and questions during the workshop. The

discussions helped to remove the mystery of what it means to our organization and how

we will use this tool,” says Leanne Fisher, Talent Development Manager in North

America. “The RACI training with case-examples gave us an opportunity to practice

together how to use this tool in our work processes,” Fisher continues.
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TToowwarards cds conontinuous detinuous devvelopmenelopmentt The workshops were one of the first concrete measures in realizing Fit for Growth at

Kemira, and also enhancing continuous development and learning by sharing. The next

step is for the managers to communicate the information to their subordinates; to train

and support the people in assimilating the new mode of operation throughout Kemira.

The change will also be followed up through smaller Pulse surveys and a large

engagement survey, Voices@Kemira to be conducted in the first half of 2013.

According to Pedro Cirillo, the most important thing to focus on is to get people

participating actively in the implementation of the new mode of operation. “This was a

great opportunity to openly discuss the new organization and its impact on our

employees,“ Cirillo reflects.
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Performance management and leadership development
In 2012, Kemira set new sustainability targets for its people processes, focusing on performance
management, personal development discussion process and leadership development.

At Kemira, the focus is on developing the organization and the

competencies of its employees. Kemira aims at continuous

improvement and offers a variety of learning methods,

emphasizing on the job learning supported by more formal

training methods. For managers, important tools for developing

their people and teams include:

• professional and leadership skills development programs

• personal development discussions

• regular personnel surveys

ImprImprooving emploving employyee cee compeompettencieenciess
Personal performance and development discussions are one of

the key people processes at Kemira; they are a means of

ensuring that the employees have targets which are linked to

the corporate strategy. The discussions also provide an

opportunity for the employees to give feedback to their

managers and discuss career goals and development needs as

well as overall well-being and satisfaction with one’s job.

In 2012, Kemira set a target for its performance management,

aiming to have all employees covered by the global performance

management process, i.e. having regular performance and

development discussions, by the end of 2014. The key to reach

this target is to constantly focus on improving the process, and

to expand the process to cover additional personnel groups. As

part of this, Kemira provides training to its managers and

employees to develop the quality of the discussions. Currently,

the global performance and development process covers

approximately half of Kemira employees, out of which 96%

participated in the performance and development discussions in

2012.

In 2013, Kemira will focus on developing the target setting for

the employees further and ensuring that the individual targets

are closely linked to each individual’s role and well in line with

the company’s strategy to drive the whole organization in the

same direction.
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DeDevveloping seloping strtrong leong leadershipadership
The second sustainability target regarding people processes is

that every people manager participates in leadership

development programs at least every 3 years. The intention is to

reach this target by the end of 2015. During 2012, more than

160 managers participated in different leadership development

programs. In addition, Kemira used a 360 feedback process to

give feedback to managers on their leadership competencies.

In 2012, leadership development at Kemira focused on building a

common leadership culture and ability to lead in a changing

environment. Three global workshops and four regional

workshops focusing on change leadership and the new mode of

operation were organized during 2012, gathering over 250

participants. Focus on leadership development will continue in

the upcoming years, with strong emphasis on developing

leaders’ skills to create high-performance teams and culture as

well as on providing forums for sharing best practices.
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Case Mentoring – towards cross-functional
knowledge sharing

Aiming fAiming for individual andor individual and
ororganizaganizational benetional benefitsfits

Mentoring is a target oriented learning process, based on the mentee’s development

needs, whereby a more experienced individual (a mentor) shares his/her knowledge and

insights with another individual (a mentee) developing professional competencies.

Kemira initiated a Mentoring Pilot Program first in North America and in 2012 in the

EMEA region. Kemira aims to use the program globally as one of its solutions for

developing employee competencies.

The benefits of mentoring include facilitating the flow of information and ideas

throughout the organization, improving cross-functional knowledge sharing, and

developing professional competencies needed to implement and support the strategy.

Furthermore, it can promote employees’ understanding of Kemira’s operations, policies

and culture which will ideally lead to an improved common way of working.

FFrreesh perspectivsh perspective and widere and wider
nenetwtworkorkss

Mentoring is regarded as an efficient development solution among those of Kemira’s

employees who have participated in the first mentoring program. The mentoring pair Per

Andersson from M&I Sweden and Kaisa Karisalmi from R&D Finland has nothing but good

to say about the process. “My superior entered me into the program, thinking it would

help me build up new networks and develop my professional competencies,” Karisalmi

reflects.

Andersson served as an excellent mentor for Karisalmi: having worked in several

positions within the organization, he has an extensive personal network from which

Karisalmi was able to benefit. ”My goal was to get Kaisa acquainted with daily life from

the business point of view, as it is not as much present in R&D,” Andersson says. Through

the mentoring program, Karisalmi has also been in direct contact with customers,

bringing a whole new angle to her work within R&D.
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KnoKnowledge sharing thrwledge sharing throughout theoughout the
ccompanompanyy

Segregation between customer segments is common in global companies, but at Kemira,

mentoring is one way of improving the cross-functional and -cultural collaboration and

increasing the employees’ knowledge about the operations in the other segments and

regions. According to Andersson, mentoring could serve as a tool for bringing the

segments closer to one another, enhancing knowledge sharing over segment and region

borders. “Through the mentor’s contacts, the mentee’s perspective is also broadened,

widening the mentee’s internal knowledge about other departments,” Andersson

concludes.
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Personnel by region, %

Europe, Middle East and Africa 58%

North America 26%

South America 9%

Asia Pacific 7%

Personnel by country, %

Finland 23.0%

USA 21.5%

The Netherlands 7.2%

Brazil 7.1%

Sweden 5.8%

China 5.7%

Canada 3.9%

Great Britain 3.3%

Other 22.5%

Employee facts and figures
At the end of 2012, Kemira employed 4,857 persons (2011:

5,006). In 2012, 98% of our employees worked full time and 2%

had a part-time contract. 98% of all employees were on

permanent employment contracts and 2% on fixed-term

contracts. The gender distribution among fixed term contract

employees was 29% females and 71% males.

Kemira's personnel turnover in 2012 was 11.3%. APAC had the

highest turnover (20.4%), whereas the lowest turnover was in

EMEA (8.8%).

Of the 39 Kemira employees who returned from parental leave

during 2012, 87% were employed in the end of 2012. The return

rate for male employees was 75% and for female employees

90%. Most of the terminations were based on voluntary

personal resignation, one person was dismissed for reason not

related to maternity leave. The information regarding return to

work and retention rates after parental leave (by gender) is

available only from those countries (in Europe and South

America) in which parental leaves would be recorded.
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Age distribution
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GENDER DISTRIBUTION BY REGION

% Female Male Total

Europe, Middle East and Africa 28 72 100

North America 21 79 100

South America 18 82 100

Asia Pacific 26 74 100

Total 25 75 100

PERSONNEL TURNOVER BY GENDER

% Male Female

Europe, Middle East and Africa 8.1 10.6

North America 14.2 10.3

South America 11.9 21.3

Asia Pacific 21.5 17.3

Total 11.2 11.6
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NEW HIRES BY GENDER

No. of employees %

Male 288 73.1

Female 106 26.9

Total 394 100

NEW HIRES BY REGION

No. of employees %

Europe, Middle East and Africa 91 23.1

North America 89 22.6

South America 79 20.1

Asia Pacific 135 34.2

Total 394 100

NEW HIRES BY AGE DISTRIBUTION

No. of employees %

< 20 3 0.8

21-30 155 39.3

31-40 137 34.8

41-50 63 16.0

51-60 29 7.3

> 61 7 1.8

Total 394 100

PERSONNEL IN FIGURES

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Personnel at year end 4,857 5,006 4,935 8,493 9,954

Females/males, % 25/75 25/75 24/76 32/68 29/71

Females/males in the Management Boards 2/9 3/8 3/12 2/12 2/13

Females/males in the Board of Directors 3/3 3/4 3/4 2/5 2/5
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Stakeholder engagement
From a sustainability management perspective Kemira has defined three key stakeholder groups:
customers, shareholders and employees. Kemira focuses on developing systematic engagement
processes and maintaining open dialogue with the key stakeholders.

Stakeholder Engagement Examples of actions in 2012

Customers • Informally through daily operations and by

customer contacts.

• Interviews, discussions and surveys.

• 636 customers participated in a survey covering various

aspects of customer interaction, product and delivery quality,

customer perception on Kemira’s competitive position, and

sustainability.

Shareholders • Open information on the company and its

operating environment to provide a factual

overview of Kemira as an investment.

• Systematic engagement through the Annual

General Meeting, road shows, and individual

meetings.

• Over 500 Kemira shareholders in the Annual General

Meeting.

• Capital Markets Day in London with over 70 participants.

• Over 25 road show days and almost 300 individual meetings

with portfolio managers and other representatives in several

different countries.

• Shareholder communication through kemira.com website,

conference calls, webcasts, as well as social media like

Facebook and Twitter.

Employees • Annual surveys and development discussions.

• Employee representation committees based

on regional and national legislation.

• Annual Kemira European work council

meeting and national employee

representation meetings.

• Informal personnel meetings, such as

strategy sharing events and meetings

addressing Kemira’s financial performance.

• 2 short Pulse surveys with a total of 3,322 respondents.

• Individual performance and development discussions for

2,533 employees.

• 13 global and regional events to share information regarding

Fit for Growth and additional local events.

• Global and regional leadership workshops.
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In addition to the key stakeholder groups, Kemira is also actively

engaging with other stakeholders such as authorities, scientific

community, NGOs, suppliers, media, and business partners.

DeDevvelopmenelopment ot of the sf the staktakeholder engagemeneholder engagementt
prprococeessss
Kemira conducted its first materiality assessment in 2011 to

identify which sustainability-related issues are of importance to

its internal and external stakeholders. In 2012, the key themes

of the materiality matrix served as the basis for the

development of Kemira's sustainability targets.

In 2012, Kemira focused on further developing the stakeholder

dialogue process. Accordingly, a development project was carried

through to develop the stakeholder dialogue processes and

content.
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Developing the stakeholder dialogue
It is of key importance for Kemira to understand which themes related to sustainability are the most
relevant to each of its stakeholder groups and how to address them in the best possible way.

The development of the stakeholder engagement

process continued in 2012 with a project that included

interviews, workshops and an analysis of the internal and

external expectations towards Kemira’s sustainability

management.

Certain sustainability aspects were raised as being relevant

for the dialogue by several stakeholder groups. These

aspects include innovation and R&D, resource scarcity,

sustainability in own operations, local community involvement

and sustainability criteria for suppliers.

One of the key findings was that the analysis results are

very much in line with the most relevant sustainability topics

that were identified in the materiality analysis made in 2011.

In addition, it was noted that the linking of sustainability into

the existing dialogue with investors and employees is already

taking place, and is also to some extent already included in

the customer communications.

Linking susLinking sustainability theme ttainability theme to eo exisxisting dialogueting dialogue
The objective of the development project was to link important

sustainability themes to the existing stakeholder dialogue

processes. Another objective was to identify additional, more

specified stakeholder groups, and consider how to address them

in the best possible way.

"Stakeholder dialogue is one way to identify business

opportunities and manage business-related risks," says Anna-

Kaisa Säkkinen, Senior Manager, External Communications of

Kemira. "We have defined our key stakeholder groups to be

customers, shareholders and employees. Now we wanted to

develop and extend our existing stakeholder engagement

processes by linking them with the most relevant sustainability

themes for the stakeholders."

CCususttomers oomers offffer the moser the most divt diverse inerse intterferfacacee
The stakeholder dialogue between Kemira and its customers is

multifaceted, as each employee cooperating with customers is

responsible for the dialogue. The results of the study indicate

that sustainability should be included in the current customer

dialogue from an innovation and R&D point of view. According to

the study, specific attention should be paid to such customers

that use the latest water technology or are trend setters in

taking sustainable solutions into use. Kemira’s focus in

developing the customer dialogue will be on educating the

employees to communicate about sustainability issues to

customers, and to recognize the relevant signals related to

Kemira’s sustainability management. Kemira will also offer tools

to facilitate the dialogue and reporting about it.
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SusSustainability alrtainability alreeady part oady part of the inf the invveessttoror
dialoguedialogue
For shareholders and investors it was noted that sustainability is

already at present quite well embedded into the existing

communication activities since Kemira's core business is itself so

closely linked to sustainability matters. Investors approach

sustainability in various ways, but the most highlighted aspects

were risk management as well as business opportunities. For

Kemira, these long-term, responsible investors that regard

sustainability issues as important are among the most important

target groups.

EmploEmployyee engagemenee engagement activitiet activities ts to includeo include
sussustainabilitytainability
For employees, the analysis suggests that sustainability as a

topic should be integrated into personnel surveys in a more

comprehensive manner in order to have a more balanced and

continuous picture of employees’ sustainability expectations.

Sustainability plays a significant role in employee engagement:

people want to feel pride for their employer and its

responsibility. Kemira’s focus in developing employee dialogue

will be on answering questions such as “What is Kemira’s
sustainability vision?” and “What are we aiming at with our
sustainability management?” In addition, it is important to focus

on competency requirements and development plans (e.g.

induction and training) related to sustainability.

LLocal cocal communicaommunication otion of importancf importance fe for theor the
grgroup 'ooup 'others'thers'
Additional results of the study clearly show that for Kemira’s

sustainability dialogue, the most important stakeholders from

the group ‘others’ are regulators, legislators, universities,

research institutes and local communities. Säkkinen continues:

"We also wanted to find out how to best manage stakeholder

dialogue regionally." In the project, it was defined which

stakeholders should be managed globally and which locally. The

results indicate that for the stakeholder group ‘others’, local

dialogue is more important than for the three key stakeholder

groups.
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Customer interaction and feedback
Kemira interacts with its customers informally through daily

interactions, through registered contacts to order handling, and

through regular customer surveys. In 2012, Kemira carried out a

global customer survey of 636 customers in Europe, North

America, South America and APAC. The telephone interviews

were conducted by an external survey company in 9 different

languages.

The survey covered many different aspects of customer

interaction with Kemira and also measured customers'

perception of Kemira's competitive position. Customers were

asked about issues such as:

• product quality,

• delivery reliability,

• ease of placing orders,

• troubleshooting capability,

• technical application support, and

• the importance of sustainability as a purchase criterion.

In this survey, sustainability was defined both as offering

sustainable products as well as in terms of sustainable raw

material sourcing, Commitment to the Responsible Care

program, defined carbon footprint, and eco labels. A large part of

Kemira's customers rated Kemira’s sustainability performance at

par compared with the main competitors.

MMarkarkeeting cting communicaommunication guidelinetion guideliness
Marketing communications at Kemira is guided by the brand

policy, which is supported by visual guidelines, exhibition

guidelines, naming guidelines for Kemira’s trade names, and the

reference guidelines developed in 2012. The guidelines are

periodically reviewed, and they are the responsibility of

Corporate Identity at Kemira.

In 2012, Kemira had no incidents of non-compliance with laws,

regulations, or policies in its marketing communications.
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Community involvement
Kemira aims to actively build good relationships with the communities in which it operates by being
involved in charity and participating in social initiative days in the realms of environment, education and
technology. In 2012, Kemira set a target to further develop its community involvement work globally.

Through community involvement, Kemira can develop the

positive image of the company as a responsible neighbor. This

includes involving surrounding communities while at the same

time engaging Kemira’s own people, aiming to promote the

importance of water chemistry in solving water-related

challenges. Thus, the themes of the community involvement

actions mostly revolve around water, but also other issues, such

as clean neighborhoods, safety and people’s wellbeing, can be

addressed.

AActivctive ine invvolvolvemenement act acccorording tding to local needso local needs
Community involvement rose to the list of sustainability targets

defined by Kemira in 2012. The target is that by 2015, each

Kemira site that employs over 50 people would have

participated in a local community involvement initiative at least

once.

The concrete community involvement actions will be tailored to

local needs. Examples of possible actions include open days,

cooperation with schools, and other events enhancing

sustainability, such as participation in non-profit associations’

charity work or work for a cleaner environment.

CCommunity inommunity invvolvolvemenement actions initiat actions initiatted ined in
20122012
In 2012, Kemira participated in community involvement activities

at 37 sites in Europe, North and South America and Asia. Of

these sites, 11 employed over 50 people. This represents 38% of

all Kemira sites with over 50 employees.

People & society | Stakeholders | Community involvement

This PDF has been generated from Kemira’s online Annual Report. The file may not contain the entire Annual Report, which is available at www.kemira.com/annualreport2012
111



Examples of activities in 2012 Location

Meetings and information letters • USA: Bartow, Baltimore, Fontana, Spokane, Varennes,

Bushy Park

• Slovenia: Ljubljana

• Sweden: Helsingborg

• Norway: Fredrikstad

• Canada: St. Catharines

Open days • Austria: Krems

• China: Nanjing

• Finland: Äetsä

• Canada: Ottawa

Collaboration with schools • Canada: St. Catharines

• The Netherlands: Botlek, Tiel

• Austria: Krems

• Brazil: Telêmaco Borba

Donations to local charities and community service associations • Canada: St. Catharines

• UK: Bradford

Sponsoring of local sports and cultural activities • USA: East Chicago

• The Netherlands: Botlek, Tiel

• Austria: Krems

• Norway: Fredrikstad

• Poland: Police

• UK: Bradford

• Canada: St. Catharines

Communication with environmental and city councils, universities and

research institutes

• Finland: Espoo

• The Netherlands: Tiel
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Case Kemira China participating in AICM
Open Day

CCommunity members meeommunity members meeting theting the
chemical induschemical industrytry

In October 2012, Kemira China participated in the AICM Open Day in Nanjing, an event

organized by the Association of International Chemical Manufacturers. During the Open

Day, the public was able to visit the plants located in Nanjing Chemical Industry Park

(NCIP).

Furthermore, together with another chemical company, Kemira China successfully signed

a manifesto for Responsible Care, committing the company to enhancing sustainability in

its operations. The objective is to continuously improve health, safety and environmental

performance by working together with other companies and sharing best practices, and

to improve companies’ transparency by reporting openly on their performance,

achievements and shortcomings.

Enhancing sEnhancing staktakeholdereholder
ccommunicaommunicationtion

With the theme Green Chemicals Carnival, the aim of the event was to enhance the

communication between NCIP, its resident companies and the public as well as to convey

the concept of Responsible Care. More than 400 people attended the event, including

community members, families of the employees, media, chemical enterprises, partners,

and government representatives.
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RReesponsible Carsponsible Caree
Kemira Oyj is committed to the Responsible Care program by the International Council of

Chemical Associations (ICCA). Responsible Care is the chemical industry’s global voluntary

initiative under which companies work together to continuously improve their health,

safety, and environmental performance.

Kemira's Code of Conduct is in line with the OECD guidelines for multinational companies,

including social, environmental and safety aspects. In 2012, Kemira updated its Code of

Conduct in accordance with the OECD recommendations revised in 2011.

WWorld Busineorld Businesss Cs Council founcil for Susor Sustainable Detainable Devvelopmenelopment (WBCSD)t (WBCSD)
WBCSD provides a platform for companies to explore sustainable development, and to

share knowledge, experiences, and best practices. Kemira has joined the global coalition

of some 200 companies from 35 countries dealing exclusively with business and

sustainable development, and supports the platform by making its water management

knowledge available to the council.

EurEuropeopean Can Chemical Indushemical Industry Ctry Council (CEFIC)ouncil (CEFIC)
CEFIC is the main European trade association for the chemical industry, and Kemira’s CEO

Wolfgang Büchele is Member of the Board.

External initiatives
Kemira is committed to several external initiatives and actively participates in the work of a number of
organizations and bodies, such as industry associations and proactive non-governmental business
organizations.
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CChemical Indushemical Industry Ftry Federederaation otion of Finland (CIFF)f Finland (CIFF)
CIFF represents companies of the chemical industry and is concerned with business and

industrial affairs and labor market policy. In 2012 Kemira was represented in the Board as

well as in several committees, including for instance the energy and environment

committees.

CCleleananttech Finlandech Finland
The Cleantech Finland program brings together top Finnish cleantech companies and

experts. Kemira has become a member in the Cleantech Finland program in order to

promote its water-related customer solutions, both for municipal water treatment as well

as different industrial processes. In 2012, Kemira collaborated with Finnish universities

promoting cleantech solutions.

BBaltic Sealtic Sea Aa Action Grction Group (BSAoup (BSAG)G)
Kemira participates actively in BSAG's Commitment to Act. The commitment was initiated

by BSAG, a neutral organization that was founded in March 2008 for the rescue of the

Baltic Sea. Kemira's business activities have a direct impact in decreasing the wastewater

load of the Baltic Sea.

PlanPlan
Plan is an international humanitarian development organization that achieves lasting

improvements in the quality of the life of children in developing countries. Kemira and

Plan collaborate to safeguard children's rights to water, health, and development through

special projects in Ethiopia, Bolivia and India. In 2012, Kemira and Plan have been

collaborating for a better future for school children in India.
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MilMillennium Prizlennium Prizee
Kemira is one of the main partners of the Finnish Millennium Technology Prize, which is

worth EUR 1,000,000 and awarded every other year. Kemira’s objective is to promote

Finnish know-how in the field of chemistry.

CChemishemistryLab GadolintryLab Gadolin
Kemira supports ChemistryLab Gadolin, which operates as part of the Center for

Chemistry Education (Kemma) within the Department of Chemistry at the University of

Helsinki, Finland. ChemistryLab Gadolin's activities support the learning and teaching of

chemistry by expanding the knowledge of chemistry education and research, and the

chemical industry.

CCluslustter fer for Eneror Energy and Engy and Envirvironmenonment (CLEEN Lt (CLEEN Lttd) and Fd) and Fororeessttclusclustterer
LLttdd
The Strategic Centers for Science, Technology and Innovation (SHOK) established in

Finland are public-private partnerships for speeding up innovation processes. CLEEN was

established within SHOK to facilitate research in the fields of energy and environment.

Kemira is one of CLEEN’s shareholder companies, facilitating the processes for choosing

strategic research areas at CLEEN. Kemira also contributes to the forest sector’s strategic

center Forestcluster Ltd, which is one of Finland’s six SHOK centers.

Finnish WFinnish Waatter Fer Forum (FWF)orum (FWF)
FWF is a joint network of the Finnish private and public water sectors, consolidating water

knowledge to find solutions for global water challenges. Together with commercial

enterprises, governmental and non-governmental organizations, scientific institutions,

and water-related associations, Kemira is a member of FWF, currently holding the position

as Vice Chairman of the Board.
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Case Research collaboration for promoting
cleantech solutions

InInvveesstmentments in clets in cleananttech solutionsech solutions
incrincreease case compeompetitivtitiveneenessss

Kemira collaborates with the Lappeenranta University of Technology and the University of

Oulu in a two-year research project, Cleantech Solutions – Co-creating Environmental

Solutions with Lead Customers, together with two other leading Finnish cleantech

suppliers, Outotec and Metso. The project focuses on finding new ways of increasing

Finnish companies’ competitiveness in providing innovative cleantech solutions. The key

perspective is cooperation between suppliers and lead customers, as there is a real need

to develop novel processes and tools that facilitate the co-creation, assessment and

commercialization of cleantech solutions.

KKemiremiraa’’s solutions imprs solutions improovve enere energygy
and wand waatter eer effficiencyficiency

Cleantech solutions are integrated combinations of products and services designed to

deliver environmental benefits and economic value for customers and the society as a

whole. Kemira’s cleantech solutions include industrial water treatment solutions that

enable extracted or recycled water to be used in-process in the mining industry.

Through the research project, Kemira aims to find new solutions for the mining industry,

the environmental effects of which the company seeks to diminish. The project focus

from Kemira’s perspective is on facilitating the development and commercialization of

new water treatment solutions together with Kemira’s lead customers in the mining

industry.
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Case Kemira engaging in water forums
throughout the year
Throughout the year, Kemira has participated in different forums and platforms that deal

with innovative and sustainable use of water. The objective of these events is to mobilize

creativity, innovation, competence and know-how to reach improved water solutions and

sustainable development.

WWorld World Waatter Fer Forum in Morum in Marseilarseillele Marseille hosted the world’s largest water-related meeting, World Water Forum, in March

2012. Kemira participated in the Forum together with e.g. Cleantech Finland, Finnish

Water Forum and VTT. One of the forum’s goals is to share different practices and ideas

for water management. Kemira presented several solutions, including lake restoration,

phosphorous removal, economical and sustainable sludge management and intelligent

remote diagnostics for water quality management.

The World Water Forum is organized every three years, gathering stakeholders around

today’s local, regional and global issues in order to share best practices and ideas for

building up a common framework of goals and concrete targets to reach. The aim of the

forum was to raise the subject of water higher on political agendas; the Right to Water

(recognized by 189 states at the UN) must be guaranteed to everyone.

The outcomes of the forum include over a hundred concrete commitments by actors

such as UN agencies, governments, parliamentarians, local authorities, donors, water

professionals and NGOs, to improve the conservation and management of this valuable

resource.
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Rio +20 Earth SummitRio +20 Earth Summit UN Secretary-General Ban Ki-moon called the Earth Summit a “once in a lifetime

opportunity”, and it managed to attract global attention in June 2012. The themes of the

summit revolved around sustainable development: green economy, building up an

institutional framework for sustainable development and defining a series of universal

Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) for policymakers to adopt. For Finland, the most

important theme of the summit was water. Before the actual summit, Kemira

participated in a number of national forums that served as preparation meetings for Rio

+20, in which the most important topics were more efficient use of water, green

economy’s opportunities for companies and innovative investment.

Kemira participated as a commentator in Finland’s official side event in Rio, the aim of

which was to map future global goals for water. The event was called Sustainable

Development and Water: Global Goal, Targets, Partnerships, and it was hosted by the

state of Finland. Kemira’s representative was there to give the company’s view on what

can be the role of private sector in working towards a goal on water.

On the official UN Major Group Business & Industry event BASD Business Day (Business

Action for Sustainable Development), Kemira was asked to chair a round table discussion

on water as a resource for other uses. The overall objective of the roundtable was to

address four key business water messages:

• accelerate programs to increase access to safe drinking water and sanitation in both

rural and urban settlements,

• share a common vision and adopt action plans for wastewater management,

• implement coordinated processes in the water, energy and agriculture (Food, Feed,

Fiber, Fuel) nexus, and

• ensure sustainable economics to provide all water services sustainably.

SingaporSingapore Ine Intternaernational Wtional Waatter Wer Weekeek The 2012 Singapore International Water Week was held in July, attracting over 18,000

participants from 104 countries and regions. The event is a global platform for the

sharing and co-creation of innovative water solutions, and was attended by water

leaders and practitioners from the public as well as private sectors.

The event witnessed debates over water issues, networking with key industry players

and showcasing leading-edge technologies. Kemira presented seven water treatment

solutions for different industries at the Water Week, including e.g. wastewater treatment,

landfill leachate control and making drinking water safe by arsenic removal.

WWorld World Waatter Wer Week in Seek in Sttockholmockholm Yet another large-scale water event was held in August by the Stockholm International

Water Institute. It gathers annually over 200 collaborating organizations to discuss the

globe’s water issues. The theme of the 2012 World Water Week was “Water and food

security”. Kemira participated in various events during the week, and also hosted a

presentation about the latest visions of chemical wastewater treatment.

Kemira is one of the original founders of the Stockholm Water Prize, which is one of the

most prestigious prizes for outstanding achievements in water-related activities. It honors

individuals, institutions or organizations whose work contributes broadly to the

conservation and protection of water resources as well as to improved health of the

planet´s inhabitants and ecosystems. This year’s Stockholm Water Prize Laureate was the

International Water Management Institute, which was awarded for its pioneering

research in improving water management in agriculture, enhancing food security,

protecting environmental health and alleviating poverty in developing countries.
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Case Kemira and Plan building a better
future for school children in India

CCommon prommon proojects on thrjects on threeee
cconontinentinentsts

Kemira has been working together with Plan for the benefit of children for several years,

the latest common projects taking place in India. Plan is an international development

organization promoting children’s rights, and it runs projects in 50 countries. Kemira was

involved in three of them in the years 2009–2011: in Ethiopia the focus was on childhood

illnesses, health training and clean water supplies; in Bolivia on early childhood services

providing for example hygiene education for children; and in Garsain, India, school

sanitation and fresh water were in the center of the project, and the cooperation

continued until June 2012.

IncrIncreeased aased attttendancendance and bee and betttterer
hehealthalth

In the schools of Garsain the need for a water and sanitation program was urgent.

According to India’s Department of Drinking Water Supply, five out of ten most common

causes for children’s deaths are related to water, sanitation and hygiene, and a staggering

1,000 children die daily of diarrhea.

Plan India mapped the condition of almost 2,500 Indian schools, and concluded that in

80% of the schools the toilets were unusable, and in 90% the quality of water was

insufficient. According to Plan, improving water and sanitation conditions in schools have

many other benefits in addition to positive health effects. Other outcomes include

increased attendance rates in schools and fewer pupils who drop out, which shows

especially among adolescent girls.

CConcroncreette actions and educae actions and education ftion foror
the futurthe futuree

Kemira and Plan’s development project in Garsain focused on improving hygiene and the

supply of fresh water in target area schools, as well as raising awareness among

authorities of the importance of these issues. Via this project seven schools received

basic sanitation infrastructure, thousands of school children participated in hygiene

classes, and awareness raising workshops were organized. Through these activities

children, teachers as well as community members received valuable information on

sanitation and hygiene. Furthermore, water and sanitation committees were formed in

schools, which are from now on responsible for bringing possible problems to the

awareness of the authorities.

People & society | External initiatives | Case: Building a better future for school children in India

This PDF has been generated from Kemira’s online Annual Report. The file may not contain the entire Annual Report, which is available at www.kemira.com/annualreport2012
120



Case Reviving the Baltic Sea
NutrienNutrient let leakage causeakage causess

eutreutrophicaophicationtion
The Baltic Sea is one of the most polluted seas in the world, and despite substantial

measures already taken, eutrophication remains an acute problem. Large amounts of

phosphorus are leaking to the Baltic Sea via wastewater, from agriculture and sediments,

causing large oxygen-depleted areas in the seabed.

Kemira is actively involved with the Baltic Sea Action Group (BSAG), which is an

independent organization working towards a cleaner Baltic Sea. In the Baltic Sea pledge

Kemira has committed to contribute its expertise and research input to return sludge-

born valuable nutrients nitrogen and phosphorus into the natural cycle safely, without

causing eutrophication.

KKemiremira engaged in wa engaged in waatter trer treeaatmentmentt
acracrososs the Bs the Baltic Sealtic Seaa

Aija Jantunen, Head of the Municipal & Industrial segment in Finland and the Baltics

reminds that Kemira is involved in the chemical water treatment in almost all of the

Baltic Sea cities. “We have the know-how to reduce the load on the Baltic Sea and

diminish the ecological footprint cost-effectively, and we feel it’s our duty to participate in

the BSAG program,” Jantunen says.

Kemira’s commitment to BSAG has resulted in two large research projects that aim to

improve the recycling of nutrients and the removal of organic contaminants. One focuses

on how to efficiently recover nitrogen, and the other on how to recycle phosphorus.

Raising public aRaising public awwarareneenessss In the summer 2012, Kemira participated in the making of a ten-episode TV series The

Baltic Sea. The series was actualized by voluntary contributors, all of whom are in some

way committed to the preservation of the Baltic Sea. Kemira acted as an expert in the

program: “Through the program we strive to make eutrophication an issue that people

talk about,” Jantunen explains. “We want people to start thinking about what we, as

individuals, could do in order to save the Baltic Sea,” she continues. Through public

awareness, the topic will also reach politicians, who ultimately make the vital decisions

concerning the restoration of the Baltic Sea.
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Jukka ViinanenJukka Viinanen
Chairman, b. 1948,

M.Sc. (Tech)

A member of the Kemira Oyj Board of Directors since 2008

PPositions oositions of trusf trustt:

• Metso Oyj, Member of the Board since 2008, Chairman of the Board since 2009

• Lahden Seudun Kehittämisyhtiö Oy, Chairman of the Board since 2009

PPasast positions ot positions of trusf trustt:

• Rautaruukki Oyj, Chairman of the Board, 2001–2009

• Kronans Droghandel AB, Chairman of the Board, 2002–2005

• Huhtamaki Oyj, Member of the Board, 1999–2005

• State Research Institute, Chaiman of the Board, 1994–2002

• Uponor Oyj (Former Asko Oyj), Member of the Board, 1993–2001

• Lassila & Tikanoja Group Oyj, Member of the Board, 1993–2001

• Neste Oyj, Vice Chairman of the Board, 1996–1999

• Neste Oyj, Member of the Board, 1990–1996

CarCareer hiseer histtoryory:

• President and CEO of Orion Oyj 2000–2007

• President and CEO of Neste Oyj 1997–1999

• Executive and Board positions in Neste Oyj 1983–1999

Juha LaakJuha Laaksonensonen
b. 1952, B.Sc. (Econ.)

Fortum Corporation, Executive Vice President and CFO 2000–2012

A member of the Kemira Oyj Board of Directors since 2007

PPositions oositions of trusf trustt::

• Sato Oyj, Chairman of the Board since 2007

• The Association of Finnish Fine Arts Foundations, Chairman of the Board since 2012

• The Fortum Art Foundation, Chairman of the Board since 2006

• Kemijoki Oy, Member of the Supervisory Board since 2002

PPasast positions ot positions of trusf trustt::

• Teollisuuden Voima Oy, Member of the Board, 2003–2010

• Tapiola Mutual Insurance Company, Member of the Supervisory Board, 2002–2007

• Neste Oil Oyj, Member of the Board, 2005–2007

• Fortum Pension Fund, Chairman of the Board, 2001–2005

CarCareer hiseer histtoryory::

• Fortum Oyj, Vice President, Mergers & Acquisitions, 1999–2000

• Fortum Oil & Gas Oy, Executive Vice President, Finance & Planning, 1999–2000

• Neste Oyj, Chief Financial Officer, 1998–1999

• Neste Oyj, Corporate Controller, 1997–1998

Board of Directors
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Jari PJari Paasikiviaasikivi
Vice chairman, b. 1954,

M.Sc. (Econ.)

A member of the Kemira Oyj Board of Directors since 2012

PPositions oositions of trusf trustt:

• Confederation of Finnish Industries, Member of the Board since 2013

• Oras Ltd, Member of the Board since 1982, Vice Chairman since 2006

• Uponor Corporation, Member of the Board since 2007 and Chairman of the Board since

2008

• Tikkurila Oyj, Member of the Board since 2008, Deputy Chairman 2008–2010 and

Chairman since 2010

• Kemira Oyj, Member of the Nomination Committee since 2009

• Technology Industries of Finland, Member of the Board since 2006 and Chairman

since 2012

KKerterttu Ttu Tuomasuomas
b. 1957, B.Sc. (Econ.)

KONE Corporation, Executive Vice President, Human Resources, a member of the

Executive Board since 2002

A member of the Kemira Oyj Board of Directors since 2010

PPositions oositions of trusf trustt::

• JTO School of Management, a member of the Board since 2007

• Member of CEMS Strategic Board (the Global Alliance in Management Education) since

2008

CarCareer hiseer histtoryory::

• Elcoteq Network Corporation, Group Vice President, Human Resources, 2000–2002

• Masterfoods Oy, Personnel & Organization Manager, 1994–1999

EElizabelizabeth Armsth Armstrtrongong
b. 1947, Ph.D.

A member of the Kemira Oyj Board of Directors since 2003

PPasast positions ot positions of trusf trustt::

• Image Polymers, Chairman of the Board 1996–2005

CarCareer hiseer histtoryory::

• President of NeoResins 1996–2005

• 30-years experience in the chemical industry and 15 years in senior management

positions (Cyanamid, Cytec Industries, Zeneca, Avecia)

Governance | Board of Directors

This PDF has been generated from Kemira’s online Annual Report. The file may not contain the entire Annual Report, which is available at www.kemira.com/annualreport2012
123



Winnie FWinnie Fokok
b. 1956, Bachelor of Commerce

Foundation Administration Management Sweden AB, Senior Advisor since 2013

A member of the Kemira Oyj Board of Directors since 2011

PPositions oositions of trusf trustt::

• Aktiebolaget SKF, a member of the Board 2004–2013

• Volvo Car Corporation, a member of the Board since 2010

• G4S plc, a member of the Board since 2010

CarCareer hiseer histtoryory::

• Investor AB, Senior Advisor 2010–2012

• Husqvarna Group, Senior Advisor 2010–2012

• EQT Partners Asia Limited, Chief Executive Officer / Senior Partner 2001–2010,

Managing Director 2000–2001

• CEF New Asia Partners Limited, “CEFNAP”, Managing Director 1998–1999

• Peregrine Direct Investments Limited, PDIL, Director and Co-head, 1994–1998

• Strategic Assets International Limited, Director 1988–1994
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WWolfolfgang Büchelegang Büchele
President and CEO as of April 1, 2012

Chairman of the Management Board as of April 1, 2012

Born 1959, Dr. rer. Nat.

With Kemira, Member of the Board of Directors, 2009 – March 2012

CarCareer hiseer histtoryory::

• Member of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of BorsodChem Zrt., 2009–2011

• Senior Advisor of Permira Beteiligungsberatung GmbH., 2008–2011

• Project Advisor, Blackstone Group LLP, 2008

• BASF AG, various positions, 1987–2007:

◦ President Fine Chemicals Division, 2005–2007

◦ President Performance Chemicals Division, 2003–2005

◦ Chairman of the Supervisory Board BASF Printing Systems GmbH

◦ President Eastern Europe, Africa, West Asia Regional Division, 2001–2003

◦ Group Vice President Business Management Fine Chemicals Europe, 1999–2001

◦ Director Global Marketing Cosmetic Raw Materials, 1997–1999

◦ Director Regional Marketing Catalysts Asia, 1993–1997

◦ Head of Research Group Industrial Catalysts, 1990–1993

◦ Research Chemist, 1987–1993

PPositions oositions of trusf trustt::

• Merck KGaA, Member of the Supervisory Board since 2009

• E. Merck KG, Member of the Board of Partners since 2009

Hannu VirHannu Virolainenolainen
President, Segment Municipal & Industrial & EHSQ as of November 1, 2011

Member of Management Board

Born 1963, M.Sc. Economics, M.Sc. Agriculture

With Kemira since 1989

CarCareer hiseer histtoryory::

• Kemira Oyj, Senior Vice President, Customer Segment Industrial, 2009–2011

• Kemira Oyj, President, BA Specialty, 2008–2009

• Kemira Oyj, Vice President, BU WS Fertilizers, 2004–2008

• Kemira GrowHow Oy, Executive Vice President, SBU Specialty Crop Care, 1999–2004

• Kemira Agro Oy, Vice President, Supply Chain and IT, 1995–1999

• Kemira Agro Oy, Sales, analytical and operational management positions, 1989–

1994

PPositions oositions of trusf trustt::

• Viestintätoimisto Pohjoisranta Oy, Vice Chairman of the Board, 2011–03/2012

• Viestintätoimisto Pohjoisranta Oy, Chairman of the Board, 2005–2010

Management Board
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HiltHilton Cason Casas de Almeidaas de Almeida
President, Region South America

Member of Management Board

Born 1961, B.Sc. (Chemistry)

With Kemira since 2007

CarCareer hiseer histtoryory::

• Basf SA, Functional Polymers Unit, Regional Business Director, 2004–2007

• Basf AG, Functional Polymers Division, Sales Manager (Europe), 2001–2004

• Basf SA, Specialty Chemicals Division, Regional Sales & Marketing Manager, Product

Manager, Sales Representative, Technical Assistant 1989–2001

• Bera do Brasil Met. E. Com. Metais Ltda., Head of the Technical Department, Quality

Control Head, 1985–1988

• Duratex SA, Technical in Development of Manufacturing Process, 1982–1985

PPositions oositions of trusf trustt::

• Brazil Finland Business Council , Vice President since 2012

Jyrki MJyrki Mäki-Kalaäki-Kala
Chief Financial Officer, since 2008

Deputy CEO, since September 1, 2009

Member of Management Board

Born 1961, M.Sc. (Econ.)

With Kemira since 2005

CarCareer hiseer histtoryory::

• Kemira Oyj, President of the Kemira Pulp&Paper business area, 2008

• Kemira Oyj, Kemira Pulp&Paper, Vice President, Finance & Control, 2006–2007

• Kemira Oyj, Kemira Pulp&Paper, Vice President, Lanxess Paper Chemicals

Integration, 2005–2007

• Kemira Oyj, Kemira Pulp&Paper, Vice President, Bleaching Chemicals Finland,

2005–2006

• Finnish Chemicals Oy, Business Controller, Director of Business Development, CFO,

Divisional director and Managing Director, 1988–2008

PPositions oositions of trusf trustt::

• Northern Power Company Ltd., member of the Board since 2009
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PPeetri Helskytri Helsky
President, Segment Paper & Region EMEA since 2008

Member of Management Board

Born 1966, M.Sc. (Chem. Eng.), M.Sc. (Econ.)

With Kemira since 2007

CarCareer hiseer histtoryory::

• Kemira ChemSolutions, Senior Vice President, SBU Manager, 2007–2008

• Kemira ChemSolutions b.v., Managing Director, 2007–2008

• Solvay SA, Business Manager H2O2 EMEA, 2002–2007

• Oy Finnish Peroxides Ab, Managing Director, 1997–2002

• Solvay Nordic Ab, General Manager, 1996–1997

• Solvay Nordic Ab, Sales Manager, 1993–1996

• Dow Corning, Sales Responsible, 1992–1993

FFrrank Wank Wegeneregener
President, Segment ChemSolutions

Member of Management Board

Born 1962, PhD (Technical Chemistry)

With Kemira since 1998

CarCareer hiseer histtoryory::

• Manager Chemidet - SBU, 2004–2005

• Managing Director - Kemira Chemie GmbH., 1998–2007

• Arco Chemical Company (today: Lyondell Chemical), 1995–1998

◦ Sales Manager Glycols, Solvents, BDO & Derivatives, 1997–1998

◦ Senior Sales Representative Glycols & Solvents, 1995–1997

• Safechem GmbH (Subsidiary of Dow Chemicals), 1993–1995

◦ Technical Sales Representative New Solvents

• Janssen GmbH (Johnson & Johnson), 1992–1993

◦ Sales Representative pharmaceuticals
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AnAnttti Sti Salminenalminen
EVP, Supply Chain Management

Member of Management Board

Born 1971, PhD (Eng.)

With Kemira since 2011

CarCareer Hiseer Histtoryory::

• KONE Corporation: Director, New Equipment Business, Asia Pacific, 2009–2011

• KONE Corporation: Vice President, Delivery Process, 2005–2009

• Capgemini Finland: Managing Consultant (head of business process consulting),

2000–2005

• Helsinki University of Technology: Research scientist, project manager, program

manager, 1995–2000

EEeevva Sa Salonenalonen
EVP, Human Resources

Member of Management Board

Born 1960, M.A.

With Kemira since 2008

CarCareer hiseer histtoryory::

• Nokia Oyj, Vice President, Human Resources, Devices Research and Development,

January 1, 2008 – June 8, 2008

• Nokia Oyj, Vice President, Human Resources, Mobile Phones Business Group,

2004–2007

• Nokia Oyj, Director, Business HR, Nokia Mobile Phones, Global Operations, Logistics and

Sourcing, 2002–2004

• Nokia Oyj, Senior Business HR Manager, Nokia Mobile Phones, operations, Logistics and

Sourcing, Europe and Africa, 1999–2002

• Nokia Oyj, Human Resources Development Manager, Nokia Mobile Phones, Europe and

Africa region, 1995–1999

• Quality Systems Oy, Counsultant and Reasearch Manager positions, 1987–1994
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Randy OwRandy Owensens
President, Segment Oil & Mining & region NAFTA since 2008

Region Head of North America since 2010

Member of Management Board

Born 1964, B.Sc. MBA

With Kemira since 2002

CarCareer hiseer histtoryory::

• Kemira Oyj, Kemira Pulp&Paper, Vice President, Strategic Business Unit Additives,

2002–2008

• Vinings Industries, Business Manager, Sales/Product Management//Marketing

Management, 1991–2002

• Nalco Chemicals, Sales, 1987–1991

Joe CJoe Chanhan
Vice President, Region Asia Pacific since 2011

Member of Management Board since 2012

Born 1956, Executive MBA degree from CEIBS

With Kemira since 2011

CarCareer hiseer histtoryory::

• Kemira Chemicals (Shanghai) Co. Ltd., President, Head of Asia Pacific, since 2011

• Bauhinia International Limited, General Manager, 2008–2011

• Fujian Fynex Textile Limited, CEO, 2006–2007

• Ciba Region China (China, Taiwan, Hong Kong) Segment Head for Paper Chemicals,

2004–2006

• Ciba Region China (China, Taiwan, Hong Kong) Segment Head for Water Chemicals,

2001–2003

• Asia Pacific Regional Director of Laporte Plc Pigments Division,2000–04/2001

• Ciba Joint-Ventures, Qingdao, General Manager, 1998–2000

• Textile Dyestuffs Division, Ciba Specialty Chemicals (H.K.) Ltd, Business Group Manager,

1996–1998

• Textile Dyestuffs Division, Ciba-Geigy (H.K.) Ltd., Business Group Manager, 1995–1996

• Ciba-Geigy (Taiwan) Ltd., Vice President, 1991–1994

• Dyestuffs & Chemicals Division, Ciba-Geigy (H.K.) Ltd., various positions, 1979–1991

◦ Country Manager-PRC, 1988–1991

◦ Promotion Manager-Regional, 1986–1988

◦ Technical Sales Representative-PRC, 1981–1986

◦ Sales Representative-HKG, 1979–1981

• BASF agent section, Jebsen & Co. Ltd., Sales Representative-HKG, 1979
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Heidi FHeidi Fagerholmagerholm
CTO

Member of Management Board

Born 1964, D.Sc. (Chem.Eng.)

With Kemira since 2010

CarCareer hiseer histtoryory::

• Kemira Oyj, Vice President, R&D since 2010

• Ahlstrom Group, Business Area Building and Energy Nonwovens, Vice President Product

Development 2007–2010

• Ciba Specialty Chemicals Oy, Head of Technical Center Europe (EuMEA) 2006–2007

• Top Analytica Ltd., Managing Director 2001–2006

• Turku Technology Center Ltd., Project Manager and Director of R&D Unit 1994–2001

• Adjunct professor at Åbo Akademi University since 1997

• Member of Swedish Technical Science Academy of Finland since 2007

PPositions oositions of trusf trustt::

• Tekes – the Finnish Funding Agency for Technology and Innovation, Member of the

Board, July 8, 2011 – June 30, 2014
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Corporate Governance
Kemira Oyj’s corporate governance is based on the Articles of

Association, the Finnish Companies Act and NASDAQ OMX

Helsinki Ltd’s rules and regulations on listed companies.

The Company also complies with the Finnish Corporate

Governance Code, which is publicly available at

www.cgfinland.fi.

MManagemenanagement bodiet bodiess
The Shareholders’ Meeting, the Board of Directors and the

Managing Director are responsible for Kemira’s management and

operations. Their tasks are defined based on the Finnish

Companies Act and Kemira’s Articles of Association.

Shareholders' Meeting
Kemira Oyj’s shareholders’ meeting, the Company’s highest

decision-making body, is held at least once a year. The Annual

General Meeting (AGM) must be held each year by the end of

May.

The AGM makes decisions on matters within its competence

under the Companies Act and the Articles of Association, such as

the adoption of the financial statements and dividend payout,

the discharge of Board members and the Managing Director and

his Deputy from liability, the election of the Chairman, Vice

Chairman and other members of the Board of Directors and their

emoluments, and the election of the auditor and the auditor’s

fees.

Notice to the shareholders’ meeting shall be released on the

Company’s website no earlier than two months and no later

than three weeks before the meeting, however, at least nine

days before the record date of the meeting. Additionally, if so

decided by the Board of Directors, the Company may publish the

notice to the shareholders’ meeting in one nationwide

newspaper.

Kemira Oyj’s Annual General Meeting was held in Helsinki on

March 21, 2012. The meeting was attended by 638 shareholders

either in person or by proxy, together representing around 62%

of the shareholders’ votes. The documents related to the AGM

are available on Kemira’s website.

Nomination Board
The 2012 Annual General Meeting decided to establish a

Nomination Board consisting of the shareholders or the

representatives of the shareholders to prepare annually a

proposal for the next AGM concerning the composition and

remuneration of the Board of Directors.

The Nomination Board consists of the representatives of the four

largest shareholders of Kemira Oyj based on the situation on

August 31 preceding the AGM, and the Chairman of Kemira Oyj’s

Board of Directors acts as an expert member. As of August 31,

2012, the members of theNomination Board are Pekka Paasikivi,

Chairman of the Board of Oras Invest Oy, Kari Järvinen, Managing

Director of Solidium Oy, Risto Murto, Executive Vice President,

Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company, Timo Ritakallio,

Deputy CEO, Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company, and

the Chairman of the Board Jukka Viinanen as an expert member.

The Nomination Board met in the aforesaid composition twice in

2012 with an attendance rate of 100%. Furthermore, the

Nomination Board established by the 2011 AGM met once in

early 2012 with an attendance rate of 100%.
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Board of Directors
CCompositionomposition
The AGM elects the Chairman, Vice Chairman and other

members of the Board of Directors. In accordance with the

Articles of Association, the Board of Directors comprises 4–8

members. On March 21, 2012, the AGM elected six Board

members. The AGM reelected members Elizabeth Armstrong,

Winnie Fok, Juha Laaksonen, Kerttu Tuomas and Jukka Viinanen

to the Board of Directors and Jari Paasikivi was elected as a new

member. Jukka Viinanen was elected as the Board’s new

Chairman and Jari Paasikivi as the new Vice Chairman. Pekka

Paasikivi was the Chairman and Wolfgang Büchele was a

member of the Board of Directors until the 2012 AGM.

All of the Board members are independent of the Company. The

Board members are also independent of significant shareholders

of the Company except for the Vice Chairman Jari Paasikivi. Jari

Paasikivi is the CEO of Oras Invest Oy and Oras Invest Oy owns

over 10% of Kemira Oyj’s shares. The personal information

concerning the members of the Board of Directors can be found

in the section Board of Directors and their holdings can be found

under Insiders.

TTaskasks and duties and dutiess
According to the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors is

tasked with duties within its competence under the Companies

Act. It has drawn up a written Charter defining its key duties and

procedures. The following is a description of the essential

contents of the Charter.

The Board of Directors is in charge of Corporate Governance and

the due organization of the Company’s operations. It decides on

convening and prepares the agenda for the shareholders’

meeting and ensures the practical implementation of decisions

taken thereby. In addition, the Board of Directors decides on

authorizations for representing the Company. The Board of

Directors’ key duties include matters which, in view of the scope

and type of the Company’s operations, are uncommon or involve

wide-ranging effects. These include establishing the Company’s

long term goals and the strategy for achieving them, approving

the annual business plans and budget, defining and approving

corporate policies in key management control areas, approving

the Company’s organizational structure and appointing the

Managing Director, his Deputy and members of the

Management Board. The Board of Directors approves the

Company’s investment policy and major investments and

divestments. It also approves the group treasury policy and the

major long term loans and the guarantees issued by the

Company.

The Board’s duties include ensuring that the Company has

adequate planning, information and control systems and

resources for monitoring result and managing risks in operations.

The Board of Directors monitors and evaluates the performance

of Managing Director, his Deputy and members of the

Management Board and decides upon their remuneration and

benefits. The Board’s duty is to ensure continuation of the

business operations by succession planning for key persons. The

Board defines and approves the main principles for the incentive

bonus systems within the Company.

The Board of Directors also manages other tasks within its

competence under the Companies Act. It is responsible for the

due organization of the supervision of the Company’s accounting

and asset-liability management. The Board of Directors sees to it

that the Company’s financial statements give a true and fair

view of the Company’s affairs and that the consolidated financial

statements are prepared under the International Financial

Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the parent company’s financial

statements under the acts and regulations in force in Finland

(FAS). The Board of Directors’ meetings discuss the Company’s

profit performance at monthly level. The Board of Directors

discusses the Company’s audit with the auditor. The Board of

Directors evaluates its performance and working methods on an

annual basis.

In 2012, the Board of Directors met 12 times. The average

attendance rate at the meetings was 94.6%.

RRemuneremuneraationtion
Remuneration of the Board of Directors is described in a separate

Remuneration Statement, which is available on Kemira’s website.
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Board Committees
Kemira Oyj’s Board of Directors has appointed two committees:

the Audit Committee and the Compensation Committee.

AAudit Cudit Commitommittteeee
The Audit Committee works in accordance with its Charter

confirmed by the Board of Directors. It is tasked to assist the

Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities for

financial reporting process, the system of internal control, the

audit process and Kemira’s process for monitoring compliance

with laws and regulations and the Kemira Code of Conduct. The

Committee reports to the Board on each meeting.

The Audit Committee consists of members independent of the

Company, elected by the Board of Directors from amongst its

members. After the 2012 AGM, the Board re-elected Juha

Laaksonen as the Chairman, and Elizabeth Armstrong and Jari

Paasikivi were elected as new members. Jukka Viinanen was a

member of the Committee until the 2012 AGM and Wolfgang

Büchele until January 31, 2012.

The Audit Committee met 5 times in 2012 with an attendance

rate of 100%.

CCompensompensaation Ction Commitommittteeee
The Compensation Committee consists of members independent

of the Company, elected by the Board of Directors from amongst

its members. The Board of Directors has approved a Charter for

the Committee, according to which the Committee assists the

Board of Directors by preparation of matters related to

compensation of Managing Director, his Deputy and the

members of the Management Board, by preparation of matters

pertaining to the compensation systems and long-term incentive

plans of the Company, by preparation of matters relating to

appointment of Managing Director, his Deputy and the members

of the Management Board. The Committee also monitors

succession planning of the senior management and the senior

management’s performance evaluation.

After the 2012 AGM, the Board elected Jukka Viinanen as the

Chairman and Kerttu Tuomas and Jari Paasikivi as members of

the Compensation Committee. Pekka Paasikivi was a member of

the Committee until the 2012 AGM.

In 2012, the Compensation Committee met twice. The

attendance rate at the meetings was 100%. The Committee

reports to the Board of Directors on each meeting.

Managing Director
The Board of Directors appoints the Managing Director and the

Managing Director’s Deputy. Under the Articles of Association,

the Managing Director is responsible for managing and

developing the Company in accordance with the instructions and

regulations issued by the Board of Directors, ensuring that the

Company’s interests are served by the subsidiaries and

associated companies under its ownership, and puts the

decisions taken by the Board of Directors into effect. The

Managing Director reports to the Board on financial affairs, the

business environment and other significant issues. The Managing

Director also functions as the Chairman of Kemira’s Management

Board.

Kemira Oyj's Managing Director (President and CEO) is Wolfgang

Büchele, and the Deputy Managing Director is CFO Jyrki Mäki-

Kala. The Managing Director and the Managing Director’s Deputy,

including their related parties, are not involved in any substantial

business relationships with the Company.

The personal information concerning the Managing Director and

the Deputy can be found under the section Management Board

and their holdings can be found in the section Insiders. The

financial benefits related to the Managing Director’s employment

relationship are described in a separate Remuneration

Statement, which is available on Kemira’s website.

Management Board
Kemira's Management Board consists of the Managing Director

(President and CEO), four Segment Heads, the Region Heads of

Asia Pacific (APAC) and South America (SA), the CFO, the CTO

and the Heads of Supply Chain Management and Human

Resources. The Managing Director is the Chairman of the

Management Board and the Group General Counsel acts as its

Secretary.

The Management Board is responsible for securing the long-

term strategic development of the Company.

The personal information and areas of responsibility of the

Management Board members are presented in the section

Management Board and their holdings can be found in the

section Insiders. The decision-making process and main

principles of remuneration of the members of the Management

Board are described in a separate Remuneration

Statement, which is available on Kemira’s website.
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Operative Organization
Kemira Oyj has organized its business into four customer based

segments. The Paper segment focuses on serving customers in

the pulp and paper industry, the Municipal & Industrial segment

concentrates on serving customers in municipal and industrial

water treatment, the Oil & Mining segment focuses on serving

customers in the oil, gas and mining industries, and

ChemSolutions segment serves customers e.g. in feed and

chemical industries.

The segments have a strategic leadership role as they formulate

their respective business strategies and guide the strategy

implementation within the segment. They are also responsible

for new business and competence development.

Operational business responsibilities within a segment are

assumed by Regional Business Units (RBUs) having full P&L

responsibility. The RBUs are the key business decision making

organs in the Company. As most business decisions are taken on

a regional level closer to customers, Kemira is able to respond

rapidly to changes in market environment.

The RBUs are guided by policies and guidelines defined by global

functions. Global functions are responsible for developing

policies, processes, guidelines and tools related to their

respective functional areas (Supply Chain Management, R&D,

Finance and Administration, IT, Human Resources,

Communications and Public Affairs, Legal and EHSQ) on a global

basis. They oversee that such policies and processes are adopted

and implemented throughout the Company.

Functions also have representatives in each region. Regional

functions ensure that the global policies are implemented and

adhered to in the regions. They are also responsible for

supporting the business locally in the region.

Geographically Kemira’s operations are divided into four business

regions: Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA), North America

(NAFTA), South America (SA) and Asia Pacific (APAC). The Region

Heads provide operational support and co-ordination within the

region and steer all regional development projects, particularly in

SA and APAC. They also have regional P&L responsibility.
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Internal Control
Kemira maintains an internal control system to ensure the

effectiveness and efficiency of its operations, including the

reliability of financial and operational reporting and compliance

with the applicable regulations, policies and practices. Internal

control is an integral part of all of Kemira’s operations and covers

all levels of the Group. The entire Group personnel are

responsible for internal control and its effectiveness is monitored

by managers as part of operative management.

Kemira’s corporate values, Code of Conduct and Group level

policies provide the basis for corporate governance and internal

control in the Group. The internal policies and the Kemira Code of

Conduct have been communicated to all Group staff. The Group

also provides training concerning the main policies for people

who need to know the policies in question. Every employee has

the right and duty to report any violations of the law and the

Code of Conduct.

The main components of internal control are the management

and organizational culture, risk assessment, control activities,

reporting and communication, as well as monitoring and

auditing.

Insiders
As provided by the Finnish Securities Markets Act, Kemira Oyj’s

insiders consist of insiders subject to disclosure requirements,

permanent company-specific insiders and project specific

insiders. On the basis of their position, Kemira’s insiders subject

to disclosure requirements comprise Board members, the

Managing Director and the Deputy Managing Director, members

of Kemira Oyj’s Management Board and the auditor or the chief

auditor representing the independent firm of public accountants.

Kemira Oyj’s permanent company-specific insiders comprise

certain other position holders separately specified by the Group

General Counsel.

Kemira Oyj complies with the Insider Guidelines issued by the

NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd, according to which insiders should

trade in Company shares at a time when the marketplace has

the fullest possible information on circumstances influencing the

value of the Company’s share. Accordingly, Kemira Oyj’s insiders

may not trade in Company shares for 30 days prior to the

disclosure of the Company’s interim accounts or the release of

the financial statements bulletin.

Kemira’s Legal function maintains Kemira Oyj’s insider register

and updates information on the Company’s insiders subject to

statutory disclosure requirements to be entered in the public

insider register of Euroclear Finland Oy. Kemira’s insider

information is available in the web-based service maintained by

Investis Flife.

The table below shows insider shareholdings of all insiders

subject to disclosure requirements as of December 31, 2012 and

December 31, 2011. Shareholdings include personal

shareholdings and the related-party holdings as well as holdings

in companies over which the shareholder exercises control. Up-

to-date insider information as well as updated shareholding

information can be found on the Company’s website.
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INSIDERS' SHAREHOLDINGS

31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Board of Directors

Armstrong Elizabeth 4,148 2,657

Fok Winnie 2,656 1,165

Laaksonen Juha 4,148 2,657

Paasikivi Jari 129,101 not an insider

Tuomas Kerttu 4,148 2,657

Viinanen Jukka 7,635 4,571

Members of the Management Board

Büchele Wolfgang 76,657 2,657

Casas de Almeida Hilton 70,719 70,719

Chan Joe 0 not an insider

Fagerholm Heidi 0 0

Helsky Petri 71,501 71,501

Mäki-Kala Jyrki 78,489 78,489

Owens Randy 72,570 72,570

Salminen Antti 0 0

Salonen Eeva 26,589 26,589

Virolainen Hannu 20,166 20,166

Wegener Frank 13,366 not an insider

Auditors

Vattulainen Jukka 0 not an insider
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Internal Audit
Kemira Group’s Internal Audit function provides independent

appraisal and assurance for the review of operations within the

Group in order to support the management and the Board of

Directors in fulfilling their oversight responsibilities. The purpose

is to evaluate and contribute to the improvement of risk

management, control and governance systems in the Group. The

purpose, authority and responsibilities of the unit are defined in

the Kemira Internal Audit Charter approved by the Audit

Committee. Internal auditors have complete and unrestricted

access to all Kemira activities. Internal Audit reports to the Audit

Committee and administratively to the Group General Counsel.

Internal audit plans and findings are subject to regular review

with the external auditors during the course of the year.

Audit
Under the Articles of Association, the shareholders’ meeting

elects an audit firm as the Company’s auditor. The audit firm

appoints the Principal Auditor, who is an Authorized Public

Accountant certified by the Central Chamber of Commerce. The

auditor’s term of office continues until the next Annual General

Meeting after the Auditor’s election. The 2012 Annual General

Meeting elected Deloitte & Touche Ltd. as the Company’s auditor,

with Jukka Vattulainen, APA, acting as the Principal Auditor.

In 2012, the audit fee paid globally to the auditor (Deloitte)

totaled EUR 1.1 million. In addition, a total of EUR 0.1 million was

paid as fees for services unrelated to audit.
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A description of the main features of the internal control and
risk management systems pertaining to the financial
reporting process
GenerGeneralal
Kemira’s Board of Directors defines the main principles of risk

management and approves the Group’s risk management policy.

The business segments and functions are responsible for

identifying, assessing and managing risks involved in their

activities. The Group’s Risk Management function coordinates

and supports risk management.

Kemira’s internal control system covers all Group operations,

including financial reporting. The internal control activities are

carried out in all organizational levels as part of the Group’s daily

operations.

A more detailed description of risks and risk management can

be found in the Annual Report's Risk Management section and

also on the Company’s website. A general description of Kemira’s

internal control system can be found under the heading Internal

Control.

The following describes how Kemira’s risk management and

internal control work in connection with the financial reporting

process to ensure that the financial reports published by the

Company give essentially correct information of the Company’s

financial situation.

RRoleoles and Rs and Reesponsibilitiesponsibilitiess
Kemira’s Board of Directors ensures that the Company has

sufficient resources for risk management and control, and that

the control has been arranged appropriately and that the

financial statements provide correct and sufficient information of

the Company. The Board of Directors is assisted by the Audit

Committee in these tasks.

The Managing Director handles the Company’s everyday

management in accordance with instructions and regulations

from the Board of Directors. The Managing Director is

responsible for the Company accounting being lawful and that

assets are managed reliably.

The Group’s CFO is responsible for the general control system of

financial reporting. The areas of responsibility between financial

administration of the Group, regions and segments have been

defined precisely. Group level financial functions support,

monitor, instruct and offer training to the financial organizations

of the regions and segments. Group level financial functions are

also responsible for the Group’s internal financial reporting and

support Segment Controllers in analyzing business processes.

Financial organization in the regions is responsible for the

functionality of the financial functions’ processes and correctness

of figures in their region. Controlling in segments operates under

the segments’ business management and analyzes the business

processes.

The Group’s IT function has a significant role both in financial

reporting and internal control, as reporting and many control

measures, such as process monitoring are based on IT solutions.

The Internal Audit function including its tasks and areas of

responsibility are described more specifically under the heading

Internal Audit.

Risk MRisk Managemenanagementt
The Group’s financial administration is responsible for managing

risks related to financial reporting. The risks are identified,

assessed and managed in connection with the Group’s general

risk management process and separately as part of financial

administration’s own operating processes. The Kemira Business

Control Manual compiled and maintained by the Internal Audit

function is utilized when recognizing risks.

The Group’s financial administration assesses each risk it has

recognized related to financial reporting. In its risk analysis,

financial administration defines to which function or process

each risk is related and how the risk would affect the Group’s

financial reporting if it was to materialize.

The risk assessment is documented and made available to the

persons concerned. The Group’s financial administration is

responsible for risk documentation being comprehensive and up-

to-date and that the risks are reassessed annually in connection

with the Group’s strategy process.

Financial RFinancial Reporting and Ceporting and Conontrtrolol
Kemira follows uniform accounting and reporting principles

based on the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in

all its units. Kemira Group policies and Financial Manual define in

detail the processes of accounting and financial reporting to be

applied in all Group companies. The purpose of the policies and

Financial Manual is to ensure the reliability of financial reporting.
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The Group has a global Enterprise Resources Planning (ERP)

system that ensures fast and reliable communication.

Subsidiaries report their figures from the ERP system to the

Group, using a uniform Group reporting system. The financial

organizations of the Group, segments and regions check the

correctness of the figures in the Group reporting system in

accordance with the responsibility areas described above.

Proper control of financial administration, financial reporting and

accounting processes is a basic requirement for the reliability of

financial reporting. The Group financial administration

determines the appropriate control functions, the objectives of

each control function and how the effectiveness of the control

functions is monitored and checked based on a risk analysis it

performs. The control functions are described in the above

mentioned risk documentation and financial administration is

responsible for their practical implementation.

Financial reporting control is performed either continuously as

part of the transactions of the company’s monitoring processes

such as purchasing and sales processes, or alternatively monthly

or annually as part of the reporting process.

CCommunicaommunicationtion
The personnel of Kemira’s financial administration regularly

arranges internal meetings and trainings for different personnel

groups and exchanges information and experiences concerning

for instance reporting and monitoring practices in connection

with these meetings. The main instructions and regulations

concerning financial reporting, internal control and risk

management are available to all employees on the Company

intranet.

MMonitonitoringoring
The functionality of internal control, risk management and

reporting systems is constantly monitored as part of daily

management of the Company. Each segment, function and

region is responsible for implementing internal control, its

efficiency and reliability of reporting within their area of

responsibility. The Group financial administration monitors the

functionality and reliability of the financial reporting process at

Group level. The financial reporting processes are also monitored

by the Internal Audit function.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS' REMUNERATIONS

EUR 2012 2011

Jukka Viinanen, Chairman (since March 21, 2012) 83,142 56,711

Pekka Paasikivi, Chairman (until March 21, 2012) 2,400 81,924

Jari Paasikivi, Vice Chairman (since March 21, 2012) 54,321

Elizabeth Armstrong 74,177 59,768

Wolfgang Büchele (until March 21, 2012) 3,600 51,368

Winnie Fok 66,977 47,768

Juha Laaksonen 46,577 45,368

Kaija Pehu-Lehtonen (until March 21, 2011) 1,800

Kerttu Tuomas 44,177 42,968

Total 375,371 387,675

MANAGEMENT REMUNERATIONS IN 2012

EUR
Managing Director

Other Management
Board Members

Salaries and fringe benefits 655,605 1,910,533

Performance-based bonus plan (cash) 0 188,002

Performance-based share plan (shares+cash) 0 0

Total 665,605 2,098,535

Read more about Kemira’s Remuneration at Kemira’s website.
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Risk management
Kemira’s risk management policy and principles proactively protect and help Kemira to reach the
desired aggregate risk level and ensure the continuity of its operations.

Risk MRisk Managemenanagement Pt Policyolicy
The key principles of Kemira’s risk management are defined in

the Kemira Group Risk Management Policy. In the policy, a risk is

defined as a potential event or circumstance, which, if it

materializes, may affect Kemira’s ability to meet its strategic and

operational goals in a sustainable and ethical way. In addition,

Kemira has Group guidelines and other policies in place that

specify management objectives, responsibilities and risk limits in

greater detail.

Kemira Oyj’s risk management is based on the Finnish Corporate

Governance Code, the Kemira Code of Conduct and the

company’s values. The principles of Kemira’s risk management

are also in compliance with international risk management

frameworks and standards such as COSO Enterprise Risk

Management and ISO 31000 (Risk Management – Principles and

Guidelines).

In accordance with its risk management process, Kemira aims at

systematic and proactive assessment and treatment of various

risk categories, such as strategic, operational, hazard and

financial risks. The objective of the risk management is to

contribute to ensuring Kemira’s long term strategic development

and to achieving Kemira’s strategic and operational targets by

supporting decision making by taking uncertainty and its effects

into account.

Kemira Oyj’s Board of Directors defines the key principles applied

in risk management. The Audit Committee assists the Board in

risk management supervision. The business segments, regions,

and functions are responsible for the risks involved in their

activities and for the related risk management. The Group’s Risk

Management function is in charge of developing and

coordinating risk management and risk management networks

within the Group. Internal Audit is responsible for monitoring and

evaluating the effectiveness of Kemira’s risk management.

Risk managemenRisk management implement implementatationtion
At Kemira, each business segment, region, and function

performs its overall risk management according to the risk

management framework and process described in Kemira’s Risk

Management Policy. Risks are identified, analyzed and evaluated

in a consistent manner. Risk management systems and

methodologies suitable for the specific situation and

organizational needs as well as risks are applied. The results of

the risk management process are reported regularly both

internally and as part of Kemira Oyj’s external reporting.

Some of Kemira’s risk treatment measures are performed

centrally in order to generate cost benefits and ensure a

sufficient level of protection. These include insurance cover for

certain risks, such as general third-party and product liability,

cargo, property and business interruption insurance, as well as

the hedging of treasury risks.

About KAbout Kemiremiraa’’s risks riskss
As in previous years, risk management was integrated into the

strategy process in 2012. In addition to risk assessments

conducted on the Group and Segment strategies, risk

management was used to evaluate several macro-economic

scenarios and their financial impacts on Kemira. Some of

Kemira’s key strategic, operational and hazard risks are described

next. More detailed information on financial risks and their

management is provided on page 29. Management of Financial

Risks in the Notes section. Despite proactive risk management

efforts, some of the risks may possibly materialize and

significantly affect Kemira’s ability to achieve its targets.

Global ecGlobal economic enonomic envirvironmenonmentt

A potential decline in the global GDP would have a negative

impact on Kemira’s business, especially in the Paper segment. It

could also delay some future growth projects. Weak economic

development may have serious effects on the liquidity of

Kemira’s customers, which could result in increased credit losses

for Kemira. The prices of many raw materials decrease in

unfavorable market conditions, but the availability and price risk

related to some of Kemira’s raw materials may increase. Kemira’s

geographic and customer-industry diversity provides only partial

protection against this risk.

CCompeompetitiontition

Kemira operates in a rapidly changing and competitive business

environment, which represents a considerable risk to meeting its

goals. New players seeking a foothold in Kemira’s key business

segments may use aggressive means as a competitive tool,

which could affect Kemira’s financial results.

Kemira is seeking growth in segments that are less familiar and

where new competitive situations will prevail. In the long-term,

completely new types of technology may considerably change

the current competitive situation. This risk is managed both at

the Group and segment as well as on regional levels through

continuous monitoring of the competition. The company aims at

responding to its competition with active management of

customer relationships and development of its products and

services.

PricPrice and ae and avvailability oailability of rf raaw maw matterials and cerials and commoditieommoditiess

Continuous improvement of profitability is a crucial part of

Kemira’s strategy. Significant increases in raw material,

commodity or logistic costs could place Kemira’s profitability
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targets at risk. For instance, high oil and electricity prices could

materially weaken Kemira’s profitability.

Changes in the raw material supplier field, such as consolidation

or decreasing capacity, may increase raw material prices. Poor

availability of certain raw materials may affect Kemira’s

production if we fail to prepare for this by mapping out

alternative suppliers or opportunities for process changes. Raw

material and commodity risks can be effectively monitored and

managed with Kemira's centralized Supply Chain Management

function (SCM).

HaHazarzard riskd riskss

Kemira has manufacturing plants across the world. Kemira’s

production activities involve many hazard risks, such as fires and

explosions, natural catastrophes, environmental risks, as well as

employee health and safety risks. Certified management

systems, efficient hazard prevention programs and the Group’s

network of experts play a central role in managing these hazard

risks. In addition, Kemira has several insurance programs that

protect the company against financial effects of hazard risks.

Read more about Kemira’s approach to safety.
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Sustainability management
Kemira focuses on systematically developing its sustainability

management processes. Kemira has had systematic EHSQ

management in place for over 20 years, and has started to

address sustainability from a broader perspective as of 2011.

Guided by the Kemira Code of Conduct and EHSQ policy, Kemira’s

sustainability efforts are steered by the Management Board and

facilitated by the Sustainability & Public Affairs team, as well as

relevant segment and function managers. The ultimate

responsibility for implementing sustainability rests with each

Kemira business, site, and employee. Business partners are also

expected to manage their sustainability according to the

standards defined in Kemira’s Code of Conduct for Suppliers,

Agents and Distributors established in 2012.

Integrated management systems are an important tool in

Kemira's sustainability management. Of Kemira's production

sites, the major part is certified by the ISO 19001, ISO 14000 and

OHSAS 18001 standards. In 2012, the work continued with 8

new sites certified in accordance with ISO 14001 and 9 new sites

certified in accordance with OHSAS 18001. Kemira aims at having

all of its sites certified in accordance with the ISO 9001, ISO

14001 and OHSAS 18001 standards.

Governance | Sustainability Management

This PDF has been generated from Kemira’s online Annual Report. The file may not contain the entire Annual Report, which is available at www.kemira.com/annualreport2012
143



144

Financial statements 2012

Board of directors’ review 2012 145

Group Key fiGures 159

definitions of Key fiGures 162

consolidated financial statements 163

 Consolidated Income Statement (IFRS) 163

 Consolidated Statement of  
Comprehensive Income (IFRS) 164

 Consolidated Balance Sheet (IFRS) 165

 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow (IFRS) 166

 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (IFRS) 167

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 168

  1. THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 168

  2. SEGMENT INFORMATION 176

  3. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 180

  4. OPERATING EXPENSES 180

  5. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 182

  6. DEPRECIATION, AMORTIZATION AND IMPAIRMENT 183

  7. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES 184

  8. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 185

  9. INCOME TAXES 186

  10. EARNINGS PER SHARE 187

  11. GOODWILL 187

  12. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 190

  13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 191

  14. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 192

  15. CARRYING AMOUNTS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS  

 AND LIABILITIES BY MEASUREMENT CATEGORIES 193

  16. INVENTORIES 195

  17. RECEIVABLES 196

  18. NON-CURRENT ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD-FOR-SALE 196

  19. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 197

  20. INTEREST-BEARING LIABLITIES 199

  21. FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES 200

  22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 201

  23. PENSION OBLIGATIONS 203

  24. PROVISIONS 205

  25. TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 206

  26. SUPPLEMENTARY CASH FLOW INFORMATION 206

  27. TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 207

  28. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS 207

  29. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS 209

  30. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 215

  31. ENVIRONMENTAL RISKS AND LIABILITIES 216

  32. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 217

  33. CHANGES IN GROUP STRUCTURE 218

  34. GROUP COMPANIES 219

  35. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 220

Kemira oyj financial statements 221

 Kemira Oyj Income Statement (FAS) 221

 Kemira Oyj Balance Sheet (FAS) 222

 Kemira Oyj Cash Flow Statement (FAS) 223

 Notes to the Kemira Oyj Financial Statements 224

  1. THE PARENT COMPANY`S ACCOUNTING  

 POLICIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 224

  2. REVENUE 225

  3. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 225

  4. COST OF SALES 225

  5. PERSONNEL EXPENSES AND NUMBER OF PERSONNEL 226

  6. DEPRECIATION, AMORTIZATION AND IMPAIRMENTS 227

  7. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES 227

  8. EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS 228

  9. INCOME TAXES 228

  10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 229

  11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 230

  12. INVESTMENTS 231

  13. INVENTORIES 231

  14. RECEIVABLES 232

  15. MONEY-MARKET INVESTMENTS – CASH EQUIVALENTS 233

  16. EQUITY 233

  17. APPROPRIATIONS 234

  18. OBLIGATORY PROVISIONS 234

  19. NON-CURRENT INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES 235

  20. CURRENT LIABILITIES 236

  21. COLLATERAL AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 237

  22. SHARES AND HOLDINGS OF KEMIRA OYJ 238

shares and shareholders 239

Board proposal for profit distriBution 242

auditor’s report 243

Quarterly earninGs performance 244

information for investors 245



145

Kemira 2012 Board of Directors’ Review 2012

Revenue in 2012 increased 2% to EUR 2,240.9 million 
(2011: EUR 2,207.2 million) supported by favorable 
currency exchange. Revenues in local currencies and 
excluding acquisitions remained stable. Operative EBIT 
decreased 2% to EUR 154.1 million (157.3) with a margin 
of 6.9% (7.1%). 

Earnings per share were reduced to EUR 0.11 (0.89). 
Non-recurring items, related to the “Fit for Growth” 
restructuring program, to the divestment of Kemira’s food 
and pharmaceuticals businesses and to the streamlining 
of Kemira’s operations had EUR 0.66 negative impact on 
the EPS. Operative earnings per share decreased 13% 
to EUR 0.77 (0.89) mainly due to lower net profits of the 
specialty TiO2 producer JV Sachtleben, of which Kemira 
owns 39%. The result of JV Sachtleben was negatively 
impacted by higher raw material cost and a significant 
slowdown in titanium dioxide demand.  The Board of 
Directors proposes a cash dividend of EUR 0.53 per share, 
equaling a total of EUR 81 million.

KEy FIguRES ANd RAtIOS

EUR million
jan–dec 

2012
Jan–Dec 

2011

Revenue 2,240.9 2,207.2

EBITDA 178.5 259.6

EBITDA, % 8.0 11.8

Operative EBIT 154.1 157.3

EBIT 31.7 158.3

Operative EBIT, % 6.9 7.1

EBIT, % 1.4 7.2

Share of profit or loss of associates 11.2 31.0

Financing income and expenses –15.7 –20.9

Profit before tax 27.2 168.4

Net profit 21.5 140.3

EPS, EUR 0.11 0.89

Operative EPS, EUR 0.77 0.89

Capital employed * 1,673.0 1,705.0

ROCE, % * 2.6 11.1

Cash flow after investing activities 71.8 115.3

Capital expenditure 134.1 201.1

Equity ratio, % at period-end 53 51

Gearing, % at period-end 40 38

Personnel at period-end 4,857 5,006

*) 12-month rolling average (ROCE, % based on the reported EBIT).

Definitions of key figures are available at 
www.kemira.com  > Investors > Financial information. 
Comparative 2011 figures are provided in parentheses for 
some financial results, where appropriate. Operating profit, 
excluding non-recurring items, is referred to as Operative 
EBIT. Operating profit is referred to as EBIT.

Financial perFormance,  
Full year 2012

Kemira Group revenue increased 2% to EUR 2,240.9 million 
(2,207.2). Revenues in local currencies and excluding 
divestments remained stable at the level of 2011. In local 
currencies, the main positive impact on revenues came 
from price increases, compensating the corresponding 
raw material price inflation. Excluding the exit of about 
EUR 20 million in low margin product sales, sales volumes 
were close to the level of 2011. Recovered sales volumes, 
especially with pulp and municipal customers compensated 
for the decreased sales volumes to the oil & gas and 
mining customer segments. ChemSolutions sales volumes 
were close to the level of 2011. The divestments of the 
hydrogen peroxide plant in Maitland, Canada in November, 
2011 and Galvatek in October, 2011 had a negative 
impact of EUR 23 million on revenues. Most of the main 
foreign currencies affecting Kemira’s financials, such as US 
dollar, Swedish krona, and Canadian dollar, appreciated 
against the euro compared to the previous year. Currency 
exchange had 2% or approximately EUR 50 million positive 
impact on revenues.

In the Paper segment, revenues increased 3% to 
EUR 1,002.0 million (973.3). Revenue growth in local 
currencies and excluding divestments was 2%. Currency 
exchange impacted revenues by +3% and divestments by 
–2%.

In the Municipal & Industrial segment, revenues 
increased 3% to EUR 686.6 million (664.7). Revenue 
growth was 2% in local currencies and excluding 
divestments. Currency exchange impacted revenues by 
+2% and divestments by –1%.

In the Oil & Mining segment, revenues decreased 4% 
to EUR 321.0 million (335.7). Revenues declined 2% in 
local currencies, excluding the impact of exited low margin 
product sales. Exited low margin product sales impacted 
revenues by –6% and currency exchange impacted 
revenues by +4%.

Board of directors’ review 2012
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set a mid-term target for the operative EBIT margin to be at 
least 10%. In order to reach the EBIT margin target of 10% 
in 2014, Kemira launched its “Fit for Growth” restructuring 
program in July, 2012, targeting at cost savings of EUR 60 
million.

“Fit for Growth” cost savings totaled EUR 10 million in 
2012, of which EUR 5 million impacted variable costs and 
EUR 5 million fi xed costs. Fixed costs, including the positive 
impact of “Fit for Growth” were EUR 15 million higher than in 
2011 mainly due to higher manufacturing, maintenance and 
personnel related expenses.

Variable costs were EUR 18 million higher than in 2011, 
mainly due to higher raw material prices and freight costs. 
Raw material price infl ation was more than offset by 
corresponding price adjustments.

Lower sales volumes had less than a EUR 10 million 
negative impact on operative EBIT.

Currency exchange had a positive impact of EUR 5 million 
on the operative EBIT. In total, divestments and other items 
had a EUR 5 million negative impact (see variance analysis 
table).

OPERAtIVE EBIt

EUR million
jan–dec 

2012
Jan–Dec

 2011 ∆%

Jan–Dec 
2012 

%–margin

Jan–Dec 
2011

%–margin

Paper 86.2 75.4 14 8.6 7.7

Municipal & Industrial 42.3 46.9 –10 6.2 7.1

Oil & Mining 37.3 36.2 3 11.6 10.8

Other –11.7 –1.2 – –5.1 –0.5

of which ChemSolutions 14.6 20.8 –30 7.8 11.3

total 154.1 157.3 –2 6.9 7.1

Geographically, the revenue was split as follows: EMEA 
55% (57%), North America 31% (30%), South America 8% 
(7%), and Asia Pacifi c 6% (6%). Revenues increased 1% 
(3%) in the mature markets and 9% (0%) in the emerging 
markets in 2012. Kemira group’s mid-term revenue target 
set in September 2010 is to increase revenues by 3% in 
the mature markets and by 7% in the emerging markets. 

REVENuE

EUR million
jan–dec 

2012
Jan–Dec

 2011 ∆%

Paper 1,002.0 973.3 3

Municipal & Industrial 686.6 664.7 3

Oil & Mining 321.1 335.7 –4

Other 231.2 233.5 –1
of which 
ChemSolutions 186.0 183.6 1

Eliminations – – –

Total 2,240.9 2,207.2 2

the eBit was impacted by non-recurring charges of 
EUR -122 million (1) and amounted to EUR -31.7 million 
(158.3). The operative EBIT decreased 2% to EUR 154.1 
million (157.3) with a margin of 6.9% (7.1%). In 2008, Kemira 

Kemira Group revenue, EUR million
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VARIANCE ANALySIS

EUR million Jan–Dec

operative eBit, 2011 157.3

Sales volumes and prices 29.9

Variable costs –18.2

Fixed costs –15.2

Currency impact 5.4

Others, incl. acquisitions and divestments –5.1

operative eBit, 2012 154.1

non-recurring items, mainly relating to the 
restructuring program “Fit for Growth”, affected the 
EBIT in 2012 by EUR –122 million (1). “Fit for Growth” 
severance payments and costs related to external services 
totaled EUR 41 million and asset write-downs EUR 30 
million. Other, not “Fit for Growth” related, non-recurring 
items included the write-down of EUR 18 million from 
the divestment of Kemira’s food and pharmaceutical 
businesses and charges of EUR 33 million related to 
environmental liabilities, efficiency improvements, as 
well as streamlining of Kemira’s current operations (see 
non-recurring items table).

Non-recurring items in 2011 included a capital gain 
related to the sale of a hydrogen peroxide plant (Paper 
segment) in Canada, asset write-downs related to the 
discontinued calcium sulphate business in Finland and 
site consolidation activities in Spain and North America in 
Municipal.

NON-RECuRRINg ItEmS

EUR million
jan–dec 

2012
Jan–Dec 

2011

Within EBITDA –69.6 6.4

Paper –22.9 6.3

Municipal & Industrial –26.8 –1.3

Oil & Mining –5.1 –0.2

Other –14.8 1.6

Within Depreciation, amortization 
and impairment losses –52.8 –5.4

Paper –8.1 –2.2

Municipal & Industrial –24.1 –1.9

Oil & Mining –1.9 –1.1

Other –18.7 –0.2

total –122.4 1.0

income from associated companies decreased to 
EUR 11.2 million (31.0) as a result of lower net profits of 
the specialty TiO2 producer JV Sachtleben, of which Kemira 
owns 39%. The result of JV Sachtleben was negatively 
impacted by a significant slowdown in demand, decreasing 
titanium dioxide prices in the latter part of 2012, and 
higher raw material costs.

In June, 2012 Kemira Oyj’s and Rockwood Holdings Inc.’s 
titanium dioxide joint venture Sachtleben GmbH completed 
the re-financing with a new facility agreement in the 
aggregate amount of EUR 430 million. The proceeds of the 
facility have been used to repay the outstanding balance 
of the existing facility agreement, pay a dividend to the 
joint venture partners and for other corporate purposes. 
The facility has a maturity of five years. Also in June, 2012, 
Sachtleben GmbH reached an agreement to acquire the 
TiO2 production assets and inventory of crenox GmbH, 
based in Krefeld, Germany. The acquisition was closed in 
July, 2012, and added over 100,000 metric tons of TiO2 
production, increasing total capacity to approximately 
340,000 metric tons.

financing income and expenses totaled 
EUR –15.7 million (-20.9). Financing expenses included 
changes of EUR –2.3 million in fair values of electricity 
derivatives and dividends of EUR 7.6 million received from 
PVO in the second quarter of 2012.

profit before tax decreased to EUR 27.2 million 
(168.4). Lower financial expenses and lower taxes partly 
compensated for the lower EBIT and the reduced income 
from associated companies. The EBIT was lower mainly due 
to the non-recurring items related to the “Fit for Growth” 
restructuring program and other non-recurring items.

taxes were EUR 5.7 million (28.1) and the reported 
tax rate was 21.0% (16.7%). Non-recurring items affecting 
the EBIT and higher profits, especially in North America 
increased the reported tax rate. The tax rate, excluding 
non-recurring items affecting the EBIT and income from 
associated companies was 20.6% (20.8%). In addition, 
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities had material 
effects in the total taxes.

net profit attributable to the owners of the parent 
company decreased to EUR 16.8 million (135.6) and the 
earnings per share to EUR 0.11 (0.89). Non-recurring items 
had EUR 0.66 negative impact on the EPS. Earnings per 
share, excluding non-recurring items, decreased 13% to 
EUR 0.77 (0.89).

Financial position  
and cash Flow

Cash flow from operating activities in 2012 was 
EUR 176.3 million (177.7). Cash flow after investing 
activities and after severance payments decreased 38% 
to EUR 71.8 million (115.3) mainly due to higher expansion 
investments related capital expenditure. Cash flow after 
investing activities included EUR 27 million paid-in-capital 
from JV Sachtleben. The comparable period in 2011 included 
a cash flow of EUR 97 million from the sale of Kemira’s 
remaining Tikkurila shares. Net working capital (ratio) was 
12.8% of revenue (13.4% on December 31, 2011).
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At the end of the period, Kemira Group’s net debt was 
EUR 532.0 million (515.8). Net debt increased due to the 
dividend payment of EUR 81 million in March 2012 and 
was largely offset by a positive cash flow.

At the end of the period, interest-bearing liabilities 
totaled EUR 664.7 million (701.6). Fixed-rate loans 
accounted for 56% of the net interest-bearing liabilities 
(58%). The average interest rate of the Group’s interest-
bearing liabilities was 1.6% (2.0%). The duration of the 
Group’s interest-bearing loan portfolio was 16 months 
(17 months).

Short-term liabilities maturing in the next 12 months 
amounted to EUR 277.2 million, of which commercial 
papers issued on the Finnish market represented EUR 
193.6 million and repayments on the long-term loans 
represented EUR 52.8 million. Cash and cash equivalents 
totaled EUR 132.7 million on December 31, 2012 (185.8). 

At the end of the period, the equity ratio was 53% 
(51%), while the gearing was 40% (38%). Shareholder’s 
equity decreased to EUR 1,314.8 million (1,370.8).

The Group’s most significant transaction currency risk 
arises from the Swedish krona and the Canadian dollar. 
At the end of the year, the denominated 12-month 
exchange rate risk of Swedish krona had an equivalent 
value of approximately EUR 43 million, 45% of which was 
hedged on an average basis. Correspondingly, the CAD 
denominated exchange rate risk was approximately EUR 
26 million, 50% of which was hedged on an average basis. 
In addition, Kemira is exposed to smaller transaction risks 
in relation to the U.S. dollar, the British pound and the 
Norwegian krona with the total annual exposure in these 
currencies being approximately EUR 50 million, 60% of 
which was hedged on an average basis.

Because Kemira’s consolidated financial statements 
are compiled in euros, Kemira is also a subject to 
currency translation risk to the extent that the income 
statement and balance sheet items of subsidiaries located 
outside Finland are reported in a currency other than 
euro. The most significant translation exposure derives 
from the US dollar, the Swedish krona, the Canadian 
dollar and the Brazilian real. A weakening of the above 
mentioned currencies against the euro would decrease 
Kemira’s revenue and EBIT through a translation risk. 
10% depreciation of the above mentioned currencies 
against the euro would decrease Kemira’s EBIT by 
some EUR 10 million (10) on an annual basis through a 
translation risk.

capital expenditure 
Capital expenditure decreased 33% to EUR 134.1 
million (201.1) in 2012, (expansion capex 44% (17%), 
improvement capex 29% (40%), and maintenance capex 
27% (43%), comparable 2011 %-figures are excluding 
the acquisition of PVO shares). Expansion investments 

were mainly focused on China as well as Germany and 
Spain. The comparable period capital expenditure included 
EUR 103 million related to acquisitions of PVO shares from 
Kemira pension fund Neliapila.

In 2012, the Group’s depreciation and impairments 
increased 45% to EUR 146.8 million (101.3), mainly due to 
“Fit for Growth” related write-downs of EUR 25 million and 
the write-down of EUR 18 million from the divestment of 
Kemira’s food and pharmaceutical businesses.

research and development
Research and development related expenses totaled 
EUR 38.1 million (36.5) in 2012, representing 1.7% (1.6%) 
of Kemira Group’s revenue. Kemira has four research and 
development centers in Espoo (Finland), Atlanta (USA), 
Shanghai (China) and São Paulo (Brazil). 

Kemira’s research and development is a critical enabler 
for organic growth and further differentiation. In 2012, 
Kemira generated EUR 106 million (40) of revenues from 
new products and new applications. Kemira’s definition 
for a new product and application revenue is revenue 
generated from products and applications introduced 
within the past five years. New product launches during 
2012 included e.g. antiscalants, friction reducers and 
biocides improving the efficiency of water and energy 
usage.

Kemira’s four-year R&D program launched in 2010 
called SWEET (Center of Water Efficiency and Excellence) 
progressed in 2012, and most of the projects included in 
the program are in the development or scale-up phase. 
Projects are running in all of Kemira’s four R&D centers and 
include new innovations regarding process chemicals and 
water management for oil & gas, shale gas, bioethanol 
and biomass. One example of the SWEET innovation is 
the strength chemistry launched for tissue and board 
customers. It enables savings in terms of raw materials, 
but also better strengths with lower material weight. 
Customers are benefiting from raw material, cost and 
energy savings. Our ew products and applications have 
been an important enabler for the double-digit revenue 
growth rates inthe tissue as well as in the packaging and 
board customer segments in 2012.

Kemira aims to strengthen its R&D centers’ 
competencies by developing them further into a truly 
global network, providing the company with a unique 
strength.

In 2012, Kemira opened a new R&D laboratory in 
Alberta, Canada in cooperation with the University of 
Alberta, specializing in oil and gas applications, including 
reuse and water management in oil sands applications.

Kemira has a strong IP portfolio with 330 patent 
families and 1,350 patents.
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human resources
At the end of 2012, Kemira Group had 4,762 permanent 
employees (2011: 4,846, 2010: 4,814) and 95 temporary 
employees (2011: 160, 2010: 119). Kemira employed 
1,114 people in Finland (1,179), 1,690 people elsewhere in 
EMEA (1,776), 1,279 in North America (1,384), 423 in South 
America (398) and 351 in Asia Pacific (269).

Total salaries and wages in 2012 increased to EUR 
271.5 million (2011: 235.6, 2010: 251.3) mainly due to 
severance payments.

 

sustainability
In 2013, Kemira for the second time will publish an 
annual Sustainability Report in connection with its Annual 
Report. The Sustainability Report is verified by a third 
party and prepared in accordance with the GRI (Global 
Reporting Initiative) framework. It deals, for example, 
with Kemira’s economic performance, its emissions 
and effluents, its waste, its environmental costs, its 
labor and responsible work practices, with safety and 
product safety, the society, as well as the use of natural 
resources. 

As an update to the first Sustainability report 
published in 2011, Kemira has more clearly defined 
its sustainability priorities and targets as part of its 
sustainability management process. The sustainability 
targets were approved by the Kemira Management Board 
in the third quarter of 2012. The targets, Key Performance 
Indicators (KPI) and planned measures will be discussed 
in more detail in Kemira’s Sustainability Report that will be 
published as part of the Kemira Annual Report 2012 during 
the week beginning on February 25.

In 2012, capital expenditure on environmental 
protection at the company’s 71 production sites totaled 
EUR 3.4 million (EUR 3.6 million) and operating costs 
were EUR 14.2 million (EUR 12.7 million). The increase of 
operating costs was caused mainly by higher production 
volumes. No major environmental investment projects are 
in progress or being planned. 

Provisions for environmental remediation totaled 
EUR 19.7 million (14.7). The major provisions apply to the 
closing of the former waste piling area in Pori and to the 
limited reconditioning of the sediment of a lake adjacent to 
the Vaasa plant.

Kemira did not register any new substances under the 
new EU chemicals regulation (REACH) in 2012. Kemira is in 
the process of preparing for the next registration deadline 
in June 2013 for phase-in registrations. In the EU, the third 
deadline of REACH is coming up in 2018. In addition, there 
will be other regulations concerning the Asia-Pacific region 
and South America that will require Kemira’s attention in 
the future. The implementation of REACH is not expected 
to have a major impact on Kemira’s financial results, even 

though the registration costs are expected to accumulate 
over the next few years. In 2012, the costs of REACH 
compliance were insignificant and related to improvements 
in REACH-related management processes and associated IT 
support.

In 2012 Kemira started reporting Total Recordable 
Injuries for Kemira employees and contractors (TRI) 
instead of the LTA1 (accident frequency rating that 
indicates the number of accidents that cause absences 
lasting at least one day per one million working hours) 
for Kemira employees. The TRI Includes LTA, Restricted 
work cases (RWC) and Medical treatment cases (MTC). 
For 2012 the TRI frequency for Kemira employees and 
contractors per million working hours was 8.5. This 
compares to a chemical industry average of 12 (Source: 
US department of labor, 2011).

segments

paper
We offer chemical products and integrated systems that 
help customers in the water-intensive pulp and paper 
industry to improve their profitability as well as their water, 
raw material and energy efficiency. Our solutions support 
sustainable development.

The Paper segment’s revenue increased 3% to 
EUR 1,002.0 million (973.3). Revenues in local currencies 
and excluding divestment grew 2% due to the 
implemented sales price increases and slightly higher 
sales volumes. Currency exchange impacted revenues by 
+3% and the divestment of the hydrogen peroxide plant 
in Maitland, Canada in November 2011 by –2%.

Demand for pulp started to recover in the beginning 
of the year after some slow down witnessed in the end 
of 2011. Sales volumes to the pulp customer segment 
steadily increased during the year. The demand remained 
at a good level even in the last quarter of 2012 and 
pulp revenues reached the level of 2011, excluding the 
hydrogen peroxide divestment. Sales to the packaging 
and board customers increased over 10% in 2012 
driven mainly by growth in sizing chemical sales in Asia 
Pacific. The demand for printing and writing remained 
fairly stable globally and due to extensive sales activity, 
especially in Europe and North America, Kemira’s product 
and application related sales grew some 5% to this 
customer segment. Sales to the tissue and specialty 
customer segment increased nearly 20% in 2012. Paper 
segment sales volumes increased to tissue customers, 
especially in North America. In 2013, sales to tissue 
customers are expected to accelerate also in China, 
Indonesia, South America and in Europe.
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PAPER KEy FIguRES

EUR million jan–dec 2012 Jan–Dec 2011

Revenue 1,002.0 973.3

EBITDA 106.2 126.0

EBITDA, % 10.6 12.9

Operative EBIT 86.2 75.4

EBIT 55.2 79.5

Operative EBIT, % 8.6 7.7

EBIT, % 5.5 8.2

Capital employed * 759.8 773.2

ROCE, %* 7.3 10.3

Capital expenditure 66.4 43.5

Cash flow after investing activities, excluding interest and taxes 30.6 90.9

*) 12-month rolling average

muNICIPAL & INduStRIAL KEy FIguRES

EUR million jan–dec 2012 Jan–Dec 2011

Revenue 686.6 664.7

EBITDA 42.6 74.3

EBITDA, % 6.2 11.2

Operative EBIT 42.3 46.9

EBIT –8.5 43.7

Operative EBIT, % 6.2 7.1

EBIT, % –1.2 6.6

Capital employed * 392.1 403.4

ROCE, %* –2.2 10.8

Capital expenditure 35.2 28.8

Cash flow after investing activities, excluding interest and taxes 23.3 41.9

*) 12-month rolling average

OIL & mININg KEy FIguRES

EUR million jan–dec 2012 Jan–Dec 2011

Revenue 321.1 335.7

EBITDA 42.6 45.7

EBITDA, % 13.3 13.6

Operative EBIT 37.3 36.2

EBIT 30.2 34.9

Operative EBIT, % 11.6 10.8

EBIT, % 9.4 10.4

Capital employed* 168.8 150.1

ROCE, %* 17.9 23.3

Capital expenditure 15.9 9.6

Cash flow after investing activities, excluding interest and taxes 21.6 28.7

*) 12-month rolling average
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In 2012, Kemira announced that it would expand 
hydrogen peroxide capacity in Fray Bentos, Uruguay 
by mid-2013. The company is also proceeding with its 
Nanjing paper chemicals production plant in China. The 
project is now in its pre-sales phase, in anticipation of 
trial production starting at the end of Q1 2013.

the operative eBit increased 14% to EUR 86.2 
million (75.4). Higher sales prices could more than offset 
the higher variable costs. Increased sales volumes had 
a small positive impact on the operative EBIT. The fixed 
costs were EUR 5 million higher than in the comparable 
period in 2011, mainly due to increased sales and 
marketing activities and maintenance related expenses. 
Currency exchange had a positive impact of EUR 4 million 
on the operative EBIT. The divestment of the hydrogen 
peroxide plant in Maitland, Canada in November 2011 
had a small negative impact on the operative EBIT. The 
operative EBIT margin improved to 8.6% (7.7%).

Non-recurring restructuring charges, including the “Fit 
for Growth” program amounted to EUR –31 million and 
were mainly related to asset write-downs, severance 
payments and external services.

municipal & industrial
We offer water treatment chemicals for municipalities 
and industrial customers. Our strengths are high-level 
application know-how, a comprehensive range of water 
treatment chemicals, and reliable customer deliveries.

The Municipal & Industrial segment’s revenue increased 
3% to EUR 686.6 million (664.7). Demand for water 
treatment chemicals in municipalities recovered throughout 
the year and resulted together with higher sales prices 
for inorganic coagulants   and flocculants in 2% organic 
revenue growth. Currency exchange impacted revenues by 
+2% and divestments by –1%.

The challenging economic conditions caused a 
slowdown of sales volumes to the municipal customer 
segment in the fourth quarter in 2011, especially in East 
Europe, South Europe and California. In East Europe, sales 
volumes recovered quickly in the beginning of 2012 
followed by California. In South Europe chemical usage in 
municipal water treatment seems to have stabilized on a 
lower level. 

In the industrial customer segment, the sales volumes 
remained relatively stable through the year in all main 
industries. Kemira is focusing on water intensive industries 
such as the food & beverage, the sugar, the construction, 
the pharmaceutical and the power generating industries. 
In addition, solutions for membrane technologies, biogas, 
fermentation, and bioethanol processes have been 
developed and are currently in the process of commercial-
ization.

the operative eBit decreased by 10% to EUR 42.3 
million (46.9). Higher sales volumes and prices could offset 
the negative impact of higher variable costs. Variable 
costs increased by EUR 12 million in 2012 mainly due to 
increased sulphuric and hydrochloric acid prices. Fixed costs 
increased by EUR 6 million mainly due to higher personnel 
and manufacturing related expenses. Currency exchange 
had a small positive impact on operative EBIT. Operative 
EBIT margin decreased to 6.2% (7.1%).

Non-recurring restructuring charges, including the “Fit 
for Growth” program amounted to EUR –51 million and 
were mainly related to asset write-downs, severance 
payments and external services. 

Rationalization of the manufacturing footprint 
comprises consolidation of the manufacturing network and 
selected investments to increase competitiveness. Kemira 
has made the decision that of its 40 coagulant plants, 
nine will be closed, focusing the development activities to 
long-term key sites. The aim is to minimize manufacturing 
and logistic costs through an asset footprint optimization. 
Coagulants are one of Kemira’s core product lines, and 
ensuring cost efficient supply of raw materials is essential 
for the business. Kemira is building two coagulants plants 
next to Bayer MaterialScience’s isocyanate production 
plants in Dormagen, Germany and Tarragona, Spain. 
This will guarantee long-term, cost-efficient access to 
hydrochloric acid, one of the raw materials for coagulant 
manufacturing. Furthermore, these selected investments 
will reinforce the company’s strong coagulant position. The 
new plants in Dormagen and Tarragona are expected to be 
in operation during the second half of 2013.

 

oil & mininG
We offer a large selection of innovative chemical extraction 
and process solutions for the oil and mining industries, 
where water plays a central role. Utilizing our expertise, 
we enable our customers to improve efficiency and 
productivity. 

The Oil & Mining segment’s revenue decreased 4% to 
EUR 321.1 million (335.7). Revenues in local currencies 
decreased 2% excluding the negative –6% impact related 
to exited low margin product sales. Currency exchange 
impacted revenues by +4%. Acquisitions and divestments 
did not have an impact on the revenues.

The decline in Oil & Mining sales volumes was mainly 
due to lower drilling activities specifically caused by low 
natural gas prices in North America, and a global slowdown 
in the mining industry because of lower metal prices.

In the end of 2012, Kemira completed a two-year, 
multi-million euro capacity expansion project at its polymer 
production plants in North America. This has resulted in a 
60% increase in manufacturing capacity at the company’s 
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Mobile, Alabama, Columbus, Georgia and Longview, 
Washington production sites.

Polymers are core to Kemira’s water technology 
platform and also play a significant role in growing 
applications like water reuse, wastewater treatment, 
rheology control and shale fracturing. The Oil & Mining 
segment continues to shift its sales mix from products 
to innovative solutions, improving value creation for the 
customers.

the operative eBit increased 3% to EUR 37.3 million 
(36.2). The operative EBIT improvement was driven mainly 
by the higher sales prices as Oil & Mining has shifted 
its sales mix from products into higher value creating 
solutions. Higher sales prices could partly offset the 
negative impact of lower sales volumes. Variable costs 
were EUR 8 million lower due to lower raw material prices. 
Fixed costs were EUR 5 million higher than in 2011 as a 
result of investing in sales and marketing resource and 
related activities. Currency exchange had EUR 3 million 
positive impact on the operative EBIT. The operative EBIT 
margin rose to 11.6% (10.8%).

Non-recurring restructuring charges, including the “Fit 
for Growth” program amounted to EUR –7 million and were 
mainly related to asset write-downs, severance payments 
and external services.

other
Specialty chemicals (ChemSolutions), such as organic salts 
and acids, and the Group expenses not charged to the 
business segments (some research and development costs 
and the costs of the CEO Office) are included in “Other”. 
Specialty chemicals products are delivered mainly to the 
food and feed, the chemicals and the pharmaceutical 
industries, as well as for airport runway de-icing.

The “Other” revenue remained stable at EUR 231.2 million 
(233.5). ChemSolutions’ revenues increased slightly 
to EUR 186.0 million (183.6) as the higher sales prices 
could more than compensate for somewhat lower sales 
volumes. ChemSolutions’ products are delivered mainly 
to the food and feed (about 50% of the ChemSolutions’ 
revenue), chemical and pharmaceutical industries 
(about 40%), as well as for airport runway de-icing. In 
December 2012, Kemira signed an agreement with Niacet 
Corporation (Niagara Falls, USA) regarding the divestment 
of ChemSolutions’ food and pharmaceutical businesses. 
The transaction covered the shares of ChemSolutions B.V. 
and its manufacturing site in Tiel, the Netherlands. Other 
businesses of the ChemSolutions’ segment, including 
the chemical, feed and de-icing businesses will be kept 
within Kemira. The businesses sold had a revenue of 
approximately EUR 50 million in 2012. The transaction price 
was EUR 82 million and will impact Kemira’s cash flow 
positively in the first quarter of 2013. 

Revenues other than ChemSolutions are the service 
revenues in Sweden and Finland.

the operative eBit decreased to EUR –11.7 million 
(–1.2). ChemSolutions’ operative EBIT decreased 30% to 
EUR 14.6 million (20.8). The operative EBIT decreased 
mainly due to the higher variable costs of EUR 9 million 
that could not fully be compensated by the respective 
sales price increases. The extended maintenance 
shut-down of ChemSolutions’ formic acid plant in Oulu, 
Finland in the second quarter in 2012 also impacted 
operative EBIT negatively. ChemSolutions’ operative EBIT 
margin decreased to 7.8% (11.3%).

“Other” non-recurring restructuring charges, including 
the “Fit for Growth” program amounted to EUR –34 million 
in 2012 mainly related to the EUR –18 million write-down 
for ChemSolutions’ food and pharmaceutical businesses 
divestment, other asset write-downs, severance payments 
and external services. 

As of January 1, 2013, ChemSolutions will be reported 
as a separate segment together with Paper, Municipal 
& Industrial and Oil & Mining. Revenue other than 
ChemSolutions and all Group expenses will be allocated to 
these four segments on a fixed quota basis, and the unit 
called “Other” will be abolished. Restated figures will be 
publicly available before the first quarter result release on 
April 23, 2013.

parent company’s Financial 
perFormance

As of January 1, 2011, Kemira Oyj has acted as a principal 
for the European business operations. In this business 
model, Kemira Oyj purchases raw material and sells 
products to customers in Europe. Kemira Oyj’s revenue 
decreased to EUR 1,356.0 million (1,365.3) in 2012. The 
EBIT decreased to EUR –38.2 million (86.7). EBIT decreased 
mainly due to the charges related to the “Fit for Growth” 
restructuring program and decline in other operating 
income.

The parent company’s net financial expenses were 
EUR 86.9 million (90.5). Net profit totaled EUR 68.7 million 
(245.6). Capital expenditure totaled EUR 13.4 million 
(216.9), excluding investments in subsidiaries.

Kemira oyj ’s shares and 
shareholders

On December 31, 2012, Kemira Oyj’s share capital 
amounted to EUR 221.8 million and the number of shares 
was 155,342,557. Each share entitles to one vote at the 
Annual General Meeting. 
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OwNERShIP dEC 31, 2012

Corporation 40.6%

Financial and insurance operations 6.7%

General government 15.6%

Housholds 15.4%

Non-profit institutions 4.6%

Non-Finnish shareholders incl. nominee register 17.1%

ShAREhOLdINg By NumBER OF ShARES hELd dEC 31, 2012

number of shares
Number of

shareholders
% of share–

holders
Shares

total
% of shares

and votes

1 –100 6,071 19.9 379,116 0.3

101 – 500 13,275 43.3 3,617,062 2.3

501 –1,000 5,113 16.7 3,823,797 2.5

1,001– 5,000 5,163 16.9 10,459,191 6.7

5,001 –10,000 490 1.6 3,513,213 2.3

10,001 – 50,000 353 1.2 6,796,292 4.4

50,001 –100,000 61 0.2 4,267,767 2.7

100,001 – 500,000 59 0.2 11,672,434 7.5

500,001 –1,000,000 5 0.0 3,580,558 2.3

1,000,001 – 11 0.0 107,233,127 69.0

total 30,601 100.0 155,342,557 100.0

LARgESt ShAREhOLdERS dECEmBER 31, 2012 

shareholder
Number

of shares
% of shares

and votes

1 Oras Invest Ltd 28,278,217 18.2

2 Solidium Oy 25,896,087 16.7

3 Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 11,585,836 7.5

4 Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 6,450,143 4.2

5 Tapiola Mutual Pension Insurance Company 2,600,000 1.7

6 Mandatum Life 2,591,613 1.7

7 Danske Invest funds 1,570,304 1.0

8 Pohjola Fund Management 1,063,779 0.7

9 SEB Gyllenberg funds 799,397 0.5

10 Nordea funds 773,448 0.5

11 Sigrid Jusélius Foundation 730,000 0.5

12 Veritas Pension Insurance Company Ltd. 561,447 0.4

13 The Local Goverment Pensions Institution 426,482 0.3

14 The Finnish Cultural Foundation 405,579 0.3

15 Valio Pension Fund 378,899 0.2

Kemira Oyj 3,301,769 2.1

Nominee-registered and foreign shareholders 26,567,990 17.1

Others, total 41,361,567 26.4

total 155,342,557 100.0
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At the end of December 2012, Kemira Oyj had 
30,601 registered shareholders (31,294 at the end of 
December, 2011). Foreign shareholders held 17.1% of the 
shares (13.8%) including nominee registered holdings. 
Households owned 15.4% of the shares (16.3%). Kemira 
held 3,301,769 treasury shares (3,312,660) representing 
2.1% (2.1%) of all company shares. No shares granted as 
share-based incentives were returned to Kemira during the 
year in accordance with the terms of the incentive plan as 
employment ended.

Kemira Oyj’s share closed at EUR 11.81 at the NASDAQ 
OMX Helsinki at the end of 2012 (9.18%). The share price 
increased 28.6% during the year while OMX Helsinki Cap 
index increased 9.6%. Shares registered a high of EUR 
12.00 (12.67%) and a low of EUR 8.00 (7.80). The average 
share price was EUR 10.10 (10.49%). Kemira’s market 
capitalization, excluding treasury shares, was   
EUR 1,796 million at the end of the year 2012 (1,396). The 
performance of the STOXX Chemicals (Europe), benchmark 
index for Kemira, developed closely in line with the Kemira 
share and increased 30% in 2012.

In 2012, Kemira Oyj’s share trading volume on NASDAQ 
OMX Helsinki decreased 19% to 88.5 million (109.0) shares 
and was valued at EUR 886.7 million (1,113.0). The average 
daily trading volume was 352,397 (430,882) shares. On 
NASDAQ OMX Helsinki stock exchange, the total trading 
volume decreased 29% in 2012 compared to 2011.

In addition to NASDAQ OMX Helsinki, Kemira shares are 
traded on several alternative market places or multilateral 
trading facilities (MTF), for example at BATS Chi-X and 
Turquoise. In 2012, a total of 29.1 million (23.0) Kemira 
Oyj shares were traded at alternative market places, i.e. 
approximately 26.0% (17.5%) of the total amount of 
traded shares executed on-book. (Source: Fidessa) The 
total amount of traded Kemira shares, including trade on 
NASDAQ OMX Helsinki and multilateral trading facilities 
decreased 6% in 2012 compared to 2011.

share-Based incentive plan for the strateGic 
manaGement
In February 2012, Kemira’s Board of Directors decided to 
establish a new share-based incentive plan that follows 
the already terminated 2009–2011 plan aimed at the 
company’s strategic management for the years 2012–2014, 
as part of the company’s incentive and commitment 
schemes. The delivery of share rewards within the 
plan is subject to the achievement of the performance 
targets set by the Board of Directors, which include both 
internal and external performance targets. The internal 
target setting is divided into three one-year performance 
periods: 2012, 2013, and 2014. Payment depends on the 
achievement of the set intrinsic value targets calculated 
from the development of the EBITDA and the development 
of the net debt. The program also includes a three-year 

external goal, which is tied to the relative total shareholder 
return (TSR) performance during 2012–2014. As a guiding 
principle, rewards will only be paid based on excellent 
performance.

The value of the aggregate reward paid out in the 
course of the three-year plan may not exceed 120% of 
CEO’s and 100% of the other participants’ gross salary for 
the same period. The applicable taxes will be deducted 
from the gross earning and the remaining net value is 
delivered to the participants in Kemira shares.

Shares earned through the plan must be held for 
a minimum of two years following each payment. In 
addition, participants of the plan must retain fifty per cent 
of the shares obtained under the plan until their ownership 
of Kemira shares based on shares obtained through the 
share-based incentive programs of Kemira has reached a 
share ownership level which in value equals at least their 
gross annual salary for as long as they remain participants 
in the plan.

The shares transferable under the plan comprise 
treasury shares or Kemira Oyj shares available in public 
trading.

In addition to the share-based incentive plan aimed 
at the strategic management, Kemira has a share-based 
incentive plan aimed at other key employees. The 
participants in the strategic management plan will not 
participate in this plan for the key employees.

The share-based incentive plan for the strategic 
management aims to align the goals of shareholders and 
strategic management in order to increase the value of the 
company, motivate the strategic management, and provide 
competitive shareholder-based incentives.

agm decisions

annual General meetinG
Kemira Oyj’s Annual General Meeting, held on March 21, 
2012, confirmed a dividend of EUR 0.53 per share for 2011. 
The dividend was paid out on April 2, 2012.

The AGM authorized the Board of Directors to decide 
upon repurchase of a maximum of 4,500,000 company’s 
own shares. Shares will be repurchased by using 
unrestricted equity either through a tender offer with 
equal terms to all shareholders at a price determined by 
the Board of Directors or otherwise than in proportion to 
the existing shareholdings of the company’s shareholders 
in public trading on the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd (the 
“Helsinki Stock Exchange”) at the market price quoted at 
the time of the repurchase. The price paid for the shares 
repurchased through a tender offer under the authorization 
shall be based on the market price of the company’s 
shares in public trading. The minimum price to be paid 
would be the lowest market price of the share quoted 
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in public trading during the authorization period and the 
maximum price the highest market price quoted during the 
authorization period. 

Shares shall be acquired and paid for in accordance 
with the Rules of the Helsinki Stock Exchange and Euroclear 
Finland Ltd. Shares may be repurchased to be used in 
implementing or financing mergers and acquisitions, 
developing the company’s capital structure, improving 
the liquidity of the company’s shares or to be used for 
the payment of the annual fee payable to the members 
of the Board of Directors or implementing the company’s 
share-based incentive plans. In order to realize the 
aforementioned purposes, the shares acquired may be 
retained, transferred further or cancelled by the company. 
The Board of Directors will decide upon other terms related 
to share repurchases. The share repurchase authorization 
is valid until the end of the next Annual General Meeting. 
The Board had not exercised its authorization by December 
31, 2012.

The AGM authorized the Board of Directors to decide 
to issue a maximum of 15,600,000 new shares and/
or transfer a maximum of 7,800,000 company’s own 
shares held by the company. The new shares may be 
issued and the company’s own shares held by the 
company may be transferred either for consideration or 
without consideration. The new shares may be issued 
and the company’s own shares held by the company 
may be transferred to the company’s shareholders in 
proportion to their current shareholdings in the company, 
or by disapplying the shareholders’ pre-emption right, 
through a directed share issue, if the company has a 
weighty financial reason to do so, such as financing or 
implementing mergers and acquisitions, developing the 
capital structure of the company, improving the liquidity of 
the company’s shares or if this is justified for the payment 
of the annual fee payable to the members of the Board 
of Directors or implementing the company’s share-based 
incentive plans. The directed share issue may be carried 
out without consideration only in connection with the 
implementation of the company’s share-based incentive 
plan. The subscription price of new shares shall be 
recorded to the invested unrestricted equity reserves. The 
consideration payable for company’s own shares shall be 
recorded to the invested unrestricted equity reserves. The 
Board of Directors will decide upon other terms related to 
the share issues. The share issue authorization is valid until 
May 31, 2013. Based on the decision of the Annual General 
Meeting of Kemira Oyj on March 21, 2012, Kemira Oyj has 
transferred 10,891 shares to the members of the Board of 
Directors as part of remuneration of the Board.

The AGM elected Deloitte & Touche Oy. to serve as 
the company’s auditor, with Jukka Vattulainen, Authorized 
Public Accountant, acting as the principal auditor.

nomination Board
The AGM of Kemira Oyj decided to establish a Nomination 
Board consisting of the shareholders or the representa-
tives of the shareholders to prepare annually a proposal 
for the next AGM concerning the composition and 
remuneration of the Board of Directors. The Nomination 
Board consists of representatives of the four largest 
shareholders of Kemira Oyj based on the situation on 
August 31 preceding the AGM, and the Chairman of 
Kemira’s Board of Directors acts as an expert member.

As of August 31, 2012, the members of the 
Nomination Board are Pekka Paasikivi, Chairman of the 
Board of Oras Invest Oy; Kari Järvinen, Managing Director 
of Solidium Oy; Risto Murto, Executive Vice President, 
Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company; Timo 
Ritakallio, Deputy CEO, Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance 
Company and Jukka Viinanen, Chairman of Kemira’s Board 
of Directors as an expert member. 

corporate governance and 
group structure

Kemira Oyj’s corporate governance is based on the 
Articles of Association, the Finnish Companies Act and 
NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd’s rules and regulations on listed 
companies. Furthermore, the Company complies with 
the Finnish Corporate Governance Code. The company’s 
corporate governance is presented as a separate 
statement on the company’s website. The statement is 
attached to the release publishing the Annual report.

Board of directors
On March 21, 2012, the AGM elected six Board members. 
The AGM reelected members Elizabeth Armstrong, 
Winnie Fok, Juha Laaksonen, Kerttu Tuomas and Jukka 
Viinanen to the Board of Directors and elected Jari 
Paasikivi as a new member. Jukka Viinanen was elected 
as the new Board’s chairman and Jari Paasikivi was 
elected as vice chairman. The remuneration paid to the 
members of the Board remained unchanged. In 2012, the 
Board of Directors met 12 times. The average attendance 
rate was 95%.

Kemira Oyj’s Board of Directors has appointed two 
committees: the Audit Committee and the Compensation 
Committee. The Audit Committee is chaired by Juha 
Laaksonen and has Elizabeth Armstrong and Jari Paasikivi 
as members. In 2012, the Audit Committee met 5 
times with a 100% attendance rate. The Compensation 
Committee is chaired by Jukka Viinanen and has Kerttu 
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Tuomas and Jari Paasikivi as members. In 2012, the 
Compensation Committee met twice with a 100% 
attendance rate. 

chanGes to company manaGement
In October, 2012, Kemira’s Board of Directors appointed 
Wolfgang Büchele (PhD, Chemistry) as Kemira Oyj’s 
President and Chief Executive Officer. Succeeding the 
retiring Harri Kerminen, Wolfgang Büchele started in the 
position on April 1, 2012. Büchele acted as a member of 
Kemira’s Board of Directors since 2009 until March 21, 
2012.

In October 1, 2012, Kemira’s management structure 
was consolidated in connection to an organizational 
change, Management Board lead by the CEO replaced 
the previous Strategic Management and Business 
Management Boards. The Management Board is 
responsible for securing the long-term strategic 
development of the company. The members of the 
Management Board are: Wolfgang Büchele, CEO; 
Petri Helsky, Paper segment and EMEA region; Hannu 
Virolainen, Municipal & Industrial segment and EHSQ; 
Randy Owens, Oil & Mining segment and North America; 
Frank Wegener, ChemSolutions segment; Joe Chan, Asia 
Pacific region; Hilton Casas, South America region; Antti 
Salminen, Supply Chain Management; Jyrki Mäki-Kala, 
CFO; Heidi Fagerholm, CTO and Eeva Salonen, Human 
Resources. Jukka Hakkila, Group General Counsel is acting 
as a secretary to the Management Board.

structure
The acquisitions and divestments made during the year are 
discussed under segment information.

short-term risKs and 
uncertainties

At Kemira, a risk is defined as an event or circumstance, 
which, if it materializes, may affect Kemira’s ability to 
meet its strategic, operational and financial goals in a 
sustainable and ethical way. Kemira’s risk management 
policy and principles proactively protect and help Kemira 
to reach the desired aggregate risk level and ensure the 
continuity of Kemira’s operations.

Kemira’s main short-term risks and uncertainties 
are related to uncertainties in the global economic 
development. A potential low-growth period in the 
global GDP would have a negative impact on the demand 
for Kemira’s products, especially in the Paper and Oil & 
Mining segments, and it could also delay some future 
growth projects. Weak economic development may 

also have serious effects on the liquidity of Kemira’s 
customers, which could result in increased credit losses 
for Kemira. The prices of many raw materials decrease 
in the unfavorable market conditions but the availability 
and price risk related to some of Kemira’s raw materials 
may increase. Kemira’s geographical and customer-
industry diversity provides only partial protection against 
this risk.

The continuous improvement of the profitability is a 
crucial element of Kemira’s strategy. Significant increases 
in raw material, commodity or logistic costs could place 
Kemira’s profitability targets at risk. For instance, high oil 
and electricity prices could materially weaken Kemira’s 
profitability. Changes in the raw material supplier field, 
such as consolidation or decreasing capacity, may 
increase raw material prices. Poor availability of raw 
materials may affect Kemira’s production if the company 
fails to prepare for this by mapping out alternative 
suppliers or opportunities for process changes. Raw 
material and commodity risks can be effectively 
monitored and managed with Kemira’s centralized Supply 
Chain Management function (SCM).

The lack of suitable and reliable partners for 
collaboration may slow down the development of an 
efficient business model in Asia. Development of the 
new products and their successful commercialization are 
crucial factors for Kemira’s growth efforts in Asia, and 
possible failure in these is a considerable risk for the 
company’s strategy.

The development of a profitable business in Asia 
can also be threatened by difficulties related to the 
intellectual property rights and by local competitors. 
The growth and development of a profitable business 
model in Asia comes under risk if Kemira is not successful 
in hiring, inducting and managing to retain skilled and 
motivated employees. In line with its strategy, Kemira 
pays particular attention to the development of its 
operations and risk management in Asia. In practice, the 
risk management is executed by Kemira’s organization in 
the Asia-Pacific (APAC) region.

Kemira holds assigned emissions allowances under 
the EU Emissions Trading System at one site in Sweden. 
In addition, the Oulu plants in Finland submitted a permit 
application to the authorities concerning emission.

Changes in the exchange rates of key currencies can 
affect Kemira’s financials.

A detailed account of Kemira’s risk management 
principles and organization is available on the company

website at http://www.kemira.com. An account of 
the financial risks is available in the Notes to the Financial

Statements 2012. Environmental and hazard risks 
are discussed in Kemira’s Sustainability Report that will 
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be published as part of the Kemira Annual Report 2012 
during the week beginning on February 25, 2013.

events aFter the review 
period

proposals of the nomination Board to the 
annual General meetinG 2013
Kemira’s Nomination Board proposed to the 2013 Annual 
General Meeting of Kemira Oyj that five members be 
elected to the Board of Directors and that the present 
members Winnie Fok, Juha Laaksonen, Jari Paasikivi, Kerttu 
Tuomas and Jukka Viinanen be re-elected as members of 
the Board of Directors. The Nomination Board proposes 
Jukka Viinanen to be re-elected as Chairman of the Board 
of Directors and Jari Paasikivi to be re-elected as Vice 
Chairman.

The Nomination Board proposed to the Annual General 
Meeting that the remuneration paid to the members of 
the Board of Directors would remain unchanged, except 
that the annual fee payable to the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee, when he is not the Chairman or Vice Chairman 
of the Board of Directors, was proposed to be increased 
to EUR 45,000 from EUR 36,000 payable to the other 
members of the Board of Directors. The reason for this 
proposal was the big workload of the Chairman of the 
Audit Committee.

The remuneration paid to the members of the Board 
of Directors would thus be as follows. The annual fees: for 
the Chairman EUR 74,000 per year, for the Vice Chairman 
and the Chairman of the Audit Committee EUR 45,000 per 
year and for the other members EUR 36,000 per year. A fee 
payable for each meeting of the Board of Directors and the 
Board Committees would be for the members residing in 
Finland EUR 600, for the members residing in other parts 
of Europe EUR 1,200 and for the members residing outside 
of Europe EUR 2,400. Travel expenses were proposed to be 
paid according to Kemira’s travel policy.  

In addition, the Nomination Board proposed to the 
Annual General Meeting that the annual fee be paid as 
a combination of the company’s shares and cash in such 
a manner that 40% of the annual fee is paid with the 
company’s shares owned by the company or, if this is not 
possible, with the shares purchased from the market, 
and 60% is paid in cash. The shares will be transferred to 
the members of the Board of Directors and, if necessary, 
acquired directly on behalf of the members of the Board 
of Directors within two weeks from the release of Kemira’s 
interim report in January 1–March 31, 2013. The meeting 
fees were proposed to be paid in cash.

dividend
On December 31, 2012, Kemira Oyj’s distributable funds 
totaled EUR 621,334,254 net profit, which accounted for 
EUR 68,680,078 for the period. No material changes have 
taken place in the company’s financial position after the 
balance sheet date.

Kemira Oyj’s Board of Directors proposes to the Annual 
General Meeting to be held on March 26, 2013 that a 
dividend of EUR 0.53 totaling EUR 81 million shall be paid 
on the basis of the adopted balance sheet for the financial 
year ended December 31, 2012.

outlooK and restructuring 
program “Fit For growth”

Kemira will continue to focus on improving its profitability 
and reinforcing positive cash flow. The company will also 
continue to invest in order to secure the future growth in 
the water quality and quantity management business. 

Kemira’s financial targets remain as earlier 
communicated. The company’s medium term financial 
targets are:

• revenue growth in mature markets > 3% per year, and in 
emerging markets > 7% per year 

• EBIT, % of revenue > 10%
• positive cash flow after investments and dividends 
• gearing level < 60%.

The basis for growth is the expanding market for chemicals 
related to water quantity and quality management and 
Kemira’s strong know-how in this field. Increasing water 
shortage, tightening legislation and customers’ needs 
to increase operational efficiency create opportunities 
for Kemira to develop new water applications for both 
current and new customers. Investment in research and 
development is a central part of Kemira’s strategy. The 
focus of Kemira’s research and development activities is on 
the development and commercialization of new innovative 
technologies for Kemira’s customers in all relevant markets. 

restructurinG proGram “fit for Growth”
Kemira Oyj has started to implement its global 
restructuring program “Fit for Growth”, launched at the 
end of July, 2012, to improve the company’s profitability, 
its internal efficiency and to accelerate the growth 
in emerging markets without sacrificing business 
opportunities in the mature markets. The cost savings 
target with the planned program is EUR 60 million on an 
annualized basis. In 2012, the cost savings impact of “Fit 
for Growth” was EUR 10 million.



158

Kemira 2012 Board of Directors’ Review 2012

The anticipated EUR 60 million cost saving impact 
of the program is expected to take place as follows: 
EUR 10 million in 2012, EUR 50 million in 2013 and 
EUR 60 million in 2014. The ultimate goal of the 
program is to reach at least 10% EBIT margin in 2014. 
Redundancies will account for 50% of the expected 
savings. The remaining 50% will be achieved through 
the manufacturing network consolidation as well as 
through the leaner operations. Cost savings estimates 
for the different segments, based on the detailed plan 
of measures, are: Paper EUR 22 million, Municipal & 
Industrial EUR 22 million, Oil & Mining EUR 12 million and 
ChemSolutions EUR 4 million.

Non-recurring charges related to the restructuring 
program are estimated to be around EUR 85 million, 
EUR45 million of which will be severance payments and 
external services related cost and EUR 40 million will be 
asset write-downs. EUR 71 million of the restructuring 
charges were booked in the second half of 2012, and the 
balance will be booked in the first half of 2013. In the 
fourth quarter in 2012 non-recurring charges related to “Fit 
for Growth” amounted to EUR 31 million, EUR 8 million of 
which were asset write-downs and EUR 23 million were 
severance payments and external services. 

The implementation may ultimately lead to a reduction 
of up to 600 positions globally. Kemira has initiated the 
co-determination negotiations according to each country’s 
local legislation. In the beginning of the negotiations, it 
was estimated that the personnel reductions may affect 
approximately 260 employees working in Finland. As a 
result of the co-determination negotiations, the head 
count reduction was 152 in Finland. Additional potential 

outsourcing in Finland is still under consideration. Kemira 
had 4,857 employees worldwide at the end of December 
2012 (5,006 at the end of 2011). 

outlooK
In 2013, Kemira expects its revenue in local currencies and 
excluding divestments to be slightly higher than in 2012 
and its operative EBIT to be significantly higher than in 
2012. The guidance for 2013 is defined as follows.

Kemira guidance definition

Slightly higher/lower from 0% to 5% or from 0% to –5%

Higher/lower from 5% to 15% or from –5% to –15%

Significantly higher/
lower

more than 15% or less than –15%

helsinki, february 6, 2013

Kemira oyj
Board of directors

All forward-looking statements in this review are based on 
the management’s current expectations and beliefs about 
future events, and actual results may differ materially from 
the expectations and beliefs such statements contain.
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2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

INCOmE StAtEmENt ANd PROFItABILIty

Revenue, EUR million 1) 2,241 2,207 2,161 1,970 2,833

Operating profit, EUR million 2) 32 158 156 110 74

% of revenue 1 7 7 6 3

Share of profit or loss of associates, EUR million 1) 2) 11 31 9 –5 –3

Finance income and costs (net), EUR million 1) 16 21 27 38 69

% of revenue 1 1 1 2 2

Interest cover 1) 2) 11 12 10 5 4

Profit before tax, EUR million 1) 27 168 138 67 2

% of revenue 1 8 6 3 0

Net profit for the period (attributable to equity owners of 
the parent), EUR million 1) 17 136 111 54 –2

Return on investment (ROI), % 3 9 7 7 4

Return of equity (ROE), % 1 10 9 7 0

Return on capital employed (ROCE), % 3 11 10 8 3

Research and development expenses, EUR million 1) 42 40 42 37 71

% of revenue 2 2 2 2 3

CASh FLOw

Net cash generated from operating activities, EUR million 176 178 133 288 90

Disposals of subsidiaries and property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets, EUR million 30 137 –6 2 254

Capital expenditure, EUR million 134 201 107 86 342

% of revenue 6 9 5 3 12

Cash flow after capital expenditure, EUR million 72 115 169 202 3

Cash flow return on capital invested (CFROI), % 8 8 6 12 4

BALANCE ShEEt ANd SOLVENCy

Non-current assets, EUR million 1,709 1,846 1,862 1,886 1,906

Shareholders’ equity (Equity attributable to equity owners of 
the parent), EUR million 1,302 1,358 1,340 1,250 963

Total equity, EUR million 1,315 1,371 1,366 1,269 976

Total liabilities, EUR million 1,163 1,306 1,178 1,548 1,884

Total assets, EUR million 2,489 2,677 2,544 2,817 2,860

Interest-bearing net liabilities, EUR million 532 516 536 676 1,049

Equity ratio, % 53 51 54 45 34

Gearing, % 40 38 39 53 107

Interest-bearing net liabilities / EBITDA 3.0 2.0 1.9 2.5 4.3

PERSONNEL 

Personnel (average) 5,043 5,006 5,608 8,843 9,954

of whom in Finland 1,173 1,145 1,241 1,929 2,659

EXChANgE RAtES 

Key exchange rates (December 31) 

USD 1.319 1.294 1.336 1.441 1.392

SEK 8.582 8.912 8.966 10.252 10.870

BRL 2.704 2.416 2.217 2.511 3.244
1) The financial figures for 2010 and 2009 are presented without the spin-off effect of Tikkurila.  

2) Share of profit or loss of associates is presented after finance expenses.

Group Key figures

Financial Figures
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Capital expenditure 
by character, %

Maintenance 27%
Improvement 29%
Expansion 44%

Revenue by region, %

Finaland, domicile of the 
parent company 14%
Europe, Middle-East and Africa 41%
North America 31%
Latin America 8%
Asia Pacific 6%

Capital expenditure 
by segment, %

Paper 50%
Municipal & Industrial 16%
Oil & Mining 12%
Other 12%

* Excluding Tikkurila 2009 and 2010

Earnings per share (EUR)*

-0.10

0.40

0.73
0.89

0.11

2008
2009
2010
2011
2012

-0.50

0.00

0.50

1.00

Operating expenses, %

Material and services and 
change in inventories 60%
Personnel expenses 17%
Other expenses 23%

* The dividend for 2012 is the Board 
of Directorsʼ proposal to the Annual
General Meeting.

Dividend per share (EUR)*

0.23 0.27

0.48
0.53 0.53

2008
2009
2010
2011
2012

0.00

0.25

0.50

0.75

Gearing %

Comfort zone
Interest bearing liabilities divided by equity

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
0

25

50

75

100

125

* Excluding Tikkurila 2009 and 2010

Net liabilities and financial expenses*

Interest bearing net liabilities (EURm)
Net financial expenses 
(% share of interest bearing net liabilities)

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
0

250

500

750

1,000

1,250

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

1,049

676

536 516 532

Cash flow (EUR million)

Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash flow after investments

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
0

100

200

300

400
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2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

PER ShARE FIguRES

Earnings per share, continuing operations, 
basic, EUR 1) 3) 0.11 0.89 0.73 0.40

Earnings per share, basic, EUR 1) 3) 0.11 0.89 4.23 0.61 –0.01

Earnings per share, continuing operations, 
diluted, EUR 1) 3) 0.11 0.89 0.73 0.40

Earnings per share, diluted, EUR 1) 3) 0.11 0.89 4.23 0.61 –0.01

Cash flow from operations per share, EUR 1) 3) 1.16 1.17 0.88 2.13 0.68

Dividend per share, EUR 1) 2) 3) 4) 0.53 0.53 0.48 0.27 0.23

Dividend payout ratio, % 1) 2) 3) 4) 481.8 59.4 65.7 44.3 –1,634.2

Dividend yield 1) 2) 4) 4.5 5.8 4.1 2.6 4.2

Equity per share, EUR 1) 8.56 8.94 8.83 8.25 7.94

Price per earnings per share (P/E ratio) 1) 3) 107.36 10.28 16.01 17.14 –388.28

Price per equity per share 1) 3) 1.38 1.03 1.33 1.26 0.75

Price per cash flow per share 1) 3) 10.18 7.85 13.34 4.87 7.98

Dividend paid, EUR million 2) 4) 80.6 80.6 72.8 41.0 30.3

ShARE PRICE ANd tuRNOVER 

Share price, year high, EUR 3) 12.00 12.67 13.19 11.63 13.43

Share price, year low, EUR 3) 8.00 7.80 7.89 3.87 4.93

Share price, year average, EUR 3) 10.10 10.49 10.15 7.64 7.91

Share price, end of year, EUR 3) 11.81 9.18 11.70 10.39 5.40

Number of shares traded (1,000) 88,346 109,013 115,850 83,792 117,397

% on number of shares 57 70 75 54 97

Market capitalization, end of year, EUR million 1,795.6 1,395.6 1,775.3 1,574.0 719.9

NumBER OF ShARES ANd ShARE CAPItAL

Average number of shares, basic, (1,000) 1) 152,037 151,994 151,697 134,824 121,191

Average number of shares, diluted, (1,000) 1) 152,173 152,152 152,017 135,085 121,191

Number of shares at end of year, basic, (1,000) 1) 152,041 152,030 151,735 151,488 121,191

Number of shares at end of year, diluted (1,000) 1) 152,090 152,030 152,055 151,748 121,191

Increase in number of shares (1,000) 11 295 247 30,298 –

Share capital, EUR million 221.8 221.8 221.8 221.8 221.8
1) Number of shares outstanding, excluding the number of shares bought back.
2) The total cash dividend payout during 2010 for the financial year 2009 was EUR 41.0 million (EUR 0.27 per share), in addition to Tikkurila shares which were 
distributed as a dividend to a total amount of EUR 599.3 million (EUR 3.95 per shares). Kemira distributed to its shareholders as dividend  a total of 37,933,097 
shares in Tikkurila. The purchase price of Tikkurila’s share was EUR 15.80. Tikkurila’s shares were distributed as a dividend to the shareholders. Each Kemira’s four 
shares entitled one Tikkurila’s share as dividend. The share figures based on dividend are calculated in accordance with cash dividend. 

3) Rights offering restatements.

4) The dividend for 2012 is the Board of Director’s proposal to the Annual General Meeting. 

Group Key figures

per share Figures
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EARNINgS PER ShARE (EPS)

Net profit attributable to equity owners of the parent

Average number of shares

CASh FLOw FROm OPERAtIONS

Cash flow from operations, after change in net working
capital and before investing activities

CASh FLOw FROm OPERAtIONS PER ShARE

Cash flow from operations

Average number of shares

dIVIdENd PER ShARE

Dividend paid

Number of shares at end of year

dIVIdENd PAyOut RAtIO

Dividend per share x 100

Earnings per share (EPS)

dIVIdENd yIELd

Dividend per share x 100

Share price at end of year

EQuIty PER ShARE

Equity attributable to equity owners of the parent at end of year

Number of shares at end of year

ShARE PRICE, yEAR AVERAgE

Share traded (EUR)

Share traded (volume)

PRICE PER EARNINgS PER ShARE (P/E)

Share price at end of year

Earnings per share (EPS)

PRICE PER EQuIty PER ShARE

Share price at end of year

Equity per share attributable to equity owners of the parent

PRICE PER CASh FLOw PER ShARE

Share price at end of year

Cash flow from operations per share

ShARE tuRNOVER, %

Number of share traded x 100

Weighted average number of shares

INtERESt-BEARINg NEt LIABILItIES

Interest-bearing liabilities – cash and cash equivalents

EQuIty RAtIO, %

Total equity x 100

Total assets – prepayments received

gEARINg, %

Interest-bearing net liabilities x 100

Total equity

INtERESt COVER 

Operating profit + depreciation, amortization and impairments

Net financial expenses

REtuRN ON INVEStmENtS (ROI), %

(Profit before taxes + interest expenses + other financial expenses) x 100

(Total assets – non-interest bearing liabilities) 1)

REtuRN ON EQuIty (ROE), %

Net profit attributable to equity owners of the parent x 100

Equity attributable to equity owners of the parent 1)

CASh FLOw REtuRN ON INVEStmENt (CFROI), %

Cash flow from operations x 100

(Total assets – interest-free liabilities) 1) 

REtuRN ON CAPItAL EmPLOyEd (ROCE), %

Operating profit + share of profit or loss of associates x 100

Capital employed 1) 2) 

CAPItAL tuRNOVER

Revenue

Capital employed 1) 2) 

INtERESt-BEARINg NEt LIABILItIES / EBItdA

Interest-bearing net liabilities

Operating profit + depreciation, impairments and reversal of impairments

NEt FINANCIAL COSt, %

(Net financial expenses – dividend income – exchange rate differences) x 100

Interest-bearing net liabilities 1)

1) Average
2) Capital employed = Net working capital + property and equipment available for use + 
intangible assets + investments in associates 
 

definitions of Key figures

per share Figures Financial Figures
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consolidated income statement (ifrs)

year ended 31 december

Note 2012 2011

revenue 2 2,240.9 2,207.2

Other operating income 3 13.8 22.5

Operating expenses 4, 5 –2,076.2 –1,970.1

Depreciation, amortization and impairment 6, 11, 12, 13 –146.8 –101.3

operating profit 31.7 158.3

Finance income 7 15.1 10.8

Finance costs 7 –30.8 –33.1

Exchange differences 7 0.0 1.4

Finance costs, net 7 –15.7 –20.9

Share of profit or loss of associates 2, 8 11.2 31.0

profit before tax 27.2 168.4

Income tax expense 9 –5.7 –28.1

net profit for the period 21.5 140.3

profit attributable to:

Equity owners of the parent 16.8 135.6

Non-controlling interests 4.7 4.7

net profit for the period 21.5 140.3

earnings per share for profit attributable to the equity 
owners of the parent company (in eur per share) 

Basic and diluted 10 0.11 0.89

The notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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consolidated statement of comprehensive income (ifrs)

year ended 31 december

Note 2012 2011

net profit for the period 21.5 140.3

other comprehensive income

Available-for-sale financial assets 5.4 –24.1

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 2.3 –4.6

Net investment hedge in foreign operations 0.0 0.4

Cash flow hedges –1.0 –14.5

other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax 9, 19 6.7 –42.8

total comprehensive income for the period 28.2 97.5

total comprehensive income attributable to: 

Equity owners of the parent 22.8 93.8

Non-controlling interests 5.4 3.7

total comprehensive income for the period 28.2 97.5

Items in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income are disclosed net of tax. The income tax relating to each 
component of other comprehensive income is disclosed in Note 9.

The notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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consolidated Balance sheet (ifrs)
as at 31 december

Note 2012 2011

ASSEtS
NON-CuRRENt ASSEtS
Goodwill 11 522.5 606.0
Other intangible assets 12 60.5 67.5
Property, plant and equipment 13 655.9 656.0
Investments in associates 8 122.8 158.8
Available-for-sale financial assets 14, 15 264.0 256.5
Deferred income tax assets 22 29.7 47.3
Other investments 9.8 9.7
Defined benefit pension receivables 23 43.6 44.3
total non-current assets 1,708.8 1,846.1
CuRRENt ASSEtS
Inventories 16 181.9 228.2
Interest-bearing receivables 15, 17 0.3 0.5
Trade and other receivables 15, 17 353.1 391.2
Current income tax assets  18.9 24.7
Cash and cash equivalents 29 132.7 185.8

total current assets 686.9 830.4

Non-current assets classified as held-for-sale 18 93.3 0.0

total assets 2,489.0 2,676.5

EQuIty ANd LIABILItIES

EQuIty 19

equity attributable to equity owners of the parent
Share capital 221.8 221.8

Other equity 1,079.8 1,136.7
equity attributable to equity owners of the parent 1,301.6 1,358.5
non-controlling interests 13.2 12.3
total equity 1,314.8 1,370.8
NON-CuRRENt LIABILItIES
Interest-bearing liabilities 15, 20, 21 387.5 464.5
Other liabilities 15 21.4 0.0
Deferred income tax liabilities 22 43.8 86.5
Pension liabilities 23 54.9 52.4
Provisions 24 21.8 50.3
total non-current liabilities 529.4 653.7
CuRRENt LIABILItIES
Interest-bearing current liabilities 15, 20, 21 277.2 237.1
Trade payables and other liabilities 15, 25 315.5 383.8
Current income tax liabilities 17.3 24.8
Provisions 24 23.8 6.3
total current liabilities   633.8 652.0

Liabilities directly associated with the assets classified as held-for-sale 18 11.0 0.0

total liabilities 1,174.2 1,305.7

total equity and liabilities 2,489.0 2,676.5

The notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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consolidated statement of cash flow (ifrs)
year ended 31 december

Note 2012 2011

CASh FLOw FROm OPERAtINg ACtIVItIES

Net profit for the period 21.5 140.3

Adjustments for

Depreciation, amortization and impairment 6, 11, 12, 13 146.8 101.3

Income taxes 9 5.7 28.1

Finance expenses, net 7 15.7 20.9

Share of profit or loss of associates 8 –11.2 –31.0

Other non-cash income and expenses not involving cash flow 40.8 –27.0

operating profit before change in working capital 219.3 232.6

change in working capital  

Increase ( – ) / decrease (+) in inventories 26.3 –24.6

Increase ( – ) / decrease (+) in trade and other receivables 17.2 –35.5

Increase (+) / decrease ( – ) in trade payables and other liabilities –64.6 57.4

change in working capital –21.1 –2.7

cash generated from operations 198.2 229.9

Interest and other finance cost paid –28.7 –34.1

Interest and other finance income received 8.0 7.5

Realized exchange gains and losses 13.4 10.5

Dividends received 15.6 1.3

Income taxes paid –30.2 –37.4

net cash generated from operating activities 176.3 177.7

CASh FLOw FROm INVEStINg ACtIVItIES

Purchases of available-for-sale financial assets –0.4 –102.8

Purchases of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets –133.7 –98.3

Change in long-term loan receivables decrease (+) / increase ( – ) –0.2 1.6

Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed 26 0.0 1.7

Paid-in-capital from associates 26.8 11.7

Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale financial assets 0.0 96.9

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 3.0 26.8

net cash used in investing activities –104.5 –62.4

CASh FLOw FROm FINANCINg ACtIVItIES

Proceeds from non-current interest-bearing liabilities (+) 1.6 16.0

Repayment from non-current interest-bearing liabilities ( – ) –81.5 –103.3

Short-term financing, net increase (+) / decrease ( – ) 43.3 154.6

Dividends paid –85.1 –77.8

Purchases of non-controlling interests 0.0 –13.2

Other finance items –0.9 –0.5

net cash used in financing activities –122.6 –24.2

net decrease ( – ) / increase (+) in cash and cash equivalents –50.8 91.1

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 132.7 185.8

Exchange gains (+) / losses ( – ) on cash and cash equivalents 2.3 –2.9

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 185.8 91.8

net decrease ( – ) / increase (+) in cash and cash equivalents –50.8 91.1

The notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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consolidated statement of changes in equity (ifrs)
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equity at january 1, 2011 221.8 257.9 125.0 196.3 –21.3 –24.2 584.4 1,339.9 25.9 1,365.8

Net profit for the period 135.7 135.7 4.6 140.3

Other comprehensive 
income, net of tax –38.6 –3.3 –41.9 –0.9 –42.8

total comprehensive income –38.6 –3.3 135.7 93.8 3.7 97.5

transactions with owners

Dividends paid –73.0 –73.0 –4.8 –77.8

Treasury shares issued to 
target group of share-based 
incentive plan 1.9 1.9 1.9

Share-based payments –0.9 –0.9 –0.9

Changes due to business 
combinations –2.9 –2.9 –12.5 –15.4

Transfers in equity 2.9 –2.9 0.0 0.0

Other changes –0.3 –0.3 –0.3

transactions with owners 2.9 1.9 –80.0 –75.2 –17.3 –92.5

equity at december 31, 2011 221.8 257.9 89.3 196.3 –24.6 –22.3 640.1 1,358.5 12.3 1,370.8

equity at january 1, 2012 221.8 257.9 89.3 196.3 –24.6 –22.3 640.1 1,358.5 12.3 1,370.8

Net profit for the period 16.8 16.8 4.7 21.5

Other comprehensive 
income, net of tax 4.4 1.6 6.0 0.7 6.7

total comprehensive income 4.4 1.6 16.8 22.8 5.4 28.2

transactions with owners

Dividends paid –80.6 –80.6 –4.5 –85.1

 
Treasury shares issued to 
target group of shareholders 
based on incentive plan 0.1 0.1 0.1

Share-based payments 0.8 0.8 0.8

Transfers in equity –0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0

transactions with owners –0.1 0.1 –79.7 –79.7 –4.5 –84.2

equity at december 31, 2012 221.8 257.9 93.7 196.3 –23.1 –22.2 577.2 1,301.6 13.2 1,314.8

The notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. the group’s accounting 
policies For the consolidated 
Financial statements
company profile
Kemira is an international chemicals group that consists of 
four segments: Paper, Municipal & Industrial, Oil & Mining 
and Other. The Group’s main clients are industries that use 
a lot of water. Kemira offers solutions for water quality and 
volume management that help improve customers’ energy, 
water and raw material efficiency. Kemira’s vision is to be a 
leading water chemicals company. 

The Group’s parent company is Kemira Oyj. The parent 
company is domiciled in Helsinki, Finland, and its registered 
address is Porkkalankatu 3, FI-00180 Helsinki, Finland. The 
parent company is listed on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki. A copy 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements is available at 
www.kemira.com. The Board of Directors of Kemira Oyj 
has approved the Financial Statements for publication at its 
meeting on February 6, 2013. The annual general meeting 
can change the Financial Statements after their approval.

Basis of preparation
The Group has prepared its Consolidated Financial 
Statements in accordance with IAS and IFRS (International 
Financial Reporting Standards) and the related SIC and IFRIC 
interpretations, issued by the IASB (International Accounting 
Standards Board). In the Finnish Accounting Act and the 
statutes under it, the International Financial Reporting 
Standards refer to the endorsed standards and their interpre-
tations under the European Union Regulation No. 1606/2002, 
regarding the adoption of the International Financial 
Reporting Standards applicable within the Community. 
The Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements also 
comply with the requirements of the Finnish accounting and 
corporate legislation, which supplement the IFRS regulations.

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been 
prepared based on historical cost unless otherwise stated in 
the accounting policies below. Among the items measured 
at fair value are available-for-sale financial assets, financial 
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, and 
share-based payments on their grant date. The Consolidated 
Financial Statements are presented in euro, which is the 
parent company’s functional currency, and in million euro.

chanGes in accountinG policies and 
disclosures

new and amended ifrss adopted in 2012
The following new and revised IFRSs have been adopted in 
these consolidated financial statements. The application of 

these new and revised IFRSs has not had any material impact 
on the amounts reported for the current and prior years but 
may affect the accounting for future transactions and events.

• Amendment to IAS 12 Income Taxes (effective for 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012). 
IAS 12 earlier required an entity to measure the deferred 
tax relating to an asset depending on whether the entity 
expects to recover the carrying amount of the asset 
through use (i.e. rental income) or sale. According to the 
amendment the investment properties measured at fair 
value are expected to recover their carrying amount 
through sale.

• Amendment to IFRS 7 Financial instruments– Disclosures 
(effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 July 2011). The amendment  provides greater 
transparency  around the disclosure requirements 
for transactions involving transfers of the financial 
instruments and increases the understanding of risks 
associated with financial instruments and the risks’ effect 
on financial position of the entity, particularly those 
involving securitisation of financial assets.

application of new and revised ifrss in  
issue but not yet effective

IASB has published the following new or revised standards 
and interpretations which the Group has not yet adopted. 
The Group will adopt each standard and interpretation 
as from the effective date, or if the effective date is 
other than the first day of the reporting period, from the 
beginning of the next reporting period after the effective 
date. The effects of these new and amended standards are 
under investigation.
 
• Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 

(effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 
2012). The main change is the requirement for grouping 
items in ‘other comprehensive income’ based on whether 
they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss as certain 
conditions are fulfilled. The amendments only have an 
impact on the presentation of the Kemira’s Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

• Amendment to IAS 19 Employee Benefits (effective for 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013). 
The amendments state that all actuarial gains and losses 
are immediately recognised through other comprehensive 
income, in other words, the corridor approach is eliminated 
and financial cost is determined on net funding basis. 
The amendment to IAS 19 will increase the Group’s net 
liabilities of defined benefit plans in the balance sheet by 
approximately EUR 60 million in the first quarter of 2013.
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• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective for reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2015). IFRS 9 project is the 
first phase of a wider project which aims to replace IAS 39 
with a new standard. According to IFRS 9, financial assets 
are classified and measured based on entity’s business 
model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 
financial asset. Classification and measurement of financial 
liabilities is mainly based on the current IAS 39 principles. 
Impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting are 
the most significant uncompleted parts of IFRS 9. The 
standard has not yet been endorsed by EU. The Group 
is yet to assess IFRS 9’s full impact.  The Group will also 
consider the impact of the remaining phases of IFRS 9 
when completed by the Board.

• IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (effective 
for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013). The standard establishes control as the base for 
consolidation. Additionally, the standard provides further 
guidance on how to apply principles of control when it is 
challenging to assess.  According to the EU endorsement 
the standard is effective for reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2014, but earlier application is also 
permitted. The Group is yet to assess IFRS 10’s full impact 
and intends to adopt IFRS 10 in 2014.

• IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (effective for reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013). The 
standard emphases the rights and obligations of the joint 
arrangement rather than its legal form in the accounting. 
The arrangements are divided into two: joint operations 
and joint ventures. The standard requires joint ventures 
to be accounted for using equity method of accounting. 
Proportional consolidation of joint ventures is no longer 
allowed.  According to the EU endorsement the standard 
is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2014, but earlier application is also permitted. 
The Group is yet to assess IFRS 11’s full impact and intends 
to adopt IFRS 11 in 2014.

• IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (effective 
for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013).  The standard includes disclosure requirements 
for all forms of interests in other entities, including joint 
arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and 
other, off balance sheet vehicles. According to the EU 
endorsement the standard is effective for reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, but earlier 
application is also permitted. The Group is yet to assess 
IFRS 12’s full impact and intends to adopt IFRS 12 in 2014.

• IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (effective for reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013). The 
standard aims to increase uniformity by providing specific 
definition for fair value. It also provides both requirements 
for determining fair value and the required disclosures 
under the same standard. The requirements do not extend 
the use of fair value accounting but provide guidance on 

how it should be applied where its use is already required 
or permitted by other standards. The Group is yet to assess 
the full impact of the new standard.

• IAS 27 (revised 2011) Separate Financial Statements 
(effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2013).  The revised standard includes the 
requirements for separate financial statements that 
are left after the control provisions of IAS 27 have 
been included in the new IFRS 10. According to the EU 
endorsement the standard is effective for reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, but earlier 
application is also permitted. The Group is yet to assess 
the full impact of the revised standard.

• IAS 28 (revised 2011) Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures (effective for reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2013). The revised standard includes 
requirements for both joint operations and associates to 
be accounted by using equity method of accounting after 
IFRS 11 was issued. According to the EU endorsement 
the standard is effective for reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2014, but earlier application is also 
permitted. The Group is yet to assess the full impact of the 
revised standard.

• Amendment to IAS 32 Financial instruments: Presentation 
(effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2014) and amendment to IFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures (effective for reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013). These amendments 
are intended to clarify existing offsetting rules and to 
require additional disclosure information about rights of 
offset in certain specific circumstances. The Group is yet to 
assess the full impact of the amendment.

• Amendment to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, 
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements and IFRS 12 Disclosure 
of Interests in Other Entities (effective for reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013). The 
amendment provides additional transition relief by 
limiting the requirement to provide adjusted comparative 
information to only the preceding comparative period. 
Also, amendments to IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 eliminate the 
requirement to provide comparative information for 
periods prior to the immediately preceding period. The 
standard has not yet been endorsed by EU. The Group is 
yet to assess the full impact of the amendment.

• Amendment to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, 
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities and IAS 
27 Separate Financial Statements (effective for reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014). The 
amendment provides ‘investment entities’ (as defined) an 
exemption from the consolidation of particular subsidiaries 
and instead require that an investment entity measure the 
investment in each eligible subsidiary at fair value through 
profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9 or IAS 39. The 
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standard has not yet been endorsed by EU. The Group is 
yet to assess the full impact of the amendment.

• Annual Improvements to IFRS 2009–2011, May 2012 
(effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2013). In the annual improvement process 
the non-urgent but necessary amendments to IFRS are 
collected and issued annually. The improvements concern 
five standards. The nature of the improvements depends 
on the standards, but they do not have material impact on 
the consolidated financial statements. The standard has 
not yet been endorsed by EU. The Group is yet to assess 
the full impact of the amendments.

consolidation

subsidiaries
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the parent 
company and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are all entities over 
which the Group has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding 
of more than one half of the voting rights. The Group also 
assesses the existence of control in cases it possesses less 
than 50% of the voting rights but is able to govern the 
financial and operating policies by virtue of de-facto control.

Divested companies are consolidated until the date when 
such control ceases, and companies acquired during the year 
are included from the date on the control is transferred to 
the Group.

All intra-group transactions are eliminated. Intra-group 
shareholdings are eliminated by using the acquisition 
method. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of 
a subsidiary is defined as an aggregate of the fair values of 
the assets transferred, the liabilities assumed and the equity 
interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred 
may include the fair value of any asset or liability resulting 
from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a 
business combination are measured at their fair values at the 
acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the 
Group recognizes any non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

The amount that exceeds that aggregate of 
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value 
of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the 
fair value of the Group’s share of the net assets acquired is 
recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the 
net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain 
purchase, the difference is recognized directly in the income 
statement.

Net profit or loss for the financial year and other 
comprehensive income attributable to the equity holders of 

the parent and non-controlling interests are presented in the 
income statement and in the statement of comprehensive 
income. The portion of equity attributable to non-con-
trolling interests is stated as an individual item separately 
from equity to the equity holders of the parent. Total 
comprehensive income shows separately the total amounts 
attributable to the equity holders of the parent and to non-
controlling interests. The Group recognizes negative non-
controlling interests, unless non-controlling interests have a 
binding obligation to cover losses up to the amount of their 
investment. 

If the parent company’s ownership interest in a 
subsidiary is reduced but the control retains, the transactions 
are treated as equity transactions. When the Group ceases to 
have control or significant influence, any retained interest in 
the entity is remeasured to its fair value, and the change in 
the carrying amount recognized in profit or loss.

The Group has applied previous provisions valid at the 
time to the business combinations having occurred prior to 
January 1, 2010.

associates
Associated companies are companies over which the 
Group exercises significant influence (voting rights 
generally being 20–50 percent). Holdings in associated 
companies are consolidated using the equity method. 
The Group’s share of the associated companies’ net profit 
for the financial year is stated as a separate item in the 
consolidated income statement after operating profit, in 
proportion to the Group’s holdings. The Group’s share of its 
associates’ movements in other comprehensive income is 
recognized in Group’s other comprehensive income. If the 
Group’s share of an associate’s losses exceeds the carrying 
amount of the investment, the exceeding losses will not 
be consolidated unless the Group has a commitment to 
fulfill obligations on behalf of the associate.

joint ventures
Joint ventures are companies over which the Group 
shares control with other parties. They are included in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements line by line, in proportion 
to the Group’s holdings. The Group combines its share of 
the joint ventures’ individual income and expenses, assets 
and liabilities and cash-flows with similar items in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

foreiGn currency translation
In the Consolidated Financial Statements, the income 
statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated into 
euro using the financial year’s average foreign currency 
exchange rates, and the balance sheets are translated 
using the exchange rates quoted on the balance sheet 
date. Retranslating the net profit for the period and the 
other comprehensive income using different exchange 
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rates in the income statement and in the balance sheet 
causes a translation difference recognized in equity in the 
balance sheet; the change in this translation difference is 
presented under other comprehensive income. Goodwill 
and fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of the 
assets and liabilities that arise from the acquisition of a 
foreign entity are accounted for as part of the assets and 
liabilities of the foreign entity, and translated into euro at 
the rate quoted on the balance sheet date.

The “Hedge accounting” section describes hedging of 
net investments in the Group’s foreign units. When hedge 
accounting is applied, the exchange rate gains and losses 
of such loans and derivatives are credited or charged to 
equity, against the translation differences arising from the 
translation of the equity amounts as stated in the approved 
balance sheets of the subsidiaries. These translation 
differences from hedge accounting are presented under 
other comprehensive income. Other translation differences 
affecting equity are stated as an increase or decrease in 
other comprehensive income. When the Group ceases to 
have control in a subsidiary, the accumulated translation 
difference is transferred into the income statement as part of 
gain or loss on sale.

In their day-to-day accounting, Group companies translate 
foreign currency transactions into their functional currency 
at the exchange rates quoted on the transaction date. In 
the Financial Statements, foreign currency denominated 
receivables and liabilities are measured at the exchange rates 
quoted on the balance sheet date, and non-monetary items 
using the rates quoted on the transaction date. Any foreign 
exchange gains and losses related to business operations 
are treated as adjustments to sales and purchases. Exchange 
rate differences associated with financing transactions and 
the hedging of the Group’s overall foreign currency position 
are stated in foreign exchange gains or losses under financial 
income and expenses.

revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, and represents the total invoicing 
value of products sold and services rendered less; sales 
tax, discounts and foreign exchange differences in trade 
receivables as adjusting items.

revenue recoGnition principles
The revenue from sale of goods is recognized in the 
income statement when the major risks and rewards 
related to the ownership of the goods have been 
transferred to the buyer. 

pension oBliGations
The Group has both defined contribution and defined benefit 
pension plans in accordance with the local conditions and 
practices in the countries in which it operates. Pension plans 

are generally funded through contributions to insurance 
companies or a separate pension fund. Contributions under 
defined contribution plans are recognized in the income 
statement for the period when an employee has rendered 
service.

The Group calculates obligations under defined benefit 
plans separately for each plan. The amount recognized as 
a defined benefit liability (or asset) equals the difference 
between the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
and the fair value of plan assets. The effect of possible 
unrecognized past service costs and actuarial gains and 
losses are also taken into account in the net liability. Defined 
benefit obligations are calculated by using the Projected 
Unit Credit Method to amortize the accumulated benefits 
over the period of service. Pension costs are recognized as 
expenses over the employee’s service period, using actuarial 
calculations. The discount rate used to calculate the present 
value of post-employment benefit obligations is determined 
by reference to market yields on high-quality corporate 
bonds. If the country in question does not have deep bond 
markets, the expected return of government bonds is used.

Actuarial gains or losses are recognized in the income 
statement by applying the so-called corridor method, over 
the average remaining working lives of the participating 
employees to the extent that they exceed the higher of the 
following: 10% of the pension obligation or 10% of the fair 
value of the plan assets.

share-Based payments 
The Group has equity-settled share-based compensation 
plans for key personnel and management board members, 
under which the Group receives services from employees 
as consideration for equity instrument of the Group. The 
potential rewards are provided partly in shares and partly in 
cash. The potential reward provided in shares is recognized 
as a personnel expense in the income statement and in the 
equity. Correspondingly, the rewards provided in cash are 
recognized as a personnel expense in the income statement 
and in liabilities. The total expense is recognized over the 
vesting period, which is the period over which the specified 
vesting conditions are to be satisfied. 

Based on the vesting conditions, the Group revises its 
estimates of the number of shares expected to vest based 
on the balance sheet date. It recognizes the potential impact 
of the revision to original estimates in the income statement 
as a personnel expense, with the corresponding adjustment 
made to equity and liabilities at fair value.

Notes 5 and 32 provide information on share-based 
payment arrangements for key personnel and management 
board members.

income taxes
The tax expense for the period comprises current tax, 
adjustments prior tax periods and deferred tax. Tax is 
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recognized in the income statement, except in the case it 
relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The current income tax charge is calculated based on tax 
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet 
date in the countries where the company and its subsidiaries 
operate and generate taxable income. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with 
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is 
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where 
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to 
the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability 
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in 
the Consolidated Financial Statements. However, deferred 
tax liabilities are not recognized if they arise from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than 
a business combination that at the time of the transaction 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred 
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that 
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance 
sheet date and are expected to apply when the related 
deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income 
tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be 
utilized.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary 
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, except for deferred income tax liability where 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is 
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset in 
such cases, when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities, and when 
the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to the 
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either 
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where 
there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

intanGiBle assets and property,  
plant and eQuipment
Development costs are capitalized as intangible assets 
when it can be shown that a development project will 
generate probable future economic benefit, and the costs 
attributable to the development project can reliably be 
measured. Capitalized development costs are presented as 
a separate item and amortized over their useful lives of a 
maximum of eight years. 

Other development costs that do not meet these 
criteria are recognized as an expense as incurred. 
Development costs previously recognized as an expense 
are not recognized as an asset in the subsequent periods.

Other intangible assets include for instance software 
and software licenses as well as brands and customer list 
bases acquired in business combinations. 

Goodwill arises from business combinations. Goodwill 
represents the cost of an acquisition that exceeds the fair 
value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets of 
the acquired subsidiary on the date of acquisition. Goodwill 
is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  

Property, plant and equipment (PP&E) and intangible 
assets (with definite useful lives) are measured at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and amortization and any 
impairment losses. The Group has no intangible assets that 
have an indefinite useful life other than goodwill.

• Machinery and equipment 3–15 years
• Buildings and constructions  25 years
• Intangible assets    5–10 years

The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed 
at least at the end of each financial year. Gains and losses on 
the sale of non-current assets are included in other operating 
income and expenses, respectively. Borrowing costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition or construction of a qualifying 
asset are capitalized as part of the cost of the asset in 
question when it is probable that they will generate future 
economic benefit and the costs can be reliably measured. The 
costs of major inspections or the overhaul of asset performed 
at regular intervals and identified as separate components 
are capitalized and depreciated over their useful lives.

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available 
for use and it ceases at the moment that the asset is 
derecognized.

Government Grants
Government grants for investments are recognized a 
deduction from the carrying amount of these assets. The 
grants are recognized in the income statement as smaller 
depreciations over the asset’s useful life. Government 
grants for research activities are deducted from expenses.

leases
Leases involving tangible assets, in which the Group acts as 
a lessee, are classified as finance leases if substantially all of 
the risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the Group. 

Upon the commencement of the lease term, the finance 
lease assets are recognized at the lower of the fair value 
of the leased asset and the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. These assets and related rental obligations 
are presented as part of the Group’s non-current assets and 
interest-bearing liabilities. In respect of the finance lease 
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contracts, depreciation on the leased assets and interest 
expenses from the related liability are shown in the income 
statement. 

Rents paid based on operating leases are expensed on 
a straight-line basis over the lease terms. 

When the Group is a lessor, it recognizes assets held 
under a finance lease as receivables in the balance sheet. 
Assets held under operating leases are included in PP&E. 

Also the arrangements that are not leases in their legal 
form but convey the rights to use assets in return for a 
payment or series of payments are treated as leases.

inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net 
realizable value. Costs are determined on a first-in first-out 
(FIFO) basis or by using a weighted average cost formula, 
depending on the nature of the inventory. The cost of 
finished goods and work in progress include the proportion 
of production overheads of the normal capacity. The net 
realizable value is the sales price received in the ordinary 
course of business less the estimated costs for completing 
the asset and the sales costs. 

financial assets, financial liaBilities and 
derivative contracts
When a financial asset or a financial liability is initially 
recognized on the trade date, it is measured at cost, which 
equals the fair value of the consideration given or received. 
The Group’s financial assets are classified for subsequent 
measurement as financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss, loans and receivables issued by the Group, and 
available-for-sale financial assets.

category financial instrument measurement

Financial assets at 
fair value through 
profit or loss

Currency forward contracts, 
currency options, cur-
rency swaps, interest rate 
forwards , interest rate 
futures, interest rate op-
tions, interest rate swaps, 
electricity forwards, natural 
gas derivatives, certificates 
of deposit, commercial pa-
pers, units in mutual funds, 
embedded derivatives

Fair value

Loans and 
receivables

Non-current loan 
receivables, bank 
deposits, trade receivables 
and other receivables

(Amortized) 
cost

Available-for-sale 
financial assets

Shares, bond investments Fair value

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
measured at fair value. Fair value is the amount for which 
an asset could be exchanged or loans paid between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length 

transaction. These derivative contracts to which hedge 
accounting in accordance with IAS 39 is not applied are 
classified as financial assets held for trading. These are 
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss. In the balance sheet, these items are shown 
under prepaid expenses and accrued income and accrued 
expenses and prepaid income. Any gains or losses arising 
from changes in fair value are recognized through profit or 
loss on the transaction date in financial items. 

loans and receivables
Loans and receivables include non-current receivables 
carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
method and accounting for any impairment. 

available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value 
if it is considered that fair value can be determined reliably. 
Unrealized changes in fair value of financial assets available 
for sale are recognized in other comprehensive income and 
presented under equity in the fair value reserve taking the 
tax effect into account. Accumulated changes in fair value 
are transferred to the income statement as a reclassifica-
tion adjustment when the investment is divested or it has 
been impaired to the extent that an impairment loss has 
to be recognized. Available-for-sale financial assets include 
non-listed companies, the shareholdings in Pohjolan Voima 
Oy (PVO) and Teollisuuden Voima Oyj (TVO) representing the 
largest investments. 

PVO and its subsidiary TVO comprise a private electricity-
generating group owned by Finnish manufacturing and 
power companies, to which it supplies electricity at cost. 
PVO Group owns and operates, among others, two nuclear 
power plant units in Olkiluoto in the municipality of Eurajoki. 
The Group has A and C series shares in TVO and A, B, C, G, 
H and M series shares in PVO. Different share series entitle 
the shareholder to electricity generated by different power 
plants. The owners of each share series are responsible for 
the fixed costs of the series in question in proportion to 
the number of the shares, regardless of whether they use 
their power or energy share or not, and for variable costs in 
proportion to the amount of energy used.

Kemira Oyj’s holding in PVO Group that entitles to the 
electricity from completed power plants is measured at fair 
value based on the discounted cash flow resulting from the 
difference between the market price of electricity and the 
cost price. The forward electricity price quotations in Finland 
area published by the Nordic Electricity Exchange have been 
used as the market price for electricity. The cost prices are 
specified to each share series. Future cash flows have been 
discounted based on the estimated useful lives of the plants 
related to each share series. The discount rate has been 
calculated using the annually determined average weighted 
cost of capital. 
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Furthermore, PVO’s B2-series shares entitling to 
electricity from a nuclear power plant under construction at 
Olkiluoto 3 are based on earlier transactions.

cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, demand 
deposits and other short-term, highly liquid investments. 
Items classified as cash and cash equivalents have a 
maximum maturity of three months from the date of 
purchase. Credit facilities in use are included in current 
interest-bearing liabilities.

impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses any impairment losses on its financial 
instruments on each balance sheet date. An impairment of a 
financial asset is recognized when an event with a negative 
effect on the future cash flows from the investment has 
occurred. For items measured at amortized cost, the amount 
of the impairment loss equals the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows from the receivable. This is discounted at 
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. For items 
measured at fair value, the fair value determines the amount 
of impairment. Impairment charges are recognized under 
financial items in the income statement.

The Group sells certain trade receivables to finance 
companies within the framework of limits stipulated in 
the agreement. The credit risk associated with these sold 
receivables and contractual rights to the financial assets 
in question are transferred from the Group on the selling 
date. The related expenses are recognized in the financial 
expenses.

financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss and other financial liabilities. 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss include 
derivatives to which the hedge accounting is not applied.

derivatives
The fair values of currency, interest rate and commodity 
derivatives and units in mutual funds as well as publicly 
traded shares are based on prices quoted in active markets 
on the balance sheet date. The value of other financial 
instruments measured at fair value is determined on the 
basis of valuation models using information available in the 
financial market. 

Changes in the value of forward contracts are 
calculated by measuring the contracts against the 
forward exchange rates on the balance sheet date and 
comparing them with the counter values calculated 
through the forward exchange rates on the date of entry 
into the forward contracts. The fair value of interest rate 
derivatives is determined using the market value of similar 
instruments on the balance sheet date. Other derivatives 
are measured at the market price on the balance sheet 
date. 

All of the derivatives open on the balance sheet 
date are measured at their fair values. As a rule, fair 
value changes from open derivative contracts are 
recognized through profit or loss under financial items 
in the Consolidated Financial Statements. The number of 
embedded derivatives used by the Group is low. 

Other financial liabilities are initially recognized in the 
balance sheet at the initial value of received net assets 
deducted with direct costs. Later, these financial liabilities 
are measured at amortized cost, and the difference 
between the received net assets and amortizations is 
recognized as interest costs over the loan term.

hedGe accountinG
According to IAS 39, hedge accounting refers to a method 
of accounting aimed at allocating one or more hedging 
instruments in such a way that their fair value offsets, in full 
or in part, the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the 
hedged item. Hedge accounting is applied to hedging the 
interest rate risk and commodity risk. The hedge accounting 
model in use includes cash flow hedging.

Hedge effectiveness is monitored as required by IAS 39. 
Effectiveness refers to the capacity of a hedging instrument 
to offset changes in the fair value of the hedged item or 
cash flows from a hedged transaction, which are due to the 
realization of the risk being hedged. A hedging relationship 
is considered to be highly effective when the change in 
the fair value of the hedging instrument offsets changes 
in the cash flows attributable to the hedged items in the 
range of 80–125 percent. Hedge effectiveness is assessed 
both prospectively and retrospectively. Testing for hedge 
effectiveness is repeated on each balance sheet date.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the criteria for 
hedge accounting are no longer fulfilled. Gains or losses 
recognized in other comprehensive income and presented 
under equity are derecognized and transferred immediately in 
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the income statement, if the hedged item is sold or falls due. 
However, gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value 
of those derivatives not fulfilling the hedge accounting criteria 
under IAS 39 are recognized directly in the income statement.

At the inception of a hedge, the Group has documented 
the existence of the hedging relationship, including the 
identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged 
item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged, 
the objectives of risk management and the strategy for 
undertaking hedging, as well as the description of how 
hedge effectiveness is assessed.

cash flow hedging
Cash flow hedging is used to hedge against variability in 
cash flows attributable to a particular risk associated with a 
recognized asset or liability in the balance sheet or a highly 
probable forecast transaction. Interest rate and commodity 
derivatives are used as investment instruments in cash flow 
hedging. Interest rate and commodity derivatives are used as 
hedging instruments in cash flow hedges. Cash flow hedge 
accounting, specified in IAS 39 is applied by the Group to only 
selected hedging items. Changes in the fair value of derivative 
instruments associated with cash flow hedge are recognized 
in other comprehensive income (including the tax effect) and 
presented under equity, providing that they fulfill the criteria 
set for hedge accounting and are based on effective hedging. 
The ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument is recognized under financial items in the income 
statement. Derivatives not fulfilling the hedge accounting 
criteria are recognized in financial items through profit or loss.

treasury shares
Purchases of own shares (treasury shares), including the 
related costs, are deducted directly from equity in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

provisions and continGent liaBilities
Provisions for restructuring costs, personnel related costs, 
environmental obligations, legal claims and onerous 
contracts are recognized in the balance sheet when the 
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as 
a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate of the amount of this obligation can be 
made. A restructuring provision is recognized when there 
is a detailed and appropriate plan prepared for it and the 
implementation of the plan has begun or has been notified 
to those whom the restructuring concerns.  

The amount recognized as a provision is the present 
value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle 
the obligation on the balance sheet date using a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the obligation. 

Contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises 
from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by 
the occurrence of uncertain future events not wholly within 
the control of the Group or a present obligation that it is not 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation; or the 
amount of the obligation cannot be measured within sufficient 
reliability. Contingent liability is disclosed in the notes.

non-current assets held for sale and 
discontinued operations
Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale 
when their carrying amount is to be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction and a sale transaction and a 
sale is considered highly probable. They are stated at the 
lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 
Depreciation on these assets discontinues at the time of 
classification. Non-current assets classified as held for sale 
is disclosed separately in the balance sheet.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group 
that has either been disposed of, or is classified as held for 
sale, and it meets one of the following criteria:

• it represents a separate major line of business or 
geographical area of operations,

• it is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a 
separate major line of business or geographical area of 
operations, or

• it is a subsidiary that has been acquired exclusively with 
a prospect of reselling.

The profit or loss of the discontinued operation is stated as 
a separate item in the consolidated income statement and 
statement of comprehensive income.  

impairment of non-financial assets
On each balance sheet date, the Group’s assets are assessed 
to determine whether there is any indication of an asset’s 
impairment. If any indication of impairment exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset or the cash-generating 
unit is calculated on the basis of the value in use or the net 
selling price. Annual impairment tests cover goodwill and 
intangible assets not yet ready for use. 

The cash-generating unit has been defined as the 
customer segment. The level of a customer segment is one 
notch down from a reporting segment. Goodwill impairment 
is tested by comparing the customer segment’s recoverable 
amount with its carrying amount. The Group does not have 
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives other than 
goodwill. All goodwill has been allocated to the customer 
segments. 

The recoverable amount of a customer segment is 
defined as its value in use, which consists of the discounted 
future cash flows to the unit. Estimates of future cash flows 
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are based on continuing use of an asset and on the latest 
five-year forecasts by the business unit’s management. 
The annual growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows 
subsequent to the forecast period is assumed to be zero. 
Cash flow estimates do not include the effects of improved 
asset performance, investments or future reorganizations. 
The Kemira Corporate Center’s expenses are allocated to the 
strategic business units in proportion to EBITDA.

An impairment loss is recognized, whenever the carrying 
amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized in 
the income statement. Note 11 provides more detailed 
information on impairment testing. 

If there has been a positive change in the estimates 
used to determine an asset’s recoverable amount since the 
last impairment loss was recognized, an impairment loss 
recognized previously is reversed only to the extent that 
the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined if no impairment 
loss had been recognized. An impairment loss for goodwill is 
never reversed. 

emissions allowances
The Group holds assigned emissions allowances, under 
the EU emissions trading system, only at its Helsingborg 
site in Sweden. Carbon dioxide allowances are accounted 
for as intangible assets measured at cost. Carbon dioxide 
allowances received free of charge are measured at their 
nominal value (zero). A provision for the fulfillment of 
the obligation to return allowances is recognized if the 
free-of-charge allowances are not sufficient to cover actual 
emissions. The Group’s consolidated balance sheet shows 
no items related to emissions allowances when the volume 
of actual emissions is lower than that of the free-of-charge 
emissions allowances and the Group has not bought 
allowances in the market. Note 31, Environmental risks and 
liabilities, provides information on emissions allowances.

critical accountinG estimates and 
judGements
Estimates and judgments are continuously evaluated and 
they are based on previous experience and other factors, 
such as expectations of future events that are expected to 
be reasonable under the circumstances.

estimated impairment of goodwill
The impairment tests of goodwill and other assets include 
determining future cash flows which, with regard to the 
most significant assumptions, are based on gross margin 
levels, discount rates and the projected period. Major 
adverse developments in cash flows and interest rates 
may necessitate the recognition of an impairment loss.

estimated fair value of investment in pvo Group
The Group’s investments include non-listed shares, holdings 
in PVO Group representing the largest of these. The Group’s 
shareholding in the company is measured at fair value, 
based on the discounted cash flow resulting from the 
difference between the market price of electricity and the 
cost price. Developments in the actual fair value may differ 
from the estimated value, due to factors such as electricity 
prices, the forecast period or the discount rate.

defined benefit pensions
Determining pension liabilities under defined benefit 
pension plans includes assumptions, and significant 
changes in these assumptions may affect the amounts 
of pension liabilities and expenses. Actuarial calculations 
include assumptions by the management, such as 
expected long-term return on assets in pension funds, the 
discount rate and assumptions of salary increases and the 
termination of employment contracts. Actual share price 
changes in the market, among other things, may differ 
from the management’s assumptions.

provisions
Recognizing provisions requires the management’s 
estimates, since the precise euro amount of obligations 
related to provisions is not known when preparing the 
Financial Statements. 

deferred income taxes
For the recognition of deferred tax assets on tax losses 
and other items, the management assesses the amount 
of a probable future taxable profit against which unused 
tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilized. Actual 
profits may differ from the forecasts and in such a case the 
change will affect the taxes in future periods.

2. segment inFormation

an overview of the Group structure
The Group has organized its business into customer-based 
segments with P/L responsibilities being Paper, Municipal & 
Industrial, Oil & Mining and Other. The Paper segment offers 
products and services for pulp and paper industry, Municipal 
& Industrial segment serves for municipal and industrial 
customers and Oil & Mining segment for oil and mining 
industries.

Group’s global functions are responsible for the 
exploitation of internal synergies. The functions manage 
and coordinate certain company-wide functions, such as 
human resources, legal affairs, logistics, purchasing and 
sourcing, treasury, risk management, internal audit, finance, 
IT management, R&D, environmental protection and 
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communications. These functions are organized globally and 
they offer their services to all Kemira businesses.

Geographically, the Group’s operations are divided into 
four regions: North America, South America, Asia Pacific 
(APAC) and Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA). The 
organizations of the geographical regions are responsible for 
building joint cost efficient infrastructures for all operations.

description of reportaBle seGments
Segment information is presented in a manner consistent 
with the Group’s internal organizational and reporting 
structure.  Assets and liabilities dedicated to a particular 
segment’s operations are included in that segment’s total 
assets and liabilities. Segment assets include property, plant 
and equipment, intangible assets, investments in associates, 
inventories and non-interest bearing receivables. Segment 
liabilities include current non-interest bearing liabilities. 

paper
The Paper segment provides customers in the pulp and 
paper industry with products and product packages 
that improve their profitability, raw material and energy 
efficiency, and promote sustainable development.

municipal & industrial
The Municipal & Industrial segment offers water treatment 
chemicals for municipal and industrial water treatment. 
The strengths are high-level process know-how, a 
comprehensive range of water treatment chemicals and 
reliable customer deliveries.

oil & mining
The Oil & Mining segment offers a large selection of 
innovative chemical extraction and process solutions for the 
oil and mining industries, where water plays a central role. 
Utilizing its expertise, the segment enables its customers to 
improve efficiency and productivity.

other
The Other segment consists of organic salts and acids of the 
ChemSolutions operations, and the Group expenses are not 
charged to the segments (some research and development 
costs and CEO Office costs). The ChemSolutions focuses on 
serving customers in the food and feed markets as well as 
in the pharmaceutical and chemical industries. 

2012 paper
municipal & 

industrial
oil & 

mining other eliminations
Group 

total

Total segment revenue 1,002.0 686.6 321.1 231.2 2,240.9

Inter-segment revenue 0.0

revenue from external customers 1,002.0 686.6 321.1 231.2 2,240.9

operating profit 55.2 –8.5 30.2 –45.2 31.7

Finance costs, net –15.7

Share of profit or loss of associates 11.2

profit before tax 27.2

Income tax –5.7

net profit for the period 21.5

Depreciation and amortization –48.4 –38.5 –11.7 –14.4 –113.0

Impairments and reversal of impairments –2.5 –12.6 –0.7 –18.0 –33.8

Other non-cash items –15.9 –16.8 –3.4 –16.1 –52.2

Capital expenditure –66.4 –35.2 –15.9 –16.6 –134.1

other seGment information

Capital employed by segments (net) 754.0 343.7 158.0 220.9 1,476.6

Assets by segments 884.2 433.4 190.5 143.3 1,651.4

Investments in associates 122.8 122.8

Available-for-sale financial assets 264.0

Deferred income tax assets 29.7

Other investments 9.8

Defined benefit pension receivables 43.6

Other assets 141.6

Cash and cash equivalents 132.8

Non-current assets classified as held-for-sale 93.3

total assets 2,489.0
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2011 paper
municipal & 

industrial
oil & 

mining other eliminations
Group 

total

Total segment revenue 973.3 664.7 335.7 233.5 2,207.2

Inter-segment revenue 0.0

revenue from external customers 973.3 664.7 335.7 233.5 2,207.2

operating profit 79.5 43.7 34.9 0.2  158.3

Finance costs, net   –20.9

Share of profit or loss of associates  31.0

profit before tax 168.4

Income tax –28.1

net profit for the period 140.3

Depreciation and amortization –44.8 –30.1 –10.8 –13.6  –99.3

Impairments and reversal of impairments –1.6 –0.4 –2.0

Other non-cash items –1.8 –2.9 –0.2 1.6 –3.3

Capital expenditure –43.5 –28.8 –9.6 –119.2 –201.1

OthER SEgmENt INFORmAtION

Capital employed by segments (net) 761.6 394.8 145.9 371.1 1,673.4

Assets by segments 918.4 499.1 179.9 279.0 1,876.4

Investments in associates 0.1 158.7 158.8

Available-for-sale financial assets 256.5

Deferred income tax assets 47.3

Other investments 9.7

Defined benefit pension receivables 44.3

Other assets 97.7

Cash and cash equivalents 185.8

total assets 2,676.5

Liabilities by segments 156.9 104.3 34.1 66.6 361.9

Interest-bearing non-current financial liabilities 464.5

Interest-bearing current financial liabilities 237.1

Other liabilities 242.2

total liabilities 1,305.7

2012 paper
municipal & 

industrial
oil & 

mining other eliminations
Group 

total

Liabilities by segments 130.2 89.7 32.6 45.2 297.7

Interest-bearing non-current financial liabilities 387.5

Interest-bearing current financial liabilities 277.2

Other liabilities 200.8

Liabilities directly associated with the assets 
classified as held-for-sale 11.0

total liabilities 1,174.2
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analysis of non-current assets by geographical area

2012 2011

Finland, domicile of the parent company 783.5 787.8

Other Europe, Middle East and Africa 369.8 502.7

North America 265.3 270.3

South America 151.1 160.8

Asia Pacific 62.5 31.6

total 1,632.2 1,753.2

information about major customers

Due to the Group’s amount of revenues from many significant customers, revenues from the Group of 10% or more are 
not derived from a single external customer amount in 2012 or 2011.
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INFORmAtION ABOut gEOgRAPhICAL AREAS 

analysis of revenue by geographical area based on customer location 

2012 2011

Finland, domicile of the parent company 312.7 315.2

Other Europe, Middle East and Africa 919.9 938.2

North America 689.4 661.5

South America 172.7 164.1

Asia Pacific 146.2 128.2

total 2,240.9 2,207.2
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2012 2011

Gains on sale of non-current assets 0.1 10.9

Rental income 2.3 1.9

Insurance compensation received 2.5 0.0

Consulting 0.5 0.0

Services 2.6 3.5

Sale of scrap and waste 0.3 0.2

Income from royalties, know-how and licenses 0.6 0.8

Other income from operations 4.9 5.2

total 13.8 22.5

The gains on sale of property, plant and equipment in 2012 include EUR 0.1 million (EUR 9.9 million) gains on sale of 
subsidiaries, gains on sale of property and production facilities.

3. other operating income

4. operating eXpenses

2012 2011

Change in inventories of finished goods (inventory increase + / decrease –) –36.5 22.6

Own work capitalized 1) –2.0 –2.6

total –38.5 20.0

materials and services

Materials and supplies

Purchases during the financial year 1,293.1 1,191.2

Change in inventories of materials and supplies (inventory increase + / decrease –) –9.7 2.8

External services 11.5 16.9

total 1,294.9 1,210.9

employee benefit expenses 345.0 288.5

other operating expenses

Rents 47.4 37.4

Loss on sales of property, plant and equipment 0.1 0.2

Other expenses 427.3 413.1

total 474.8 450.7

total operating expenses 2,076.2 1,970.1

1) Own work capitalized comprises mainly wages, salaries and other personnel expenses and changes in inventories relating to self-constructed property, plant and 
equipment for own use. 
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Other operating expenses include research and development expenses of EUR 38.1 million (EUR 36.5 million) which includes 
received government grants. Received government grants in amount of EUR 4.3 million (EUR 5.9 million) reduce the research 
and development expenses. 
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Note 2012 2011

EmPLOyEE BENEFItS EXPENSES

wages and salaries

Emoluments of Boards of Directors and Managing Directors 8.3 10.3

Wages 260.8 221.6

Share-based payments 5 2.4 3.7

total 271.5 235.6

indirect employee benefits expenses

Pension expenses for defined benefit plans 23 9.5 0.0

Pension expenses for defined contribution plans 28.5 20.4

Other employee benefits costs 35.5 32.5

total 73.5 52.9

total employee benefits expenses 345.0 288.5

Kemira Oyj’s CEO and the Board of Directors salaries and bonuses are disclosed in Note 32 Related parties.

AVERAgE NumBER OF PERSONNEL By gEOgRAPhICAL AREAS

Europe, Middle East and Africa 2,935 2,919

North America 1,359 1,395

South America 417 412

Asia Pacific 332 280

total 5,043 5,006

Personnel in Finland, average 1,173 1,145

Personnel outside Finland, average 3,870 3,861

total 5,043 5,006

personnel at year end 4,857 5,006

AudItORS’ FEES ANd SERVICES

Audit fees 1.1 1.1

Tax services 0.0 0.5

Other services 0.1 0.2

total 1.2 1.8

Kemira’s auditor KPMG Oy was replaced by Deloitte & Touche Oy after the Annual General Meeting on 21 March 2012.

Fees for services paid to auditing companies other than Kemira’s auditor amounting to EUR 1.7 million (EUR 1.2 million) 
were mainly related to consultation, not to statutory audit.
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5. share-based payments

share-Based incentive plan for Key personnel
The Board of Directors of Kemira Oyj has decided on a 
share-based incentive plan directed to the company’s key 
personnel as part of the Group’s incentive schemes. The plan 
aims to align the goals of the Group’s shareholders and key 
executives to raise the value of the company. A competitive, 
ownership-based incentive plan has been designed as a 
means to achieve the goal and ensure the commitment of 
key management.

The incentive plans are based on a one year performance 
period during 2007–2012. The potential reward will be paid 
out during the year following the performance period. The 
criteria for reward payments shall be based on financial 
targets that must be reached. The potential reward shall be 
paid as a combination of Kemira shares and cash payment. 
The value of these payments are measured at fair value 
on the basis of the share price on the closing date or on 
the balance sheet date, and the payment is approximately 
1.1-fold value of transferred shares. For the incentive plan of 
2007, 2008, 2011 and 2012 the vesting period were ended 
and the financial targets were not achieved.

The shares transferable under the plan comprise treasury 
shares or Kemira Oyj shares available for public trading.

share-based incentive plan 2009

Performance period 2009
Lock-up period of shares 2 years
Release date of shares 2012
Fair value of the reward paid as shares, EUR million 0.6
Fair value of the reward paid in cash, EUR million 1.8
Estimated realization on closing date, shares (1,000) 131
Number of persons 61

share-based incentive plan 2010

Performance period 2010
Lock-up period of shares 2 years
Release date of shares 2013
Fair value of the reward paid as shares, EUR million 1.9
Fair value of the reward paid in cash, EUR million 2.6
Estimated realization on closing date, shares (1,000) 228
Number of persons 64

 
share-Based incentive plans for strateGic 
manaGement Board memBers

The Kemira Board of Directors has decided to establish 
a new share-based incentive plan that follows already 
terminated 2009–2011 plan aimed at the management 
board members for the years 2012–2014, as part of the 
company’s incentive and commitment schemes. The 
delivery of share rewards within the plan is subject to the 
achievement of the performance targets set by the Board 

of Directors, which include both internal and external 
performance targets. The internal target setting is divided 
into three one-year performance periods: 2012, 2013, 
and 2014. Payment depends on achievement of the set 
intrinsic value targets calculated from the development of 
EBITDA and the development of the net debt. The program 
also includes a three-year external goal, which is tied to 
the relative total shareholder return (TSR) performance 
during 2012–2014.

The value of the aggregate reward paid out in the course 
of the three-year plan may not exceed 120% of CEO’s and 
100% of the other participants’ gross salary for the same 
period. If the performance targets are achieved entirely, 
the maximum gross earning during the three-year plan is 
expected to be approximately 900,000 Kemira shares. The 
applicable taxes will be deducted from the gross earning and 
the remaining net value is delivered to the participants in 
Kemira shares.

Shares earned through the plan must be held for a 
minimum of two years following each payment. In addition, 
the management board members must retain fifty per cent 
of the shares obtained under the plan until their ownership 
of Kemira shares based on shares obtained through the 
share-based incentive programs of Kemira has reached a 
share ownership level which in value equals at least their 
gross annual salary for as long as they remain participants 
in the plan. For the incentive plans of 2011 and 2012 the 
vesting period was ended and the financial targets were not 
achieved.

The shares transferable under the plan comprise treasury 
shares or Kemira Oyj shares available in public trading.

In addition to the share-based incentive plan aimed 
at the management board members, Kemira has a 
share-based incentive plan aimed at other key personnel, 
in which members of the management board will not 
participate.

share-based incentive plan 2009

Performance period 2009
Lock-up period of shares 2 years
Release date of shares 2012
Fair value of the reward paid as shares, EUR million 1.4
Fair value of the reward paid in cash, EUR million 1.4
Estimated realization on closing date, shares (1,000) 85
Number of persons 10

share-based incentive plan 2010

Performance period 2010
Lock-up period of shares 2 years
Release date of shares 2013
Fair value of the reward paid as shares, EUR million 0.9
Fair value of the reward paid in cash, EUR million 0.9
Estimated realization on closing date, shares (1,000) 78
Number of persons 9
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long-term share-based incentive plan 2012–2014

Performance period 2012–2014

Lock-up period of shares 2 years

Release date of shares 2017

Fair value of the reward paid as shares, EUR million 0.4

Fair value of the reward paid in cash, EUR million 0.4

Number of persons 12

the effect of share-based incentive plans on operating profit Key personnel

Management 
board 

members
2012
total

2011  
Total

Share component 0.7 0.4 1.1 1.5

Cash component 0.9 0.4 1.3 2.2

total 1.6 0.8 2.4 3.7

6. depreciation, amortiZation and impairment

2012 2011

amortization of intangible assets

Other intangible assets 10.5 11.1

Development cost 3.8 3.8

total 14.3 14.9

depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Buildings and structures 20.1 15.5

Machinery and equipment 74.2 66.9

Other tangible assets 4.4 1.8

total 98.7 84.2

impairment of intangible assets

Goodwill 19.5 0.0

Other intangible assets 0.0 0.3

total 19.5 0.3

impairment of property, plant and equipment

Land 2.1 0.0

Buildings and constructions 8.0 1.3

Machinery and equipment 4.1 0.6

Other tangible assets 0.1 0.0

total 14.3 1.9

total depreciation, amortization and impairment 146.8 101.3

In 2012, an impairment loss of EUR 33.8 million is recognized in relation to goodwill, other tangible assets and tangible 
assets. These impairment losses were mainly related to restructuring program “Fit for Growth” and goodwill impairment 
of EUR 18 million in Kemira ChemSolutions B.V. In 2011, an impairment loss of EUR 1.7 million is recognized in relation to 
Siilinjärvi plant.

Impairment tests for goodwill are disclosed in Note 11.
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7. Finance income and eXpenses
2012 2011

finance income

Dividend income 7.8 1.3

Interest income

Interest income from loans and receivables 1.4 4.4

Interest income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4.8 3.6

Other finance income 1.1 1.5

total 15.1 10.8

finance expenses

Interest expenses

Interest expenses from other liabilities –16.5 –13.8

Interest expenses from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss –7.0 –11.7

Other finance expenses 1) –7.3 –7.6

total –30.8 –33.1

exchange gains and losses 

Exchange gains and losses from financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss –16.8 12.7

Exchange gains and losses from loans and other receivables –1.2 –0.3

Exchange gains and losses from other liabilities 18.0 –11.0

total 0.0 1.4

total finance income and expenses –15.7 –20.9

Net finance expenses as a percentage of revenue 0.7 0.9

Net interest as a percentage of revenue 0.8 0.8

change in consolidated statement of comprehensive income from hedge accounting instruments

Hedge of net investments in foreign entities 2) 0.0 0.4

Cash flow hedge accounting: Amount recognized in consolidated statement of comprehensive income –1.0 –14.5

total –1.0 –14.1

exchange differences

Realized 8.7 –5.1

Unrealized –8.7 6.5

total 0.0 1.4

1) Include ineffective portion of electricity hedge EUR –2.3 million (EUR –0.9 million). 

2) The exchange rate differences on foreign currency loans and foreign currency derivatives have been credited or charged directly to equity and hedged against the 
translation differences arising from the consolidation of foreign subsidiaries, according to the so-called hedge of a net investment in foreign entities method.

Finance income and expenses do not include income or expenses from associates.

In 2012, EUR 0.0 million (EUR 0.3 million) has been recorded as income related to embedded derivatives. 
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8. investments in associates

2012 2011

carrying value at beginning of year 158.8 139.5

Reclassification –12.7 0.0

Paid-in-capital –26.8 –11.7

Dividends received -7.7 0.0

Share of profit (+) / loss ( – ) 11.2 31.0

Exchange differences 0.0 0.0

carrying value at end of year 122.8 158.8

Group holding %

Name Country City 2012 2011

FC Energia Oy Finland Ikaalinen 34.0 34.0

FC Power Oy Finland Ikaalinen 34.0 34.0

Haapaveden Ympäristöpalvelut Oy Finland Haapavesi 40.5 40.5

Honkalahden Teollisuuslaituri Oy Finland Joutseno 50.0 50.0

Kemwater Phil., Corp. Philippines Manila 40.0 40.0

Sachtleben GmbH Germany Frankfurt am Main 39.0 39.0

White Pigment LLC United States Princeton NJ 39.0 39.0

thE SummARy OF ASSEtS, LIABILItIES, REVENuES ANd RESuLt OF ASSOCIAtES FOR thE PERIOd  
(tOtAL AmOuNtS)

2012 2011

Assets 871.8 888.7

Liabilities 682.0 460.1

Revenues 701.8 679.0

Profit (+) / loss ( – ) for the period 28.7 79.9

Transactions carried out with associates are disclosed in Note 32.
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9. income taXes

2012 2011

Current tax –29.0 –29.0

Taxes for prior years –0.3 –1.8

Change in deferred taxes 23.6 2.7

total –5.7 –28.1

The reported tax rate was 21.0% (16.7%). The total taxes were slightly lower than the Finnish tax rate. In 2012 booked 
non-recurring items increased the reported tax rate. However, the change in deferred taxes decreased taxes materially. 
Subsidiaries still have tax losses EUR 58.7 million (EUR 43.3 million), which are not recognized any deferred tax benefits. 

In addition, due to extensive international operations the Group is involved in a number of pending corporate income 
tax and indirect tax proceedings.

reconciliation between tax expense and tax calculated at domestic tax rate

2012 2011

Profit before taxes 27.2 168.4

Tax at parent's tax rate 24.5% (26%) –6.7 –43.8

Foreign subsidiaries' different tax rate –7.4 –5.0

Non-deductible expenses and tax-exempt profits –3.1 –2.1

Share of profit or loss of associates 2.8 8.1

Tax losses  –4.6 –4.6

Tax for prior years –0.3 1.8

Adjustment of deferred tax in respect of prior years 14.3 14.7

Change in Finnish tax rate 0.0 2.5

Change in Swedish tax rate –0.7 0.0

Other 0.0 0.3

total taxes –5.7 –28.1

the tax charge / credit relating to components of other comprehensive income is as follows:

2012 2011

Before
tax

tax charge (–)/
credit (+)

after
tax

Before
tax

Tax charge (–)/
credit (+)

After
tax

Available-for-sale financial assets 7.0 –1.5 5.4 –33.5 9,4 –24.1

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 2.3 –4.6 –4.6

Net investment hedge in foreign operations  0.4 0.4

Cash flow hedges –1.3 0.3 –1.0 –19.7 5,2 –14.5

other comprehensive income 5.7 –1.2 6.7 –57.4 14.6 –42.8
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10. earnings per share 

2012 2011

earnings per share, basic

Profit attributable to equity owners of the parent 16.8 135.6

Weighted average number of shares 1) 152,037,158 151,994,165

Basic earnings per share, eur 0.11 0.89

earnings per share, diluted

Profit attributable to equity owners of the parent 16.8 135.6

Weighted average number of shares 1) 152,037,158 151,994,165

Adjustments for:

Treasury shares possibly subject to emission in share-based arrangement 136,082 158,156

Weighted average number of shares for diluted earnings per share 152,173,240 152,152,321

diluted earnings per share, eur 0.11 0.89

1) Weighted average number of shares outstanding, excluding the number of shares bought back.

11. goodwill

2012 2011

cost at beginning of year 618.4 620.3

Disposal of subsidiaries 0.0 –0.8

Transferred to non-current asset classified as held-for-sale –75.0 0.0

Exchange differences –7.0 –1.1

cost at end of year 536.4 618.4

impairments at beginning of year –12.4 –12.4

Impairments  –19.5 0.0

Transferred to non-current assets classified as held-for-sale 18.0 0.0

impairments at end of year –13.9 –12.4

net book value at beginning of year 606.0 607.9

net book value at end of year 522.5 606.0

In 2012, goodwill decreased by EUR 19.5 million which is mainly related to Kemira ChemSolutions B.V. A further net book 
amount of EUR 57.0 million transferred to held-for-sale relates to goodwill of Kemira ChemSolutions B.V.

In 2011, goodwill decreased by EUR 0.8 million because Kemira sold its Canadian hydrogen peroxide plant in Maitland and 
Oy Galvatek Ab. 
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december 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

carrying amount of which goodwill Carrying amount of which goodwill

Paper 755 308 638 310

Municipal & Industrial 345 127 317 133

Oil & Mining 158 54 109 54

Other 48 34 162 109

total 1,306 523 1,226 606

the Key assumptions

lonG-term Growth rate
The long-term growth rate used is purely for the impairment testing of goodwill. The assumptions of the long-term growth 
rate were used based on the Group’s financial forecasts prepared and approved by the management covering the horizon 
of five years. Forecasts for cash flow growth reflect the management’s perception of developments in sales and cost items 
during the forecast period. The growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows subsequent to the five-year forecast period was 
assumed to be zero.
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Goodwill impairment tests
The Group performed its annual impairment test for goodwill on September 30. Impairment tests for goodwill are also 
carried out whenever changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The estimated 
value in use by all segments exceeded their carrying values. As a result, no goodwill impairment was recognized in 2012 
(2011: no impairment). 

Goodwill has been allocated at the level of 10 individual cash-generating units (2011: 10 CGUs). The customer segment 
has been defined as a cash-generating unit. The customer segment represents the lowest level within the Group at 
which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. The level of customer segment is one notch down 
from reportable segment. The Group’s four reportable segments are Paper, Municipal & Industrial, Oil & Mining and Other 
segments. A summary of the carrying amounts and goodwill to the Group’s reportable segments is presented in the table 
below.
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sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses were made under the assumption that there would be a decline in the growth rate of cash flows’ 
during and after the forecasting period. A general increase in interest rates has also been taken into consideration as well 
as a decrease in profitability. A decrease of 10% in the estimated cash flow or an increased of 1% in the discount rate 
would not result in any impairment losses to be recorded on the customer segment level. If the discount rate increased by 
2%, we would have to record an impairment loss only to one customer segment. This impairment loss would constitute 
approximately 8% of the goodwill recorded in the Group.

% 2012 2011

Paper 8.1 8.7

Municipal & Industrial 7.7 8.0

Oil & Mining 8.0 8.9

Other 8.6 8.9

discount rate
The discount rates applied was based on the Group’s adjusted weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”). The risk-adjusted 
WACC rate was defined for each cash-generating unit separately. The discount rates used in performing the impairment tests 
of the Group’s reportable segments are presented in the table below.
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2012
Internal generated 
development costs

Other  
intangible assets Prepayments total 

cost at beginning of year 47.2 157.1 6.1 210.4

Additions 4.2 3.8 8.0

Decreases –0.1 –0.1

Transferred to non-current assets classified 
as held-for-sale –11.1 –11.1

Other changes –0.9 –0.9

Reclassifications 5.4 –5.4 0.0

Exchange rate differences 0.1 0.1

cost at end of year 47.2 154.7 4.5 206.4

accumulated amortization 
at beginning of year –30.2 –112.7 –142.9

Accumulated amortization relating to 
decreases and transfers   0.0

Amortization during the financial year –3.8 –10.5 –14.3

Transferred to non-current assets classified 
as held-for-sale  10.6 10.6

Other changes 0.9 0.9

Exchange rate differences –0.2 –0.2

accumulated amortization at end of year –34.0 –111.9 –145.9

net book value at end of year 13.2 42.8 4.5 60.5

Other intangible assets transferred to non-current assets classified as held-for-sale amounts to EUR 0.5 million that are used 
by Kemira ChemSolutions B.V. See note 18 for further details regarding the held-for-sale. 

2011
Internal generated 
development costs

Other  
intangible assets Prepayments Total

cost at beginning of year 47.2 144.8 16.3 208.3

Additions 4.4 3.8 8.2

Disposal of subsidiaries –0.9 –0.9

Decreases –4.6 –4.6

Other changes 0.4 –0.1 0.3

Reclassifications 13.0 –14.3 –1.3

Exchange rate differences  0.4 0.4

cost at end of year 47.2 157.1 6.1 210.4

accumulated amortization  
at beginning of year –26.3 –107.0 –133.3

Accumulated amortization relating to 
decreases and transfers –0.1 5.3 5.2

Amortization during the financial year –3.8 –11.1 –14.9

Impairments –0.3 –0.3

Exchange rate differences 0.4 0.4

accumulated amortization at end of year –30.2 –112.7 –142.9

net book value at end of year 17.0 44.4 6.1 67.5

12. other intangible assets 1
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2012 Land  
Buildings and 
constructions

Machinery 
and 

equipment

Other 
property, 
plant and 

equipment

Prepayments 
and non–current 

assets under 
construction total

cost at beginning of year 52.8 393.7 1,136.6 31.4 58.1 1,672.6

Additions 4.9 52.2 4.3 73.9 135.3
Decreases –1.7 –0.7 –7.3 –0.4 –10.1
Transferred to non-current assets 
classified as held-for-sale –1.0 –14.9 –20.3 –0.1 –2.0 –38.3
Other changes –2.3 –36.7 –1.8 –0.5 –41.3
Reclassifications –0.1 9.1 7.9 0.1 –17.0 0.0
Exchange rate differences 0.6 2.9 4.1 –0.6 –1.5 5.5
cost at end of year 50.6 392.7 1,136.5 32.9 111.0 1,723.7

accumulated depreciation  
at beginning of year –8.1 –215.4 –775.7 –17.4 –1,016.6

Accumulated depreciation relating to 
decreases and transfers 1.7 0.2 5.4 7.3
Depreciation during the financial year  –20.1 –74.2 –4.4 –98.7
Impairments –2.1 –8.0 –4.1 –0.1 –14.3
Transferred to non-current assets 
classified as held-for-sale 8.4 12.6 0.1 21.1
Other changes 2.7 35.1 2.6 40.4
Exchange rate differences –2.8 –4.7 0.5 –7.0
accumulated depreciation  
at end of year –8.5 –235.0 –805.6 –18.7 –1,067.8

net book value at end of year 42.1 157.7 330.9 14.2 111.0 655.9

Property, plant and equipment transferred to non-current assets classified as held-for-sale amounts to EUR 17.2 million that 
are used by Kemira ChemSolutions B.V. See note 18 for further details regarding the held-for-sale. 

2011 Land  
Buildings and 
constructions

Machinery 
and 

equipment

Other 
property, 
plant and 

equipment

Prepayments 
and non–current 

assets under 
construction Total 

cost at beginning of year 52.1 387.9 1,131.0 33.9 41.0 1,645.9

Additions 9.3 51.0 2.3 31.6 94.2

Disposal of subsidiaries –0.1 –0.1

Decreases –0.4 –7.7 –62.6 –4.5 –75.2

Other changes  1.5 –2.2 –0.3 0.1 –0.9

Reclassifications 0.7 1.1 12.8 –14.6 0.0

Exchange rate differences 0.4 1.6 6.7 8.7

cost at end of year 52.8 393.7 1,136.6 31.4 58.1 1,672.6

accumulated depreciation  
at beginning of year –8.3 –201.0 –754.8 –20.6 –984.7

Accumulated depreciation relating to 
decreases and transfers 0.2 3.5 49.9 4.3 57.9

Depreciation during the financial year –15.5 –66.9 –1.8 –84.2

Impairments –1.3 –0.6 –1.9

Other changes –0.4  0.4 0.0

Exchange rate differences –0.7 –3.3 0.3 –3.7

accumulated depreciation  
at end of year –8.1 –215.4 –775.7 –17.4 –1,016.6

net book value at end of year 44.7 178.3 360.9 14.0 58.1 656.0

13. property, plant and eQuipment1
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14. available-For-sale Financial assets

Prepayment and non-current assets under construction mainly comprises plant investments in China, India and Europe.

finance lease assets
Property, plant and equipment includes the following amounts where the Group is a lessee under a finance lease:

2012 2011

Cost-capitalized finance leases 3.7 3.8

Accumulated depreciation –1.6 –1.5

net book amount 2.1 2.3

The Group leases buildings and constructions, machinery and equipment and other property, plant and equipment under 
finance lease agreements.

2012 2011

net book value at beginning of year 256.5 284.7

Additions 0.5 102.8

Disposals 0.0 –97.6

Change in fair value 7.0 –33.4

Exchange rate differences 0.0 0.0

net book value at end of year 264.0 256.5

2012 2011

the shares of pohjolan voima Group Class of shares Holding % Class of assets fair value Fair value

Pohjolan Voima Oy A 5.0 water power 28.4 28.3

Pohjolan Voima Oy B 3.0 nuclear power 59.8 57.7

Pohjolan Voima Oy B2 6.8 nuclear power 81.2 81.2

Teollisuuden Voima Oyj A 1.9 nuclear power 68.8 64.1

Other Pohjolan Voima Oy and  
Teollisuuden Voima Oyj C, C2, G5, G6, H, M several several 24.4 23.8

total 262.6 255.1

 
In December 2011, Kemira Oyj bought 2.5% of Pohjolan Voima Oy shares from Pension Fund Neliapila.

In 2011, Kemira Oyj sold 6,175,155 of Tikkurila shares, corresponding to 14.0% of the total number of shares and votes in 
Tikkurila. The sale price was EUR 15.80 per share and the total sale price was EUR 97.6 million. Tikkurila Oyj’s shares listed on 
NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Oy.

The available-for-sale financial assets include the shares in Pohjolan Voima Group; their valuation principles are described 
in more detail in Kemira Group’s accounting policies. Kemira Oyj owns 3.9% of Pohjolan Voima Oy and 1.0% of Teollisuuden 
Voima Oyj. The fair value of the shares is based on the discounted cash flow resulting from the difference between the 
market price and the production cost of electricity. The discount rate used to calculate the net present value at the year-end 
is an annually defined  weighted average cost of capital. The discount rate in 2012 was 6%. A decrease 10% in the electricity 
market future price would decrease the fair value of shares by approximately 12%. An increase of 1% in the discount rate 
would decrease the fair value by approximately 7%.
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2012 Note

Financial 
instruments

under hedge
accounting

Financial 
assets

at fair value
through profit

and loss
Loans and 

receivables

Available–
for–sale 

investments
Other  

liabilities

total 
carrying 

amounts 
by balance 
sheet item

total fair 
value

non-current financial assets

Investments 14

Available-for-sale  
financial assets  264.0 264.0 264.0

current financial assets

Receivables 17

Interest-bearing 
receivables  0.3 0.3 0.3

Non-interest bearing 
receivables  

Trade receivables 292.2 292.2 292.2

Other receivables  3.4 3.4 3.4

Cash and cash equivalents 29 42.0 90.7 132.7 132.7

total 45.4 383.2 264.0 692.6 692.6

non-current financial 
liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities 20

Loans from financial 
institutions 379.9 379.9 386.8

Other liabilities 7.6 7.6 7.7

Other liabilities 21.4 21.4 21.4

current financial liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities 20

Loans from financial 
institutions 52.8 52.8 53.8

Current portion of other 
non-current liabilities 10.8 10.8 10.8

Other liabilities 213.6 213.6 213.6

Non-interest bearing  
current liabilities 25

Trade payables 157.6 157.6 157.6

Other liabilities 12.1 2.6 14.7 14.7

total 12.1 2.6 843.7 858.4 866.4

15. carrying amounts oF Financial assets and liabilities by 
measurement categories
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2011 Note

Financial 
instruments

under hedge
accounting

Financial 
assets

of fair value
through profit

and loss
Loans and 

receivables

Available–
for–sale 

investments
Other  

liabilities

Total 
carrying 

amounts 
by balance 
sheet item

Total fair 
value

non-current financial assets

Investments 14

Available-for-sale  
financial assets  256.5 256.5 256.5

current financial assets

Receivables 17

Interest-bearing receivables  0.5 0.5 0.5

Non-interest bearing 
receivables  

Trade receivables 300.0 300.0 300.0

Other receivables 0.3 5.0 5.3 5.3

Cash and cash equivalents 29 61.7 124.1 185.8 185.8

total 0.3 66.7 424.6 256.5 748.1 748.1

non-current financial 
liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities 20

Loans from financial 
institutions 458.4 458.4 468.2

Other liabilities 6.0 6.0 6.0

current financial liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities 20

Loans from financial 
institutions 49.5 49.5 50.3

Current portion of other 
non-current liabilities 17.2 17.2 17.2

Other current liabilities 170.2 170.2 170.2

Non-interest bearing liabilities 25

Trade payables 191.5 191.5 191.5

Other liabilities 9.5 7.4 16.9 16.9

total 9.5 7.4 892.8 909.7 920.3

The available-for-sale financial assets included shares of the Group of Pohjolan Voima. 

The carrying amount represents the maximum credit risk.

Other receivables and liabilities are financial assets at fair value through profit and loss or financial instruments under hedge 
accounting.

1

6

2

7

3

8

4

9

5

10

11

16

12

17

13

18

14

19

15

20

21

26

31

22

27

32

23

28

33

24

29

34

25

30

35

Note



195

Kemira 2012 Consolidated Financial Statements • Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (eur million)

2012 total 2011 Total

FAIR VALuE hIERARChy level 1 level 2 level 3 net Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 net

Available-for-sale financial assets 264.0 264.0 256.5 256.5

Currency investments 1.7 1.7 –1.7 –1.7

Interest rate instruments, hedge 
accounting –6.2 –6.2 –4.9 –4.9

Interest rate instruments, no hedge 
accounting  –0.7 –0.7

Other instruments –6.7 –6.7 –4.3 –4.3

Money market instruments 7.1 34.9 42.0 6.8 54.9 61.7

total 7.1 23.7 264.0 294.8 6.8 43.3 256.5 306.6

LEVEL 3 SPECIFICAtION level 3
total net

2012

Level 3
Total net

2011

instrument

Carrying value Jan 1 256.5 182.7

Effect on the statement of comprehensive income 6.9 –29.0

Purchased 0.6 102.8

Sold – –

carrying value dec 31 264.0 256.5

2012 2011

Materials and supplies 62.2 78.0

Finished goods 110.0 144.7

Prepayments 9.7 5.5

total 181.9 228.2

Level 1: Exchange traded securities.
Level 2: Fair value determined by observable parameters.
Level 3: Fair value determined by non-observable parameters.

16. inventories  

In the financial year, EUR 9.5 million (EUR 1.6 million) of inventory value was recognized as expense in order to decrease the 
book values of inventories to correspond with their net realizable value.  

1

6

2

7

3

8

4

9

5

10

11

16

12

17

13

18

14

19

15

20

21

26

22

27

23

28

24

29

25

30

33

35

34

32

31

Note



196

Kemira 2012 Consolidated Financial Statements • Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (eur million)

2012 2011

interest-bearing receivables

Loan receivables 0.3 0.5

trade and other receivables

Trade receivables 292.2 300.0

Prepayments 6.5 9.0

Accrued income 31.7 33.1

Other receivables 22.7 49.1

total trade and other receivables 353.1 391.2

ASSEtS CLASSIFIEd AS hELd-FOR-SALE 

2012 2011

Goodwill 57.0 0.0

Intangible assets 0.5 0.0

Property, plant and equipment 17.2 0.0

Inventories 6.8 0.0

Other current assets 11.8 0.0

total 93.3 0.0

LIABILItIES dIRECtLy ASSOCIAtEd wIth thE ASSEtS CLASSIFIEd AS hELd-FOR-SALE 

2012 2011

Trade payables and other liabilities 7.7 0.0

Other current liabilities 3.3 0.0

total 11.0 0.0

17. receivables  

18. non-current assets classiFied as held-For-sale

Items that are due in a time period longer than one year include trade receivables of EUR 0.6 million (EUR 2.4 million), 
prepayments of EUR 0.0 million (EUR 0.1 million), prepaid expenses and accrued income of EUR 2.0 million (EUR 2.8 million), 
non-interest bearing receivables of EUR 0.2 million (EUR 0.0 million) and loan receivables of EUR 0.1 million (EUR 0.1 million).
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The assets and liabilities related to ChemSolutions B.V. have been presented as held-for-sale in the Financial Statement 
2012 due to a sales agreement signed on December 14, 2012. Based on the sale agreement Kemira sells its food 
and pharmaceutical businesses together with its acetate based chemicals business to Niacet (Niagara Falls, USA). 
These businesses are a part of Kemira’s ChemSolutions business. All shares of Kemira ChemSolutions B.V., including the 
manufacturing site in Tiel (Netherlands), will be transferred from Kemira to Niacet Corp. The other businesses of the 
ChemSolutions business, including the chemical, feed and de-icing business, which are linked to Kemira’s formic acid 
production in Oulu (Finland), will stay within Kemira. The transaction is expected to be closed in the first quarter 2013.
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Number of shares 
outstanding (1,000)

Share 
capital

January 1, 2011 151,735 221.8

Treasury shares issued to key personnel and management board members 320

Treasury shares issued to the Board of Directors 9

Acquisition of treasury shares 0

Shares from the share-based arrangement given back –34

December 31, 2011 152,030 221.8

January 1, 2012 152,030 221.8

Treasury shares issued to key personnel and management board members 0

Treasury shares issued to the Board of Directors 11

Acquisition of treasury shares 0

Shares from the share-based arrangement given back 0

december 31, 2012 152,041 221.8

19. capital and reserves

chanGes in numBer of shares and share capital

Kemira Oyj has one class of shares. Each share entitles 
its holder to one vote at General Meeting. On December 
31, 2012, the share capital was EUR 221.8 million and the 
total number of shares issued was 155,342,557 including 
3,301,769 treasury shares. Under the Articles of Association 
of Kemira Oyj, the company does not have a minimum or 
maximum share capital or a par value of a share. All issued 
shares have been fully paid.  

share premium
The share premium is a reserve accumulated through 
subscriptions entitled by the management stock option 
program of 2001. This reserve is based on the old Finnish 
Companies Act (734/1978), which does not change 
anymore.

fair value reserves
The fair value reserve is a reserve accumulated based on 
available-for-sale financial assets (shares) measured at fair 
value and hedge accounting. 

other reserves
Other reserves originate from local requirements of 
subsidiaries. On December 31, 2012, other reserves was 
EUR 4.3 million (4.2). 

unrestricted eQuity reserve
The unrestricted equity reserve includes other equity type 
investments and the subscription price of shares to the 
extent that they will not, based on the specific decision, be 
recognized in share capital. 
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exchanGe differences
The foreign currency translation differences arise from the 
translation of foreign subsidiaries’ financial statements. 
Also, the gains and losses arising from net investment 
hedges in foreign subsidiaries are included in foreign 
currency translation differences, provided that hedge 
accounting requirements are fulfilled.

treasury shares
Kemira had in its possession 3,301,769 of its treasury 
shares on December 31, 2012. The average share price of 
treasury shares was EUR 6.73, and they represented 2.1% 
of the share capital and the aggregate number of votes 
conferred by all shares. The aggregate par value of the 
treasury shares is EUR 4.7 million. 

Note
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net profit for the period 135.7 135.7 4.6 140.3

other comprehensive 
income 

Available-for-sale 
financial assets  –24.1 –24.1 –24.1

Exchange differences 
on translating foreign 
operations –3.7 –3.7 –0.9 –4.6

Net investment hedge 
in foreign operations 0.4 0.4 0.4

Cash flow hedges –14.5 –14.5 –14.5

other comprehensive 
income for the period, net 
of tax –38.6 –3.3 –41.9 –0.9 –42.8

total comprehensive 
income for the period –38.6 –3.3 135.7 93.8 3.7 97.5

AttRIButABLE tO OwNERS OF thE PARENt

year ended 31 december 
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net profit for the period 16.8 16.8 4.7 21.5

other comprehensive 
income 

Available-for-sale 
financial assets  5.4 5.4 5.4

Exchange differences 
on translating foreign 
operations 1.6 1.6 0.7 2.3

Cash flow hedges –1.0 –1.0 –1.0

other comprehensive 
income for the period, net 
of tax 4.4 1.6 6.0 0.7 6.7

total comprehensive 
income for the period 4.4 1.6 16.8 22.8 5.4 28.2
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Note



199

Kemira 2012 Consolidated Financial Statements • Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (eur million)

20. interest-bearing liabilities

2012 2011

interest-bearing current liabilities

Loans from financial institutions 52.8 49.5

Current portion of other non-current loans 10.8 17.2

Finance lease liabilities 1.1 1.2

Other interest-bearing current liabilities 212.5 169.2

total interest-bearing current liabilities 277.2 237.1

interest-bearing non-current liabilities

Loans from financial institutions 379.9 458.5

Other non-current liabilities from others 7.6 6.0

total 387.5 464.5

non-current interest-bearing liabilities maturing in

2014 (2013) 56.5 113.5

2015 (2014) 112.2 72.2

2016 (2015) 33.5 86.6

2017 (2016) 56.8 33.5

2018 (2017) or later 128.5 158.7

total 387.5 464.5

interest-bearing liabilities maturing in five years or over a longer period of time

Loans from financial institutions 128.5 158.7

total 128.5 158.7

The foreign currency breakdown of non-current loans is disclosed in Management of financial risks, Note 29.

The Group’s liabilities include neither debentures nor convertible bonds.

net liabilities

Interest-bearing non-current liabilities 387.5 464.5

Interest-bearing current liabilities 277.2 237.1

Cash and cash equivalents –132.7 –185.8

total 532.0 515.8
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21. Finance lease liabilities

2012 2011

maturity of minimum lease payments

No later than 1 year 0.9 1.0

1–5 years 0.2 0.2

Later than 5 years – –

total minimum lease payments 1.1 1.2

present value of finance lease liabilities

Total minimum lease payments 0.9 1.2

Future finance charges on finance leases 0.0 0.0

present value of finance lease liabilities 0.9 1.2

maturity of the present value of finance lease liabilities

No later than 1 year 0.9 1.0

1–5 years 0.2 0.2

Later than 5 years – –

total present value of finance lease liabilities 1.1 1.2
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January 1, 
2012

Recognized 
in the income 

statement

Recognized 
in other 

comprehensive 
income

Recognized in 
equity

Exchange rate  
differences

december 31, 
2012

deferred tax liabilities

Depreciation difference and 
untaxed reserves 58.5 –9.5 0.6 49.6

Available-for-sale financial 
assets 29.6 0.2 1.7 31.5

Pensions 10.3 0.3 10.6

Fair value adjustments of net 
assets acquired 1) 4.4 –0.9 3.5

Other 33.9 –28.2 –2.3 3.4

total 136.7 –38.1 1.7 –2.3 0.6 98.6

Deferred tax assets deducted –50.2 –54.8

total deferred tax liabilities 
in the balance sheet 86.5 43.8

deferred tax assets

Provisions 5.6 –0.2 5.4

Tax losses 48.1 –3.8 –0.2 44.1

Pensions 2.6 0.7 0.1 3.4

Other 41.2 –10.7 0.3 0.6 0.2 31.6

total 97.5 –14.0 0.3 0.6 0.1 84.5

Deferred tax liabilities 
deducted  –50.2 –54.8

total deferred tax assets in 
the balance sheet 47.3 29.7

1) The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are recognized at their fair values. The resulting deferred taxes affect goodwill. 
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January 1, 
2011

Recognized 
in the income 

statement

Recognized 
in other 

comprehensive 
income

Recognized in 
equity

Exchange rate  
differences

December 31, 
2011

deferred tax liabilities

Depreciation difference and 
untaxed reserves 52.4 5.7 0.4 58.5

Available-for-sale  
financial assets 39.6 –9.4 –0.6 29.6

Pensions 9.8 0.5 10.3

Fair value adjustments of net 
assets acquired 1) 4.6 –0.2 4.4

Other 20.7 17.6 –5.2 0.8 33.9

total 127.1 23.6 –14.6 0.8 –0.2 136.7

Deferred tax assets deducted –27.6 –50.2

total deferred tax liabilities in 
the balance sheet 99.5 86.5

deferred tax assets

Provisions 6.3 –0.8 0.1 5.6

Tax losses 24.8 23.5 –0.2 48.1

Pensions 2.3 0.3 2.6

Fair value of financial liabilities 35.4 –35.4 0.0

Other 2.5 38.7 41.2

total 71.3 26.3 –0.1 97.5

Deferred tax liabilities deducted –27.6 –50.2

total deferred tax assets in the 
balance sheet 43.7 47.3

1) The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are recognized at their fair values. The resulting deferred taxes affect goodwill. 
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23. pension obligations

The Group has various pension plans in accordance with the local conditions and practices of the countries in which it 
operates. Under a defined benefit plan, the pension benefits are determined by salary, retirement age, disability, mortality 
or termination of employment. The pension liability of the Group’s pension fund Neliapila is arranged in Finland through a 
defined benefit plan.

The following table presents the effect of both the defined benefit and the defined contribution plans on the Group’s  
income statement and balance sheet. Pension liabilities, plan assets and actuarial gains and losses of the business acquired 
and divested have changed the obligations and the assets.

2012 2011

the amounts recognized in the balance sheet

Liabilities for defined contribution plans 0.0 0.4

Liabilities for defined benefit plans 54.9 52.0

Liabilities in the balance sheet 54.9 52.4

Assets for defined benefit plans –43.6 –44.3

net recognized assets ( – ) / liabilities (+) in the balance sheet 11.3 8.1

defined benefit plans

the amounts recognized in the balance sheet

Liabilities for defined benefit plans 54.9 52.0

Assets for defined benefit plans –43.6 –44.3

net recognized assets ( – ) / liabilities (+) recognized in the balance sheet 11.3 7.7

the amounts recognized in the balance sheet – defined benefit plans

Present value of funded obligations 388.7 311.4

Present value of unfunded obligations 66.0 54.7

Defined benefit obligations 454.7 366.1

Fair value of plan assets –392.2 –355.6

Surplus ( – ) / Deficit (+) 62.5 10.5

Unrecognized past service cost –0.4 –0.4

Unrecognized actuarial losses and gains –59.1 –7.3

Effect of the limit in IAS 19.58 8.3 4.9

net recognized assets ( – ) / liabilities (+) in the balance sheet 11.3 7.7

the amounts recognized in the income statement

Defined benefit plans 9.5 0.0

the movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year

Defined benefit obligation at January 1 366.1 358.1

Current service cost 4.8 4.7

Interest cost 16.7 16.6

Actuarial losses (+) / gains ( – ) 81.1 4.3

Exchange differences 3.8 0.9

Effect of business combinations and divestments 0.0 –1.1

Benefits paid –20.3 –18.3

Curtailments and settlements 2.5 0.0

Past service cost 0.0 0.9

defined benefit obligation at december 31 454.7 366.1
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2012 2011

the movement in the fair value of plan assets for the year

Fair value at January 1 355.6 382.9

Expected return on plan assets 16.9 18.8

Employer contributions 7.1 5.7

Actuarial losses (+) / gains ( – ) 33.4 –32.7

Exchange differences –0.2 0.2

Effect of business combinations and divestments 0.0 –0.1

Benefits paid –20.3 –18.3

Settlements –0.3 –0.9

fair value at december 31 392.2 355.6

the amounts recognized in the income statement – defined benefit plans

Current service cost 4.8 4.7

Interest cost 16.7 16.6

Expected return on plan assets –16.9 –18.8

Past service cost 0.0 0.9

Actuarial losses (+) / gains ( – ) 5.4 –3.4

Effect of the limit in IAS 19.58 –3.4 –0.6

Curtailments 2.9 0.6

total included in employee benefits 9.5 0.0

The actual return on plan assets was EUR 50.3 million (EUR –13.9 million).

the principal actuarial assumptions used, % 

2012 2011

Discount rate 3.0–4.7 3.3–5.7

Expected return on plan assets 4.0–7.5 4.1–7.5

Inflation rate 1.5–3.0 2.0–3.0

Future salary increases 1.0–3.1 2.0–4.0

Future pension increases 1.3–3.3 0.7–3.8

plan assets are comprised as follows:

Shares 122.3 164.0

Interest rate investments 71.1 54.9

Assets in the insurance companies 1) 183.5 121.6

Kemira Oyj´s shares 1.4 1.1

Property occupied by the Group 14.0 14.0

total assets 392.2 355.6

1) Funds managed by the insurance companies, under the defined benefit pension plan, form part of the investment assets of the insurance companies, which bear 
the associated investment risk. For this reason, more detailed information on the individual plans asset allocation is not available.

The total expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is 5.0%, which is based on the portfolio as a whole and not on 
the sum of the returns on individual asset categories. 

Expected contributions to defined benefit plans for the year ended December 31, 2013, are EUR 5.8 million.
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2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Present value of defined benefit obligation 454.7 366.1 358.3 367.2 412.2

Fair value of plan assets 392.2 355.6 382.9 363.6 427.8

surplus ( – ) / deficit (+) 62.5 10.5 –24.6 3.6 –15.6

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities 1.7 4.2 –0.3 0.1 –3.4

Experience adjustments on plan assets –19.3 –31.6 36.2 31.6 –88.2

24. provisions

Personnel 
related 

provisions
Restructuring 

provisions

Environmental 
and damage 

provisions
Other  

provisions 2012 

non-current provisions

At beginning of year 1.1 2.3 12.8 34.1 50.3

Exchange rate differences 0.1 0.1

Additional provisions and increases in existing 
provisions 3.8 0.2 5.1 9.1

Used during the financial year –0.6 –3.2 –3.8

Unused amounts reversed 0.0

Reclassification 0.2 –34.1 –33.9

at end of year 4.9 2.1 14.8 0.0 21.8

current provisions

At beginning of year 0.7 1.7 1.9 2.0 6.3

Exchange rate differences –0.2 –0.2

Additional provisions and increases in existing 
provisions 10.8 7.9 2.4 0.2 21.3

Used during the financial year –3.5 –0.4 –1.0 0.0 –4.9

Unused amounts reversed 1.6 –0.1 1.5

Reclassification 0.1 –0.3 –0.2

at end of year 8.1 8.9 4.9 1.9 23.8

2012 2011

analysis of total provisions

Non-current provisions 21.8 50.3

Current provisions 23.8 6.3

total 45.6 56.6

In 2012, increase in personnel related and restructuring provisions relate mainly to restructuring program “Fit for Growth”, 
to improve Kemira’s profitability, its internal efficiency and to accelerate the growth in emerging market. The restructuring 
program resulted in the reduction of total of approximately 500 jobs. Other costs attributable to the restructuring including 
factory closures. These costs were fully provided for in 2012. The provision is expected to be fully utilized during year 2013.

Other non-current provisions decreased by EUR 34.1 million in relation to the establishment of an associate and its items 
reclassification. There is more information about environmental provisions in Note 31, Environmental risks and liabilities.
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25. trade payables and other current liabilities

26. supplementary cash Flow inFormation

2012 2011

trade payables and other current liabilities

Prepayments received 0.9 2.0

Trade payables 157.6 191.5

Accrued expenses 128.9 149.7

Other non-interest bearing current liabilities 28.1 40.6

total trade payables and other current liabilities 315.5 383.8

accrued expenses

Employee benefits 32.6 33.0

Items related to revenues and purchases 53.4 67.3

Interest 9.2 9.3

Exchange rate differences 1.7 6.7

Other 32.0 33.4

total accrued expenses 128.9 149.7

2012 2011

disposal of subsidiaries

Proceeds from the disposals – 1.5

Cash and cash equivalent in disposed companies – 0.2

total cash flow on disposals of subsidiaries – 1.7

assets and liabilities disposed of

Net working capital – 1.9

Property, plant and equipment – 0.4

Available-for-sale investment – 0.1

Interest-bearing receivables, excluding cash and cash equivalents – –1.0

Other non-interest bearing receivables – 0.0

Interest-bearing liabilities – –1.0

Non-interest bearing liabilities – –0.3

total assets and liabilities of disposed subsidiaries – 0.1

1

6

2

7

3

8

4

9

5

10

11

16

12

17

13

18

14

19

15

20

21

26

31

22

27

32

23

28

33

24

29

34

25

30

35

Note



207

Kemira 2012 Consolidated Financial Statements • Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (eur million)

27. transactions with non-controlling interests

Acquisition of additional interest in the subsidiary of Kemira Chemicals (yanzhou) Co., Ltd.  
(former Kemira tiancheng Chemicals Co., Ltd)

In 2011, Kemira bought the remaining shares (49%) of Kemira Tiancheng Chemicals Co., Ltd in Yanzhou, China. Previously, 
Kemira held 51% share of the company and after this transaction owns the entire company.

28. derivative instruments

Nominal values

2012 2011

< 1 year > 1 year total < 1 year > 1 year Total

currency instruments

Forward contracts 611.2 – 611.2 554.6 – 554.6

interest rate instruments

Interest rate swaps 17.4 155.8 173.2 80.0 133.5 213.5

of which cash flow hedges 17.4 155.8 173.2 60.0 133.5 193.5

Bond futures - 10.0 10.0 – 10.0 10.0

of which open - 10.0 10.0 – 10.0 10.0

other instruments

Electricity forward contracts, bought (GWh) 538.8 762.3 1,301.1 509.5 582.6 1,092.1

of which cash flow hedges (GWh) 538.8 718.5 1,257.3 509.5 582.6 1,092.1

Salt derivatives (k tons) – – – 53.3 – 53.3

Nominal values of the financial instruments do not necessarily correspond to the actual cash flows between the 
counterparties, and individual items do not therefore give a fair view of the Group’s risk position.
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Fair values

2012 2011

 
assets  

gross
liabilities

gross
total

net
Assets  
gross

Liabilities
gross

Total
net

currency instruments

Forward contracts 3.4 –1.7 1.7 5.0 –6.7 –1.7

interest rate instruments

Interest rate swaps - –6.2 –6.2 – –5.3 –5.3

of which cash flow hedges - –6.2 –6.2 – –4.9 –4.9

Bond futures - –0.1 –0.1 – –0.3 –0.3

of which open - –0.1 –0.1 – –0.3 –0.3

other instruments

Electricity forward contracts, bought – –6.7 –6.7 – –4.6 –4.6

of which cash flow hedges – –5.9 –5.9 – –4.6 –4.6

Salt derivatives – – – 0.3 – 0.3

Fair values

2012 2011

assets 
gross

liabilities  
gross

Assets  
gross

Liabilities  
gross

 < 1 year > 1 year < 1 year > 1 year  < 1 year > 1 year < 1 year > 1 year

currency instruments

Forward contract 3.4 – –1.7 – 5.0 – –6.7 –

interest rate instruments

Interest rate swaps – – –0.2 –6.0 0.1 – –0.6 –4.8

of which cash flow hedges – – –0.2 –6.0 0.1 – –0.2 –4.8

Bond futures – – –0.1 – – – – –0.3

of which open – – –0.1 – – – – –0.3

other instruments

Electricity forward contracts, bought 0.2 – –4.3 –2.6 0.2 – –3.3 –1.5

of which cash flow hedges 0.2 – –4.3 –1.8 0.2 – –3.3 –1.5

Salt derivatives – – – – 0.3 – – –
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29. management oF Financial risKs

The Group Treasury manages financial risks in accordance 
with the treasury policy in force. Approved by the Board of 
Directors, the treasury policy defines treasury management 
principles. The Board of Directors approves the annual 
Treasury plan and the maximum permissible financial risk 
levels.

Financial risk management aims to protect the 
Company from unfavorable changes in financial markets, 
thus contributing to safeguarding the Company’s profit 
performance and shareholders’ equity. Kemira employs 
various financial instruments within the set limits. The 
Group uses only instruments the market values and risks of 
which can be monitored continuously and reliably. It uses 
derivative instruments only for hedging purposes, not for 
speculative gain. Management of foreign exchange and 
interest rate risk is centralized in the Group Treasury.

foreiGn exchanGe risK
Foreign currency transaction risk arises from net currency 
flows denominated in currencies other than the domestic 

currency within and outside the eurozone. The Group’s 
most significant transaction currency risks arises from 
the Swedish krona and the Canadian dollar. At the end 
of the year the denominated exchange rate risk of the 
Swedish krona had an equivalent value of approximately 
EUR 43 million (EUR 40 million), the average hedging 
rate being 45% (33%).  The CAD denominated exchange 
rate risk had an equivalent value of approximately 
EUR 26 million (EUR 19 million) the average hedging rate 
being 50% (42%). Kemira is exposed to smaller transaction 
risks in relation to the U.S. dollar, UK pound and Norwegian 
krona with the annual exposure in those currencies being 
approximately EUR 50 million.

Kemira mainly uses forwards and currency options in 
hedging against foreign exchange risks. The table below 
shows an estimate of the largest group-level foreign 
currency cash flow risks.

2012 2011

transaction and translation exposure, 
eur million seK cad usd other SEK CAD USD Other

Operative cash flow forecast 1) –43.3 26.0 11.7 70.1 –39.9 18.6 27.8 55.4

Loans, net 18.2 – 208.0 49.5 17.4 –17.1 128.9 42.0

Derivatives, transaction hedging 25.1 –11.4 –12.1 33.3 11.2 –12.1 –11.6 –25.0

Derivatives, translation hedging – – –182.0 –50.2 – 13.5 –136.4 –52.0

total 0.0 14.6 25.6 102.7 –11.3 2.9 8.7 20.4

1) Based on 12 months operative cash flow forecast

At the turn of 2012/2013, the foreign currency operative 
cash flow forecast for 2013 was EUR 150 million of which 
55% was hedged (41%). The hedge ratio is monitored 
daily. In hedging the total cash flow risk, a neutral level is 
achieved when 50% of the forecasted net foreign currency 
cash flow is hedged. A minimum of 30% and a maximum 
of 100% of the forecast flow must always be hedged. A 
10% fall in foreign exchange rates against the euro, based 
on the exchange rates quoted on the balance sheet date, 
and without hedging, would reduce earnings before taxes 
by about EUR 10 million (EUR 10 million). 

Since Kemira’s consolidated financial statements are 
compiled in euros, Kemira is subject to currency translation 
risk to the extent that the income statement and balance 

sheet items of subsidiaries located outside Finland are 
reported in some other currency than the euro. Most 
significant translation risk currencies are the US dollar, 
Swedish krona, Canadian dollar and Brazilian real.

Kemira’s main equity items denominated in foreign 
currencies are in the Swedish krona, US dollar and Brazilian 
real. The objective is to hedge the balance sheet risk 
by maintaining a balance between foreign currency 
denominated liabilities and assets, currency by currency. 
In hedging the net investment in its units abroad, Kemira 
monitors the equity ratio. In accordance with the Group’s 
policy, Kemira must take equity hedging measures if a 
change of +/– 5% in foreign exchange rates causes a 
change of more than 1.5 percentage points in the equity 
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time to interest rate fixing dec 31, 2012 < 1 year 1–5 years > 5 years total

Floating net liabilities 232 232

Fixed net liabilities 17 211 72 300

total 249 211 72 532

time to interest rate fixing dec 31, 2011 < 1 year 1–5 years > 5 years Total

Floating net liabilities 218 218

Fixed net liabilities 80 183 35 298

total 298 183 35 516

As a consequence of this treasury policy, the Group’s 
average interest rate is generally higher than short-term 
market interest rates when low rates prevail and, on 
the other hand, lower than market interest rates when 
high rates prevail. If interest rates would rise by one 
percentage point on January 1, 2013, the resulting interest 
expenses before taxes incurred by the Group over the 
next 12 months would increase by about EUR 2.1 million 
(EUR 2.9 million). During 2013, Kemira will reprice 
55% (64%) of the Group’s net debt portfolio, including 
derivatives.

On the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding 
interest rate derivatives with a market value of 
EUR –6.2 million (EUR -5.3 million). All interest rate swaps 
are used to hedge the Group’s loan portfolio, and are 
accounted for in accordance with the principles of hedge 
accounting set out in IAS 39. The Group’s accounting 
policies section describes the Group policy regarding hedge 
accounting. One percentage point increase in interest 
rates would result in a positive impact of EUR 0.6 million 
(EUR 0.6 million) in equity (before taxes) from hedge 
accounting interest rate swaps.

ratio. Long term loans are primarily used for hedging 
of net investment. These hedges apply without hedge 
accounting.

interest rate risK
In accordance with the treasury policy the Group’s interest 
rate risk is measured with the duration which describes 
average repricing moment of the loan portfolio. The 
duration, must be in the range of 6–24 months. The 
Group may borrow by way of either fixed or floating rate 
instruments and use both interest rate swaps and interest 
rate options as well as forward rate agreements and 
interest rate futures in order to meet the goal set under 
the related policy.

The duration of the Group’s interest-bearing loan 
portfolio was 16 months at the end of 2012 (17 months). 
Excluding the interest rate derivatives, the duration was 7 
months (8 months). At the end of 2012, 56% of the Group’s 

entire net debt portfolio, including derivatives and pension 
loans, consisted of fixed-interest borrowings (58%). The 
net financing cost of the Group was 3.5% (3.9%). This 
figure is attained by dividing yearly net interest and other 
financing expenses excluding exchange rate differences and 
dividends by the average interest bearing net debt figure 
for the corresponding period. The most significant impact on 
the net financing cost arises from variation in the interest 
rate levels of the euro and the US dollar denominated debt. 
On the balance sheet date the average interest rate of loan 
portfolio was approximately 1.6%.

Fixed-interest financial assets and liabilities are 
exposed to price risks arising from changes in interest 
rates. Floating rate of the financial assets and liabilities, the 
interest rate of which changes alongside market interest 
rates, are exposed to cash flow risks due to interest rates.

The table below shows the time to interest rate fixing 
of the loan portfolio.
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price risK
The price of electricity varies greatly according to the 
market situation. Kemira Group takes hedging measures 
with respect to its electricity purchases in order to even 
out raw material costs. In line with its hedging policy, 
the Group hedges its existing sales agreements in such 
a way that the hedges cover the commitments made. 
The company primarily uses electricity forwards on the 
power exchange as hedging instruments. Currency and 
regional price risks connected with hedges are hedged by 
making agreements with Finland area, mainly in HELEUR 
amounts and Sweden area, mainly in MALSEK amounts, 
which is located in the largest consumption in Sweden. 
The majority of outstanding electricity derivatives are 
treated in accordance with cash flow hedge accounting, 
as discussed above. The forecast for physical deliveries of 
the underlying asset, or purchases, are not recorded until 
the delivery period. A 10% change in the market price of 
electricity hedging contracts would impact the valuation of 
these contracts EUR +/–5.3 million (EUR +/–12.7 million). 

Kemira’s salt purchase agreement for years 2010–2012 
included an embedded derivative. The variable pricing 
component was dependent on the development of LFSO 
(Low Sulphur Fuel Oil) index in euros, thus there was an 
exposure both to the oil price and the EUR/USD exchange 
rate. 

credit and counterparty risK
The Group’s treasury policy defines the credit rating 
requirements for counterparties to investment activities 
and derivative agreements as well as the related 
investment policy. The Group seeks to minimize its 
counterparty risk by dealing solely with counterparties that 
are financial institutions with a good credit rating as well as 
by spreading agreements among them.

The Group Treasury approves the new banking 
relationships of subsidiaries. At present, there are 11 
approved financial institution counterparties used by the 
Group Treasury, all of which have a credit rating of at least 
A, based on Standard & Poor’s credit rating information. 
The maximum risk assignable to the Group’s financial 
institution counterparties on the balance sheet date 
amounted to EUR 136.1 million on the balance sheet date 
(EUR 189.8 million). Kemira monitors its counterparty 
risk on a monthly basis by defining the maximum risk 
associated with each counterparty, based on the market 
value of receivables. For each financial institution, Kemira 
has defined an approved limit. Credit risks associated with 
financing transactions did not result in credit losses during 
the financial year.

The counterparty risk in treasury operations is due to 
the fact that a contractual party to a financing transaction 
is not necessarily able to fulfill its contractual obligations. 
Risks are mainly related to investment activities and the 
counterparty risks associated with derivative contracts. The 
Group Treasury may invest a maximum of EUR 150 million 
in liquid assets in the commercial papers of Finnish 
companies. The maximum investment in a single company 
totals EUR 25 million for a period of up to six months.

Kemira has a Group wide credit policy in place. 
Products are sold on open account only to companies the 
credit information of which does not indicate payment 
irregularities. The Group does not have any significant 
credit risk concentrations because of its extensive 
customer base across the world. Credit limits apply to 
most customers and are monitored systematically. In some 
cases, documentary payments are in use, such as letters of 
credit. The age distribution of trade receivables outstanding 
at the end of 2012 is shown in the following table.

Ageing of trade receivables 2012 2011

Undue trade receivables 247.7 250.5

Trade receivables 1–90 days overdue 43.4 46.0

Trade receivables more than 91 days overdue 1.1 3.5

total 292.2 300.0

Impairment loss of trade receivables amounted to EUR 3.3 million (EUR 3.2 million).
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liQuidity and refinancinG risKs
In order to safeguard its liquidity, the Group uses account 
overdrafts, money market investments and a revolving 
credit facility. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of 2012 stood at EUR 132.7 million (EUR 185.8 million), 
of which short-term investment accounted for EUR 
42.0 million (EUR 61.7 million) and bank deposits 
EUR 90.7 million (EUR 124.1 million). 

The Group diversifi es its refi nancing risk by raising 
fi nancing from various sources. The Group has bank loans, 
insurance company loans as well as short-term domestic 
commercial paper program, with the objective of balancing 
the maturity schedule of the loan portfolio and maintaining 
a suffi ciently long maturity for long-term loans.

In accordance with the Group Treasury policy, the 
average maturity of outstanding loans should always be 
at least 3 years. The Group must have committed credit 
facilities to cover planned funding needs, the current 
portion of long term debt, commercial paper borrowings 
and other uncommitted short-term loans in the next 
12 months. Moreover, the maturity profi le of the long term 
debt portfolio and refi nancing should be planned so that 
a maximum of 30% of the total debt portfolio will mature 
during the next 12 month period. The average maturity of 
debt at the end of 2012 was 3.4 years.

The Group has a EUR 600 million domestic commercial 
paper program enabling it to issue commercial papers 
with a maximum maturity of one year. At the end of 
2012 the amount raised from commercial paper markets 
was EUR 193.6 million. Simultaneously the group had 
EUR 132.7 million of outstanding liquid short- and 
long-term investments. In addition, the Group has 
EUR 300 million revolving credit facility, which matures in 
June 2016. At the turn of the year 2012/2013 revolving 
credit facility was undrawn. The revolving credit facility 
represents a fl exible form of both short-term and 
long-term fi nancing with a predictable fee structure.

capital structure manaGement
The Group’s long-term objective is to maintain the gearing 
ratio below 60%. To calculate the gearing ratio, interest-
bearing net liabilities (interest-bearing liabilities less cash 
and cash equivalents) are divided by shareholders’ equity. 
The new revolver credit facility agreement contains a 
covenant according to which the company gearing must be 
under 100%.

Besides gearing, certain other bilateral loan 
agreements contain a covenant according to which 
the Company represents and warrants that its fi nancial 
standing will remain such that the consolidated 
shareholders’ equity is always at least 25% of the 
consolidated total assets (equity ratio).

The Board of Directors will propose a per-share 
dividend of EUR 0.53 for 2012 (EUR 0.53), corresponding 
to a dividend payout ratio of 482% (59%). The long-term 
objective is to distribute 40%-60% of the net operating 
income in dividends to the shareholders.
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2012 2011

Interest-bearing liabilities 664.7 701.6

Cash and cash equivalents 132.7 185.8

Interest-bearing net liabilities 532.0 515.8

Equity 1,314.8 1,370.8

Total assets 2,489.0 2,676.5

Gearing 40% 38%

Equity ratio 53% 51%

CASh ANd CASh EQuIVALENtS

 2012 2011

Book value fair value Book value Fair value

Cash and cash equivalents 90.7 90.7 124.1 124.1

Money market investments 34.9 34.9 54.9 54.9

Investments for the interest funds 7.1 7.1 6.8 6.8

total 132.7 132.7 185.8 185.8

Money market investments are short-term. Fair value of investment for interest funds are based on valuation received from 
contracting parties.

NON-CuRRENt INtERESt-BEARINg LOANS ANd AmORtIZAtIONS OF NON-CuRRENt INtERESt-BEARINg LOANS
currency

dec 31, 2012         Maturity

fair value Book value 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018–

EUR 227.5 219.1 12.2 24.2 78.8 24.6 24.6 54.7

USD 185.1 186.4 51.4 32.3 10.7 8.9 32.2 50.9

Other 46.5 45.6 – – 22.7 – – 22.9

total 459.1 451.1 63.6 56.5 112.2 33.5 56.8 128.5

currency

Dec 31, 2011         Maturity

Fair value Book value 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017–

EUR 249.8 245.7 32.9 20.3 24.6 74.6 24.6 68.7

USD 264.4 257.4 8.9 93.2 47.6 8.9 8.9 89.9

Other 27.5 28.0 24.9 – – 3.0 – 0.1

total 541.7 531.1 66.7 113.5 72.2 86.5 33.5 158.7

The figures include the amortizations planned for 2013 (2012) excluding commercial papers, finance lease liabilities and 
other current loans. 
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CASh FLOw FROm ALL FINANCIAL LIABILItIES

loan type

dec 31, 2012        Maturity

drawn undrawn 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018–

Long-term interest bearing 
liabilities 451.1 63.6 56.5 112.2 33.5 56.8 128.5

financial expenses 1.0 0.9 1.8 0.5 0.9 2.1

Revolving credit facility 0.0 300.0

financial expenses

Finance lease liabilities 1.1

financial expenses 0.1

Commercial paper program 193.6 406.4 193.6

financial expenses 0.8

Other interest-bearing current loans 18.9 18.9

financial expenses 0.5

interest-bearing loans 664.7 706.4 278.5 57.4 114.0 34.0 57.7 130.6

Trade payables 157.6

Forward contracts

liabilities 611.2 611.2

assets –612.9 –612.9

Other derivatives 1) 13.0 4.6 2.7 2.7 2.8 0.2

trade payables and derivatives 168.9 2.9 2.7 2.7 2.8 0.2

total 833.6 706.4 281.4 60.1 116.7 36.8 57.9 130.6

Guarantees 2.7

loan type
Dec 31, 2011        Maturity

Drawn Undrawn 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017–

Long-term interest bearing 
liabilities 531.1 66.6 113.5 72.2 86.5 33.5 158.8

financial expenses 1.4 2.3 1.5 1.8 0.7 3.2

Revolving credit facility 0.0 300.0

financial expenses

Finance lease liabilities 1.2

financial expenses 0.1

Commercial paper program 164.0 436.0 164.0

financial expenses 0.8

Other interest-bearing current loans 6.2 6.2

financial expenses 0.1

interest-bearing loans 702.5 736.0 239.2 115.8 73.7 88.3 34.2 162.0

Trade payables 191.5 191.5

Forward contracts

liabilities 554.6 554.6

assets –552.9 –552.9

Other derivatives 1) 9.9 3.6 1.9 1.7 0.9 1.8

trade payables and derivatives 203.1 196.8 1.9 1.7 0.9 1.8

total 905.6 736.0 436.0 117.7 75.4 89.2 36.0 162.0

Guarantees 4.4

1) Interest rate swaps, currency swaps and electricity and salt forwards. 
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the most siGnificant off-Balance sheet 
investments commitments
Major amounts of contractual commitments for the 
acquisition of property, plant and equipment on December 
31, 2012 were about EUR 21.6 million (EUR 14.5 million) for 
plant investment in China, India and Europe.

litiGation
On August 19, 2009, Kemira Oyj received a summons 
stating that Cartel Damage Claims Hydrogen Peroxide 
SA (CDC) had filed an action against six hydrogen 
peroxide manufacturers, including Kemira, for violations 
of competition law applicable to the hydrogen peroxide 
business. In its claim, Cartel Damage Claims Hydrogen 
Peroxide SA seeks an order from the Regional Court of 
Dortmund in Germany to obtain an unabridged and full 
copy of the decision of the European Commission, dated 
May 3, 2006, and demands that the defendants, including 
Kemira, are jointly and severally ordered to pay damages 
together with accrued interest on the basis of such 
decision.

2012 2011

LOANS SECuREd By mORtgAgES IN thE BALANCE ShEEt ANd FOR whICh 
mORtgAgES ARE gIVEN AS COLLAtERAL

Loans from financial institutions 0.0 0.3

Mortgages given 0.5 0.5

CONtINgENt LIABILItIES

assets pledged 

On behalf of own commitments 6.6 6.3

Guarantees

On behalf of own commitments 52.9 48.9

On behalf of associates 0.7 0.7

On behalf of others 3.0 4.4

operating lease commitments - the Group as lessee

minimum lease payments under operating leases are as follows:

No later than 1 year 29.0 27.8

Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 63.2 61.8

Later than 5 years 69.2 84.2

total 161.4 173.8

other obligations

On behalf of own commitments 1.3 1.3

On behalf of associates 1.0 1.4

30. commitments and contingent liabilities

Cartel Damage Claims Hydrogen Peroxide SA has stated 
that it will specify the amount of the damages at a later 
stage after the full copy of the decision of the European 
Commission has been obtained by it. In order to provide 
initial guidance as to the amount of such damages, Cartel 
Damage Claims Hydrogen Peroxide SA presents in its claim 
a preliminary calculation of the alleged overcharge having 
been paid to the defendants as a result of the violation of 
the applicable competition rules by the parties which have 
assigned and sold their claim to Cartel Damage Claims 
Hydrogen Peroxide SA. In the original summons such 
alleged overcharge, together with accrued interest until 
December 31, 2008, was stated to be EUR 641.3 million. 

Thereafter Cartel Damage Claims Hydrogen Peroxide 
SA has delivered to the attorneys of the defendants an 
April 14, 2011 dated brief addressed to the court and an 
expert opinion. In the said brief the minimum damage 
including accrued interest until December 31, 2010, based 
on the expert opinion, is stated to be EUR 475.6 million. It 
is further stated in the brief that the damages analysis of 
the expert does not include lost profit. 
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31. environmental risKs and liabilities

The process is currently pending in the Regional Court 
of Dortmund, Germany. Kemira defends against the claim 
of Cartel Damage Claims Hydrogen Peroxide SA.

Kemira Oyj has additionally been served on April 
28, 2011 a summons stating that Cartel Damage Claims 
Hydrogen Peroxide SA has filed an application for 
summons in the municipal court of Helsinki on April 20, 
2011 for violations of competition law applicable to the 
hydrogen peroxide business claiming from Kemira Oyj 
as maximum compensation EUR 78.0 million as well as 
overdue interest starting from November 10, 2008 as 
litigation expenses with overdue interest. The referred 
violations of competition law are the same as those on 
basis of which CDC has taken legal action in Germany in 
Dortmund. Kemira defends against the claim of Cartel 
Damage Claims Hydrogen Peroxide SA and requires that 
the claim shall not be considered. 

Kemira Oyj’s subsidiary Kemira Chemicals Oy (former 
Finnish Chemicals Oy) has on June 9, 2011 received 
documents where it is stated that CDC Project 13 SA 
has filed an action against four companies, including 

The bulk of Kemira’s business is in the chemical industry, 
whose products and operations are governed by 
numerous international agreements and regional and 
national legislation all over the world. The Group treats 
its environmental liabilities and risks in the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS and observes 
established internal environmental principles and 
procedures. Divestments and acquisitions did not change 
the Group’s environmental liabilities considerably. Provisions 
for environmental remediation totaled EUR 19.7 million 
(EUR 14.7 million). The increase is mainly explained by 
additional clean-up work required by the authorities on 
one site in the United States and one in Brazil. The biggest 
provisions relate to the closing of the waste piling area in 

Pori, and to the limited reconditioning of the sediment of 
a lake adjacent to the Vaasa plant. The pile closing project 
in Pori proceeded as planned.  In Vaasa, the remediation 
project has been stopped since August 2011 because of 
the work safety risks, and an application concerning the 
remaining remedial works is pending with environmental 
authorities. 

emission allowances
The Group holds assigned emissions allowances under 
the EU Emissions Trading System at one site in Sweden 
and one in Finland plant. At Group level, the allowances 
showed a net deficit of 29,139 tons (a net deficit of 
31,085 tons in 2011). 

Kemira, asking damages for violations of competition law 
applicable to the sodium chlorate business. The European 
Commision set on June 2008 a fine of EUR 10.15 million on 
Finnish Chemicals Oy for antitrust activity in the company’s 
sodium chlorate business during 1994–2000. Kemira Oyj 
acquired Finnish Chemicals in 2005. Kemira defends against 
the claim of CDC Project 13 SA. 

Kemira is currently not in a position to make any 
estimate regarding the duration or the likely outcome of 
the processes started by Cartel Damage Claims Hydrogen 
Peroxide SA and CDC Project 13 SA. No assurance can be 
given as to the outcome of the processes, and unfavorable 
judgments against Kemira could have a material adverse 
effect on Kemira’s business, financial condition or results 
of operations. Due to its extensive international operations 
the Group, in addition to the above referred claims, is 
involved in a number of other legal proceedings incidental 
to these operations and it does not expect the outcome 
of these other currently pending legal proceedings to have 
materially adverse effect upon its consolidated results or 
financial position.
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32. related-party transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party, or exercise significant influence, 
or exercise joint control in making financial and operating decisions. The Group’s related parties include the parent company, 
subsidiaries, associates, joint-ventures and Pension Fund Neliapila. Related parties also include the members of the Board of 
Directors and the Group’s Management Boards, the CEO and his deputy and their immediate family members. 

mEmBERS OF thE BOARd OF dIRECtORS

Number of  
shares

Share value, 
EUR

Cash 
compensation, 

EUR
2012  

total, eur
2011 

Total, EUR

Jukka Viinanen, Chairman (since March 21, 2012)  3,064 28,609 54,533 83,142 56,711

Pekka Paasikivi, Chairman (until March 21, 2012) 2,400 2,400 81,924

Jari Paasikivi, Vice Chairman (since March 21, 2012) 1,863 17,395 36,926 54,321

Elizabeth Armstrong 1,491 13,922 60,255 74,177 59,768

Wolfgang Büchele (until March 21, 2012) 3,600 3,600 51,368

Winnie Fok 1,491 13,922 53,055 66,977 47,768

Juha Laaksonen 1,491 13,922 32,655 46,577 45,368

Kaija Pehu-Lehtonen (until March 21, 2011) 1,800

Kerttu Tuomas 1,491 13,922 30,255 44,177 42,968

EmPLOyEE BENEFItS OF CEO, dEPuty CEO ANd OthER mEmBERS OF KEy mANAgmENt 

Wages, salaries 
and other 

benefits, EUR Bonuses, EUR

Share–based 
payments, 

EUR 2012 2011

CEO Wolfgang Büchele (since April 1, 2012) 655,605 0 0 655,605 0

CEO Harri Kerminen (until March 31, 2012) 370,003 136,634 0 506,637 1,409,719

Deputy CEO Jyrki Mäki-Kala   244,079 29,186 0 273,265 513,847

Other members of key management 1,910,533 188,002 0 2,098,535 3,834,096

Share-based incentive plans for the key management are disclosed in Note 5.

manaGement’s pension commitments and termination Benefits
Wolfgang Büchele has been appointed Kemira Oyj’s CEO as of April 1, 2012, the date Kemira’s previous CEO Harri Kerminen 
retired. Jyrki Mäki-Kala is Kemira’s deputy CEO. 

CEO Wolfgang Büchele belongs to the Finnish Employees’ Pension Act (TyEL) scheme, which provides pension 
security based on the years of service and earnings as stipulated by law. CEO’s retirement age is 63. CEO does not have a 
supplementary pension arrangement.

A twelve-month period of notice applies to both sides for CEO. In addition to the salary of the notice period, CEO is not 
entitled to a separate severance pay.

the Board of directors’ emoluments
Based on the decision at the Annual General Meeting on March 21, 2012, the annual fee is paid as  a combination of the 
shares and cash in such manner that 40% of the annual fee is paid with company’s shares, if this is not possible, shares 
purchased from the market, and 60% is paid in cash. The shares will be transferred to the members of the Board of Directors 
and, if necessary, acquired directly on behalf of the members of the Board of Directors within two weeks from the release of 
Kemira’s interim report January 1–March 31, 2012.

The meeting fees paid in cash and travel expenses are paid according to Kemira’s travel policy.   
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tRANSACtIONS CARRIEd Out wIth RELAtEd PARtIES

2012 2011

sales

Associated companies 44.0 56.0

purchases

Associated companies 5.5 4.7

Pension Fund Neliapila 1.1 3.7

total 6.6 8.4

receivables

Associated companies 0.1 4.6

Pension Fund Neliapila 0.0 0.2

total 0.1 4.8

liabilities

Associated companies 0.5 0.3

Pension Fund Neliapila 0.3 0.2

total 0.8 0.5

The amount contingent liabilities on behalf of associates are presented in Note 30.
Related parties include Pension Fund Neliapila, which is a separate legal entity. Pension Fund Neliapila manages Kemira 

Oyj’s voluntarily organized additional pension fund. Pension Fund Neliapila manages part of the pension assets of the Group’s 
personnel in Finland. The assets include Kemira shares representing 0.08% of the company’s outstanding shares.

On December 2011, Kemira Oyj, has according to an agreement with Pension Fund Neliapila, bought 2.5% of Pohjolan 
Voima Oy shares from the Pension Fund Neliapila. Purchase price of the shares was EUR 102.8 million. Pension Fund Neliapila 
owns 0.0% (0.0%) of Pohjolan Voima’s shares. 

No loans had been granted to the management in the end of 2011 and 2012, nor were there contingency items or 
commitments on behalf of key management personnel.

33. changes in group structure

acQuisitions of Group companies and new suBsidiaries that have Been founded
- Kemira Oyj established a new company Kemira South Africa (Pty) Ltd in South Africa on October 2, 2012.

divestments of Group companies
- Kemipol SP Z.o.o sold the shares of Kemipol-Ukraina Ltd on September 18, 2012.
- Kemira Specialty Crop Care España S.A. was liquidated on October 2, 2012.

name chanGes

former name
Kemira Chimica S.p.A.

new name
Kemira Chimica Srl
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34. group companies

Kemira oyj
Kemira Group’s holding % city

Helsinki
country
Finland

Aliada Quimica de Portugal Lda. 50.10 Estarreja Portugal

AS Kemivesi 100.00 Tallinn Estonia

Chesapeake Agro-Iron, LLC 100.00 Atlanta, GA United States

Clean Water Logistics, LLC 100.00 Atlanta, GA United States

Corporación Kemira Chemicals de Venezuela, C.A. 100.00 Caracas Venezuela

Finnchem Canada Inc. 100.00 Eastover United States

Finnchem USA, Inc. 100.00 Delaware United States

Finnish Chemicals Corporation 100.00 Delaware United States

HTC Augusta Inc. 100.00 Delaware United States

Industry Park i Helsingborg Förvaltning AB 100.00 Lund Sweden

Kemifloc a.s. 51.00 Prerov Czech Republic

Kemifloc Slovakia S.r.o. 51.00 Sol Slovakia

Kemipol Sp. z o.o. 51.00 Police Poland

Kemira Argentina S.A. 100.00 Buenos Aires Argentina

Kemira Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. 100.00 Singapore Singapore

Kemira Cell Sp. z o.o 55.00 Ostroleka Poland

Kemira Chemicals (Nanjing) Co. Ltd. 100.00 Nanjing China

Kemira Chemicals (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. 100.00 Shanghai China

Kemira Chemicals (UK) Ltd 100.00 Harrogate United Kingdom

Kemira Chemicals (Yanzhou) Co., Ltd. 100.00 Yanzhou City China

Kemira Chemicals AS 100.00 Gamle Fredrikstad Norway

Kemira Chemicals Brasil Ltda 100.00 São Paulo Brazil

Kemira Chemicals Canada Inc. 100.00 Maitland Canada

Kemira Chemicals India Private Limited 99.99 Andra Pradesh India

Kemira Chemicals Oy 100.00 Helsinki Finland

Kemira Chemicals S.A./N.V. 100.00 Aartselaar Belgium

Kemira Chemicals, Inc. 100.00 Atlanta, GA United States

Kemira Chemie Ges.mbH 100.00 Krems Austria

Kemira ChemSolutions B.V. 100.00 Tiel Netherlands

Kemira Chile Comercial Limitada 100.00 Santiago Chile

Kemira Chimica Srl 100.00 Milano Italy

Kemira Chimie S.A.S.U. 100.00 Lauterbourg France

Kemira de México, S.A. de C.V. 100.00 Tlaxcala Mexico

Kemira Europe Oy 100.00 Helsinki Finland

Kemira Finance Solutions B.V. 100.00 Rotterdam Netherlands

Kemira France SAS 100.00 Lauterbourg France

Kemira Germany GmbH 100.00 Leverkusen Germany

Kemira Germany Sales GmbH 100.00 Leverkusen Germany

Kemira GrowHow A/S 100.00 Copenhagen Denmark

Kemira Hong Kong Company Limited 100.00 Hong Kong China

Kemira Ibérica S.A. 100.00 Barcelona Spain

Kemira Ibérica Sales and Marketing S.L. 100.00 Barcelona Spain

Kemira Indus Limited 51.00 Hyderabad India

Kemira International Finance B.V. 100.00 Rotterdam Netherlands

Kemira Kemi AB 100.00 Helsingborg Sweden

Kemira Kopparverket KB 100.00 Helsingborg Sweden
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Kemira Group’s Holding % City Country

Kemira Korea Corporation 100.00 Gangnam-Gu South Korea

Kemira KTM d.o.o. 100.00 Ljubljana Slovenia

Kemira Logistics, Inc. 100.00 Atlanta, GA United States

Kemira Nederland Holding B.V. 100.00 Rotterdam Netherlands

Kemira New Chemicals Inc. 100.00 Savannah United States

Kemira Operon Oy 100.00 Helsinki Finland

Kemira Polar A/S 100.00 Copenhagen Denmark

Kemira Rotterdam B.V. 100.00 Rotterdam Netherlands

Kemira South Africa (Pty) Ltd. 100.00 Weltevredenpark South Africa

Kemira Specialty Chemicals, Inc. 100.00 Atlanta, GA United States

Kemira Taiwan Corporation 100.00 Taipei Taiwan

Kemira Teesport Limited 100.00 Teesport United Kingdom

Kemira Uruguay S.A. 100.00 Montevideo Uruguay

Kemira Water Danmark A/S 100.00 Esbjerg Denmark

Kemira Water Solutions Brasil -Produtos para 
tratamento de agua Ltda. 100.00 São Paulo Brazil

Kemira Water Solutions Canada Inc. 100.00 Varennes QC Canada

Kemira Water Solutions, Inc. 100.00 Atlanta, GA United States

Kemira-Swiecie Sp. z o.o. 100.00 Swiecie Poland

Kemwater Brasil S.A. 100.00 Camaçari Brazil

Kemwater ProChemie s.r.o. 95.10 Bakov nad Jizerou Czech Republic

LA Water, LLC 100.00 Atlanta, GA United States

Nheel Quimica Ltda 100.00 Rio Claro Brazil

PT Kemira Indonesia 100.00 Jakarta Indonesia

Riverside Development Partners, LLC 100.00 Atlanta, GA United States

SC Kemwater Cristal SRL 78.45 Bucharest Romania

Scandinavian Tanking System A/S 100.00 Copenhagen Denmark

Spruce Vakuutus Oy 100.00 Helsinki Finland

Water Elements Las Vegas, LLC 100.00 Atlanta, GA United States

Water Elements, LLC 100.00 Atlanta, GA United States

ZAO "Kemira HIM" 100.00 St. Petersburg Russia

ZAO Kemira Eko 100.00 St. Petersburg Russia

35. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

The Group has no significant events after the balance sheet date.
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income statement (fas)

year ended 31 december

Note 2012 2011

revenue 2 1,356,011,965.24 1,365,328,047.43

Change in inventories of finished goods 4 14,276,924.76 –64,302,433.70

Own work capitalized 4 76,000.00 145,017.50

Other operating income 3 13,863,720.94 98,952,753.09

Materials and services 4 –931,863,961.91 –862,519,750.78

Personnel expenses 5 –49,915,739.00 –49,540,646.28

Amortization and impairments 6 –29,881,605.41 –29,678,760.58

Other operating expenses 4  –410,793,314.02 –371,658,321.11

operating profit/loss –38,226,009.40 86,725,905.57

Financial income and expenses 7 86,898,894.14 90,498,273.38

profit/loss before extraordinary items 48,672,884.74 177,224,178.95

Extraordinary items 8 12,071,000.00 68,194,000.00

profit/loss before appropriations and taxes 60,743,884.74 245,418,178.95

Appropriations 6 1,790,382.73 1,265,448.16

Income tax 9 6,145,810.39 –1,084,790.34

net profit/loss 68,680,077.86 245,598,836.77
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Balance sheet (fas)
as at 31 december

Note 2012 2011

ASSEtS

NON-CuRRENt ASSEtS

Intangible assets 10 114,097,259.02 130,893,763.13

Property, plant and equipment 11 24,020,440.42 24,824,483.96

investments 12

Holdings in subsidiaries 1,582,549,112.46 1,604,351,760.73

Holdings in associates 98,987,988.91 125,819,988.91

Other shares and holdings 136,249,905.46 135,848,548.91

total investments 1,817,787,006.83 1,866,020,298.55

total non-current assets 1,955,904,706.27 2,021,738,545.64

CuRRENt ASSEtS

Inventories 13 88,228,906.08 105,153,438.71

Non-current receivables 14 143,711,805.66 115,339,862.06

Current receivables 14 276,741,222.50 442,913,028.25

Money market investments – cash equivalents 15 19,761,023.23 43,138,493.86

Cash and cash equivalents 39,602,156.70 5,809,184.25

total current assets 568,045,114.17 712,354,007.13

total assets 2,523,949,820.44 2,734,092,552.77

as at 31 december

Note 2012 2011

EQuIty ANd LIABILItIES

EQuIty 16

Share capital 221,761,727.69 221,761,727.69

Share premium 257,877,731.94 257,877,731.94

Fair value reserve –2,282,814.00 0.00

Reserve for unrestricted capital invested 199,963,876.20 199,963,876.20

Retained earnings 352,690,300.41 187,565,586.70

Net profit/ loss for the financial year 68,680,077.86 245,598,836.77

total equity 1,098,690,900.10 1,112,767,759.30

appropriations 17 10,845,229.10 12,635,611.83

obligatory provisions 18 17,246,839.53 40,224,624.07

LIABILItIES

Non-current liabilities 19 325,376,340.60 259,175,027.89

Current liabilities 20 1,071,790,511.11 1,309,289,529.68

total liabilities 1,397,166,851.71 1,568,464,557.57

total equity and liabilities 2,523,949,820.44 2,734,092,552.77
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cash flow statement (fas)
year ended 31 december

2012 2011

CASh FLOwS FROm OPERAtINg ACtIVItIES

Operating result 68,680,077.86 245,598,836.77

Adjustments to operating result

Depreciation, amortization and impairment 29,881,605.41 29,678,760.58

Income taxes –6,145,810.39 1,084,790.34

Finance expenses, net –86,898,894.14 –90,498,273.38

Other non-cash income and expenses not involving cash flow –53,336,095.50 –104,924,507.40

operating profit before change in working capital –47,819,116.76 80,939,606.91

change in working capital

Increase ( – ) / decrease (+) in inventories 16,924,532.63 –85,063,495.37

Increase ( – ) / decrease (+) in trade and other receivables 103,915,855.57 –367,137,627.65

Increase (+) / decrease ( – ) in trade payables and other liabilities 37,050,721.40 137,639,375.04

change in working capital 157,891,109.60 –314,561,747.98

cash generated from operations 110,071,992.84 –233,622,141.07

Interest and other finance cost paid –33,074,989.98 –45,088,292.78

Interest and other finance income received 18,093,852.07 16,699,277.94

Realized exchange gains and losses 8,931,950.42 –5,583,141.85

Dividends received 136,551,879.14 119,104,245.02

Income taxes paid –3,279.65 –767,096.93

net cash generated from operating activities 240,571,404.84 –149,257,149.67

CASh FLOwS FROm INVEStINg ACtIVItIES

Acquisitions of subsidiaries –7,847,070.15 –13,600,228.28

Acquisitions of associated companies, and other shares –401,356.55 –102,859,784.15

Purchase of intangible assets –7,773,477.18 –108,260,647.48

Purchase of other plant, property and equipment –4,511,370.28 –8,743,175.40

Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries and other shares 26,832,000.00 112,026,980.29

Proceeds from sale of other plant, property 
and equipment and intangible assets 3,789.64 146,534.23

Change in loan receivables, net increase ( – ) / decrease (+) –28,371,943.60 –3,208,095.88

net cash used in investing activities –22,069,428.12 –124,498,416.67

cash flow before financing 218,501,976.72 –273,755,566.34

CASh FLOwS FROm FINANCINg ACtIVItIES

Proceeds from non-current interest-bearing liabilities (+) 70,185,247.34 0.00

Repayment from non-current interest-bearing liabilities ( – ) –25,407,302.63 –266,577,813.46

Short-term financing, net increase (+) / decrease ( – ) –240,482,574.61 546,370,282.26

Dividends paid –80,575,845.00 –72,983,608.32

Received group contribution 68.194.000,00 16,900,238.07

net cash used in financing activities –208,086,474.90 223,709,098.55

net increase (+) / decrease ( – ) in cash and cash equivalents 10,415,501.82 –50,046,467.79

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 48,947,678.11 98,994,145.90

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 59,363,179.93 48,947,678.11

net increase (+) / decrease ( – ) in cash and cash equivalents 10,415,501.82 –50,046,467.79
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notes to Kemira oyj financial statements

1. the parent company`s 
accounting policies For the 
Financial statements
Basis of preparation
The parent company’s financial statements have been 
prepared in compliance with the relevant acts and 
regulations in force in Finland (FAS). Kemira Group’s 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
and the parent company observes the Group’s accounting 
policies according to  FAS whenever it has been possible. 
Below are presented mainly the accounting policies in 
which the practice differs from the Group’s accounting 
policies. In other respects the Group’s accounting policies 
are observed.

pension arrenGements
The company’s pension liabilities are treated as a part of 
the pension insurance company and as a part of Kemira’s 
own pension foundation. Contributions are based on 
periodic actuarial calculations and are recognized in the 
income statement. 

share-Based incentive scheme  
for the personnel
The treatment of share-based schemes is described in 
the Group’s accounting policies. In the parent company, 
share-based payments are recognized as an expense in 
the amounts of the payments to be made. 

extraordinary income and expenses
Extraordinary income and expenses consist of the Group 
contributions received and given, which are eliminated at 
the Group level.

income taxes
The Group’s accounting policies are applied to income taxes 
and deferred tax assets and liabilities as permitted under 
Finnish GAAP. Deferred tax liability for the depreciation 
difference is stated in the notes to financial statements.

property, plant and eQuipment and 
intanGiBle assets
The Group’s accounting policies are applied to property, 
plant and equipment, and intangible assets. 

lease
All leasing payments are treated as rental expenses.

financial assets, financial liaBilities and 
derivative contracts
All financial assets (including shares) and liabilities are 
recognized at their acquisition value or their acquisition 
value less write-downs, with the exception of derivative 
instruments, which are measured at their fair value. 

Changes in the value of the financial assets and 
liabilities, including derivatives, are booked as a credit or 
charge into income statement under financial income and 
expenses,  with the exception of other derivatives used 
for hedging purposes the efficient part of which is booked 
to fair value reserve. Inefficient part of other derivative 
instruments used for hedging purposes is booked as a 
profit or loss into the income statement. 

The valuation methods of derivative instruments are 
described in the Group’s accounting policies and in Note 28 
in the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2012 2011

revenue by business segment

Paper 539,478,696.43 523,839,549.75

Municipal & Industrial 279,496,231.01 268,093,292.35

Oil & Mining 116,137,988.61 137,152,154.09

Intercompany revenue 210,616,316.13 222,846,881.41

Other revenue 210,282,733.06 213,396,169.83

total 1,356,011,965.24 1,365,328,047.43

distribution of revenue by geographical segments as a percentage of total revenue

Finland 27 27

Other EU countries 53 52

Other European Countries 10 12

North and South America 3 3

Asia 4 4

Other countries 3 2

total 100 100

2012 2011

Gain on the sale of shares 0.00 84,331,750.85

Rent income 1,490,200.77 1,359,715.41

Intercompany service charges 6,166,563.57 6,721,573.45

Other income from operations 6,206,956.60 6,539,713.38

total 13,863,720.94 98,952,753.09

2012 2011

change in inventories of finished goods –14,276,924.76 64,302,433.70

Own work capitalized –76,000.00 –145,017.50

Materials and services

Materials and supplies

Purchases during the financial year 930,463,416.50 835,814,204.90

Change in inventories of materials and supplies –5,458,408.00 18,536,148.53

External services 6,858,953.41 8,169,397.35

total materials and services 931,863,961.91 862,519,750.78

Personnel expenses 49,915,739.00 49,540,646.28

Other operating expenses

Rents 12,378,276.17 11,968,042.99

Intercompany tolling manufacturing charges 211,559,739.65 187,418,090.14

Intercompany service charges and royalties 110,665,653.32 94,726,728.59

Other expenses 76,189,644.88 77,545,459.39

total other operating expenses 410,793,314.02 371,658,321.11

total costs 1,378,220,090.17 1,347,876,134.37

2. revenue

3. other operating income

4. costs
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AudItORS’ FEES ANd SERVICES

2012 2011

Audit fees 345,150.22 281,178.07

Tax services 0.00 29,983.15

Other services 24,900.00 20,473.86

2012 2011

Emoluments of the Board of Directors, the CEO and his deputy 1) 1,810,879.92 2,311,245.72

Other wages and salaries 38,639,130.26 39,043,652.16

Pension expenses 7,126,735.71 6,486,258.66

Other personnel expenses 2,338,993.11 1,699,489.74

total 49,915,739.00 49,540,646.28

1) The emolument of Kemira Oyj’s CEOs was EUR 1,162,242 (1,409,719) including bonuses of EUR 136,634 (754,267). The emolument of Kemira Oyj’s deputy CEO 
was EUR 273,265 (513,847) including bonuses of EUR 29,186 (276,320).

2012 2011

personnel at end of year

Paper 93 103

Municipal & Industrial 32 31

Oil & Mining 9 9

Other, of which 469 495

R&D and Technology 217 235

total 603 638

personnel, average 629 658

5. personnel eXpenses and number oF personnel

Kemira’s auditor KPMG Oy was replaced by Deloitte & Touche Oy after the Annual General Meeting on March 21, 2012.
Fees and services paid to auditing companies other than Deloitte & Touche Oy amounting to EUR 0.4 million 

(EUR 1.1 million) were mainly for consultation, not for statutory audit.
Own work capitalized comprises mainly from wages, salaries and other personnel expenses related to purchases of 

property, plant and equipment, and materials and supplies taken from inventories. 
In 2012 the costs included a net decrease in obligatory provisions of EUR –1.5 million (personnel expenses EUR 

+1.3 million, rents EUR –0.5 million and other expenses EUR –2.3  million), and in 2011, the costs included a net decrease in 
obligatory provisions of EUR –3.5 million (personnel expenses EUR +0.1 million, rents EUR –0.7 million and other expenses 
EUR –2.9 million).

Other transactions between related parties are presented in Note 32 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2012 2011

depreciation according to plan and impairments

Intangible assets

Amortization of intangible rights 3,051,439.11 2,130,560.43

Impairment of intangible rights 0.00 322,277.57

Amortization of other intangible assets 21,518,542.18 20,500,799.09

Impairment of other intangible assets 0.00 144,640.45

Property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of buildings and constructions 754,107.63 946,453.32

Impairment of buildings and constructions 18,896.20 1,274,891.50

Depreciation of machinery and equipment 4,509,623.73 3,856,925.32

Impairment of machinery and equipment 0.00 474,915.93

Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment 28,996.56 27,296.97

total 29,881,605.41 29,678,760.58

change in difference between scheduled and 
actual depreciation (+ increase/ – decrease)

Intangible rights –93,177.77 265,104.96

Other intangible assets –208,836.86 484,618.11

Buildings and constructions –145,954.94 –480,463.10

Machinery and equipment –1,349,383.54 –1,528,116.27

Other property, plant and equipment 6,970.38 –6,591.86

total –1,790,382.73 –1,265,448.16

2012 2011

finance income

dividend income

From the Group companies 120,979,952.39 117,832,025.02

From others 15,571,926.75 1,272,220.00

total dividend income 136,551,879.14 119,104,245.02

interest income

From non-current investments from the Group companies 5,130,618.17 5,058,378.48

From current investments from the Group companies 1,442,377.53 732,350.88

From non-current investments from others 81,779.34 76,470.36

From current investments from others 4,806,302.57 7,048,005.15

total interest income 11,461,077.61 12,915,204.87

other finance income

Other finance income from the Group companies 499,824.28 526,764.24

Other finance income from others 0.00 837,176.91

total other finance income 499,824.28 1,363,941.15

exchange gains

Exchange gains from the Group companies 191,697,327.42 204,665,663.72

Exchange gains from others 120,329,981.43 122,330,303.81

total exchange gains 312,027,308.85 326,995,967.53

total finance income 460,540,089.88 460,379,358.57

6. depreciation, amortiZation and impairments

7. Finance income and eXpenses
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2012 2011

finance expenses

interest expenses

Interest expenses to the Group companies –10,258,353.97 –14,441,524.68

Interest expenses to others –17,868,764.54 –20,167,295.35

total interest expenses –28,127,118.51 –34,608,820.03

other finance expenses

Other finance expenses from the Group companies –29,649,718.48 –6,029,679.02

Other finance expenses from others –4,448,744.30 –4,255,444.58

total other finance expenses –34,098,462.78 –10,285,123.60

exchange losses

Exchange losses from the Group companies –209,443,223.01 –202,427,829.77

Exchange losses from others –101,972,391.44 –122,559,311.79

total exchange losses –311,415,614.45 –324,987,141.56

total finance expenses –373,641,195.74 –369,881,085.19

total finance income and expenses 86,898,894.14 90,498,273.38

exchange gains and losses

Realized 8,931,950.42 –5,583,141.85

Unrealized –8,320,256.02 7,591,967.82

total 611,694.40 2,008,825.97

8. eXtraordinary items

9. income taXes

Other finance expenses from the Group companies include impairment of subsidiary shares of EUR 29.6 million in 2012 and 
6.0 million in 2011. 

2012 2011

extraordinary income

Group contributions received 12,071,000.00 68,194,000.00

total 12,071,000.00 68,194,000.00

total extraordinary income and expenses 12,071,000.00 68,194,000.00

2012 2011

(income –, expense +)

Income taxes, previous years 0.00 244,921.02

Deferred taxes –6,149,090.04 –1,061,714.53

Other taxes 3,279.65 1,901,583.85

total –6,145,810.39 1,084,790.34
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2012
intangible 

rights Goodwill prepayments

other 
intangible 

assets total

acquisition cost at beginning of year 23,300,954.22 6,181,419.27 5,873,997.26 178,219,638.70 213,576,009.45

Additions 3,932,446.32 0.00 3,626,790.94 152,313.98 7,711,551.24

Decreases –41,819.50 0.00 0.00 –1,687,774.49 –1,729,593.99

Business transfers 3,346,339.80 0.00 –5,249,661.25 1,965,247.39 61,925.94

acquisition cost at end of year 30,537,920.84 6,181,419.27 4,251,126.95 178,649,425.58 219,619,892.64

accumulated amortization 
at beginning of year –9,659,167.92 –6,181,419.27 0.00 –66,841,659.13 –82,682,246.32

Accumulated amortization relating to 
decreases and transfers 41,819.50 0.00 0.00 1,687,774.49 1,729,593.99

Amortization and impairments during the 
financial year –3,051,439.11 0.00 0.00 –21,518,542.18 –24,569,981.29

accumulated amortization at end of year –12,668,787.53 –6,181,419.27 0.00 –86,672,426.82 –105,522,633.62

net book value at end of year 17,869,133.31 0.00 4,251,126.95 91,976,998.76 114,097,259.02

2011
Intangible 

rights Goodwill Prepayments

Other 
intangible 

assets Total

acquisition cost at beginning of year 15,179,576.91 6,181,419.27 15,079,346.91 70,224,715.61 106,665,058.70

Additions 3,464,299.91 0.00 4,083,241.63 100,647,614.76 108,195,156.30

Decreases –105,862.77 0.00 0.00 –1,243,833.96 –1,349,696.73

Business transfers 4,762,940.17 0.00 –13,288,591.28 8,591,142.29 65,491.18

acquisition cost at end of year 23,300,954.22 6,181,419.27 5,873,997.26 178,219,638.70 213,576,009.45

accumulated amortization 
at beginning of year –7,303,622.28 –6,181,419.27 0.00 –47,423,749.29 –60,908,790.84

Accumulated amortization relating to 
decreases and transfers 97,292.36 0.00 0.00 1,227,529.70 1,324,822.06

Amortization and impairments during the 
financial year –2,452,838.00 0.00 0.00 –20,645,439.54 –23,098,277.54

accumulated amortization at end of year –9,659,167.92 –6,181,419.27 0.00 –66,841,659.13 –82,682,246.32

net book value at end of year 13,641,786.30 0.00 5,873,997.26 111,377,979.57 130,893,763.13

10. intangible assets1
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2012
land and 

water areas 

Buildings 
and 

constructions
machinery 

and equipment 

other property, 
plant and 

equipment

advances paid 
and non–current 

assets under 
construction total

acquisition cost at 
beginning of year 413,551.22 25,283,177.47 79,526,422.45 581,216.34 2,777,194.76 108,581,562.24

Increases 0.00 25,307.10 3,721,356.62 0.00 1,229,873.83 4,976,537.55

Decreases 0.00 0.00 –4,553,460.20 –13,642.52 0.00 –4,567,102.72

Business transfers 0.00 73,071.25 2,642,197.58 0.00 –2,777,194.76 –61,925.93

acquisition cost 
at end of year 413,551.22 25,381,555.82 81,336,516.45 567,573.82 1,229,873.83 108,929,071.14

accumulated depreciation 
at beginning of year 0.00 –17,309,048.37 –66,037,882.44 –410,147.47 0.00 –83,757,078.28

Accumulated depreciation 
relating to decreases and 
transfers 0.00 1,230.38 4,145,198.78 13,642.52 0.00 4,160,071.68

Depreciation and 
impairments during the 
financial year 0.00 –773,003.83 –4,509,623.73 –28,996.56 0.00 –5,311,624.12

accumulated depreciation 
at end of year 0.00 –18,080,821.82 –66,402,307.39 –425,501.51 0.00 –84,908,630.72

net book value 
at end of year 413,551.22 7,300,734.00 14,934,209.06 142,072.31 1,229,873.83 24,020,440.42

2011
Land and 

water areas 

Buildings 
and 

constructions
Machinery 

and equipment 

Other property, 
plant and 

equipment

Advances paid 
and non–current 

assets under 
construction Total

acquisition cost 
at beginning of year 413,551.22 54,068,497.30 222,411,900.89 3,758,717.20 4,801,272.16 285,453,938.77

Increases 0.00 88,492.54 4,633,190.23 14,500.00 3,221,894.81 7,958,077.58

Decreases 0.00 –29,003,509.87 –149,799,425.29 –3,211,062.72 –2,750,975.05 –184,764,972.93

Business transfers 0.00 129,697.50 2,280,756.62 19,061.86 –2,494,997.16 –65,481.18

acquisition cost 
at end of year 413,551.22 25,283,177.47 79,526,422.45 581,216.34 2,777,194.76 108,581,562.24

accumulated depreciation 
at beginning of year 0.00 –34,447,292.08 –171,123,577.87 –2,278,819.78 0.00 –207,849,689.73

Accumulated depreciation 
relating to decreases and 
transfers 0.00 19,359,588.53 109,417,536.68 1,895,969.28 0.00 130,673,094.49

Depreciation and 
impairments during  the 
financial year 0.00 –2,221,344.82 –4,331,841.25 –27,296.97 0.00 –6,580,483.04

accumulated depreciation 
at end of year 0.00 –17,309,048.37 –66,037,882.44 –410,147.47 0.00 –83,757,078.28

net book value 
at end of year 413,551.22 7,974,129.10 13,488,540.01 171,068.87 2,777,194.76 24,824,483.96

11. property, plant and eQuipment 1
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2012

Group 
company 

shares 

investments 
in associated 

companies other shares total

Book value at beginning of year 1,604,351,760.73 125,819,988.91 135,848,548.91 1,866,020,298.55

Increases 7,847,070.15 0.00 401,356.55 8,248,426.70

Decreases and transfers 0.00 –26,832,000.00 0.00 –26,832,000.00

Impairments –29,649,718.42 0.00 0.00 –29,649,718.42

net book value at end of year 1,582,549,112.46 98,987,988.91 136,249,905.46 1,817,787,006.83

2011

Group 
company 

shares 

Investments 
in associated 

companies Other shares Total

Book value at beginning of year 1,530,957,983.76 137,519,988.91 47,818,079.97 1,716,296,052.64

Increases 80,576,696.61 0.00 102,859,784.15 183,436,480.76

Decreases and transfers –1,165,914.23 –11,700,000.00 –14,829,315.21 –27,695,229.44

Impairments –6,017,005.41 0.00 0.00 –6,017,005.41

net book value at end of year 1,604,351,760.73 125,819,988.91 135,848,548.91 1,866,020,298.55

12. investments

13. inventories

Kemira Oyj received a capital return of EUR 26.8 million from the associated company Sachtleben GmbH during 2012.

Associated companies are disclosed in Note 8 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

2012 2011

Raw materials and supplies 21,407,026.17 26,865,434.17

Finished goods 61,786,166.64 76,063,091.40

Prepayments 5,035,713.27 2,224,913.14

total 88,228,906.08 105,153,438.71
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14. receivables

2012 2011

accrued income

From interests 3,096,939.95 3,304,498.56

From taxes 1,566,532.79 515,821.87

From exchange differences 3,701,668.15 9,627,059.72

From the Group contribution 12,071,000.00 68,194,000.00

Other 3,381,244.28 9,051,349.82

total 23,817,385.17 90,692,729.97

2012 2011

non-current receivables

Interest-bearing non-current receivables

Loan receivables

Loan receivables from the Group companies 118,138,575.97 96,794,330.09

Loan receivables from others 1,005,555.59 2,038,888.91

Other non-current investments 1,911,941.00 0.00

total interest-bearing non-current receivables 121,056,072.56 98,833,219.00

Interest-free non-current receivables

Deferred taxes 22,655,733.10 16,506,643.06

total interest-free non-current receivables 22,655,733.10 16,506,643.06

total non-current receivables 143,711,805.66 115,339,862.06

current receivables 

Interest-bearing current receivables

Loan receivables from the Group companies 40,169,810.72 123,200,778.97

total interest-bearing current receivables 40,169,810.72 123,200,778.97

Interest-free current receivables

Advances paid

Advances paid to the Group companies 20,160,491.02 20,160,491.02

Advances paid to others 30,093.56 189,441.66

Trade receivables

Trade receivables from the Group companies 35,400,364.55 34,666,438.68

Trade receivables from others 142,555,747.37 141,128,813.37

total trade receivables 177,956,111.92 175,795,252.05

Accrued income

Accrued income from the Group companies 18,089,116.31 75,901,190.95

Accrued income from others 5,728,268.86 14,791,539.02

total accrued income 23,817,385.17 90,692,729.97

Other short-term interest-free receivables

Other receivables from the Group companies 67,556.78 3,823.41

Other receivables from others 14,539,773.33 32,870,511.17

total other interest-free current receivables 14,607,330.11 32,874,334.58

total interest-free current receivables 236,571,411.78 319,712,249.28

total current receivables 276,741,222.50 442,913,028.25

total receivables 420,453,028.16 558,252,890.31
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15. money-marKet investments – cash eQuivalents

16. eQuity

2012 2011

Money-market investments

Carrying amount at end of year 19,761,023.23 43,138,493.86

Fair value 19,761,023.23 43,159,457.66

Difference 0.00 –20,963.80

 
Money-market investments include company’s short term investments.   

change in treasury shares EUR Number of shares

Acquisition value/number at beginning of year 22,298,705.88 3,312,660

Change –73,296.43 –10,891

Acquisition value/number at end of year 22,225,409.45 3,301,769

2012 2011

restricted equity

Share capital at beginning of year 221,761,727.69 221,761,727.69

share capital at end of year 221,761,727.69 221,761,727.69

Share premium account at beginning of year 257,877,731.94 257,877,731.94

share premium account at end of year 257,877,731.94 257,877,731.94

Fair value reserve at beginning of year 0.00 0.00

fair value reserve at end of year –2,282,814.00 0.00

total restricted equity at end of year 477,356,645.63 479,639,459.63

unrestricted capital

Reserve for unrestricted capital invested at beginning of year 199,963,876.20 199,963,876.20

reserve for unrestricted capital invested at end of year 199,963,876.20 199,963,876.20

Retained earnings at beginning of year 1) 433,164,423.47 258,512,200.42

Net profit for the year 68,680,077.86 245,598,836.77

Dividends paid –80,575,845.00 –72,983,608.32

Share-based incentive plan:

Shares given 101,721.94 2,272,256.68

Shares returned 0.00 –235,262.08

retained earnings and net profit for the year at end of year 421,370,378.27 433,164,423.47

total unrestricted equity at end of year 621,334,254.47 633,128,299.67

total equity at end of year 1,098,690,900.10 1,112,767,759.30

total distributable funds at end of year 621,334,254.47 633,128,299.67

1) The company owns 3,301,769 treasury shares, the acquisition value of which totals EUR 22,225,409.45.
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17. appropriations

18. obligatory provisions

2012 2011

appropriations

Appropriations in the balance sheets are as follows:

Buildings and constructions 2,654,944.99 2,800,899.93

Machinery and equipment 5,374,535.26 6,723,918.80

Other property, plant and equipment 41,064.74 34,094.36

Intangible rights 430,451.10 523,628.87

Other non-current expenditures 2,344,233.01 2,553,069.87

total 10,845,229.10 12,635,611.83

Change in appropriations

Appropriations at January 1 12,635,611.83 33,087,883.53

Business transfers 0.00 –19,186,823.54

Change in untaxed reserves in income statement –1,790,382.73 –1,265,448.16

appropriations at end of year 10,845,229.10 12,635,611.83

2012 2011

non-current provisions

Pension provision 6,006,374.84 6,132,694.00

Other obligatory provisions

Environmental and damage provisions 6,519,251.80 8,792,651.84

Personnel related provisions 100,000.00 100,000.00

Restructuring provisions 2,019,017.20 2,262,762.40

Other provisions 0.00 21,423,368.00

total other obligatory provisions 8,638,269.00 32,578,782.24

total non-current provisions 14,644,643.84 38,711,476.24

current provisions

Other obligatory provisions

Personnel related provisions 2,147,443.69 847,389.03

Restructuring provisions 454,752.00 665,758.80

total current provisions 2,602,195.69 1,513,147.83

total provisions 17,246,839.53 40,224,624.07

change in provisions

Obligatory provisions at January 1 40,224,624.07 43,855,406.37

Decrease of provisions during year –4,359,736.40 –3,887,172.30

Reclassification –21,423,368.00 0.00

Increase during financial year 2,805,319.86 256,390.00

obligatory provisions at end of year 17,246,839.53 40,224,624.07

Other non-current provisions decreased by EUR 21.4 million in relation to the establishment of an associate and its items 
reclassification.    

Deferred tax liabilities on accumulated appropriations were EUR 2.7 million December 31, 2012,  
and EUR 3.1 million December 31, 2011.
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19. non-current interest-bearing liabilities

2012 2011

Loans from financial institutions 228,952,972.60 259,175,027.89

Loans from the Group companies 75,000,000.00 0.00

Other non-current liabilities 21,423,368.00 0.00

total 325,376,340.60 259,175,027.89

Long-term interest-bearing liabilities maturing in

2014  (2013) 32,485,584.95 28,371,140.51

2015  (2014) 82,835,584.95 32,828,446.95

2016  (2015) 32,835,584.95 82,828,446.95

2017  (2016) or later 177,219,585.75 115,146,993.48

total 325,376,340.60 259,175,027.89

Interest-bearing liabilities maturing in 5 years or more

Loans from financial institutions 80,796,217.75 115,146,993.48

Loans from the Group companies 75,000,000.00 0.00

Other non-current liabilities 21,423,368.00 0.00

total 177,219,585.75 115,146,993.48

The company does not have debentures or other bond loans.
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20. current liabilities

2012 2011

interest-bearing current liabilities

Loans from financial institutions 29,107,927.84 24,853,929.97

Current portion of other non-current loans to others 16,507,941.55 16,224,999.69

Other interest-bearing current liabilities

to the Group companies 603,313,477.26 877,263,071.50

to others 194,927,408.95 165,997,329.05

total interest-bearing current liabilities 843,856,755.60 1,084,339,330.21

interest-free current liabilities

Prepayments received

Prepayments received from the Group companies 177,016.76 165,268.76

Prepayments received from others 403,904.51 1,248,356.06

Trade payables

to the Group companies 43,816,908.35 45,378,049.13

to others 80,548,720.99 95,640,621.25

total trade payables 124,365,629.34 141,018,670.38

Accrued expenses

to the Group companies 34,455,323.98 8,140,095.61

to others 60,725,700.09 68,942,892.02

total accrued expenses 95,181,024.07 77,082,987.63

total other interest-free liabilities 7,806,180.83 5,434,916.64

total interest-free current liabilities 227,933,755.51 224,950,199.47

total current liabilities 1,071,790,511.11 1,309,289,529.68

accrued expenses

From salaries 8,154,854.76 8,464,210.29

From interests and exchange differences 45,674,843.38 16,524,252.07

Other 41,351,325.93 52,094,525.27

total 95,181,024.07 77,082,987.63
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21. collateral and contingent liabilities

2012 2011

Guarantees

On behalf of the Group companies

for loans 589,889,303.00 650,562,081.00

for other obligations 43,314,768.00 48,902,876.00

On behalf of others 2,744,055.00 3,069,936.00

total 635,948,126.00 702,534,893.00

Leasing liabilities

Maturity within one year 5,224,844.00 5,467,371.00

Maturity after one year 23,944,493.00 27,972,536.00

total 29,169,337.00 33,439,907.00

Environmental risks and liabilities are disclosed in Note 31 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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22. shares and holdings oF Kemira oyj

shares in subsidiaries Group holding % Kemira Oyj holding %

AS Kemivesi 100.00 100.00

Kemira Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. 100.00 100.00

Kemira Argentina S.A. 100.00 15.80

Kemira Cell Sp. z.o.o. 55.00 55.00

Kemira Chemicals (Nanjing) Co.,Ltd. 100.00 100.00

Kemira Chemicals (Shanghai) Co.,Ltd. 100.00 100.00

Kemira Chemicals (UK) Ltd. 100.00 100.00

Kemira Chemicals (Yanzhou) Co.,Ltd. 100.00 100.00

Kemira Chemicals Brasil Ltda 100.00 100.00

Kemira Chemicals Canada Inc. 100.00 100.00

Kemira Chemicals India Private Ltd. 99.99 99.99

Kemira Chemie Ges.mbH 100.00 100.00

Kemira Chile Comercial Limitada 100.00 99.00

Kemira Chimica Srl 100.00 100.00

Kemira de Mexico S.A. de C.V. 100.00 100.00

Kemira Europe Oy 100.00 100.00

Kemira Germany GmbH 100.00 100.00

Kemira GrowHow A/S 100.00 100.00

Kemira Korea Corporation 100.00 100.00

Kemira KTM d.o.o. 100.00 100.00

Kemira Nederland Holding B.V. 100.00 100.00

Kemira Operon Oy 100.00 100.00

Kemira-Swiecie Sp.z.o.o. 100.00 100.00

Kemira Water Danmark A/S 100.00 100.00

Kemira Water Solutions Brasil 100.00 100.00

SC Kemwater Cristal SRL 78.45 78.45

PT Kemira Indonesia 100.00 75.00

Spruce Vakuutus Oy 100.00 100.00

shares in associated companies

Kemwater Phil. Corp. 40.00 40.00

Sachtleben GmbH 39.00 39.00

White Pigment LLC 39.00 39.00

1
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shares and share capital
On December 31, 2012, Kemira Oyj’s share capital 
amounted to EUR 221.8 million and the number of shares 
was 155,342,557. Each share entitles to one vote at the 
general meeting. Kemira Oyj’s shares are registered in the 
book-entry system maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd.

shareholders
At the end of 2012, Kemira Oyj had 30,601 registered 
shareholders (31,924). Foreign shareholding of Kemira 
Oyj share increased during the year and was 17.1% of the 
shares (13.8%), including nominee-registered holdings. 
Households owned 15.4% of the shares (16.3%). 
At year-end, Kemira held 3,301,769 treasury shares 
(3,312,660), representing 2.1% (2.1%) of all company 
shares. A list of Kemira’s largest shareholders is updated 
monthly and can be found on the company website at 
www.kemira.com > investors.

listinG and tradinG
Kemira Oyj’s shares are listed on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki. 
The trading code for the shares is KRA1V and the ISIN 
code is FI0009004824.

Kemira Oyj’s share closed at EUR 11.81 at the NASDAQ 
OMX Helsinki at the end of 2012 (9.18). The share price 
increased 28.6% during the year while OMX Helsinki 
Cap index increased 9.6%. Shares registered a high of 
EUR 12.00 (12.67) and a low of EUR 8.00 (7.80). The 
average share price was EUR 10.10 (10.49). Kemira’s 
market capitalization, excluding treasury shares, was 
EUR 1,796 million at the end of the year 2012 (1,396). The 
performance of the STOXX Chemicals (Europe), benchmark 
index for Kemira, developed closely in line with the Kemira 
share and increased 30% in 2012.

In 2012, Kemira Oyj’s share trading volume on 
NASDAQ OMX Helsinki decreased 19% to 88.5 million 
(109.0) shares and was valued at EUR 886.7 million 
(1,113.0). The average daily trading volume was 352,397 
(430,882) shares. On NASDAQ OMX Helsinki stock 
exchange, the total trading volume decreased 29% in 
2012 compared to 2011.

In addition to NASDAQ OMX Helsinki, Kemira shares are 
traded on several alternative market places or multilateral 
trading facilities (MTF), for example at BATS Chi-X and 
Turquoise. In 2012, a total of 29.1 million (23.0) Kemira 
Oyj shares were traded at alternative market places, i.e. 
approximately 26.0% (17.5%) of the total amount of 
traded shares executed on-book. (Source: Fidessa) The 
total amount of traded Kemira shares, including trade on 
NASDAQ OMX Helsinki and multilateral trading facilities 
decreased 6% in 2012 compared to 2011.

Up-to-date information on Kemira’s share 
price is available on the company’s website at 
www.kemira.com > Investors.

dividend policy and dividend distriBution
Kemira aims to distribute a dividend that accounts for 
40–60% of its operative net income.

The company’s Board of Directors will propose to the 
Annual General Meeting that a per-share dividend of EUR 
0.53 (0.53) totaling EUR 81 million (81) be paid for the 
financial year 2012, accounting for a dividend payout of 
about 69% (60%) of the operative net income. The Annual 
General Meeting will be held March 26, 2013. The dividend 
ex date is March 27, 2013, dividend record date April 2, 
2013 and payout April 9, 2013.

In April, 2012, a dividend of EUR 0.53 per share was 
paid for the financial year that ended December 31, 2011. 
The dividend record date was March 26, 2012, and the 
payment (EUR 81 million in total) date April 2, 2012. 

Board authorizations
The Annual General Meeting on March 21, 2012 
authorized the Board of Directors to decide upon 
repurchase of a maximum of 4,500,000 company’s own 
shares. Shares will be repurchased by using unrestricted 
equity either through a tender offer with equal terms 
to all shareholders at a price determined by the Board 
of Directors or otherwise than in proportion to the 
existing shareholdings of the company’s shareholders 
in public trading on the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd (the 
“Helsinki Stock Exchange”) at the market price quoted 
at the time of the repurchase. The price paid for the 
shares repurchased through a tender offer under the 
authorization shall be based on the market price of the 
company’s shares in public trading. The minimum price 
to be paid would be the lowest market price of the share 
quoted in public trading during the authorization period 
and the maximum price the highest market price quoted 
during the authorization period. 

Shares shall be acquired and paid for in accordance 
with the Rules of the Helsinki Stock Exchange and Euroclear 
Finland Ltd. Shares may be repurchased to be used in 
implementing or financing mergers and acquisitions, 
developing the company’s capital structure, improving 
the liquidity of the company’s shares or to be used for 
the payment of the annual fee payable to the members 
of the Board of Directors or implementing the company’s 
share-based incentive plans. In order to realize the 
aforementioned purposes, the shares acquired may be 
retained, transferred further or cancelled by the company. 
The Board of Directors will decide upon other terms related 
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to share repurchases. The share repurchase authorization 
is valid until the end of the next Annual General Meeting. 
The Board had not exercised its authorization by December 
31, 2012.

The AGM authorized the Board of Directors to decide 
to issue a maximum of 15,600,000 new shares and/
or transfer a maximum of 7,800,000 company’s own 
shares held by the company. The new shares may be 
issued and the company’s own shares held by the 
company may be transferred either for consideration or 
without consideration. The new shares may be issued 
and the company’s own shares held by the company 
may be transferred to the company’s shareholders in 
proportion to their current shareholdings in the company, 
or by disapplying the shareholders’ pre-emption right, 
through a directed share issue, if the company has a 
weighty financial reason to do so, such as financing or 
implementing mergers and acquisitions, developing the 
capital structure of the company, improving the liquidity of 
the company’s shares or if this is justified for the payment 
of the annual fee payable to the members of the Board 
of Directors or implementing the company’s share-based 
incentive plans. The directed share issue may be carried 
out without consideration only in connection with the 
implementation of the company’s share-based incentive 
plan. The subscription price of new shares shall be 
recorded to the invested unrestricted equity reserves. The 
consideration payable for company’s own shares shall be 
recorded to the invested unrestricted equity reserves. The 
Board of Directors will decide upon other terms related to 
the share issues. The share issue authorization is valid until 
May 31, 2013. Based on the decision of the Annual General 
Meeting of Kemira Oyj on March 21, 2012, Kemira Oyj has 
transferred 10,891 shares to the members of the Board of 
Directors as part of remuneration of the Board.

manaGement shareholdinG
The members of the Board of Directors as well as the 
President and CEO and his Deputy held 302,834 (512,605) 
Kemira Oyj shares on December 31, 2012, or 0.19% 
(0.33%) of all outstanding shares and voting rights 
(including treasury shares and shares held by the related 
parties and controlled corporations). Wolfgang Büchele, 
President and CEO, held 76,657 shares on December 31, 
2012 (2,657). Board members are not covered by the 
share-based incentive plan. Members of the Management 
Boards, excluding the President and CEO and his Deputy, 
held a total of 147,688 shares on December 31, 2012 
(348,777), representing 0.10% (0.22%) of all outstanding 
shares and voting rights (including treasury shares 
and shares held by the related parties and controlled 
corporations). Up-to-date information regarding the 
shareholdings of the Board of Directors and Management 
is available at Kemira’s website at  
www.kemira.com > Investors.
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ShAREhOLdINg By NumBER OF ShARES hELd dEC 31, 2012

number of shares
Number of

shareholders
% of share–

holders
Shares

total
% of shares

and votes

1 –100 6,071 19.9 379,116 0.3

101 – 500 13,275 43.4 3,617,062 2.3

501 –1,000 5,113 16.7 3,823,797 2.5

1,001– 5,000 5,163 16.9 10,459,191 6.7

5,001 –10,000 490 1.6 3,513,213 2.3

10,001 – 50,000 353 1.2 6,796,292 4.4

50,001 –100,000 61 0.2 4,267,767 2.7

100,001 – 500,000 59 0.2 11,672,434 7.5

500,001 –1,000,000 5 0.0 3,580,558 2.3

1,000,001 – 11 0.0 107,233,127 69.0

total 30,601 100.0 155,342,557 100.0

LARgESt ShAREhOLdERS dEC 31, 2012 

shareholder
Number

of shares
% of shares

and votes

1 Oras Invest Ltd 28,278,217 18.2

2 Solidium Oy 25,896,087 16.7

3 Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 11,585,836 7.5

4 Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 6,450,143 4.2

5 Tapiola Mutual Pension Insurance Company 2,600,000 1.7

6 Mandatum Life 2,591,613 1.7

7 Danske Invest funds 1,570,304 1.0

8 Pohjola Fund Management 1,063,779 0.7

9 SEB Gyllenberg funds 799,397 0.5

10 Nordea funds 773,448 0.5

11 Sigrid Jusélius Foundation 730,000 0.5

12 Veritas Pension Insurance Company Ltd. 561,447 0.4

13 The Local Goverment Pensions Institution 426,482 0.3

14 The Finnish Cultural Foundation 405,579 0.3

15 Valio Pension Fund 378,899 0.2

Kemira Oyj 3,301,769 2.1

Nominee-registered and foreign shareholders 26,567,990 17.1

Others, total 41,361,567 26.4

total 155,342,557 100.0
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Board proposal for profit distribution

On December 31, 2012, Kemira Oyj’s distributable funds totaled EUR 621,334,254 of which net profit for the period 
accounted for EUR 68,680,078. 

No material changes have taken place in the company’s financial position after the balance sheet date.

The Board proposes to the Annual General Meeting that distributable funds would be allocated as follows
• Distributing a per-share dividend of EUR 0.53 for the financial year, or a total of EUR 80,581,618.
• Retaining EUR 540,752,637 under unrestricted equity.

Helsinki, February 6, 2013
 

Jukka Viinanen
 

Jari Paasikivi
 

Elizabeth Armstrong 
 

Winnie Fok
 

Juha Laaksonen
 

Kerttu Tuomas
 

Wolfgang Büchele 
CEO
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auditor’s report

to the annual General meetinG of Kemira oyj
We have audited the accounting records, the financial 
statements, the Operating and Financial Review, and 
the administration of Kemira Oyj for the financial period 
1.1.–31.12.2012. The financial statements comprise of the 
consolidated income statement, statement of comprehensive 
income, balance sheet, cash flow statement, statement of 
changes in equity and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, as well as the parent company’s income 
statement, balance sheet, cash flow statement and notes to 
the financial statements.

responsiBility of the Board of directors and 
the president and ceo
The Board of Directors and the President and CEO are responsible 
for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, as well as for 
the preparation of financial statements and the Operating and 
Financial Review that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with the laws and regulations governing the preparation of the 
financial statements and the Operating and Financial Review in 
Finland. The Board of Directors is responsible for the appropriate 
arrangement of the control of the company’s accounts and 
finances, and the President and CEO shall see to it that the 
accounts of the company are in compliance with the law and that 
its financial affairs have been arranged in a reliable manner.

auditor’s responsiBility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
statements, on the consolidated financial statements and on 
the Operating and Financial Review based on our audit. The 
Auditing Act requires that we comply with the requirements 
of professional ethics. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with good auditing practice in Finland. Good auditing practice 
requires that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
and the Operating and Financial Review are free from material 
misstatement, and whether the members of the Board of 
Directors of the parent company and the President and CEO 
are guilty of an act or negligence which may result in liability 
in damages towards the company or have violated the Limited 
Liability Companies Act or the articles of association of the 
company. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements and the Operating and Financial Review. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation of financial statements and Operating and Financial 
Review that give a true and fair view in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements and the Operating and Financial Review. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give 
a true and fair view of the financial position, financial 
performance, and cash flows of the group in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted 
by the EU. 

opinion on the company’s financial statements 
and the operatinG and financial review
In our opinion, the financial statements and the Operating 
and Financial Review give a true and fair view of both the 
consolidated and the parent company’s financial performance 
and financial position in accordance with the laws and 
regulations governing the preparation of the financial statements 
and the Operating and Financial Review in Finland. The 
information in the Operating and Financial Review is consistent 
with the information in the financial statements. 

other opinions
We support that the financial statements should be adopted. 
The proposal by the Board of Directors regarding the treatment 
of distributable funds is in compliance with the Limited Liability 
Companies Act. We support that the Board of Directors of 
the parent company and the President and CEO should be 
discharged from liability for the financial period audited by us.

Helsinki, 6 February 2013

Deloitte & Touche Oy
Authorized Public Audit Firm

Jukka Vattulainen
Authorized Public Accountant



244

Kemira 2012 Quarterly Earnings Performance

(The figures are unaudited)

2012 2011

1 –3 4–6 7–9 10–12 total 1–3 4–6 7–9 10–12 Total

revenue

Paper 244.6 249.2 257.9 250.3 1,002.0 253.2 242.2 243.4 234.5 973.3

Municipal & Industrial 161.0 173.7 176.5 175.4 686.6 157.8 166.6 173.7 166.6 664.7

Oil & Mining 85.1 84.5 79.4 72.1 321.1 83.7 84.8 87.2 80.0 335.7

Other 62.2 54.9 53.4 60.7 231.2 62.1 55.2 54.0 62.2 233.5

total 552.9 562.3 567.2 558.5 2,240.9 556.8 548.8 558.3 543.3 2,207.2

operating profit 

Paper 20.2 19.4 8.8 6.8 55.2 22.7 20.0 18.5 18.3 79.5

Municipal & Industrial 5.0 10.6 0.7 –24.8 –8.5 11.6 10.9 15.4 5.8 43.7

Oil & Mining 12.0 10.0 5.8 2.4 30.2 9.4 8.1 10.2 7.2 34.9

Other –1.1 –7.2 –14.9 –22.0 –45.2 1.2 –1.7 –3.3 4.0 0.2

total 36.1 32.8 0.4 –37.6 31.7 44.9 37.3 40.8 35.3 158.3

Finance costs, net –10.3 1.4 –2.7 –4.1 –15.7 –3.8 –3.9 –7.7 –5.5 –20.9

Share of profit or loss of 
associates 10.8 5.8 0.3 –5.7 11.2 7.5 7.3 9.0 7.2 31.0

profit before tax 36.6 40.0 –2.0 –47.4 27.2 48.6 40.7 42.1 37.0 168.4

Income tax expense –6.7 –8.9 3.1 6.8 –5.7 –10.7 –9.0 –9.2 0.8 –28.1

net profit for the period 29.9 31.1 1.1 –40.6 21.5 37.9 31.7 32.9 37.8 140.3

profit attributable to:

Equity owners of the parent 28.9 29.8 –0.2 –41.7 16.8 36.6 30.7 31.5 36.8 135.6

Non-controlling interests 1.0 1.3 1.3 1.1 4.7 1.3 1.0 1.4 1.0 4.7

net profit for the period 29.9 31.1 1.1 –40.6 21.5 37.9 31.7 32.9 37.8 140.3

Earning per share, basic, EUR 0.19 0.20 0.00 –0.28 0.11 0.24 0.20 0.21 0.24 0.89

Earning per share, diluted, EUR 0.19 0.20 –0.01 –0.27 0.11 0.24 0.20 0.21 0.24 0.89

Capital employed, rolling 1,673.0 1,705.0

Return on capital employed 
(ROCE), %  2.6%  11.1%

Quarterly earnings performance
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information for investors
financial reports in 2013
Kemira will publish three interim reports in 2013.

April 23, 2013: Interim report for January–March
July 23, 2013: Interim report for January–June 
October 22, 2013: Interim report for January–September

The interim reports and related presentation material 
are available on Kemira’s website at www.kemira.
com. Furthermore, Kemira’s press releases, Annual and 
Sustainability Reports and other investor information are 
also available on the website. On the site, visitors can 
register to receive press releases by e-mail and order the 
company’s Annual Reports. Annual Reports can also be 
ordered from Kemira Oyj, Group Communications, tel. +358 
10 8611. As of 2011, Kemira’s Annual and Sustainability 
report as a whole is available as an online report as well as 
in the PDF format. 

investor relations
The purpose of Kemira’s investor relations is to provide 
capital markets with information on the company 
and its operating environment, and to serve Kemira’s 
shareholders and other operators in the capital markets. 
In these activities, the objective is to provide reliable and 
up-to-date information on a regular and equal basis in 
order to give those operating in the markets a factual view 
of Kemira as an investment.

Kemira’s investor relations function is responsible for 
investor relations and daily communications. The Group’s 
top management is actively involved in investor relations 
and regularly meets with capital market representatives. 

The company observes a 30-day closed period before 
it publishes its Financial Statements bulletin and interim 
reports. During this period, Kemira’s management does not 
discuss the result or factors affecting the result with capital 
market representatives.

Contact information of analysts monitoring Kemira 
is listed on the company website at www.kemira.com > 
Investors > Share Information > Analysts.

annual General meetinG
Kemira’s Annual General Meeting will be held on Tuesday, 
March 26, 2013 at 1.00 p.m. in Marina Congress Center, 
Katajanokanlaituri 6, Helsinki, Finland. A shareholder who 
on the record date of the Annual General Meeting, March 
14, 2013, is registered in the company’s shareholders’ 
register maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd, is entitled to 
attend and participate in the Annual General Meeting.

Registration to the Annual General Meeting begins 
on March 1, 2013 and registration instructions will be 
published on that day as a stock exchange release and 
at Kemira’s web site at www.kemira.com > Investors > 
Corporate Governance > Annual General Meeting > Annual 
General Meeting 2013.

Kemira will release a stock exchange release on the 
Annual General Meeting’s decisions immediately after the 
meeting.

dividend distriBution
For dividend proposal, please see page Board proposal for 
profit distribution.

chanGe of address
Kemira’s shareholders are kindly requested to report any 
change of address to the bank or brokerage firm in which 
they have their book-entry account. This will also update 
information in registers, maintained by Euroclear Finland 
Ltd, which Kemira uses to send mail to its shareholders. If 
the book-entry account is held by Finnish Central Securities 
Depository Ltd, changes of address should be reported 
there directly.

investor relations
Tero Huovinen, Director, Investor Relations
tel. +358 10 862 1980
e-mail: tero.huovinen@kemira.com

Basic share information 

Listed on: NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd
Trading code: KRA1V
ISIN code: FI0009004824
Industry group: Materials
Industry: Chemicals
Number of shares on December 31, 2012: 155,342,557
Listing date: November 10, 1994
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